ANNUAL REPORT

PROTECTING

OUR

C O M M U N I T Y.

SUPPORTING

OUR

E C O N O M Y.

2019 – 2020

// Surfers at Elephant Rock, Currumbin.

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – 20

// Surfers Paradise skyline.
2

Welcome to the
City of Gold Coast
Annual Report for 2019 –20
The theme for this year’s Annual
Report is ‘Protecting our community.
Supporting our economy.’ and reflects
a challenging year for the Gold Coast.
During 2019–20, as the Gold Coast
economy was continuing to grow and
diversify, Council continued to deliver
on a range of strategies designed to
meet the needs of a rapidly growing
city population. A series of natural
disasters from late 2019, followed by
the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020,
impacted the city and Council quickly
devised a support and stimulus package
to assist the city to respond and recover.
The historic growth of the Gold Coast
economy together with our strong
community spirit and enviable natural
environment, continue to make the city a
highly desirable place to live, work, stay
and visit. These strengths, together with
improving connectivity will help to ensure
that our community can keep in touch
with family and friends, continue to work
and conduct business.
The city is well positioned for recovery
from COVID-19 and Council is
committed to maintaining the lifestyle
opportunities that make our city more
resilient and make our residents proud to
call the Gold Coast home.

About this report
The Annual Report provides an
overview of the Council of the City of
Gold Coast (Council) activities during
the 2019 –20 financial year. It also
identifies progress towards achieving
Our City Vision ‘Inspired by lifestyle.
Driven by opportunity’ and Council’s
Corporate Plan, Gold Coast 2022. It
includes details on Council’s financial
performance as at 30 June 2020 and
governance and statutory information.

This report also provides the disclosure
requirements relating to the Local
Government Act 2009 (the Act) and the
Local Government Regulation 2012
(the Regulation).

Report structure
Chapter 1 Year in review presents
the City Vision and provides reports from
the Mayor and Chief Executive Officer.
It also provides an overview of the
rates and performance in the 2019 –20
financial year.
Chapter 2 Our city provides a profile
of the Gold Coast, Council of the City of
Gold Coast, Divisional Councillors and
Council services.
Chapter 3 Our achievements presents
Council’s major achievements under
the three themes of the Gold Coast
2022: Place, Prosperity and People and
highlights major events and awards.
Chapter 4 Democratic governance
provides Council’s democratic
governance arrangements; Councillor
attendance and remuneration and
support provided to community
organisations and business.
Chapter 5 Corporate governance
provides Council’s corporate governance
arrangements; organisational
structure; performance against the
City Operational Plan and Corporate
Plan and the performance of Council’s
commercialised business units.
Chapter 6 Finance provides the
Community Financial Report and audited
Financial Statements of Council for the
year ended 30 June 2020.

An electronic version of this
report is available on the City
website: cityofgoldcoast.com.au/
annualreport

Language assistance
If you need an interpreter to help you
contact the City of Gold Coast, please
call the Translating and Interpreting
Service (TIS National) on 13 1450 or visit
the City website for further details.
Chinese Simplified
如果您需要口译员来帮助您联系黄金海
岸市议会，请致电13 1450联系翻译服务
处(TIS National)或访问市议会网站获取更
多详细信息。
Japanese
ゴールド・コースト市役所にご連絡く
ださる際に通訳が必要な方は、電話
番号13 1450の翻訳通訳サービス(TIS
National)までお電話いただくか、市役
所ホームページにて詳細をご覧くださ
い。
Korean
골드코스트시에 연락할 때, 통역사의
도움이 필요하시다면, 번역 및 통역
서비스 (TIS National) 13 1450번으로
전화하시거나, 저희 골드코스트시
웹사이트를 방문해서 자세한 정보를
찾아 보시기 바랍니다.
Español (Spanish)
Si necesita un intérprete para
comunicarse con la Ciudad de Gold
Coast, llame al Servicio de Traducción e
Interpretación (TIS National) al 13 1450,
o busque más información en la página
web de la Ciudad.

Chapter 7 Appendices provides
details of grants to community
organisations, indexes and other
supporting information.

Some photos in report were taken prior to social distancing measures being implemented.
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1.0

YEAR IN
REVIEW
Chapter one presents the City Vision
and provides reports from the Mayor and
Chief Executive Officer. It also provides an
overview of the rates and performance in
the 2019 – 20 financial year.
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CHAPTER 1 YEAR IN REVIEW

1.1 CITY VISION
Council of the City of Gold Coast (Council) has adopted the
City Vision: ‘Inspired by lifestyle. Driven by opportunity’.
This vision reflects the importance of lifestyle choice and
innovation to our growing city, supporting inclusive communities,
strong business growth and a vibrant Gold Coast culture.
Council’s Corporate Plan, Gold Coast 2022 together with our
longer term strategies support the implementation of the City
Vision through investment in key initiatives and outcomes which
support these aspirations. Those strategies focus on cultural
development, customer experience, economic development,
natural areas, solid waste, transport, ocean beaches and water.

Our Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022
Gold Coast 2022 was adopted on 13 June 2017 and revised
on 7 December 2018. It supports delivery of the City Vision by
providing direction on priorities to 2022.
The plan is built around three themes:
• The best PLACE to live, visit and stay. This theme describes
the development of the Gold Coast and options for city living.
• PROSPERITY built on a strong diverse economy.
This theme describes the city’s business sector, reputation
and employment opportunities.
• PEOPLE contribute to a strong community spirit.
This theme describes the city’s culture and community.

Figure 1: Gold Coast 2022 – plan structure

CITY VISION
Inspired by lifestyle. Driven by opportunity.
Gold Coast 2022

PL ACE

PROSPERIT Y

PEOPL E

Our city provides a choice
of liveable places

Our city’s economy is
diverse and innovative

Our city is safe

We live in balance
with nature

We have a thriving
cultural economy

We manage our resources
for a sustainable future

We have infrastructure
that supports productivity
and growth

We can get around the
city easily
We are an active digital city
Our modern centres create
vibrant communities
Everyone can enjoy a
beach experience
Our city is resilient to
natural hazards

We are a city with a strong
and globally competitive
business environment
We are a globally
recognised tourism
destination

We are proud of our city
Our community is
inclusive and supportive
Our city embraces culture
every day
Our city provides a wide
range of job opportunities
We are an active and
healthy community

We have a positive
global reputation

S U P P O R T I N G T H E D E L I V E R Y O F G O L D C OA S T 2 0 2 2
We plan for the future of the city. We manage the city responsibly.
We actively engage residents, customers and visitors.
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1.2 MAYOR’S REPORT
Recovery the priority
The Gold Coast, like the rest of the world, wishes that
COVID-19 had never occurred, but I am proud of the way
we have risen to the challenge. The determination to meet
the challenges of the pandemic has driven Councillors,
management and staff at Council and has of course been
reflected in households across the community and in businesses
large and small. It has been inspiring and for me reflects the
spirit of Gold Coast.
We are not strangers to tough situations and over many
decades we have battled bushfires, fought floods and taken
cover against cyclones. Yet never have we encountered
anything quite like the COVID-19 pandemic. It has changed our
lives forever and yet, unlike most places on the planet, we have
largely managed to remain a safe haven.
For the City of Gold Coast, the pandemic has revolutionised
our work practices and reshaped our priorities. Our Council
meetings and Committees bear no resemblance to their
previous look and feel as we observe social distancing with
an empty public gallery. The way we borrow books from our
libraries and interact at our parks and aquatic centres has
all had to be revised as we respond to State Government
requirements and the need to keep our city safe.
Almost overnight our library staff were required to change from
face-to-face customer service to online digital engagement.
It was a complete transformation yet Council’s service delivery
continued at exceptional levels. For a time our beaches and
adjacent car parks were closed to keep the community safe
and our parking meters were turned off to give essential workers
some relief and reduce the risk of transmission for having to
operate the parking machines. All staff responded quickly and
efficiently and our parking officers were redeployed to other
important work.
In many of the changes we had to implement, our IT staff led
the way as they re-engineered their services to enable staff to
work from home and provided various technical solutions at
the majority of our sites. It was a significant challenge, but it
was accomplished quickly and with remarkably few disruptions.
Many times I observed staff working weekends to make sure
everything was right to go for an important Council meeting
early in the week.

8

Our outdoor staff had to transform the way they worked.
New measures of social distancing and COVID-safe practices
had to be adopted. Wearing personal protection equipment
and implementing new levels of hygiene became the norm.
It was not comfortable for them, but they showed their
professionalism every day.
Whilst I am rightly proud of how quickly and decisively
the Council and its staff responded, I understand that the
community has every right to expect no less from its Council.
So many of you have struggled and continue to struggle, with
your own health and business concerns and of course those
who work in health and emergency services have had to find
reserves they probably never knew they had. To our doctors,
nurses, allied health professionals and police my sincere thanks
on behalf of the community. We will not forget the sacrifices you
have made to keep us all safe.
These efforts are the hallmarks of a great community and
I am very fortunate that you have again placed your faith in
me to lead you. I, along with my fellow Councillors and the
management and Council staff will work every day to make
sure your faith is not misplaced and that the support required
to meet the ongoing challenges of COVID-19 is provided swiftly
and efficiently.

TOM TATE be (unsw)
MAYOR

T 07 5581 5283
E mayor@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
Addresses
Southport Chambers Office
47 Nerang Street, Southport QLD 4215
City of Gold Coast Council Chambers
135 Bundall Road, Surfers Paradise QLD 4217

CHAPTER 1 YEAR IN REVIEW

// Mayor Tom Tate.
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1.3 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
The 2019 –20 year has been a year of extreme contrast.
Whilst I’m pleased to outline a broad suite of achievements
on the part of Council, the year will be remembered for natural
disasters including bushfires and drought and most significantly,
the COVID-19 global pandemic.
Between March and June 2020, the pandemic significantly
impacted the Gold Coast community in public health, social and
economic terms. Council adapted quickly and comprehensively
to the public health risk with changed work practices, modified
services, enforced social distancing and other personal health
and safety measures.
In recognition of the profound social and economic impacts
of the pandemic response, the Council was also proactive
in conceiving and announcing a range of financial support
measures to assist the most vulnerable sectors and individuals
in the Gold Coast community and support the local economy.
In addition to the Council’s comprehensive and effective
COVID-19 and bushfire response, some of the highlights of
the 2019 – 20 year include:
Strategic agenda
• The Gold Coast Water Strategy – adopted in July 2019
to guide the sustainable management of our city’s water
resources and environments. It outlines key actions for the
first five years of our 20-year aspiration to become a truly
water sensitive city.
• Our next Customer Experience Strategy – adopted in
October 2019 with a vision to make life easier for residents,
businesses, and visitors. The City provides around 800
unique services to customers.
Major projects

• construction started on an adventure playground at Country
Paradise Parklands in Nerang
• funding was secured for the $709 million Light Rail Stage 3
expansion from Broadbeach South to Burleigh Heads
• construction continued on the $70 million first stage of the
Long Term Recycled Water Release Plan which involves two
of the most complex marine pipeline crossings in Australia.
Planning and design also commenced on a $98 million
multi-stage project to expand the City’s recycled
water network
• the winning design for the city’s dive attraction was
announced. The world-first floating reef will be built
2.5 kilometres offshore from Main Beach
• construction started on the $55 million Isle of Capri
decongestion project and $34 million Sundale Bridge
and Waterways Drive upgrade.
Council also started trialling a new road recycling technology
which halves the greenhouse gas emissions normally produced
during conventional asphalting. The foamed asphalt recycles
100% of the existing road pavement.

Thank you
This year’s extensive list of achievements and decisive response
to the bushfires and the COVID-19 public health crisis would not
have been possible without the focus, ambition and efforts of
the Council, our executive team and Council workforce.
Importantly, the Gold Coast is well positioned to take advantage
of its enhanced reputation as a safe and desirable destination
to visit, live and invest due to the effectiveness of the COVID-19
response, and concurrent actions in improving the long-term
liveability of the city.

• construction started on the $18 million redevelopment of
the Miami Aquatic Centre
• the HOTA precinct continued to evolve with the official
opening of the pedestrian and cycle bridge linking to
Chevron Island and construction continued on the
$60 million HOTA Gallery
• construction started on the Pimpama Sports Hub,
which will be an integrated regional sport, leisure and
community precinct with five swimming pools
• the Palm Beach Artificial Reef was completed in
September 2019
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DALE DICKSON psm
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CHAPTER 1 YEAR IN REVIEW

// Chief Executive Officer Dale Dickson.
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//Adapting to Covid restrictions, cafés and restaurants providing take away services for customers.
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CHAPTER 1 YEAR IN REVIEW

1.4 COUNCIL RESPONSE TO COVID-19
This year has been challenging for the city as we have lived
through a series of natural disasters. September 2019 saw
more than 1500 bushfires ravage Queensland, with devastating
damage done to our natural environment and to tourism icons
in the region like Binna Burra Lodge. Dry conditions continued
and in December 2019, the State Government officially declared
the Gold Coast as one of the eight councils in South East
Queensland in drought. With the Gold Coast Desalination Plant
operating at 100% and mandatory restrictions being imposed
through many neighbouring regions, a momentary respite from
drought came in the form of another natural disaster.
In January 2020 flash floods swept across the city, as the M1
closed and the State Emergency Service (SES) responded to
over 100 call outs. Flood conditions continued into February
2020 and we began to prepare for a rising global pandemic
called Novel coronavirus (COVID-19).
As the Gold Coast first felt the impacts of COVID-19 in March
2020, Council worked rapidly to support the community by
ensuring essential services continued. When restrictions by
both the federal and state governments were imposed to
protect the community, Council quickly adapted to ensure that
social distancing didn’t mean social isolation with continued
access to online library services and moving active and healthy
classes online. In response to the Waste and Recycling
Centre’s increased number of usual visits from residents due to
‘isolation spring cleaning’, Council implemented new distancing
and access measures to help keep our workforce and the
community safe. We also introduced our new on-demand
kerbside collection service.
The restrictions also had a significant impact on many key
industries on the Gold Coast, especially tourism and hospitality.
Many people lost jobs and the demand for support services
increased. Council worked with Queensland Health and
the Queensland Government to assist essential community
organisations such as the Red Cross Blood Bank and food
bank services by making community centres and other
facilities available. Council officers also worked to ensure these
organisations were able to operate safely during the pandemic.

To support local businesses, Environmental Health Officers
were redeployed to assist restaurants and cafes to convert to
takeaway and delivery operations, as well as assist Queensland
Health with airport screening, contact tracing and compliance
checks of people under self-quarantine orders.
In March 2020 (while in Caretaker Period for the 2020 Local
Government Elections) the Chief Executive Officer, Dale
Dickson, announced a business support package and advised
the organisation would be recommending a suite of financial
support and economic stimulus proposals to be considered
by the incoming elected Council. These measures focused on
appropriate actions for individual industries including film and
television, education, tourism and development.
The initial support package was designed to complement
state and federal government packages, which included
temporary measures that waived select fees and interest
charges that were impacting local businesses. It also included
expanding Council’s Surf Network Wi-Fi service at no cost
to business customers in applicable suburbs, to reduce their
operating costs in a time of hardship.
The planned stimulus packages for 2020 – 21 will see Council
forgo planned revenue in order to provide the community and
business with hardship relief across a range of areas. Relief
extends from no increases on certain rates and water usage
and waiving of fees and rent relief for eligible organisations.
In addition, Council is working closely with local not-for-profit
organisations to provide support in re-establishing their full
range of services.
While the year has been a challenging year for everyone, Council
has worked tirelessly to protect and support its workforce, the
community and industry. The city is well positioned to recover
from the impacts of COVID-19 and continue to support and
strengthen Australia’s sixth largest city.
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1.5 YOUR RATES AT WORK
Total revenue

$1,585.5
million

Council’s revenue for 2019–20 was $1.6 billion, with the majority of revenue coming from
General Rates and Water and Sewerage charges. This funding supported existing services and
infrastructure, as well as new investment in operational and strategic priorities for the city.
The following diagrams provide an overview of Council’s revenue and expenditure in 2019–20.

100%
Figure 2: Sources of revenue ($ millions)

31.8%

31.3%

15.2%

6.2%

5.5%

4.0%

2.9%

1.6%

1.5%

$504.5m

$496.9m

$240.2m

$98.8m

$87.1m

$63.3m

$45.7m

$25.8m

$23.2m

Water and
sewerage
utility charges

General rates

Contributions
and donations

Fees and
charges

Waste
management
utility charge

Other rates
and charges

Grants and
subsidies

Interest

Other revenue

For further information refer to Chapter 6.

Table 1: Expenditure by program ($ millions)
0

PROGRAM
CITY
PLANNING

land management and development control, street scape,
land use and urban planning

CITY
TRANSPORT

road network, transport improvement, traffic management
and safety, parking facilities and regulation

COMMUNITY HEALTH
AND SAFETY

flooding and drainage, public and environmental health, lifeguards,
emergency/disaster management, animal management, public
safety, cemeteries, local law enforcement and social development

CONSERVATION
AND ENVIRONMENT

beaches and waterways, natural environment conservation
and catchment management

ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT

tourism management and marketing and economic development

PARKS, RECREATION
AND CULTURE

parks, natural areas and recreation, major sporting and aquatic
centres, culture and heritage, library services, tourist parks and
campgrounds, community support and centres

WASTE MANAGEMENT

waste disposal, waste collection, city cleaning, materials recycling

WATER
AND SEWERAGE

drinking water, sewerage and non-drinking water

ORGANISATIONAL
CAPABILITY

information management, financial, risk and strategic
asset management, human resources and corporate planning
and performance

INTERNAL SERVICES

internal support, property and facilities management,
council support, marketing and promotions, fleet and plant,
infrastructure services and nursery operations

NON-PROGRAM COSTS

includes depreciation, transfers to reserves, gain loss on sale
of assets, offsetting entries for capital and internal expenses

$50m

$100m

$150m

$250m

$300m

$350m

$400m

$450m

$500m

$550m

$600m

$49.9m
$53.0m
$234.2m
$272.6m
$87.9m
$76.9m
$39.3m
$37.3m
$49.6m
$53.5m
$221.1m
$289.9m
$85.5m
$101.8m
$518.4m
$576.3m
$102.2m
$80.2m
$70.9m
$74.0m
$(119.4)m

Note: The 2019 – 20 expenditure identifies the total cost of the programs, inclusive of capital and other internal costs.
These costs and other adjustments for depreciation and transfer to/from reserves (net negative $230.6 million) are
removed from the above expenditure when equating back to the operating expenditure reflected in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income ($1,384.9 million).
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$200m

$(230.6)m

2018 –19 TOTAL $1,339.6 MILLION
2019 – 20 TOTAL $1,384.9 MILLION
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1.6 PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE
Gold Coast 2022

Overview

Figure 3: Status of Gold Coast 2022 signature action initiatives
(non-financial)

Total initiatives

38

3% [ 1 ]

On hold

16% [ 6 ]

Completed

81% [ 31]

In progress

Table 2: Status of Gold Coast 2022 outcome performance by theme

40%

$4.14 billion

of city residents have an
emergency kit

Gold Coast exports

$4.5 billion

49.58%

spent by domestic visitors

total of native vegetation

Standard
of living

186 litres

Theme
Year

Place

Prosperity

People

Supporting

2019 –20

Monitor

On track

Monitor

On track

Figure 4: Status of Gold Coast 2022 outcome performance

Total outcomes

23

43% [ 10 ]

Monitor

9% [ 2 ]

Action required

48% [ 11 ]

On track

(Gross Regional Product
per capita)

95,600
rates and water notices
provided on-line

24,623

97%

88%

48%

of initiatives
completed or
in progress

of budget spent

of outcomes
on track

business employing in the city

average water use
per person per day

Customer
service
expenditure

Annual
average
grading
of city waterways

improved

down

consistent

View Gold Coast 2022
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/corporateplan
Table 3: Gold Coast 2022 legend
Outcome Legend
Status

Initiative Legend
Definition

Outcome reflects trend away from
Action Required desired result
Monitor

Outcome reflects no new progress
towards desired result

On track

Outcome reflects desired trend

Status

Definition

Cancelled

Initiative cancelled

Completed

Initiative completed

In Progress

Initiative continuing

On hold

Initiative on hold
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City Operational Plan 2019–20
Figure 5: Status of Operational Plan initiatives (non-financial)

Total initiatives

61

Figure 6: Status of Operational Plan expenditure

3% [ 2]

On hold

18% [ 11 ]

Completed

2% [ 1 ]

Cancelled

77% [ 47 ]

In progress

14%
$32.8 million
unspent

Total budget

$235.6M

86%
$202.8 million
spent

95%

86%

of initiatives completed
or in progress

of budget spent

Table 4: City Operational Plan legend
Initiative Legend
Status

Initiative Legend
Definition

Status

Definition

Cancelled

Initiative cancelled

In Progress

Initiative continuing

Completed

Initiative completed

On Hold

Initiative on hold

For a detailed view of performance including exception based commentary, refer section 5.4.2, Performance.

City Operational Plan highlights

$8.2m

$2.4 m

$38.1m

$32.8m

$31.1m

Artificial reef at
Palm Beach

Oceanway between
Higman Street and View
Avenue, Surfers Paradise

Long Term Recycled
Water Release Plan
Stage 1

Construction of the new
Pimpama Sports Hub

Stage 1B Art Gallery, at
HOTA, Home of the Arts
at Evandale

$12.6m

$0.6m

$0.2m

$6.2m

$0.5m

Expansion of Sundale
Bridge to five lanes

Accelerate Triennial
Grants Program

Into Nature Program

Digital City Program
– One Network

Recycle Street concept at
Reedy Creek, Molendinar
and Merrimac

Note: City Operational Plan highlights include 2019 –20 expenditure only

View City Operational Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/annualplan
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// Stand Up Paddleboard, Tallebudgera Creek.
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2.0

OUR CITY
Chapter two provides a profile of
the Gold Coast, Council of the City of
Gold Coast; Divisional Councillors and
Council services.

CHAPTER 2 OUR CITY

// Swell Sculpture Festival, Currumbin.

2.1 CITY PROFILE
The Gold Coast is Australia’s sixth-largest city with an estimated resident population of 620,518
(ABS ERP 2019). The Gold Coast has a diverse mix of residents from all over the world and offers an
enviable lifestyle, together with the opportunities of a young and dynamic city.
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Our history

Our people

The ancient Aboriginal connection to the area now known as
the Gold Coast can be traced back thousands of years.
The Gold Coast and hinterland was a natural area of timbered
mountains and hills, river valleys, floodplains and salt and
freshwater wetlands. The region between the Tweed and Albert
rivers was occupied by the people of the Yugambeh language
group (Barlow and Best, 1997). The people and culture were
sustained by a diverse landscape and rich biodiversity that
spanned ocean, beach and intertidal mudflats, extensive
coastal wetlands and rivers extending to mountains through
subtropical rainforest.

In 2019, the estimated resident population of the Gold Coast
was 620,518. This represented an increase of 13,990 persons
over the previous 12 months (Profile id, 2019). The number
of residents continues to increase rapidly in the northern
corridor, with the fastest growing areas being Pimpama
and Coomera (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2019).

The arrival of European settlers in the 1800s gradually
transformed the natural landscape as they used the rainforest
for timber, the waterways for transport and cleared land
for farming.
A string of coastal holiday villages emerged and as Brisbane
grew, tourists were drawn to the Southport coastline for its
beautiful beaches and natural waterways. Soon, the number of
holiday shacks and small businesses catering to these visitors
grew. The 1950s saw a wave of post-war immigration and
increasing prosperity led to a second transformation of the
Gold Coast, from farming and beachside settlements to
a national tourism destination with a focus on real estate
development. During this time development of the Gold Coast
beach strip rapidly expanded, from Southport to Coolangatta.
Holiday houses, motels and guesthouses were built to capture
the fun and holiday atmosphere of the Gold Coast.

Residents aged 60 years and over make up 22% of the
Gold Coast population, compared with 21% of Queensland
residents (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2018).
Approximately 9,288 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people (1.7%) live in the city. More than 28% of Gold Coast
residents were born overseas and the largest non-English
speaking country of birth is China, where 1.3% of the
population (6957 people), were born (Profile id, 2016).
Approximately 12% of our residents speak a language
other than English at home, compared with 11.8% for
Queensland. The most common languages other than English
are Mandarin, Japanese and Korean (Profile id, 2016).
There are 27,500 Gold Coast residents (4.9%)
with a profound or severe disability compared
with 5.2% in Queensland (Profile id, 2016).

More recent years has seen the city evolve from pioneering
cottages and seaside shanties to a modern thriving city with
an iconic high-rise skyline, attracting millions of visitors each
year whilst still maintaining the natural beauty and lifestyle that
is highly valued by Gold Coast residents and visitors. Today,
the Gold Coast is a vibrant city with a population projection
of approximately 943,000 by 2041 (Queensland Government
Statistician’s Office, 2019).

// Hargraves family at the beach, possibly at Burleigh Heads, Queensland, circa 1920
Photographer unknown.
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// Summer sunset picnic at the beach, Miami.
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Our environment

Our economy

The Gold Coast is one of the most biodiverse cities in Australia,
with approximately 49.58% of our land area covered in native
vegetation (Cardno, 2019) and around 748.6 kilometres of bush
trails to explore. Our city is home to an envious subtropical
climate with hinterland ranges, waterways, wetlands, beautiful
beaches, world heritage-listed Gondwana Rainforest and
an extensive range of unique natural landscapes and wildlife
habitats. The long-term protection of our natural assets is a
vital element of the city’s economy, lifestyle and reputation.
Preserving our native flora and fauna contributes to the city’s
long-term wellbeing, cultural identity, economy, tourism and
overall prosperity.

The Gold Coast’s economy is growing steadily, with gross
regional product increasing by 2.6% up to $37.24 billion for
the year ending June 2019 (National Institute of Economy
and Industry Research (NIEIR), 2019). This equates to
more than 10% of Queensland’s gross state product.
The city’s economic composition is diversifying into a
knowledge-based environment with strengths in health
and medical, education, food, marine, film and sport.
Higher order industries (knowledge and professional
services sector) comprise 34.4% of total economic
output, while the Industrial sector was estimated to
comprise approximately 23% (NIEIR, 2019).
The city continues to see diversification in the employment base
of the economy. The largest employment sectors for the city
are retail trade, health care and construction (NIEIR, 2019).
In June 2020, the city’s employment to population ratio
was 59.6% – higher than the state average of 57.8% and
59.4% nationally (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2020).
The diversified economy has stimulated local business
confidence which has contributed to a 2.5% increase in
the number of businesses on the Gold Coast for the year
ending June 2019. (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2019).

// Twin Falls, Springbrook.

// Southport Central, Southport.
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2.2 CITY FEATURES
Approximately
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of sandy beaches

major rivers
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400km
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native animal species

native plant species

49.58%

748.6km

12,629.6ha

of land area is covered in
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MALAYSIA
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2.3 OUR COUNCIL
Figure 7: Council of the City of Gold Coast divisional boundaries
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Gold Coast local government began in 1879 with the creation
of four elected divisional boards – Nerang, Coomera, Beenleigh
and Waterford. A separate Southport Divisional Board was
established in 1883. In 1903, the divisions became shires
and in 1914, the Shire of Nerang was divided to create the
Coolangatta Shire. In 1918, Southport became a town. These
shires were replaced in 1948– 49 by the Shire of Albert, which
took in the hinterland areas, the Town of South Coast, which
covered the coastal strip. The Town of South Coast adopted
the name of Town of Gold Coast on 23 October 1958. The area
was proclaimed a city less than one year later on 16 May 1959.
Albert Shire was amalgamated into Gold Coast City in 1995.
The areas of Beenleigh and Eagleby were transferred from Gold
Coast City to Logan City Council in 2008 and, following the
2012 local election, Gold Coast City Council changed its name
to Council of the City of Gold Coast (Council).
Today’s Council consists of the Mayor and 14 Councillors, each
representing their local division. Residents have the opportunity
to elect a divisional Councillor and a city Mayor every four
years. Councillors consult with residents in their division and
represent the interests of the community at Council meetings.
Councillors participate in the decision-making processes where
they translate the community’s needs and aspirations into the
future direction of the city. Council of the City of Gold Coast is
Australia’s second-largest local government authority.
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2.4 OUR COUNCILLORS

DIVISION 1
CR MARK HAMMEL

DIVISION 2
CR WILLIAM OWEN- JONES
BCom, Grad Dip Adv Acc

Term of Office: From 20/04/2020
Enrolled voters: 27,388

Term of Office: From 28/04/2012
Enrolled voters: 28,921

A lifetime Division 1 local, Mark was born
and raised in the suburb of Alberton – an
area he is deeply passionate about and
still calls home.

Cr William Owen-Jones and his family
have lived in both Helensvale and
Coomera over the past 30 years.
William is keen to continue to encourage
business and enterprise across our city.

The Hammels were one of the original
families to settle on what is now the
northernmost end of the Gold Coast,
living in Alberton since 1880.
After starting his professional career in
business development and commercial
real estate, Mark became a business
manager with family-owned Australian
waste management group,
J.J. Richards & Sons.
Mark also counts himself as incredibly
fortunate to be able to spend his free time
working in the family’s farming business
producing strawberries, sweet potatoes
and sugar cane.

As a Griffith University graduate,
William recognises the need to continue
to encourage further expansion of
the tertiary and technical education
sectors, with health and knowledge
being the key sectors to broaden our
economy in the years to come.
Prior to becoming an elected
representative, Cr Owen-Jones held
roles in accounting and management
and was involved in the philanthropic
sector, serving as a director with
Horizon Housing Company, a major
provider of social and affordable housing
programs in southeast Queensland.

Mark is Deputy Chair of the Water,
Waste and Energy Committee and also
a member of both the Governance
and Administration and Planning and
Environment Committees.
ADDRESS

ADDRESS

Ormeau Community Centre
3 Cuthbert Drive
Ormeau QLD 4208

Helensvale Library and Cultural Centre
Corner Sir John Overall Drive
and Lindfield Road
Helensvale QLD 4212

T
M
E
F
// Tallebudgera Creek.

07 5581 6754
0417 219 025
division1@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/MarkHammelDiv1/

T
M
E
F

07 5582 8555
0412 242 622
division2@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/				
WilliamOwenJonesDivision2GoldCoast
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DIVISION 3
CR DONNA GATES
DEPUT Y MAYOR

DIVISION 4
CR CAMERON CALDWELL

DIVISION 5
CR PETER YOUNG

LLB

BA (Urban Geography), BA (Govt Public Admin)

Term of Office: From 16/10/2007
Enrolled voters: 27,373

Term of Office: From 28/04/2012
Enrolled voters: 27,872

Term of Office: 2000–2012
and from 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 29,259

Cr Donna Gates has represented
northern Gold Coast since 2007 and
has been Deputy Mayor since 2012.

Cameron is passionate about supporting
his local area and the needs of the city.

Cr Peter Young has lived at the
same property for more than 23
years, has served as Councillor
for Division 5 for 16 years.

Donna has been instrumental in the
delivery of significant community facilities,
including the Upper Coomera Centre,
the Ormeau Centre, the Ormeau Sports
Park, Ormeau Skate Park, the Coomera
Indoor Sports Centre and the $80 million
Pimpama Sports Hub – a major sporting
and community precinct to meet the
growing population of the northern Gold
Coast. The area’s next project – the
Coomera Civic Hub – will serve the needs
of the booming east-side population.
Donna is a hard working representative,
active within the local community and
determined to focus on the important
issues that come with population growth.
She remains committed to supporting
her residents and the broad interests
of the city.

In his role as the Chair of the Planning
and Environment Committee, Cameron
has pledged to maintain confidence
in the development sector of the Gold
Coast economy while ensuring our
valuable and diverse environment
is protected and enhanced.
A keen supporter of outdoor events
throughout Division 4, Cameron has
seen the implementation of a local
ParkRun, Tastes of Paradise, Sunday
Sounds and spectacular New Year’s
Eve celebrations as well as making sure
local sporting groups have the funding
they need for continued success.

His ambitions include delivering
infrastructure that meets and exceeds
the aspirations of the community,
providing exceptional leadership, fearless
representation of the community.
Cr Young studied government and
public administration, political science,
human and urban geography at
Flinders University of South Australia
and the University of Sydney.

Cameron is a Solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Queensland and mediator and
was admitted to practise law in 2003.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

Upper Coomera Centre
90 Reserve Road
Upper Coomera QLD 4209

Sovereign House
12 Falkinder Avenue
Paradise Point QLD 4216

T
M
E
F

T 07 5581 1680
E division4@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
F fb.com/crcameroncaldwellgc

City of Gold Coast
Nerang Administration Centre
833 Southport-Nerang Road
Nerang QLD 4211
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07 5581 6598
0424 778 999
division3@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CrDonnaGatesGoldCoast

T
M
E
F

07 5582 8400
0414 180 118
division5@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/PeterYoungDiv5
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DIVISION 6
CR BROOKE PAT TERSON

DIVISION 7
CR RYAN BAYLDON-LUMSDEN

DIVISION 8
CR BOB L A CASTR A

BEd (Primary), Cert III (Disability)

Term of Office: 20/04/2020
Enrolled voters: 26,046

Term of Office: 20/04/2020
Enrolled voters: 29,421

Term of Office: From 15/03/1997
Enrolled voters: 27,220

Cr Brooke Patterson joins the elected
Council this year after an international
career in financial services and decades
of community service. A qualified
company director with post-graduate tax
law study, she is Council’s representative
on the Study Gold Coast board and
Deputy Chair of the Governance
and Administration Committee.

Ryan is passionate about representing
his local area and the City. He was born
on the Gold Coast and has lived his
entire life in the division he represents.

With a strong history in the arts,
Cr Bob La Castra is pleased to
see the substantial city investment
in our cultural precinct.

Community focused, Ryan’s background
is in volunteering, disability support and
teaching. A winner of The Queensland
Young Volunteer of the Year and Gold
Coast International Volunteer awards in
2009; he previously spent over a decade
providing respite care and disability
support for children in his local area.

As an ardent sports fan, he is also excited
to see the significant Commonwealth
Games legacy infrastructure throughout
the city – particularly in Carrara (Division
8), which is now firmly established
as the city's major sports precinct.

A third-generation resident of Southport,
who loves living in the area with her
family, Brooke is committed to delivering
on the basics for our inner-city suburbs—
footpath, road and park upgrades.

Cr La Castra strongly believes that
the substantial investment in both the
arts and sport will give an enormous
boost to the local economy, further
diversify employment options for
this – and future generations.

Brooke’s major ambition is to fulfil the
potential of the Southport CBD. Drawing
on time living in Sydney, Singapore
and Hong Kong, an entrepreneurial
background, Brooke is committed to
transforming the working heart of our city.

As the Deputy Chair of the Lifestyle
and Community Committee, Ryan is
looking to bring a continued focus on
improving the amenity and liveability
of the city. He strongly believes that
through council representation he can
assist in creating an accessible, inclusive,
tolerant community for everyone.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

City of Gold Coast
Southport Branch Office
47 Nerang Street
Southport QLD 4215

Labrador Community Hub
57 Billington Street
Labrador QLD 4215

City of Gold Coast
Nerang Administration Centre
833 Southport-Nerang Road
Nerang QLD 4211

T
M
E
F

07 5581 6280
0417 000 227
division6@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/brookepattersondivision6goldcoast

T
M
E
F

07 5581 6760
0409 886 540
division7@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/RyanBLDiv7

Cr La Castra is a professional singer,
actor, television host and published
children’s author. He developed
and wrote the ABC’s international
sensation – Bananas in Pyjamas.

T 07 5582 8206
M 0414 180 008
E division8@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
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DIVISION 9
CR GLENN TOZER

D I V I S I O N 10
CR DARREN TAYLOR

D I V I S I O N 11
CR HERMANN VORSTER
B Bus (Information Systems), BCom (Accounting, Strategy)

Term of Office: From 28/04/2012
Enrolled voters: 27,741

Term of Office: From 20/04/2020
Enrolled voters: 27,980

Term of Office: From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 28,137

Cr Glenn Tozer has served the city’s
south-west hinterland in Division 9 since
2012 and remains committed to seeing
the Gold Coast realise its potential as
a premier destination for businesses,
families, students and visitors.

With more than 30 years’ experience in
small business, involvement in community
and sporting groups and living on the
Gold Coast for over 40 years, Cr Taylor
is passionate about Division 10.

Cr Hermann Vorster is dedicated to
protecting the lifestyle locals expect –
and deserve. Priorities are tackling traffic
congestion, boosting community safety
and looking after the environment.

Darren’s commitment to residents and the
local business sector will be instrumental
in delivering his key priorities including
the revitalisation of Surfers Paradise and
Chevron Island, while supporting Main
Beach and Broadbeach businesses.

Key local initiatives include: ridding the
area of drug crime; expanding CCTV;
improving lighting; upgrading busy
intersections; addressing neglect and
maintenance issues; investing in parks
and sporting facilities; planting thousands
of trees annually; and rehabilitating
local catchments and reserves.

Cr Tozer is an advocate for the Gold
Coast’s growing technology and cultural
sectors and as the father of three
sons, Cr Tozer builds on the legacy of
pioneering families who created a strong
community spirit in Mudgeeraba and the
hinterland. With his wife Jude, Cr Tozer
supports local and national charities
through filming short documentaries for
social enterprise, he is a guest writer for
music and culture magazine Blank GC.
Cr Tozer has held directorship roles in the
media, agriculture and tourism industries.

Cr Taylor will strongly represent his
community and as an active listener,
will help deliver individual needs for
each suburb by improving facilities
and developing more neighbourhood
parks, beach activities and events.

As a community activist, he believes
growth must be supported by
better infrastructure and adequate
developer contributions.

As a community advocate, Darren
understands the challenges facing
local businesses and residents
and will focus on prioritising
important issues affecting them.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

4 Swan Lane
Mudgeeraba QLD 4213

City of Gold Coast
Council Chambers
135 Bundall Road
Surfers Paradise QLD 4217

196 Robina Town Centre Drive
Robina QLD 4226

T
M
E
F
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07 5581 1883
0419 558 685
division9@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/glennonthegc

T
M
E
F

07 5581 6171
0416 599 374
division10@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/crdarrentaylordivision10

T
M
E
F

07 5581 7282
0405 414 931
division11@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CrHermannVorster
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D I V I S I O N 12
CR PAULINE YOUNG

D I V I S I O N 13
CR DAPHNE MCDONALD

Registered Nurse

Dip LG (Admin)

Term of Office: 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 27,366

Term of Office: From 23/03/1991
Enrolled voters: 27,458

Term of Office: From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 27,185

Cr Pauline Young is Chair of the Transport
and Infrastructure Committee, Deputy
Chair of the Economy, Tourism and
Events Committee and a member of the
Planning and Environment Committee.

Cr Daphne McDonald is passionate
about her community and is actively
involved within Division 13 which has a
strong sense of community and family.

Cr Gail O’Neill has represented Division
14 since 2016. She is Chair of the
Water, Waste and Energy Committee, a
member of the Planning and Environment
Committee and a member of the
Lifestyle and Community Committee

Pauline is Chair of the World
Surfing Reserve Local Stewardship
Committee and a member of the
Shark Marine Advisory Group.
Pauline is passionate about the
community with a proven business
background, she is dedicated to
enhancing local businesses and
committed to preserving what’s important
to locals but also being progressive
to ensure employment and growth
opportunities for the future of the city.
On weekends she devotes herself to
Surf Lifesaving, supporting local not
for profit groups and promoting our
growing arts and cultural festivals.

Cr McDonald believes it is important to
recognise the specific needs of different
groups and allow people to have their
say, no matter what their point of view.
Cr McDonald continues to encourage
economic growth within the city and feels
strongly about balanced development
and retention of the area’s character.
Cr McDonald is a long-standing member
of the elected Council, first elected in
1991 and serving as Deputy Mayor from
2007 to 2012. She is a life member of
Australian Local Government Women’s
Association (Qld), a Rotary Paul Harris
Fellow and has been patron and involved
with many community and sporting
organisations throughout the city.

Prior to Pauline’s career in Council
she was a nurse for over 20 years, a
company Director, worked in property
and a small business owner.

D I V I S I O N 14
CR GAIL O’NEILL

Cr O’Neill is passionate about balancing
progress and lifestyle in the southern
Gold Coast. She is most proud of
being able to deliver the extension of
the Oceanway from Tugun to Bilinga
in her first term of local government.
Protection of our beaches and creeks
together with upgrades to roads,
parks and drainage infrastructure
are high on her priority list.
Cr O’Neill previously was Manager
of the Beach House Seaside Resort
and Commercial Shopping Plaza
in Coolangatta for 15 years and
President of the Southern Gold
Coast Chamber of Commerce.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

Corner Ocean Street and Park Avenue
Burleigh Heads QLD 4220

26/11th Avenue
Palm Beach QLD 4221

413 Golden Four Drive
Tugun QLD 4224

T
M
E
F

T
M
E
F

T
M
E
F

07 5581 6382
0475 677 181
division12@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/PaulineYoungDiv12

07 5581 6228
0414 180 013
division13@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CouncillorDaphneMcDonald

07 5581 5275
0438 810 023
division14@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/gailoneilldivision14
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Former Councillors
Council wishes to acknowledge the contribution to the city of the former Councillors during their terms of office.

DIVISION 4
CR KRIST YN BOULTON

DIVISION 6
CR DAWN CRICHLOW OAM

BBus (Hotel Management), BA (Japanese)

Represented Division 4 from March 2016 to April 2020.

Represented Division 6 from March 1991 to April 2020.

DIVISION 7
CR GARY BAILDON AM

D I V I S I O N 10
CR PAUL TAYLOR

D.Univ (Griffith)

Represented Division 7 1988–1994, 1995–2004,
March 2016 to April 2020 and served three terms as Mayor.

30

Represented Division 10 from April 2012 to April 2020.
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2.5 COUNCIL PROGRAMS AND SERVICES
Council provides a wide range of services to the community, with eight external service programs delivering 35 services and two
internal supporting service programs delivering 13 services. Services provided to the community are shown below.
Table 5: Council Programs and Services
Program

Service

City Planning

Land management and development control
Streetscape
Land use and urban planning

City Transport

Road network
Transport improvement
Traffic management and safety
Parking facilities and regulation

Community Health and Safety

Flooding and drainage
Public and environmental health
Lifeguard services
Public safety
Animal management
Local law enforcement
Emergency/disaster management
Cemeteries
Social development

Conservation and Environment

Beaches and waterways
Natural environment conservation
Catchment management

Economic Development

Tourism management and marketing
Economic development

Parks, Recreation and Culture

Parks, natural areas and recreation
Major sporting and aquatic centres
Culture and heritage
Library services
Community centres
Tourist parks and campgrounds
Community support

Waste Management

Waste disposal
Waste collection
City cleaning
Materials recycling

Water and Sewerage

Water (drinking)
Sewerage
Water (non-drinking)

View the Annual Plan for a full description of Council’s services
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/annualplan
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3.0

OUR
ACHIEVEMENTS
Chapter three presents Council’s major
achievements under the three themes of the
Gold Coast 2022: Place, Prosperity and People
and highlights major events and awards.

CHAPTER 3 OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

// HOTA Cultural Precinct at Evandale.
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3.1 THE BEST PLACE TO LIVE, VISIT AND STAY
Palm Beach Shoreline Project completed: future proofing our coastline
For over 50 years, the Gold Coast
has been at the forefront of coastal
management. Since the 1960s, Council
of the City of Gold Coast (Council)
has collected hydrographic and beach
survey data along the Gold Coast
coastline. This data showed Palm Beach
had the lowest volume of sand of any
beach on the Gold Coast and without
intervention, erosion would significantly
impact beach amenity, threaten
infrastructure and beach accessibility.

// Palm Beach artificial reef.
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One of the outcomes of the Ocean
Beaches Strategy 2013– 2023 is to
have our infrastructure protected
from coastal hazards. To successfully
achieve this vision, the Palm Beach
Shoreline Project was developed.
In 2017, phase one of the project,
beach nourishment, was undertaken
as part of a broader campaign to
deliver additional sand from offshore
reserves onto Gold Coast beaches.
More than 470,000 cubic metres of
clean sand was strategically placed
along Palm Beach during the project.

Phase two was construction of the Palm
Beach Artificial Reef, which took four
months to build and was completed in
September 2019 at an investment of
$18.2 million. The innovative artificial reef
is a valuable asset and a sustainable
solution for the ongoing protection of
this vulnerable stretch of coastline.
Council worked closely with a team
of experts in coastal science and
engineering to design the artificial reef
specifically for Palm Beach. Computer
modelling, wave tank testing and
real-life coastal data analysis informed

CHAPTER 03 OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

the final design and location. The artificial
reef is an underwater rock structure
constructed from 60,000 tonnes of
large rock boulders quarried from South
East Queensland. It sits 270 metres
offshore from Nineteenth Avenue at
Palm Beach and 1.5 metres below the
average water level at its highest point.
The magic happens below the water
line, where the artificial reef influences
surrounding waves and currents to
help promote a long-term increase in
sand along vulnerable sections of Palm
Beach. The increase in sand is generally

// Palm Beach artificial reef.

located just offshore within the
surf zone and acts as a protective
buffer from coastal erosion.
While the primary purpose of the
artificial reef is coastal protection, surf
amenity was also considered as a
key outcome of the Surf Management
Plan. The design anticipated that in
certain swell conditions, waves suitable
for intermediate to advanced surfers
would break on the reef. Preliminary
feedback from the community has
been positive, particularly in the
autumn months this year (2020).

Council continues to closely monitor
sand movement, surf amenity
and ecology around the new reef.
Ongoing data collected from the
project may help to influence the
design of future artificial reefs.
The delivery of the Palm Beach
Shoreline Project represents another
milestone in the delivery of the Ocean
Beaches Strategy 2013– 2023 and
Council’s dedication to actively
managing our precious coastline.

// Surfer enjoying the waves breaking at the artificial reef Palm Beach.
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Sundale Bridge – improving traffic flow and pedestrian safety
A theme within the Gold Coast City Transport Strategy 2031 is
to plan and manage the city’s transport system as one network.
The Sundale Bridge and Waterways Drive Upgrade will
contribute to a balanced transport system by increasing our
network capacity, improving traffic flow in the heart of the Gold
Coast, enhancing pedestrian and cyclist pathways, so people
can spend less time on the road and more time enjoying our
beautiful city.
This $34 million project is being delivered over a two year period
to minimise community impact. From August 2019 through to
June 2020, approximately 50% of the project was delivered.
Almost 800,000 people are set to call the Gold Coast home
by 2031 so it’s critical we deliver resilient transport links across
our city now and for the future. The Sundale Bridge, Gold
Coast Highway, Waterways Drive and Macarthur Parade, Main
Beach are at the gateway to several popular cultural precincts,

// Sundale Bridge and Waterways Drive upgrade, Southport – Artist impression.
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where this network of roads is currently experiencing significant
congestion. Currently, drivers travelling from The Spit to
Southport Central Business District are experiencing delays of
up to 35 minutes during peak times. Without intervention, by
2041 the delay could increase by up to two hours.
As part of the one network transport theme, Council is
delivering a series of upgrades along this popular route to
increase network capacity, improve road safety and encourage
active travel. This includes adding a third northbound lane on
the Sundale Bridge as well as upgrading Waterways Drive
and Macarthur Parade and associated intersections. Upon
completion in late 2021, projected trip times from The Spit to
Southport will take only eight minutes during peak times.
The Sundale Bridge and Waterways Drive Upgrade project is
another contribution to our on-going investment in our Gold
Coast one transport network goal.

CHAPTER 03 OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

// Hopo ferry, Broadwater.

Delivering the next generation of public transport
Over the past 50 years, the Gold Coast has rapidly grown to
become Australia’s sixth largest city. As the city grows, we
must plan for the future to protect our economy, lifestyle
and environment.
An essential part of that planning is to deliver a high-quality
public transport network that connects seamlessly to other
forms of active and sustainable travel that will help reduce
dependency on private vehicles.
Council recognises that an extensive light rail network across
the city’s major transport corridors is essential for the Gold
Coast to have an effective public transport system.
In 2014, in partnership with State Government, the G:link
light rail network was introduced with stations spanning from
Helensvale to Broadbeach South. Since services began there
have been 50 million passenger trips on G:link, overall public
transport use has increased by more than 31.8%.

The $709 million Stage 3 extension from Broadbeach South to
Burleigh Heads was announced in November 2019 and will be
delivered with a financial commitment from Council of $91.5
million. Construction is scheduled to begin in 2021 and will
support more than 760 local jobs.
Alongside the investment into the light rail network, in December
2019, Council launched a two year trial of a new ferry service.
Hopo provides the community with river travel between
HOTA, Home of the Arts, SeaWorld, stopping at Appel Park,
Broadwater Parklands and Marina Mirage.
The trial provides a range of benefits to our community including
more sustainable public transport options, better access to our
waterways and popular Gold Coast destinations, reduced road
congestion and a picturesque waterways travel experience.
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// Gold Coast, planning for one of Australia’s fastest growing cities.

City Plan – community has their say on future changes to the City Plan
The Gold Coast is Australia’s fastest growing regional city,
internationally renowned for our iconic skyline, world
heritage-listed rainforests and enviable lifestyle.

This year we asked the community, industry and stakeholders
for feedback on proposed changes to the City Plan across a
range of themes, including:

Growth brings exciting opportunities for the city with increased
potential for job growth, infrastructure investment, innovation
and economic prosperity.

• built form and urban design

Gold Coast City Plan (City Plan) sets out a fresh and innovative
approach to managing this growth responsibly while continuing
to safeguard our lifestyle for generations to come.
The Queensland Government’s ShapingSEQ regional plan
sets a framework for our city to accommodate 351,100
additional people, 158,900 extra dwellings and 180,000
more jobs by 2041.
The City Plan commenced February 2016 and is Council’s tool
to ensure this growth is in the right locations, at the right time
and supported by the right infrastructure. Council continually
responds to emerging opportunities and reflects changing
community aspirations through improvements to the City Plan.
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• environment
• growth and diversification of employment
• height and density
• targeted growth areas
• other land use and alignment changes.
Three rounds of consultation were held over 79 business days,
resulting in 1661 submissions which provided valuable input
from business and community stakeholders.
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Council delivers largest urban art initiative
Council completed the third phase of the ‘Waterwalls’ project
in February 2020. Commissioned in 2017, the project is
the largest urban art initiative Council has undertaken.

Over a four-year period, 14 artists were engaged to transform
Council water and waste assets such as water reservoirs and
sewage pump stations to make the Gold Coast more visually
appealing, to engage the community and foster a culture of
creativity. Each artwork is designed to tell a story relevant to
the area it is located. For example, the Surfers Paradise work
features a local species of animal prevalent in the area and
the Currumbin work located near the RSL is designed around
a returned war veteran. The project played an important
role in providing local emerging artists with a platform to
showcase their work while improving the amenity of the city
prior to the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games.
The final sites completed were at Falkinder Avenue
in Paradise Point, Morala Avenue in Runaway Bay,
Stanhill Drive and Mawarra Street in Surfers Paradise
and Duringan Street in Currumbin. The artworks took
between two to three weeks to paint, with each one
taking a year from conception to completion.

Looking forward 2020 –21
Key place activities include:
• commence construction of the Robina
City Parklands to provide picnic facilities,
playgrounds, event space and walking tracks
for residents and visitors
• construct the Surfers Paradise Sand
Nourishment Pipeline to improve the resilience
of beaches at Surfers Paradise, Narrowneck
and Main Beach
• construct an additional bridge across the
Nerang River to Isle of Capri
• collaborate with State Government on the
planning and delivery of Light Rail Stage 3 from
Broadbeach South to Burleigh Heads
• progress the development of the Long Term
Recycled Water Release Stage 1, including
infrastructure upgrades to cater for both
average and peak recycled water releases for
the whole of city

020-21

Waterwalls form part of Council’s Gold Coast Water
Strategy 2019 – 2024 and focuses on transforming Council
infrastructure into works of art while targeting graffiti hotspots
to discourage vandalism. Four years ago, graffiti vandalism
cost Council around $1 million annually. Last financial
year, Council spent approximately half that amount.

• install 5000 smart water meters across the city
• implement an organic waste program with a
focus on the hospitality sector
• deliver an Into Nature Program to engage
residents and visitors with nature; build
awareness and understanding of the city's
unique natural assets; and promote and support
nature conservation partnerships.

// “Regent honeyeater and monarch butterfly” by Loretta Lizzio,
D14 O’Connell Park, Runaway Bay.

39

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – 20

3.2 PROSPERITY BUILT ON
A STRONG DIVERSE ECONOMY
Recycled water network expansion
– future proofing the city with sustainable infrastructure
Recycled water is a sustainable, climate
resilient alternative to drinking water for
uses such as watering green spaces
and industry. Council is currently
producing on average approximately
155 million litres of recycled water per
day. In 2019–20, approximately 17%
of all recycled water was re-used,
most commonly for open space
irrigation on golf courses and selected
sports fields and dust suppression on
unsealed roads. The 2022 target is
25% which will be achieved through
the implementation of the Recycled
Water Network Expansion Project.
In one of Council’s largest ever
sustainability infrastructure projects,
the recycled water network is
being expanded and upgraded so
more areas of the Gold Coast can
make use of this water. This project
forms part of Council’s Gold Coast
Water Strategy 2019 –2024.
This $98 million project will provide
a climate resilient, affordable and
fit-for-purpose option to maintain and
enhance greenspace and support
and grow local industry to underpin
the future of the Gold Coast.
The city-wide expansion, to be delivered
in stages, involves the construction of
approximately 70 kilometres of pipelines
in six recycled water supply zones to
service new non-residential customers.

Stage one works at Carrara and
Broadbeach involves 12 kilometres of
pipework to supply schools, golf courses
and the Carrara Sports Precinct as well
as new and existing non-residential
customers. It will conserve one million
litres of drinking water per day by using
recycled water for irrigation. This stage
is due for completion in early 2022.
This year we have completed planning
and design for the project, as well
as conducting significant customer
engagement with community groups
that will directly benefit from the
expansion. Tenders for the first
two zones and a recycled water
treatment plant were intended to
be released to the market in March
2020, but were deferred due to
COVID-19. A revised program has
these tenders scheduled for release
to the market by October 2020.
The project will provide opportunities
for the irrigation of sporting fields, golf
courses, open spaces, streetscapes,
for use in cooling towers, industry
and selected agriculture. It will
help to green the city, support and
grow local industries like garden
centres and shopping centres and
facilitate agricultural opportunities.
Design and construction of the
remaining supply zones are planned to
be carried out between 2020 and 2025.

Construction also includes two recycled
water reservoir sites, two recycled water
pumping stations and an upgrade at
the Merrimac Sewage Treatment Plant.

// Coombabah Water and
Waste Treatment Plant.
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Celebrating the city’s diamond jubilee
This year the Gold Coast turned 60,
marking the official naming of the
Gold Coast in 1959. To mark the
diamond jubilee, we celebrated in
style with a free community concert.

construction, to embrace knowledgebased industries including health,
Information Communication Technology
( ICT), advanced manufacturing,
education and professional services.

Home to the Yugambeh people and
previously known as the Town of South
Coast, it was encompassed by the
Shire of Albert, which together, took in
the hinterland and the coastal strip.

In 2018, the Commonwealth Games
was a defining moment in our city’s
history. Preparation saw significant
investment in major projects, such
as light rail and world-class sporting
venues, which have not only led to the
creation of strong opportunities across
new sectors, but provided a lasting
legacy for a new generation of athletes.

As the Gold Coast became widely
known for its beautiful sandy beaches
and relaxed lifestyle, the town’s
population began to increase rapidly,
along with its reputation as a desirable
destination for visitors. This rise in
population and tourism kicked off a
development boom that continued
over the next three decades as the
Gold Coast transformed from a quiet
seaside town to a major urban city.
In 1995, the Gold Coast was
amalgamated with the hinterland and
northern areas of the Albert Shire
Council to form today's City of Gold
Coast, which is now Australia’s secondlargest local government authority.
Over the years we’ve capitalised on
our reputation as a holiday destination,
now we welcome more than 14 million
visitors per year to enjoy our attractions
and the natural beauty of our beaches
and pristine rainforests. Our economy
has also diversified from tourism and

We’ve also seen exceptional success
attracting major events to the city in
recent years which has earned us a
reputation as a global events destination.
Council has continued to invest in
the community, with several major
infrastructure projects planned or
underway, including the next stage of
the light rail to Burleigh Heads, Pimpama
Sports Hub and HOTA Cultural Precinct.
In just six decades the Gold Coast has
transformed from a coastal resort town
of 80,000 people, to a thriving city with
an iconic high-rise skyline, enriched
by a culturally diverse community of
more than 600,000. As the population
continues to grow and the city evolves,
there’s no doubt the Gold Coast
is headed for a strong century.

// Amy Shark at city 60 year celebration, Broadwater Parklands.
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// Surf Network Wi-Fi launch.

Surf Network expands, providing free Wi-Fi for more than two million users
In 2018, Council launched Surf Network – the first phase of
its plan to build Australia’s largest public Wi-Fi network.
This year, building on the existing network in parts of
Southport, Surfers Paradise, Broadbeach and Coolangatta,
coverage was expanded to include Chevron Island and
HOTA, Home of the Arts with the HOTA Green Bridge
connecting the two areas, plus Miami foreshore and
additional parts of Southport and Coolangatta.
As part of Council’s COVID-19 support package, Council
accelerated the launch of a secure Wi-Fi service for local
businesses – Surf Network for Business and waived the
standard access fees to further support businesses.
Since 2018, more than two million users have taken advantage
of Surf Network’s four gigabytes of free data per day, at
speeds close to 30Mbs, via a secure network connection.
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Expansion of the Surf Network is part of Council’s ongoing
investment in digital infrastructure. Council-owned fibre optic
network is the backbone of Council’s connectivity and powers
the Surf Network. Following installation of fibre optic cables
through the light rail network, construction of a fibre optic
cable loop is being delivered from Broadbeach to Burleigh
Heads, looping through Robina and connecting to the light
rail corridor at Southport. This investment will save Council
approximately $1 million per year on internet services and has
enabled cost effective delivery of extensive Wi-Fi coverage.
The project is due for completion in December 2020 at a total
cost of $12.125 million. This is the combined total from the
investment for the Commonwealth Games ($2.125) and EPE
18.0808.003 Adopted Report Council Meeting (759) for $10m.
This is just one of the ways we’re achieving our
vision to be Australia’s leading digital city and deliver
the fastest internet in Australia by 2021.
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Gold Coast Libraries: Support for start-ups and emerging local businesses
Gold Coast Libraries’ Business Skills series is a free service for
emerging local businesses, entrepreneurs and start-ups to help
develop core business skills.
Start-ups play a vital role in our local economy, bringing new
products and services to market, ultimately opening up export
opportunities, creating jobs and contributing to the city’s
economic prosperity.
From July 2019 to March 2020, Libraries delivered practical
workshops monthly featuring leading business experts and
entrepreneurs at locations across the Gold Coast.
Due to COVID-19, Council quickly adapted and from March
2020 business workshops were delivered via webinars and
online tutorials. Workshops included a presentation by the
Australian Taxation Office about claiming home-based business
expenses and how capital gains tax may apply.

Getting practical help is crucial in the early start-up phase.
The popular business skills program also facilitates wellattended opportunities for start-ups to network with
like-minded Gold Coasters and business leaders.
Gold Coast Libraries also provide free business resources
for research, full-text business journals and learning and
development opportunities that can’t be accessed through
internet search engines.
With free meeting spaces, creative tech labs, monthly
networking events, the latest issues of business and finance
magazines, research assistance from librarians, Gold Coast
Libraries is providing an ideal launch pad for local start-ups
and emerging businesses.

A Gold Coast entrepreneur recently named in the Forbes ‘30
under 30’ list presented a workshop on the key areas that every
entrepreneur should focus on when starting their business
including motivation, time management and budgeting.

// City Libraries – ‘Start me up’ business skills program.
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Electric vehicles added to fleet
Passenger vehicles with petrol or diesel engines make up
75% of Australia’s vehicles on the road, which contributes
to significant greenhouse gas emissions.

Looking forward 2020 –21
Key prosperity activities include:
• implement Stage 1B Art Gallery, at HOTA,
Home of the Arts at Evandale. This will
create a physical and visual connection
between HOTA, Council Chambers
and the Versatile Outdoor Space
• support the Gold Coast Health and Knowledge
Precinct to become a world-class renowned
centre of ideas, research and innovation
• contribute to the construction of a super
yacht berthing facility at Southport Yacht Club
in partnership with the State Government
• deliver the Music Action Plan 2021 to support
live music in the city through artist and industry
development to create a vibrant music sector

020-21

• implement ongoing enhancements to the
Digital City service offering through the
provision of Big Data Analytics and validation
of ever emerging smart technologies to
leverage Internet of Things (IOT) 'at scale’
to deliver increasing value to the city.
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Six electric vehicles have been added to Council’s fleet this
year, as part of the organisation’s commitment to reducing
its carbon footprint. The Hyundai Ioniq Elite Electric Vehicles
replaced traditional combustion engine vehicles in line with
Council’s Energy Management Program.
The new electric vehicles have zero petrol or diesel fuel
costs, produce zero greenhouse gas emissions and require
less ongoing maintenance than regular cars. The vehicles
use regenerative braking technology to slow the vehicle,
while adding charge to the battery, resulting in less vehicle
wear and tear and reduced maintenance costs.
Each vehicle is equipped with software to provide data for
analysis. The electric vehicle driving range is at least 300km
on a full charge, which takes six hours to complete.
There are plans to grow the fleet by adding six cars each
year for the next three years, with data collected over
this time.
To maximise the environmental benefits of the electric
vehicles, charging stations have been installed in a number
of Council-owned solar-powered buildings. Council’s solar
network spans 47 sites across the Gold Coast and saves
ratepayers $1 million per year in energy costs. This network
has more than doubled in the past year.

// Electric vehicles and solar panels.
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// Groundwater Country Music Festival, Broadbeach.

Major Events Gold Coast
The Gold Coast continues to build its reputation as an
internationally recognised events city after establishing
its new centralised events entity Major Events Gold Coast
(MEGC), effective 1 July 2020.
Chaired by Darryl Kelly, the high profile board is tasked with
taking a whole-of-city approach to growing the city’s major
event calendar and economic contribution. With the calibre
of the new board and a team of respected event specialists,
the city is well placed to continue building on the success
of the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games.
// Cooly Rocks On 2019, Coolangatta.

Capitalising on the city’s portfolio of world-class venues,
MEGC’s goal is to attract more major events to the city,
while continuing to support existing events such as the
Gold Coast Marathon, Magic Millions and Gold Coast 600.
Over the years, acquiring and delivering major events has
been a key part of Council’s economic development agenda.
COVID -19 has had a significant impact with numerous
major events in 2020 cancelled or postponed.
Once COVID-19 restrictions are lifted MEGC will work
towards growing the city’s major events portfolio
and delivering established key events; including
the award-winning Blues on Broadbeach, Cooly Rocks On
and Groundwater Country Music Festival.

// Blues on Broadbeach, Broadbeach.
45

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – 20

3.3 PEOPLE CONTRIBUTE TO A STRONG
COMMUNITY SPIRIT
HOTA Green Bridge links our cultural heart with tourism hub
The 2019–20 financial year marked a significant boost
in the city’s active travel network with the opening of the
highly anticipated $19.5 million Green Bridge, connecting
HOTA, Home of the Arts, to Chevron Island.
Active travel refers to more sustainable methods of travel
including walking, cycling, carpooling and public transport. The
benefits include reducing traffic congestion, improving air quality,
supporting our active and healthy lifestyle and saving money.
The Green Bridge is a vital active travel link making
our evolving cultural precinct more accessible. People
wanting to visit HOTA, Home of the Arts or Evandale
Lake can now cycle or walk from Surfers Paradise and
the G:link light rail corridor via Chevron Island.
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The Green Bridge is a benchmark for future green bridges
around the city. In 2013, 75 of the world’s leading architects
entered an international design competition to transform
Evandale into the city’s heart of artistic, cultural and civic
celebration. A green transport option over Nerang River was
considered an essential component of that vision. Community
consultation was undertaken at the same time as the design
competition. Almost 80% of respondents supported a green
bridge and the Mawarra Street alignment as the preferred
option to improving accessibility to the G:link and Surfers
Paradise accommodation, dining and entertainment facilities.
The 2014 Gold Coast Cultural Precinct Masterplan, by
design competition winners ARM Architecture, included
a green bridge design. Further design development
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// HOTA Green Bridge, Evandale.

followed an options investigation and value for money
exercise. Plans for the bridge were released in 2018
with construction commencing later that year.
The steel box girder design was a Queensland first for a
green bridge. Design included a J-ramp over Evandale
Lake with artistic façade titled ‘40 Million Mornings’,
creating a unique feature and wayfinding element.
During the 89,000 construction hours to complete the bridge,
340 jobs were created with Gold Coasters employed in over half
of those positions. The workforce lifted almost 500 tonnes of
steel reinforcement and poured 1382 cubic metres of concrete.
Design of the infrastructure is a unique example of collaboration
between specialist bridge engineering, architecture,
landscape architecture and a contracting partnership
that resulted in a successful integrated outcome.

The Green Bridge represents the second major milestone in
the evolving HOTA, Home of the Arts precinct. The first was
the $37.5 million outdoor stage, with the third the delivery
of the $60.5 million art gallery, due to open early 2021.
Construction of HOTA Gallery, an 8000 square metre,
six-level, purpose-built visual arts facility for exhibitions,
education and engaging with arts is well underway.
HOTA, Home of the Arts is preparing for the much
anticipated public grand opening with a program of
international blockbuster exhibitions currently in motion. As
the next piece of the puzzle in the precinct, residents and
visitors can look forward to an exciting visual arts program
incorporating the city’s multi-million dollar art collection.
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// Miami Aquatic Centre redevelopment –Artist impression.

Community facilities – Progress on Pimpama Sports Hub and Miami Aquatic Centre
Two of the Gold Coast’s most exciting civic projects are currently
under construction and will be completed in 2020–21.
Phase one of the $80 million Pimpama Sports Hub which
includes a netball centre, events space and one-hectare
community park will be complete in late 2020.
The $18 million Miami Aquatic Centre redevelopment
is scheduled for completion in January 2021.
These projects are integral to our community and our
COVID-19 economic recovery by creating jobs, much
needed infrastructure and social amenity. Pimpama Sports
Hub alone is expected to create more than 400 jobs and
contribute more than $161 million to the local economy.
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At Pimpama, the base for 12 netball courts was poured and is
ready to be surfaced with cushioned acrylic. The roads and car
parks are under construction with the signalised intersection
due for completion prior to opening in late 2020. Excavation for
the 50 metre swimming pool was completed and trusses were
installed for the aquatic pool building. The base slab is now in
place for the multi-purpose community centre hall. Phase two
is expected to be complete in late 2021.
The Miami Aquatic Centre’s new 50 metre pool shell was
completed and the sub-structure for the new administration
building is well underway. The carpark and active pathways
are being constructed while the learn-to-swim and warm
water pool shell are nearing completion and on track
for residents to enjoy over the summer months.
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Council connects community to live data
on local waterways health
In 2020, the Water and Waste directorate introduced an
environmental data management system to capture data
collected across the city, to better inform operational
decision-making. This project forms part of Council’s Gold
Coast Water Strategy 2019–2024.
EnvironSys is a comprehensive environmental data
management system, which simplifies the capture, storage,
monitoring, analysis, visualisation and reporting
of environmental data.

Looking forward 2020 –21

While initially focusing on water quality (surface water,
groundwater, storm water, potable water, water flow, water
storage and sewage treatment), EnviroSys will enable Council
to manage and analyse a wide range of data types including:

• construct the new Pimpama Sports
Hub to support the growing population
of the northern Gold Coast

• flora and fauna
• land disturbance, heritage, rehabilitation,
materials management
• waste, contamination, soil chemistry, emissions
and energy
• pest management and weed management
• acid rock drainage.
This information, available to the community on Council’s
website, is part of a suite of initiatives using technology
to provide real-time data to the city regarding our natural
environment; as part of our commitment to sustainability
and future-proofing the city.

• plan and design of the Coomera Civic
Hub to service the needs of the northern
Gold Coast, to include a community
centre, library and cultural facilities
• deliver the Accelerate Triennial Grants
Program to ensure support and growth in
the arts and culture industry across the city
• promote Gold Coast indigenous arts and culture
through local and national partnerships including
the South Stradbroke Indigenous Artist Camp
• finalise the Distinctly Gold Coast
Indigenous retail brand (Yeien) and
plan for product distribution
• implement the Level Up Youth Arts
Program, comprising a contemporary art
space to showcase the works of young
and emerging local art practitioners

020-21

• air quality, dust monitoring, noise and vibration

Key people activities include:

• deliver an Olympic standard skate
park at Pizzey Park, Miami
• development of Country Paradise,
Nerang as a destination play space.

// Connecting the community to water data.
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3.4 MAJOR EVENTS

2019

JULY

AUGUST

SEPTEMBER

OCTOBER

NOVEMBER

DECEMBER

Gold Coast Marathon

GLOW

Gold Coast 600

Kokoda Challenge

Seniors Week

SWELL Sculpture
Festival

Pan Pacific
Masters Games

Australian PGA
Championship

Various Remembrance
Day events

Mayor’s
Christmas Carols

VIVA Surfers Paradise
Gold Coast Eisteddfod
Groundwater Country
Music Festival

Gold Coast Show

Robbie McEwen
Granfondo
UniSport Nationals
– Div 1

UniSport Nationals
– Div 2

Gymnastics Australia
National Clubs
Carnival

Gold Coast Diamond
Jubilee Celebrations

Queensland Triathlon
Series Round 1
Stihl Timbersports
Australian
Championships

Coolangatta Gold
Tour De Valley
Buskers by the Creek
Hockey Australia
Masters Women's
National
Championships
The Grass is Greener
(music concert)

Volleyball Australia
Schools Cup
New Year’s Eve
Celebrations
and Fireworks

By the C
(music concert)

// Main image: Viva Surfers Paradise.
Left to right: Chocolate Starfish – Surfers Paradise Live, Swell Sculpture Festival 2019 – Currumbin, Groundwater Country Music Festival – Broadbeach.
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2020

JANUARY

FEBRUARY

MARCH

APRIL – JUNE

Magic Millions
Racing Carnival

Sand Safari
Arts Festival

NRL Masters Carnival

Pacific Fair Magic
Millions Polo

Eurovision
Australia Decides

Queensland Triathlon
Series Round 5

Feast on Fifth
– Bleach* Festival

Burleigh Single
Fin Competition

NRL Indigenous
All-Stars

Major events scheduled
in April through to
June were cancelled in
response to Queensland
Government
restrictions on social
gatherings to respond
to COVID-19.

Australia Day
Celebrations

Queen and
Adam Lambert
stadium concert

Lunar New Year

Bowlzilla
Gold Coast (skating)
Gold Coast Beach
Volleyball Festival

// Left to right: Sand Safari, Queen and Adam Lambert concert, Feast on fifth.
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3.5 AWARDS AND RECOGNITION
Council is dedicated to demonstrating excellence in the provision of services to the community. Through our professional dedicated
workforce and partners, we have continued to deliver world-class outcomes for the city and have been recognised with a number of
awards, as shown below.

AWA R D E D I N 2 018 –19

J U LY 2 0 19

S E P T E M B E R 2 0 19

2019 Australian Institute of Architects
National Award for Public Architecture*

2019 Excellence Awards (Road Safety):
The Crash Investigation Alliance

Rehabilitation Project of the Year

2019 Australian Institute of Architects State
FDG Stanley Award for Public Architecture*

Awarded for
The Crash Investigation Alliance road safety
initiative established in August 2017 by
Council in partnership with the Queensland
Police Service to investigate fatal and
serious injury crashes and monitor road
trauma on the city’s local road network.
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Traffic Planning
and Management (AITPM)
Awarded to
Transport and Traffic

2019 Australian Institute of Architects
Regional Building of the Year Award*
2019 Australian Institute of Architects
Regional Public Architecture Award*
2018 Australian Institute of Landscape
Architects National Landscape
Architecture Award – Tourism*
2018 Australian Institute of
Landscape Architects QLD Award
of Excellence – Tourism*
2018 Australian Institute of
Landscape Architects QLD Landscape
Architecture Award – Civic*
Awarded for
HOTA, Home of the Arts Outdoor Stage
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Architects and
Australian Institute of Landscape Architects
Awarded to
Infrastructure Delivery
* Awarded in 2018–19 however were not presented
to Council until February 2020 and therefore were
not included in the 2018–19 Annual Report
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AU G U S T 2 0 19
Highly Commended – Crash Investigation
Alliance – Awarded to City of Gold Coast and
Queensland Police Service, Coomera Station
Awarded for
The Crash Investigation Alliance road safety
initiative established in August 2017 by
Council in partnership with the Queensland
Police Service to investigate fatal and
serious injury crashes and monitor road
trauma on the city’s local road network.
Awarded by
Queensland Road Safety Award
Awarded to
Transport and Traffic

Awarded for
Eastern Force Main Biggera Creek – Pipe Repair
Awarded by
Australasian Society of Trenchless
Technology (ASTT)
Awarded to
(Water and Waste) Asset Solutions

S E P T E M B E R 2 0 19
Stormwater Queensland – 2019 Awards
for Excellence – Excellence in Strategic
or Master Planning – Highly Commended
Award for Local Government Infrastructure
Plan (LGIP) – Stormwater Quality
Awarded for
Local Government Infrastructure Plan (LGIP)
– Stormwater Quality
Awarded by
Stormwater Queensland
Awarded to
City Assets

O C TO B E R 2 0 19
Core Value Awards
Awarded for
Koala Conservation Engagement
Awarded by
International Association for Public Participation
Awarded to
City Planning Branch
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O C TO B E R 2 0 19

D E C E M B E R 2 019

JUNE 2020

2019 Institute of Public Works Engineers
Australasia Queensland (IPWEAQ)
Excellence Awards – Winner Innovation
– Palm Beach Shoreline Project

Banksia Sustainability Awards 2019 Finalist

Employee of the Year 2020

Awarded for
External Environmental Offsets Program
Awarded by
Banksia Foundation
Awarded to
City Planning (Environment Planning)
Branch and Parks and Recreational Services
(Natural Areas Management) Branch

Awarded for
The Employee of the Year Award
recognises an employee from within the
industry who consistently goes above
and beyond during their work day.
Awarded by
Caravan Industry Association of Australia
Awarded to
Community Venues and Services
– Gold Coast Tourist Parks

Awarded for
The Palm Beach Shoreline Project was the
winner for the ‘Innovation’ category
Awarded by
Institute of Public Works Engineers
Australasia Queensland (IPWEAQ)
Awarded to
City Assets

M AY 2 0 2 0
Gold Coast Regional Commendation

N OV E M B E R 2 0 19
2019 Queensland Landcare Awards
Awarded for
Beaches to Bushland Program
Awarded by
Australian Government Partnerships
for Landcare Award
Awarded to
Parks and Recreational Services

Awarded for
HOTA, Home of the Arts Green Bridge
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Architects
– Queensland Chapter
Awarded to
City of Gold Coast, ARM and Archipelago

Jenny Reeve Team Award
Awarded for
Vector and Biosecurity Services
Awarded by
South-East Queensland Pest
Advisory Forum (SEQPAF)
Awarded to
Health Regulatory and Lifeguard Services

AILA 2020 QLD Landscape Architecture
Award for Landscape Planning
Awarded for
Urban Tree Canopy Cover Study Gold Coast
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Landscape Architects (AILA)
Awarded to
City of Gold Coast with ARUP

JUNE 2020
Parks and Open Space (category)

N OV E M B E R 2 0 19

JUNE 2020

Awarded for
Bim’bimba Park, Pimpama
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Landscape
Architects – Queensland Chapter
Awarded to
Parks and Recreational Services

JUNE 2020
Gold Award for Distinguished
Achievement in Reporting
Awarded for
City of Gold Coast Annual Report 2018 –19
Awarded by
Australasian Reporting Awards Limited
Awarded to
Corporate Planning and Performance Branch
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4.0

DEMOCRATIC
GOVERNANCE
Chapter four provides Council’s
democratic governance arrangements;
Councillor attendance and remuneration
and support provided to community
organisations and business.

CHAPTER 4 DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE

// City skyline from the hinterland at sunset.

4.1 ROLE OF COUNCIL
Council of the City of Gold Coast (Council) is empowered by
the Local Government Act 2009 (the Act), to make decisions
informed by the priorities of the community. The Act empowers
Council to define and enforce local laws, regulations and policies
necessary to effectively manage and govern the local area. The
Local Government Regulation 2012 (the Regulation) supports
implementation of the Act by providing more detailed guidance.
Councillors represent the interests of the community and
through the elected Council decision-making processes,
translate the community’s needs and aspirations into the future
direction of our city to ensure that the Gold Coast is the best
place to live, visit, work and conduct business.

The Mayor, Councillors, local government employees and any
other person with a responsibility within local government must
act in accordance with the principles outlined in section 4(2) of
the Act, ensuring:
• transparent and effective processes and decision-making in
the public interest
• sustainable development and management of assets and
infrastructure and delivery of effective services
• democratic representation, social inclusion and meaningful
community engagement
• good governance of and by local government
• ethical and legal behaviour of Councillors and local
government employees.

Election of Mayor and Councillors
Queensland local government elections are held every four years, where voters elect Councillors to represent each of the 14 divisions
and a Mayor for the elected Council. The most recent election occurred on 28 March 2020 with four newly elected Councillors, eight
re-elected Councillors and re-election of the Mayor. The full list of Councillors representing Gold Coast divisions during the year is
provided in section 2.4, Our Councillors of this report.

View the City of Gold Coast Councillors and Divisions
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/councillors
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Delegated power and authority
The elected Council can delegate local government powers under section 257 of the Act to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO).
The CEO is able to delegate powers to nominated positions within Council’s staff establishment under section 259 of the Act, enabling
them to efficiently perform the responsibilities of their roles. The Corporate Delegations Register records these details and is open
for public inspection in accordance with section 260 of the Act. The figure below provides an overview of the structure of Council’s
functions and operations at 30 June 2020 and presents the links between community, the elected Council and administration.
View the Delegated Power and Authorisations Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

Figure 8: Links between the community, the elected Council and administration

Democratic governance

Local Government Act 2009

Gold Coast Community

(governing legislation)

(provides input to City priorities)

Elected Council
(decision making)

Controlled/funded entities

Standing Special and Advisory Committees

(perform special functions and services
for the Gold Coast)

(provides advice and recommendations on
specific matters)

Audit and Risk Committee
(independent assurance, oversight and advice)

Corporate governance
Chief Executive Officer

Office of the CEO

Corporate Assurance

(implementation and administration
of Council decisions)

Executive Leadership Team

Office of the
Chief Operating
Officer
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4.2 COUNCIL MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES
The elected Council conducts its business at open and publiclyadvertised meetings. The elected Council’s standing committees
and special committee consider a range of issues and make
recommendations to meetings of full Council. All standing
committees are held once per fortnight, with the exception of
the Water, Waste and Energy Committee which is held on a
monthly basis. Full Council meetings are held fortnightly (outside
agreed periods where Councillors are engaged in community
consultation and civic duties). Additional Council meetings may
be held throughout the year to consider specific matters.
Due to COVID-19 Council and committee meetings were
held by teleconferencing in accordance with section 277B
of the Regulation.
From 1 July 2019, Council had five standing committees
and one special committee. Following the election on 28
March 2020, the role and responsibilities of some standing
committees were amended, effective 21 April 2020, as follows:

• responsibilities of the Economy, Planning and Environment
Committee relating to economy were transferred
to Economy, Tourism and Events Committee.
• the majority of the responsibilities of the Events, Tourism
and Governance Committee were transferred to the newly
formed Governance and Administration Committee.
At 30 June 2020, Council had six standing committees and one
special committee. The Mayor is a member of all committees.
All Councillors are members of the Special Budget and Finance
Committee and may hold a position on advisory committees that
provide the elected Council with advice on complex matters.
The tables below show Council committees and
membership as at 30 June 2020 and 21 April 2020.
View the City of Gold Coast Register of Membership
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/registerofmembership

• responsibilities of the Water and Waste Committee
were extended to include Energy Management.

// HOTA gallery construction.
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Council committees and memberships as at 30 June 2020
Table 6: Planning and Environment Committee as at 30 June 2020
Planning and Environment Committee

QUORUM:
FIVE

Director responsible: Director Economy, Planning and Environment
Responsibility

Membership

• Building compliance

Cr Cameron Caldwell (Chairperson)

• Bushfire strategy and assessment

Cr Donna Gates (Deputy Chairperson)

• City placemaking
• Development assessment

Mayor Tom Tate

• Development compliance

Cr Mark Hammel

• Ecological assessment

Cr William Owen-Jones

• Environmental conservation and management

Cr Hermann Vorster

• Environment protection and planning
• Environmental policy
• Flood policy and mitigation planning
• Industrial diversity
• Landscape strategy and assessment
• Local government Infrastructure plan and operation
• Nature conservation
• Planning appeals
• Planning scheme review and amendments
• Plumbing and drainage
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• State Government Regional Planning inputs
• Strategic infrastructure planning
• Strategic land use planning
• Tree clearing
• Urban design assessment
• Urban design, architecture and heritage
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Cr Peter Young
Cr Pauline Young
Cr Gail O’Neill
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Table 7: Governance and Administration Committee as at 30 June 2020
Governance and Administration Committee

QUORUM:
FOUR

Director responsible: Chief Operating Officer and Director Organisational Services
Responsibility

Membership

• Annual Report

Cr William Owen-Jones (Chairperson)

• Asset management

Cr Brooke Patterson (Deputy Chairperson)

• Audit and Risk Committee
• City reputation and branding

Mayor Tom Tate

• Corporate/operational planning

Cr Mark Hammel

• Corporate governance matters

Cr Donna Gates

• Corporate structure

Cr Ryan Bayldon-Lumsden

• Councillors’ conferences and training attendance and reporting
• Fleet and plant
• Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd including performance reporting

Cr Darren Taylor
Cr Daphne McDonald

• Industrial relations
• Information management
• Local law development and review
• Organisational performance management
• Policy development and review
• Procurement performance
• Property matters
• Rate recovery
• Risk management
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• Sundry debtors
• Trust fund matters
• Write off accounts
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Table 8: Lifestyle and Community Committee as at 30 June 2020
Lifestyle and Community Committee

QUORUM:
FOUR

Director responsible: Director Lifestyle and Community
Responsibility

Membership

• Active and Healthy Program

Cr Hermann Vorster (Chairperson)

• Advertising devices
• Animal control

Cr Ryan Bayldon-Lumsden
(Deputy Chairperson)

• Aquatic centres

Mayor Tom Tate

• Arts and crafts markets
• Arts and culture

Cr Donna Gates

• Building certification

Cr Cameron Caldwell

• Cemeteries

Cr Bob La Castra

• City laws approvals

Cr Glenn Tozer

• Community and youth centres
• Community safety including the safety camera network
• Community sporting facilities (leases)
• Disaster recovery
• Environmental conservation and management including hazard
reduction and bushfire mitigation
• Environmental health (e.g. standards of specialised premises, food,
hair, skin etc.)
• Libraries
• Lifeguard services
• Liveability programs (youth, junior council, disability, seniors,
multicultural, community facilities planning, affordable housing
and homelessness, community profiling, city connect,
community relief, volunteering)
• Local law enforcement
• Major sporting venues
• Natural areas management
• Off street car parking operations in facilities (e.g. Bruce Bishop,
Mal Burke car parks)
• Older persons
• Park development including land acquisition
• Parks and recreational services
• Regulated parking
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• Social services
• Sport and recreation
• Tourist parks and camping grounds
• Vector and biosecurity management
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Cr Gail O’Neill
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Table 9: Transport and Infrastructure Committee as at 30 June 2020
Transport and infrastructure Committee

QUORUM:
FOUR

Director responsible: Director Transport and Infrastructure
Responsibility

Membership

• Beaches and foreshores

Cr Pauline Young (Chairperson)

• Bikeways

Cr Darren Taylor (Deputy Chairperson)

• Bus shelters
• City cleaning

Mayor Tom Tate

• Disaster and emergency management

Cr William Owen-Jones

• Drainage and stormwater management

Cr Cameron Caldwell

• Dredging

Cr Peter Young

• Flood mitigation works
• Footpaths
• Mowing and parks maintenance

Cr Brooke Patterson
Cr Hermann Vorster

• Parking planning, policy and operations (except car parks in facilities)
• Roads and drainage infrastructure
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• Signs – directional
• Stormwater maintenance
• Street lighting
• Streetscaping
• Traffic matters
• Transport planning, policy and operations

Table 10: Water, Waste and Energy Committee as at 30 June 2020
Water, Waste and Energy Committee

QUORUM:
FOUR

Director responsible: Director Water and Waste
Responsibility

Membership

• Community education and marketing (including demand
management) related to water and waste management

Cr Gail O’Neill (Chairperson)

• Customer service, standards and charter related to water
and waste management
• Energy management
• Sewage treatment, discharge and reuse
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee

Cr Mark Hammel (Deputy Chairperson)
Mayor Tom Tate
Cr Peter Young
Cr Ryan Bayldon-Lumsden
Cr Bob La Castra

• Strategy implementation (including Solid Waste Strategy)

Cr Glenn Tozer

• Tariffs, charges, fees and pricing structures for water
and waste services

Cr Daphne McDonald

• Total water cycle management including catchment management;
waterway health; and other activities impacting on water quality
and quantity
• Waste collection, recycling and recovery;
• Water and waste management policy
• Water and waste reform, regulation and competition
• Water quality – drinking, recycled, sewage and environmental
• Water treatment and distribution
• Water, sewerage and waste infrastructure planning
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Table 11: Economy, Tourism and Events Committee as at 30 June 2020
Economy, Tourism and Events Committee
Director responsible: Director Economy, Planning and Environment and Director Lifestyle and Community
Responsibility

Membership

• City events

Cr Bob La Castra (Chairperson)

• City innovation

Cr Pauline Young (Deputy Chairperson)

• Economic and industry development
• Economic development strategy

Mayor Tom Tate

• Export development

Cr Donna Gates

• HOTA including performance reporting

Cr Brooke Patterson

• International connections

Cr Glenn Tozer

• Major city initiatives including Central Business District (CBD)
• Major Events Gold Coast (MEGC) including performance reporting
• Regional marketing

QUORUM:
FOUR

Cr Darren Taylor
Cr Daphne McDonald

• Tourism development
• Tourism planning

Table 12: Special Budget and Finance Committee as at 30 June 2020
Special Budget and Finance Committee

QUORUM:
EIGHT

Director responsible: Chief Operating Officer
Responsibility

Membership

• Discounts and rebates

Mayor Tom Tate (Chairperson)

• Draft budget

Cr Donna Gates (Deputy Chairperson)

• Financial policies
• Financial reporting
• Long-term financial modelling
• Long-term financial planning and modelling
• Quarterly budget reviews
• Rates and utility charges

Advisory committees as at 30 June 2020

• Audit and Risk Committee
• Southern Gateway Advisory Committee
• World Surfing Reserve Local Stewardship Committee
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All Councillors
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Council committees and memberships as at 21 April 2020
Table 13: Economy, Planning and Environment Committee as at 21 April 2020
Economy, Planning and Environment Committee

QUORUM:
FIVE

Director responsible: Director Economy, Planning and Environment
Responsibility

Membership

• Building compliance

Cr Cameron Caldwell (Chairperson)

• Bushfire strategy and assessment

Cr Gail O’Neill (Deputy Chairperson)

• City innovation
• City placemaking

Mayor Tom Tate

• Development assessment

Cr William Owen-Jones

• Development compliance

Cr Peter Young

• Ecological assessment

Cr Gary Baildon*

• Economic and industry development
• Economic development strategy
• Environment protection and planning
• Export development

Cr Paul Taylor*
Cr Hermann Vorster
Cr Glenn Tozer

• Flood policy and mitigation planning
• Industrial diversity
• Landscape strategy and assessment
• Local Government Infrastructure Plan and operation
• Major city initiatives
• Planning scheme review and amendments
• Plumbing and drainage
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• State Government regional planning inputs
• Strategic land use planning
• Tree clearing
• Urban design assessment
• Urban heritage and character

* Previous electoral term ended 19 April 2020
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Table 14: Events, Tourism and Governance Committee as at 21 April 2020
Events, Tourism and Governance Committee

QUORUM:
FIVE

Director responsible: Chief Operating Officer
Responsibility

Membership

• Annual Report

Cr Robert La Castra (Chairperson)

• Asset management

Cr Pauline Young (Deputy Chairperson)

• Audit Committee
• City events

Mayor Tom Tate

• City reputation and branding

Cr Donna Gates

• Community and corporate/operational planning

Cr William Owen-Jones

• Corporate governance matters

Cr Kristyn Boulton*

• Corporate structure
• Councillors conferences and training attendance and reporting
• Fleet and plant
• Industrial relations
• Information management
• International connections
• Local law development and review
• Performance reporting of controlled entities: Arts Centre,
Broadbeach Alliance Ltd, Gold Coast City Insurance Company
and Surfers Paradise Alliance
• Performance reporting of Gold Coast Tourism
• Policy development and review
• Procurement performance
• Property matters
• Rate recovery
• Regional marketing
• Risk management
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• Sundry debtors
• Tourism development
• Tourism planning
• Trust fund matters
• Write off accounts

* Previous electoral term ended 19 April 2020
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Cr Paul Taylor*
Cr Daphne McDonald
Cr Gail O'Neill
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Table 15: Lifestyle and Community Committee as at 21 April 2020
Lifestyle and Community Committee

QUORUM:
FIVE

Director responsible: Director Lifestyle and Community
Responsibility

Membership

• Animal control

Cr Hermann Vorster (Chairperson)

• Art and crafts markets

Cr Gail O’Neill (Deputy Chairperson)

• Cemeteries
• Commonwealth Games

Mayor Tom Tate

• Community facilities and youth centres

Cr Donna Gates

• Community safety

Cr Cameron Caldwell

• Cultural Precinct

Cr Kristyn Boulton*

• Cultural strategy and implementation
• Environmental conservation and management
• Health protection e.g. standards of specialised premises,
food, hair, skin, etc.

Cr Gary Baildon*
Cr Robert La Castra
Cr Glenn Tozer

• Libraries
• Lifeguard services
• Local law enforcement
• Off street car parking operations in facilities (e.g. Bruce Bishop,
Mal Burke car parks)
• Older persons
• Parks and recreational services
• Pest management
• Regulated parking
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• Social services
• Sport and recreation
• Tourist parks and camping grounds
• Youth development
Table 16: Transport and Infrastructure Committee as at 21 April 2020
Transport and Infrastructure Committee

QUORUM:
SIX

Director responsible: Director Transport and Infrastructure
Responsibility

Membership

• Beaches and foreshores

Cr Pauline Young (Chairperson)

• Bikeways

Cr Paul Taylor* ( Deputy Chairperson)

• Bus shelters
• City cleaning

Mayor Tom Tate

• Disaster and emergency management

Cr Donna Gates

• Drainage and stormwater management

Cr William Owen-Jones

• Dredging

Cr Cameron Caldwell

• Flood mitigation works
• Footpaths

Cr Peter Young

• Mowing and parks maintenance

Cr Dawn Crichlow*

• Parking planning, policy and operations (except car parks in facilities)

Cr Gary Baildon*

• Roads and drainage infrastructure

Cr Hermann Vorster

• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee

Cr Daphne McDonald

• Signs – directional
• Stormwater maintenance
• Street lighting
• Streetscaping
• Traffic matters
• Transport planning, policy and operations
* Previous electoral term ended 19 April 2020
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Table 17: Water and Waste Committee as at 21 April 2020
Water and Waste Committee

QUORUM:
FOUR

Director responsible: Director Water and Waste
Responsibility

Membership

• Community education and marketing (including demand
management) related to water and waste management

Cr Paul Taylor* (Chairperson)

• Customer service, standards and charter related to water
and waste management

Cr Kristyn Boulton* (Deputy Chairperson)
Mayor Tom Tate

• Sewage treatment, discharge and reuse

Cr Peter Young

• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee

Cr Robert La Castra

• Strategy implementation (including Solid Waste Strategy)

Cr Glenn Tozer

• Tariffs, charges, fees and pricing structures for water
and waste services

Cr Pauline Young

• Total water cycle management including catchment management;
waterway health; and other activities impacting on water quality
and quantity
• Waste collection, recycling and recovery
• Water and waste management policy
• Water and waste reform, regulation and competition
• Water quality – drinking, recycled, sewage and environmental
• Water, sewerage and waste infrastructure planning
• Water treatment and distribution

Table 18: Special Budget and Finance Committee as at 21 April 2020
Special Budget and Finance Committee

QUORUM:
EIGHT

Director responsible: Chief Operating Officer
Responsibility

Membership

• Discounts and rebates

Mayor Tom Tate (Chairperson)

• Draft budget

Cr Donna Gates (Deputy Chairperson)

• Financial policies
• Financial reporting

All Councillors

• Long-term financial modelling
• Long-term financial planning and modelling
• Quarterly budget reviews
• Rates and utility charges

Advisory Committees

• Audit Committee
• Mayoral Technical Advisory Committee
• Southern Gateway Advisory Committee
• World Surfing Reserve Local Stewardship Committee

View the Public Access to Council and Standing Committee Agenda/Minute/Report Documentation Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

* Previous electoral term ended 19 April 2020
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// Ecological restoration workshop.
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4.3 MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR MEETING ATTENDANCE
In accordance with section 186(1)(c) of the Regulation, meeting attendance for the financial year is shown below:
Table 19: Number of times a Councillor attended meetings, 1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020

Councillor

Division

Number of meetings held

Council

Special
Council

Transport
and Infrastructure

Water
and
Waste

Economy,
Planning
and Environment

Lifestyle
and Community

Events,
Tourism
and Governance

Special
Budget
and
Finance

Total

12

1

12

8

12

11

12

3

71

Deputy Mayor
Cr Donna Gates**

1

12

1

12

-

8

10

12

3

58

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

12

1

12

-

11

-

12

3

51

Cr Cameron Caldwell*

3

12

1

12

-

12

10

-

3

50

Cr Kristyn Boulton**

4

10

1

-

8

-

10

11

3

43

Cr Peter Young

5

12

1

11

8

12

-

-

3

47

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

11

1

12

-

-

-

-

3

27

Cr Gary Baildon**

7

11

1

10

-

12

11

-

3

48

Cr Bob La Castra*

8

11

1

-

8

-

10

11

3

44

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

11

1

-

8

12

10

-

3

45

Cr Paul Taylor*

10

11

1

12

8

12

-

12

3

59

Cr Hermann Vorster*

11

10

1

9

-

10

11

-

3

44

Cr Pauline Young*

12

12

1

11

7

-

-

12

3

46

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

11

1

11

-

-

-

12

2

37

Cr Gail O’Neill**

14

12

1

-

-

12

11

12

3

51

Note: Councillors attending committee meetings as visitors have not been included in the above figures.
- Denotes Councillor is not a member of the committee.
* Denotes Committee Chairperson
** Denotes Committee Deputy Chairperson
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Table 20: Number of times a Councillor attended meetings, 20 April 2020 to 30 June 2020
Special
Council
(Post
election)

Transport
and Infrastructure

Water,
Waste
and
Energy

Planning
and Environment

Lifestyle
and Community

Economy,
Events
and
Tourism

Governance
and
Administration

Special
Budget
and Finance

Total

Division

Council

Special
Council
(Budget
adoption)

Number of
meetings held

-

3

1

1

3

3

3

3

3

3

6

29

Cr Mark Hammel**

1

3

1

1

-

3

3

-

-

3

6

20

Cr William
Owen-Jones*

2

3

1

1

3

-

3

-

-

3

6

20

Deputy Mayor Cr
Donna Gates**

3

3

1

1

-

-

3

3

3

3

6

23

Cr Cameron
Caldwell*

4

3

1

1

3

-

3

3

-

-

6

20

Cr Peter Young

5

3

1

1

2

3

3

-

-

-

5

18

Cr Brooke
Patterson**

6

3

1

1

3

-

-

-

3

3

6

20

Cr Ryan BayldonLumsden**

7

3

1

1

-

3

-

3

-

3

6

20

Cr Bob La Castra*

8

3

1

1

-

3

-

3

3

-

6

20

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

3

1

1

-

3

-

3

3

-

6

20

Cr Darren Taylor**

10

3

1

1

3

-

-

-

3

3

6

20

Cr Hermann
Vorster*

11

3

1

1

3

-

3

3

-

-

6

20

Cr Pauline Young*

12

3

1

1

3

-

3

-

3

-

6

20

Cr Daphne
McDonald

13

3

1

1

-

3

-

-

3

2

6

19

Cr Gail O’Neill*

14

3

1

1

-

3

3

3

-

-

6

20

Councillor

Note: Councillors attending committee meetings as visitors have not been included in the above figures.
- Denotes Councillor is not a member of the committee.
* Denotes Committee Chairperson
** Denotes Committee Deputy Chairperson
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Table 21: Mayor attendance at Council and Special Meetings, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Meeting

Number held

Number attended

Council

16

16

Special Council (budget adoption)

1

1

Special Council (post election)

1

1

Special Council

1

1

Special Budget and Finance Committee

9

9

28

28

Subtotal

Table 22: Mayoral attendance at other committee meetings, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Meeting

Number attended

Transport and Infrastructure Committee

4

Water and Waste Committee

1

Water, Waste and Energy Committee

1

Economy Planning and Environment Committee

1

Planning and Environment Committee

NIL

Lifestyle and Community Committee

NIL

Events, Tourism and Governance Committee

NIL

Economy, Tourism and Events Committee

NIL

Governance and Administration Committee

NIL

Total of all Mayoral attendance
Note: While the Mayor is a member of all committees, attendance is only required if there is a particular area of interest.
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// QFES and SES – bushfires.
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4.4 MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR REMUNERATION
As required by section 186(1)(a) of the Regulation, the total remuneration paid to the Mayor and Councillors for the financial year is
shown in the tables below. This remuneration is determined independently by the Local Government Remuneration Commission.
Superannuation contributions of up to 12% are made on behalf of Councillors. Councillors may elect not to make an after tax
contribution to superannuation and in such cases, they receive a basic contribution of 9.5%.
Table 23: Mayor and Councillor remuneration, current Councillors, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Councillor

Division

Annual salary ($)

Superannuation ($)

Total ($)

Mayor Tom Tate

-

253,006

24,517

277,523

Deputy Mayor Cr Donna Gates

1/3*

175,472

21,054

196,526

Cr Mark Hammel**

1

26,132

3,136

29,268

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Cameron Caldwell

3/4*

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Peter Young

5

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Brooke Patterson**

6

26,132

3,136

29,268

Cr Ryan Bayldon-Lumsden**

7

26,132

2,483

28,615

Cr Bob La Castra

8

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Darren Taylor**

10

26,132

2,483

28,615

Cr Hermann Vorster

11

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Pauline Young

12

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

150,986

18,115

169,101

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

150,986

18,115

169,101

1,891,880

219,844

2,111,724

Annual salary ($)

Superannuation ($)

Total ($)

Total

Note: Mayor Tate, Councillor Bayldon-Lumsden and Councillor Taylor received superannuation of 9.5%.
*Councillor division change in March 2020 elections
**New Councillors from 20 April 2020

Table 24: Councillor remuneration, former Councillors, 1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020
Councillor

Division

Cr Kristyn Boulton

4

123,087

11,858

134,946

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

123,087

11,858

134,946

Cr Gary Baildon

7

123,087

11,858

134,946

Cr Paul Taylor

10

123,087

14,979

138,067

492,348

50,553

542,905

Total

Note: Councillor Boulton, Councillor Crichlow and Councillor Baildon received superannuation of 9.5%.

View the Councillor Remuneration Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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4.5 MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR
EXPENSES AND FACILITIES
Council has an Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy, as required by section 250 of
the Regulation. This policy aims to ensure that the payment and/or reimbursement of reasonable expenses incurred by Councillors
discharging their duties and responsibilities as Councillors and the provision of facilities for Councillors is consistent with the local
government principles. The policy is published under the Publication Scheme on Council’s website.
A revised policy was adopted by Council resolution G20.0506.020 on 6 May 2020.
The Governance and Administration Committee Recommendation GA20.0429.003 be adopted with a change to Part 1 such that it
reads in its entirety as follows:1 That Council adopt the amended ‘Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Councillors Policy’, at Attachment 2 to
the report with the following changes:
		a section 5.1 ‘Allowable Reasonable Business Expenses’:i Purchase of raffle tickets 5.1(c) Councillors to be able to purchase raffle tickets $100 per event. Mayor to be able to purchase
		 raffle tickets $200 per event;
			 ii

Deletion of 5.1(e) – hiring of appropriate clothing to attend a significant community function in an official capacity;

			 iii Deletion of 5.1(f) – personal grooming.
b That under section 2.1.2 ‘Support Staff’ the fourth paragraph be amended to read as follows:‘The Mayor is entitled to the following support staff employed under Council’s usual terms and conditions of employment’.
2 That the amended ‘Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Councillors Policy’ take effect upon adoption.
Councillor remuneration is not covered by the Expenses Reimbursement Policy. Councillor remuneration is in accordance with the
determination of the Local Government Remuneration and Discipline Tribunal, as reflected in the Councillor Remuneration Policy.
A report on the expenses incurred by and the facilities provided to each Councillor under the Expenses Reimbursement and Provision
of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy is required under section 186(1)(b) of the Regulation.

// Reduce, reuse, recycle.
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Reasonable business expenses
Payment or reimbursement of reasonable business expenses for Mayor and Councillors are shown in table 25 below. Reasonable
business expenses relate to expenses incurred by Councillors in discharging their duties and responsibilities as Councillors, as per
Attachment D of the policy, are identified in table 26.
Table 25: Mayor and Councillor – reasonable business expenses, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Councillor

Division

Period covered

Allocation ($)

Total ($)

Mayor Tom Tate

-

Full Year

23,345

6,392.08

Deputy Mayor Cr Donna Gates

1 / 3*

Full Year

9,135

4,525.73

Cr Mark Hammel

1

20 April 2020 to 30 June 2020

**

0.00

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

Full Year

5,583

2330.64

Cr Cameron Caldwell

3 / 4*

Full Year

8,120

7,607.75

Cr Kristyn Boulton

4

1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020

5,583

2,518.25

Cr Peter Young

5

Full Year

5,583

4,974.65

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020

5,583

2,124.59

Cr Brooke Patterson

6

20 April 2020 to 30 June 2020

**

0.00

Cr Gary Baildon

7

1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020

5,583

1,734.17

Cr Ryan Bayldon-Lumsden

7

20 April 2020 to 30 June 2020

**

0.00

Cr Bob La Castra

8

Full Year

8,120

856.02

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

Full Year

5,583

4,887.51

Cr Paul Taylor

10

1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020

8,120

2,318.87

Cr Darren Taylor

10

20 April 2020 to 30 June 2020

**

833.94

Cr Hermann Vorster

11

Full Year

8,120

4,824.78

Cr Pauline Young

12

Full Year

8,120

2,844.18

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

Full Year

5,583

1,435.84

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

Full Year

5,583

3,299.81

117,744

53,508.81

Total
* Councillor division change in March 2020 elections
** New Councillors from 20 April 2020

The 2019 – 20 allocations for reasonable business expenses were as follows:
Mayor

$23,345

Deputy Mayor

$9,135

Committee Chairpersons

$8,120

Councillor

$5,583
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Table 26: Allowable reasonable business expenses
Allowable reasonable business expenses*

(a)

Transport and motor vehicle expenses related to Council business,
i.

Parking fees (e.g. when attending to Council business or any fees incurred in relation to section 2.5.2);

ii.

Tolls;

iii.

Use of taxis, ride-sharing services (e.g. Uber/Ola) or public transport;

iv.

Cleaning of motor vehicle (e.g. purchase of cleaning materials, use of car wash facilities, cleaning services etc).

(b)

Working meals and/or refreshments whilst on Council business, where a meal is not otherwise provided.

(c)

Purchase of raffle tickets to a maximum of $100 per event ($200 per event for Mayor) per annum whilst attending a community 		
function/event in an official capacity.

(d)

In circumstances where the Mayor or Deputy Mayor has directly incurred a reasonable business expense as a result of their partner/
guest having been formally invited and accompanying them in the performance of a ceremonial or civic duty, such reasonable 		
business expenses will be reimbursed.

(e)

Dry cleaning/laundering or repair of clothing relating to a Councillor’s duties and responsibilities.

(f)

Condolences and recognition of significant milestones (e.g. minimum 50 year anniversary or one hundredth birthday) provided
to members of the community.

(g)

Consumable office supplies including flowers, lollies, Christmas decorations, tea and coffee, milk, newspapers etc.

(h)

Local or community organisations annual membership fees relating to a Councillor’s representative role.

(i)

Professional memberships of organisations or associations that provide products, knowledge or information that assist a Councillor
to carry out their duties and responsibilities.

(j)

Presentations made in an official capacity.

(k)

Purchase of a maximum of two tickets per Councillor per event (e.g. Councillor and guest) or three tickets for the Mayor for charitable,
business or community events held within the city.

(l)

Books and other material (other than newspapers and magazines provided under office expenses above or those normally provided
through Council Corporate Library) necessary to inform the Councillor on a matter relevant to Council.

(m)

The proportion of home Internet service required for Council business.

* This table includes allowable reasonable business expenses as identified in the Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy 		
adopted on 6 May 2020.

Conferences and seminars
The payment of expenses relating to conference and seminars are shown in the below. An allocation of $4,000 was available for
conference and seminar expenses for the Mayor and Councillors in 2019 –20.
Table 27: Mayor and Councillor, conference and seminar expenses, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Councillor

Division

Mayor Tom Tate

-

1,113.13

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

409.09

Cr Pauline Young

12

59.40

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

533.11

Total

Conferences and seminars ($)

2,114.73
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Facilities
Facilities provided for Councillors must be deemed necessary and required to assist Councillors to undertake Council business.
Council may only provide Councillors with the facilities listed below.
Council determines the reasonable standard for facilities for Councillors. If a Councillor chooses a higher standard of facility than that
prescribed by Council, any difference in cost must be met by the Councillor personally. Facilities provided to Mayor and Councillors are
shown in the table below.
Table 28: Mayor and Councillor expenses and facilities, facilities provided, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Facilities provided to Mayor and Councillors*

Furniture and fittings:

Allocation for office furniture ($)*per term of office

• Desk and return

Councillor $5444

• Chairs/couch
• Filing cabinets
Office space and access
to meeting rooms

• Credenza
• Hutch

Deputy Mayor $6340
Mayor $8 544
Note: as at 31 March 2015 beginning of last electoral term

• Coffee table
• Map table
• Bookcase
• Artwork (from the Council Art Gallery)
Administrative support for
each Councillor.

Councillors are provided with a full time Personal
Assistant and may also elect to be provided with
a full time Community Project Officer, both
employed under Council's usual terms and
conditions of employment.
• Chief of Staff to the Mayor
• Personal Assistant and Appointments Secretary
• Branch Finance Officer and Secretary to
the Mayor
• Media Advisor

Support staff
The Mayor is entitled to the following
support staff employed under
Council’s usual terms and conditions
of employment:-

• Policy Advisor
• Communications and Advocacy Officer
• Communications and Engagement Officer
• Senior International Relations Officer
• Policy Implementation and Community
Engagement Officer
• Community Engagement and Project Officer
• International Relations Admin Officer
• International Relations Project Officer

Computer for business use

Councillors are provided with a tablet
device and a desktop or laptop
computer for Council business use at the
Councillor’s office.

Where a Councillor is provided with a desktop
computer at the Councillor’s office, Council will
approve a desktop computer for the Councillor’s
home office, along with any necessary audio visual
equipment or licenses as approved by the Chief
Executive Officer or delegated officer, if required.
Where a Councillor is provided with a laptop
computer, Council will approve a docking station
for the Councillor’s home office, if required.
Council will provide the Mayor’s office with a TV
and associated audio/visual equipment.

Digital Cameras

Where requested, Council will provide a
digital camera and associated software to
the value of $500 for use by the Mayor and
Councillors for Council business purposes
(e.g. Divisional inspections).

Land Line (Councillor offices)

Councillors are provided with a Council
landline telephone and internet access for
Council business use.
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Facilities provided to Mayor and Councillors*

Multi-function Printer
and paper shredder

Councillors are provided with a
multi-function printer and paper
shredder for Council business use at
the Councillor’s office.
Councillors are provided with printing,
stationery and postage and distribution
costs for Mayoral and Councillor
communications for official purposes
only, including, but not limited to:

Printing, stationery, postage
and distribution

• Pens and pen sets
• Paper

All outgoing correspondence, postage and
distribution must be managed in accordance
with the Mayor and Councillor Printing, outgoing
correspondence and postage guidelines. Mayor
and Councillor printing, stationery, postage and
distribution expenses are shown later in this
section.

• Note paper
• Letterhead
• Business cards
• Envelopes
• ‘With Compliments’ slips
Publications

Where requested Councillors are provided
copies of relevant legislation, books
and journals considered necessary for
undertaking their duties.

Other administrative necessities

Subject to Council approval, Councillors
may be provided with any other
administrative necessities to meet the
business of Council.

Community consultation

Correspondence with community
representatives for the purpose of
clarifying issues that are relevant to
their division or the city in general.
Any such correspondence shall be
conducted in accordance with the budget
provided for printing, stationery, postage
and distribution.

Home office

Where requested, Councillors will be
provided with home office equipment
comprising a computer/laptop (see
section 2.1.3), and multi-function printer,
for Council business use only.

Maintenance costs of any Council
owned equipment

Council will cover all ongoing maintenance
costs associated with Council owned
equipment to ensure it is operating for
optimal professional use.

Name badge, safety related items and
clothing and Councillor uniforms

Councillors will be provided with any
safety equipment such as personal
protective equipment including safety
footwear, overalls, safety helmets or
glasses etc., as required, in their role.
Councillors will be provided with a brief
case, carry bag, carry trolley etc. (or
combination thereof) to a maximum value
of $400 per Council term.

Councillors will be provided with uniforms
incorporating the City’s insignia, and/or applicable
Mayoral crest, and a name badge, if required.
These items will be gifted once during each Council
term at the beginning of the term (commencing
from the 2020 local government elections) unless
otherwise decided by Council.
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Facilities provided to Mayor and Councillors*

Councillors may either:

Vehicles, fuel and parking

• be provided with a Council owned
vehicle for official Council business,
with access to private use of that
vehicle, or
• use their own private vehicle for
Council business purposes and claim a
vehicle allowance for the business use
of that vehicle.

Parking

Council will provide parking facilities
for Councillors at Councillor Office
locations. Where Council has adopted
a paid parking scheme which applies to
parking facilities provided to Councillors,
Councillors will pay the relevant fee
established by that scheme. Such
payments may be claimed as reasonable
business expenses.

Telecommunication needs

Councillors will be provided with a smart
phone and/or similar devices (tablet and/
or laptop), for which Council will pay
all costs. If a Councillor does not accept
a Council supplied smart phone and/or
similar device (tablet and/or laptop) and
uses a personally owned device, Council
will reimburse up to 50% of the
costs incurred.

Legal costs and insurance cover

For those matters not covered by
insurance policies, Council may decide to
cover costs incurred through any inquiry,
investigation, hearing or legal proceedings
into the conduct of a Councillor, or
arising out of, or in connection with the
Councillor’s performance of his/her
civic functions.
Council will provide optional official social
media electronic communication accounts
for the Mayor and Councillors to conduct
Council business. These may include:

Mayoral and Councillor
digital communications

(a) Facebook
(b) Instagram
(c) Twitter
(d) LinkedIn

Meals and refreshments

Mayor and Councillor telecommunications
expenses are shown later in this section.

An appropriate tool will be provided to capture
and store public records created on the official
electronic communication accounts to ensure that
all obligations under the Public Records Act 2002
are met. Maintenance costs associated with these
accounts will be met by Council.
In addition to the facilities mentioned above,
Council will provide a Mayoral website to allow
the Mayor to communicate Council’s policies and
decisions to residents.

Councillors will be provided with a meal
and refreshments at formal Council and
committee meetings.

* This table includes allowable reasonable business expenses as identified in the Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy
adopted on 6 May 2020.
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Printing, stationery, postage and distribution expenses
An allocation of $9700 for the Mayor and $4250 for the Councillors for printing and stationery expenses was available in 2019–20.
Postage and distribution amounts for the Mayor and Councillors are recorded and reported by Council’s Record Services.
Table 29: Mayor and Councillor expenses and facilities; printing, stationery, postage and distribution expenses, current Councillors,
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Postage and
distribution ($)

Printing and
stationery ($)

Total($)

-

1,689.92

2,299.44

3,989.36

Deputy Mayor Cr Donna Gates

1/3*

2,389.78

3,573.88

5,963.66

Cr Mark Hammel**

1

34.52

1,552.60

1,587.12

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

2,851.61

1,506.33

4,357.94

Cr Cameron Caldwell

3/4*

3,567.24

655.22

4,222.46

Cr Peter Young

5

195.51

680.50

876.01

Cr Brooke Patterson**

6

1,241.37

4,098.91

5,340.28

Cr Ryan Bayldon-Lumsden**

7

-

34.49

34.49

Cr Bob La Castra

8

2,181.92

708.40

2,890.32

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

936.61

798.34

1,734.95

Cr Darren Taylor**

10

-

902.13

902.13

Cr Hermann Vorster

11

610.49

3,124.46

3,734.95

Cr Pauline Young

12

485.22

468.35

953.57

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

995.24

4,343.46

5,338.70

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

610.01

2,504.52

3,114.53

17,789.44

27,251.03

45,040.47

Councillor

Division

Mayor Tom Tate

Total
* Councillor division change in March 2020 elections
** New Councillors from 20 April 2020

Table 30: Mayor and Councillor expenses and facilities; printing, stationery, postage and distribution expenses, former Councillors,
1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020
Postage and
distribution ($)

Printing and stationery ($)

Total($)

4

749.70

160.37

910.07

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

12.66

529.84

542.50

Cr Gary Baildon

7

1.80

745.59

747.39

Cr Paul Taylor

10

399.46

327.32

726.78

1,163.62

1,763.12

2,926.74

Councillor

Division

Cr Kristyn Boulton

Total
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Telecommunication expenses
As per section 2.6 of the Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy, Councillors will be
provided with a smart phone and/or similar devices (tablet and/or laptop), for which Council will pay all costs.
If a Councillor does not accept a Council supplied smart phone and/or similar device (tablet and/or laptop) and uses a personally
owned device, Council will reimburse up to 50% of the costs incurred.
Where Council does not provide a smart phone or similar device, Council will provide a home landline at the Councillor’s residence
including connection cost, monthly rental and call costs up to 50% of the total calls made.
Any international calls made from the home telephone can only be reimbursed if a receipt and certification is provided by the Councillor
that the call was related to Council business.
Table 31: Mayor and Councillor telecommunication expenses, current councillors, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Councillor

Division

Mayor Tom Tate

-

1,674.48

Deputy Mayor Cr Donna Gates

3

1,215.28

Cr Mark Hammel*

1

197.26

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

0.00

Cr Cameron Caldwell

4

1,434.83

Cr Peter Young

5

1,565.28

Cr Brooke Patterson*

6

190.88

Cr Ryan Bayldon-Lumsden*

7

197.26

Cr Bob La Castra

8

1,183.56

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

1,215.28

Cr Darren Taylor*

10

260.88

Cr Hermann Vorster

11

1,066.84

Cr Pauline Young

12

1,565.28

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

833.56

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

1,565.28

Total

Telecommunication expenses ($)

14,165.95

Note: Telecommunication expenses relate to smart phone and/or similar devices (tablet and/or laptop). Expenses do not include the provision of telecommunication
equipment, only operational costs. Excludes home internet costs which are identified under the policy as allowable reasonable business expenses. Costs are excluding GST.
*Councillors elected in March 2020

Table 32: Mayor and Councillor telecommunication expenses, former Councillors, 1 July 2019 to 19 April 2020
Councillor

Division

Cr Kristyn Boulton

4

768.30

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

671.80

Cr Gary Baildon

7

722.69

Cr Paul Taylor

10

712.78

Total

Telecommunication expenses ($)

2,875.57

Note: Telecommunication expenses include smart phone and/or similar devices (tablet and/or laptop). Expenses do not include the provision of telecommunication
equipment, only operational costs. Excludes home internet costs which are identified under the policy as allowable reasonable business expenses. Costs are excluding GST.

View the Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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4.6 MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR TRAVEL
The Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy governs domestic and international
travel by Councillors in an official capacity, as required by section 250 of the Regulation. A revised policy was adopted by Council
on 6 May 2020.
Overseas travel must be reported under section 188(1) and (2) of the Regulation.

Domestic travel
Domestic travel by Councillors during the financial year is shown in the table below.
Table 33: Mayor and Councillor domestic travel details, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Councillor

Date From

Date To

Destination

Purpose

Cr Daphne McDonald

1/8/2019

2/8/2019

Brisbane

Australian Local Government
Women’s Association (ALGWA
[Q]) – Leading with Influence
Leadership Forum

Mayor Tom Tate

13/10/2019

16/10/2019

Cairns

LGAQ Conference

Mayor Tom Tate

11/12/2019

13/12/2019

Melbourne

Professional Golfers’
Association (PGA)
President’s Cup

Total

Total $

551

1,141
19
1,711

Note: Total cost includes car hire, taxis, flights, accommodation and conference fees.

Overseas travel
There was no international travel by the Mayor or Councillors in an official capacity, during the financial year.

// Numinbah Valley
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4.7 COUNCILLOR CONDUCT
Council is required to record the Councillor conduct complaints, referrals, decisions, orders and recommendations during the financial
year in accordance with section 186(1)(d)(e) and (f) of the Regulation.
Chapter 5A of the Act provides a framework for the conduct of Councillors, including their conduct at local government meetings
that does not meet appropriate standards of behaviour, which are generally to be dealt with by the chairpersons of the meeting.
Complaints about the conduct of Councillors are to be made, or referred, to the Independent Assessor for investigation. The assessor,
after investigating a Councillor’s conduct, may refer the suspected inappropriate conduct of a Councillor to the local government to be
dealt with, or may apply to the Councillor Conduct Tribunal (CCT) to decide whether the Councillor engaged in misconduct. If the CCT
decides the councillor engaged in misconduct, they must determine the action to be taken, if any, to discipline the Councillor. Where
the complaint about Councillor conduct is about suspected corrupt conduct, under the Crime and Corruption Act 2001, the assessor
is to notify the Crime and Corruption Commission about the suspected corrupt conduct.
Detailed information in relation to Councillor conduct can be found in the tables below.
Table 34: Number of Councillor conduct orders and disciplinary actions, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Subsection of the Local Government Act

Description

Number

150I(2)

Chairperson makes an order for unsuitable meeting conduct

0

150AH(1)

Disciplinary action against a councillor for inappropriate conduct

0

150AR(1)

Disciplinary action against a councillor for misconduct

2

Table 35: Summary of Councillor conduct decisions, orders and recommendations, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Name of Councillor

Councillor Glenn Tozer

Councillor Donna Gates

82

Description of conduct

Summary of the decision, orders
and recommendations

It was alleged the Councillor engaged in
misconduct, namely a breach of the trust placed
in them as a Councillor by not declaring an
honorary membership to an organisation in his
register of interests.

The CCT determined that the Councillor
engaged in misconduct, as there was
an obligation to provide the required
information to the CEO about his
membership of the organisation within
30 days that he commenced to hold the
membership. The CCT ordered that Cr
Tozer be counselled by the CEO about
the misconduct and how not to repeat
the misconduct.

It was alleged the Councillor engaged in
misconduct namely that she incorrectly
described a gift in her register of interests,
which also represented a breach of the trust
placed in a councillor.

1. The CCT decided that the description
of the gifts in the register of interests
was inadequate to convey the nature
of the gifts, the conduct was therefore
misconduct. The tribunal ordered that Cr
Gates be counselled by the CEO about
the misconduct and how not to repeat
the misconduct.
2. The CCT found that the breach of
the trust misconduct allegation was
sustained. The tribunal ordered that Cr
Gates be counselled by the CEO about
the misconduct and how not to repeat
the misconduct.
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Table 36: Number of Councillor conduct complaints, notices and referrals, 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020
Subsection of the
Local Government Act

Description

150P(2)(a)

Complaints referred to the assessor by the local government

150P(3)

Matters referred to the Crime and Corruption Commission by the local government

0

150R(2)

Notices given by the CEO or Councillor to the assessor about a councillor’s conduct *

4

150S(2)(a)

Notices of misconduct given to the assessor by the local government

1

Number

19

150W(a)(b)(e)

Decisions by the assessor to dismiss, refer to the local government or take no further action **

150AC(3)(a)

Occasions where referral notices from the assessor recommend conduct should be referred
to another agency for consideration

45
2

150AF(4)(a)

Occasions where information about misconduct is obtained by the local government during
investigation that is given to the assessor

1

Chapter 5A, Part 3, Division 5

Occasions where the local government asked another entity to investigate suspected
inappropriate conduct of a Councillor

2

Chapter 5A, Part 3, Division 6

Applications heard by the CCT about whether a Councillor engaged in misconduct or
inappropriate conduct

4

* The number of Councillor conduct notices given by local government officials to the assessor that are known to the local government.
** Some matters have been investigated as a single complaint, recorded in the Councillor Conduct Register as a single decision, although, the complaint may have been
made against more than one Councillor.

View the Investigation (Inappropriate Conduct of Councillors) Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

4.8 GRANTS TO COMMUNITY ORGANISATIONS
Council actively assists community organisations to implement projects and activities which benefit Gold Coast residents.
Council allocated a total of $3,587,686.30 to support community organisations and activities.
In accordance with section 189(a) and (b) of the Regulation a summary of all community grants to community organisations for the
financial year is shown in the table below.
Table 37: Expenditure on grants to community organisations
Program

Number of allocations

Amount allocated ($)

Mayor and divisional donations 2019–20*

426

586,578.00

Community Grants Program

103

780,122.00

Divisional Community Events

107

210,337.30

Local promotions

10

459,203.00

Community Facility Contributions Program

37

1,444,673

One-off donations

23

106,773.00

Total

706

3,587,686.30

* Recipients and purpose of Mayoral and Divisional Donations are listed in Appendix 7.1.

View the Community Grants Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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4.9 BENEFICIAL ENTERPRISES
Council actively engages with entities through partnering or collaborative arrangements to achieve mutually beneficial outcomes for the
Gold Coast.
In accordance with section 41 of the Act, a list of beneficial enterprises conducted during the financial year is shown in the table below.
Table 38: Entities funded under beneficial enterprise powers
Beneficial enterprise conducted

Number
conducted

Beneficial enterprise conducted

Number
conducted

Apex Productions Australia Pty Ltd

1

Innovative Pet Products

1

Bainbridge Pty Ltd

1

Julian Reisinger

1

Basketball Australia

1

Ludwig Medical Services Pty Ltd

1

Bean Ninjas (MJBM VENTURES PTY LTD)

1

Major Events Gold Coast Pty Ltd

1

Broadbeach Alliance Ltd

1

Materialise Australia Pty Ltd

1

Brock Foster

1

Mizaku Pty Ltd

1

Bronte Pictures Pty Ltd

1

Mountain Bike Australia

1

Business News Australia

1

National Rugby League

1

Caitlyn Taylor

1

Pacific Sports Management

1

Co Hort Space

1

Placemakers Gold Coast Ltd

1

Coffee Roasters Australia

1

Planning Institute of Australia

1

Connecting Southern Gold Coast Ltd

1

QSport

1

Cool Mine Pty Ltd

1

RDK Sports Management

1

Craig International Ballistics Pty

1

Regional Development Australia

1

CRAM Digital Creations

1

Relative Creative

1

Davco Optisurface Pty Ltd

1

Rosy Haze Productions Pty Ltd

1

Ennis Skalski

1

Safer Schoolies Initiative

2

Everybody NOW

1

Shock Therapy Productions

1

Fosta Pty Ltd

1

Somerset Storyfest

1

Futsal Queensland

3

Sports Gold Coast Ltd (SGC)

1

GC 600 - Supercars

2

Springy Productions Pty Ltd

1

Gogi Dance Collective

1

Squash Queensland Masters Association

1

Gold Coast Business Excellence Awards

1

Surf Life Saving Australia

1

Gold Coast District Basketball Association

1

Surfers Paradise Alliance Ltd

1

Gold Coast Education and Training Network Inc

1

Surfers Paradise RSL

1

Gold Coast Film Fantastic

1

Surfers Paradise Surf Life Saving Club

1

Gold Coast Film Festival

1

Tennis Australia

1

Gold Coast Marathon

1

Tennis Queensland

2

Gold Coast Music Awards

1

The Farm

1

Gold Coast Tourism Corporation Ltd

1

The Optimisation Hub

1

Griffith University

1

The Walls Art Space

1

Gymnastics Queensland

2

Touchstone Productions Australia Pty Ltd

1

Hell Of A Time

1

Triathlon Queensland

1

Hill Robinson Asia Pacific

1

Urban Development Institute of Australia

1

Hockey Australia

2

Virtual Mgr

1

Hollie Galevski

1

Virtual Psychologists Pty Ltd

1

HOTA Gold Coast Pty Ltd

1

Young Professionals Gold Coast Inc

1

Total

84
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4.10 DISCOUNTS AND CONCESSIONS
Council grants a range of discounts and concessions for rates and charges to assist the community (subject to conditions).
In accordance with section 190(g) of the Regulation the concessions available for rates and charges during the financial year
are shown below.
Debt Recovery Policy: Concessions may be granted to ratepayers in the form of a deferral for payment of rates through a payment
arrangement facility. Information is available about appropriate government concession programs for ratepayers who are unable to
enter into any form of payment arrangement.
Deferral of Rates Policy: Eligible pensioner ratepayers and Queensland Seniors Card holders can defer payment of part of their
general rates for their principal place of residence, provided the general rate is more than the set minimum amount. Ratepayers can
apply to pay their rates and charges by instalment, on terms consistent with Council policy.
Pensioner Rates Rebate Policy: Eligible pensioners receive a rates rebate for their principal place of residence. A range of
concessions, including the registration of dogs and entry to Council owned swimming pools, is also provided for eligible pensioners.
Rate Donation, Infrastructure Charges and Development Application Fee Discount Policy: Eligible non-profit
community-based entities receive a rates concession and infrastructure charges and development application fee discounts
when within approved categories.
Voluntary Conservation Agreement Policy: Eligible ratepayers receive a rates concession for that part of their property reserved
for the preservation of significant native flora and fauna and ecological communities.
Waste Disposal Fee Concession Policy: This policy provides guidance on eligibility for waste disposal fee concessions at Council
waste and recycling centres.
Water and Sewage Leakage Relief Policy: Ratepayers can apply for relief from water consumption charges and volumetric sewage
charges attributable to a concealed leak.
Concession for Water Consumption Charges due to Renal Dialysis Patients Dialysing at Home Policy: Relief from water
consumption charges is provided for renal dialysis patients dialysing at home.
Water Usage for Genuine Fire Emergencies Policy: Ratepayers can apply for relief from water consumption charges and
volumetric sewage charges attributable to responding to a genuine fire emergency.

View a full list of policies here
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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5.0

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Chapter five provides Council’s corporate
governance arrangements; organisational
structure; performance against the
City Operational Plan and Corporate
Plan and the performance of Council’s
commercialised business units.

CHAPTER 5 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

// Lifeguard Tower, North Kirra.

5.1 ROLE OF THE ADMINISTRATION

• robust organisational foundations (internal control
mechanisms) to ensure legislative compliance and to support
the delivery of priorities.
Figure 9: The Corporate Governance Framework

lp

lan

ning

Re

so

ur
ce
allocation

Council’s Corporate Governance Framework supports the
organisation by providing strong foundations in relation
to management controls, decision-making, performance
management; accountability and continuous improvement
across four areas:

• effective performance management to support responsible,
transparent and accountable government
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The organisation enables the elected Council to make informed
decisions on policies and priorities through the provision of
expert and impartial advice and assurance, ensuring that the
elected Council is able to deliver on adopted priorities and
provide value for money to ratepayers.

• efficient resource allocation to ensure the best use is made
of limited resources
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The organisation supports Council of the City of Gold Coast
(Council) to act in accordance with the local government
principles set out in section 4(2) of the Act (see section 4.1
The role of Council) and promotes the efficient, effective
and economical management of public resources;
provides excellence in service delivery and ensures
continual improvement.

• the integration of organisational planning to support the
delivery of organisational objectives and financial stability
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The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is empowered under
the Local Government Act 2009, section 13(3) (the Act) with
responsibility for the administration (more commonly known as
Council’s organisation).
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Good corporate governance supports the organisation to achieve its objectives; optimise performance and ensure accountability.
Key elements of Council’s corporate governance arrangements are included in the table below.
Table 39: Key elements of Council's corporate governance arrangements
Element

Description

Executive Leadership Team (ELT)

Provides leadership and support for delivery of strategic priorities and direction of operational business

Audit and Risk Committee

Promotes good corporate governance through the provision of independent assurance,
oversight and advice

Business Improvement Governance Coordinates Council’s business improvements across functional and organisational boundaries ensuring a
Committee
whole of organisation view is taken on business change
Infrastructure Steering Committee

Coordinates Council’s infrastructure improvements across functional and organisational boundaries
ensuring a whole of organisation view is taken

Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022

The Corporate Plan supports effective corporate governance through three key functions:
A We plan for the future of the city – supports medium and longer term planning for the city
B We manage the city responsibly – supports day to day Council management and the delivery
of Council services
C We actively engage residents, customers and visitors – supports the implementation of Council’s
principles and approach to engagement.

Council and administrative policies

Key policies which support compliance with statutory obligations include: Audit and Risk Committee; Code
of Conduct; Fraud and Corruption Control; Information Management; Information Privacy; Information
Security; Internal Audit ; Right to Information and Information Provision; Whistleblowers (Public Interest
Disclosure); Work Health and Safety

Community engagement

Pro-active engagement of the wider community informs city direction and decision-making

Corporate Activity Framework

Provides a consistent approach to the management of corporate activities, including strategies,
infrastructure, policies and projects as well as associated benefits

Control environment

A robust control environment is supported by key functions such as Workplace Health and Safety, Risk
Management, Legal Services, Complaints, Performance Management, Cyber Resilience, Corporate
Compliance, Integrity and Ethical Standards and Corporate Assurance

Work Health and Safety

Council is committed to the health and safety of the workforce, ensuring that ‘Work, Health and Safety is
everyone’s business’

Council workforce

Effective management and development of the workforce is supported by ‘Our Shared Values’ that
guide day-to-day working
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5.2 OUR ORGANISATION
5.2.1 Organisational structure
The organisational structure sets the framework for Council
to make responsible, accountable decisions, supported by
expert advice, with assurance provided by internal and external
audit services. This ensures Council meets its responsibility for
service delivery to the community and provides value for money
to ratepayers.

Organisational change

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the organisational
structure which is endorsed by the elected Council. Council’s
organisational functions and associated services are delivered
through six directorates and the Office of the CEO.

• The Office of City Architect moved from the Office of Chief
Executive Officer to the Economy, Planning and Environment
Directorate and was renamed Architecture Design and
Heritage. Further to this, on 22 January 2020, the CEO
endorsed that Architecture Design and Heritage be renamed
to the Office of Architecture and Heritage.

The following organisational changes were made by Council
resolution (G19.1206.013) and adopted on 6 December 2019:
• City Events moved from the Office of the Chief Operating
Officer to the Lifestyle and Community Directorate.

• Energy Management moved from the Office of the Chief
Executive Officer to the Water and Waste Directorate.

Figure 10: Organisational structure as at 30 June 2020

Office of the Chief Executive Officer
Office of the CEO

Chief Executive Officer
Dale Dickson
Chief Operating Officer
Joe McCabe
Office of the Chief Operating Officer
City Solicitor (Legal Services)
Corporate Asset Management
Corporate Assurance (Internal Audit)
Corporate Communication
Corporate Finance
Corporate Planning and Performance
Corporate Safety and Risk
Office of the Mayor

Director
Lifestyle and
Community

Director
Transport and
Infrastructure

Director
Water and
Waste

Director
Organisational
Services

Director
Economy, Planning
and Environment

Alison Ewens

Alton Twine

Paul Heaton

Glen Potter

Alisha Swain

Arts and Culture

Business and
Program Management

Asset Solutions
Business Performance

Business Innovation and
Technology Services

Business Support

City Libraries
City Events

City Assets

Customer Engagement

City Procurement

City Planning

Community Venues
and Services

City Maintenance

Network Reliability

Customer Contact

Infrastructure Delivery

Service Sustainability

Fleet

Office of Architecture
and Heritage

Health, Regulatory and
Lifeguard Services

Transport and Traffic

Strategy and Innovation

People and Culture

System Control

Property Services

Parks and
Recreational Services

City Development

Office of Innovation
and Economy

Revenue Services

Safe and Liveable
Communities
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// Swell Sculpture Festival, Currumbin Beach.
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Executive Leadership Team
The Executive Leadership Team (ELT) provides clear and consistent leadership and decision-making, which supports the delivery of
the strategic priorities and direction of operational business for Council. This team is led by the CEO and includes the Chief Operating
Officer and five directors. Details on each executive and key areas of responsibility are as follows:

CHIEF E XECUTIVE OFFICER
DALE DICKSON PSM
BBus, GradDipMgt, MPPM

Appointed: July 2003

The CEO is responsible for managing Council’s administration,
focusing on:
• effective, efficient and economical management of
public resources and excellence in service delivery and
continuous improvement
• managing employees and promoting equal employment
opportunity and work, health and safety
• providing the Mayor and Councillors with advice to assist
them in carrying out their duties and implementing the
elected Council’s decisions and priorities.

In practical terms, this involves:
• leading the development of the annual draft City Budget and
financial overview for presentation to the elected Council
• formulating key strategic agendas and implementation plans
• the ongoing review of Council functions and services
• meeting with key stakeholders and government partners to
negotiate and progress significant opportunities for the city
• the identification and mitigation of major strategic risks
• representing Council on the City of Gold Coast Insurance
Company Board
• ensuring Council’s Corporate Governance Framework and
components are fit-for-purpose and effective.
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CHIEF
O PE R AT I N G
OFFICER

D I R E C TO R ,
LIFEST YLE
AND COMMUNIT Y

D I R E C TO R ,
TRANSPORT
AND INFR ASTRUCTURE

JOE MCCABE

ALISON EWENS

ALTON T WINE

BBus (Public Administration), GAICD

MSc, BSocWk, PGCert (Disaster Mgmt), PGDip (HSC Mgmt)

BA, BEd, CTP, MCILT, MAITPM, MIPWEAQ

Appointed: October 2012

Appointed: July 2016

Appointed: April 2014

The Office of the Chief Operating
Officer works with the elected Council
and the organisation to achieve sound
governance, long-term sustainability and
delivery of our City Vision.

The Lifestyle and Community Directorate
is Council’s primary interface with the
community through the delivery of a
diverse range of services and facilities.

The Transport and Infrastructure
Directorate has a diverse and highly
skilled mix of personnel, with a broad
range of capabilities and a collective
desire to deliver progressive outcomes
for Council. Transport and Infrastructure
delivers and maintains quality
infrastructure and services to meet
the city’s current and future needs.

Key areas of responsibility include
financial management, corporate asset
management, corporate safety and
risk, corporate assurance, corporate
planning and performance, corporate
communication and legal services.
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Key areas of responsibility include
arts and culture development, events
management, library services, major
sporting venues and aquatic centres,
tourist parks, community safety,
natural areas management, community
development, environment and public
health services, lifeguard services, youth
and community centres, regulatory
services, sports and recreation, CCTV
network and local disaster recovery.

Key areas of responsibility include
emergency and disaster management,
municipal infrastructure and local
area works delivery, transport
planning, network management and
maintenance, city cleaning, ocean
beach and waterways management
and flood management.
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D I R E C TO R ,
O R G A N I S AT I O N A L
SERVICES

D I R E C TO R ,
E C O N O M Y, PL A N N I N G
AND ENVIRONMENT

D I R E C TO R ,
WAT E R
A N D WA S T E

GLEN POT TER PSM

ALISHA SWAIN

PAUL HE ATON

BBlt Env (Arch), GDURP, MEcST (EcDev),
DipPM, MPIA, MAICD

BE, DipNatRes, MEngSc, GAICD

Appointed: April 2010

Appointed: March 2018

Appointed: July 2012

The Organisational Services
Directorate delivers internal
services to the organisation.

The Economy, Planning and Environment
Directorate supports sustainable
living for the Gold Coast community,
now and into the future through
land use and infrastructure planning,
development control, architecture,
urban design, heritage and innovation
and economic development.

The Water and Waste Directorate
provides management of integrated water
and waste services and infrastructure.

Key areas of responsibility include
customer contact, people and culture,
property and facilities management,
fleet, information technology, project
management, procurement, revenue
services and records management.

Key areas of responsibility include
strategic land-use and infrastructure
planning, urban design, regional planning,
architecture, heritage conservation,
development assessment, development
compliance, infrastructure charging,
growth management, environmental
planning, nature conservation, place
making, business investment and
development, innovation and digital cities
and economic value management.

Key areas of responsibility include
catchment management, drinking
water distribution, recycled water
treatment and delivery, sewage
collection and treatment, solid waste
management, infrastructure planning
and delivery, customer connections,
metering and laboratory services.
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5.2.2 Our people
As one of the Gold Coast’s largest employers, Council offers a diverse range of employment opportunities. Our workforce includes
engineers, town planners, graphic designers, tradespeople, environmental scientists and social planners, as well as specialists in
disciplines such as information technology, accounting, corporate planning, public administration, human resource management and
asset management.
Council’s position establishment is comprised of permanent Approved Staff Establishment (ASE) and temporary Above Approved
Staff Establishment (AASE) positions. Occupancy of positions (people Full Time Equivalent [FTE]) varies from day-to-day as people
commence with and leave the organisation. New positions are approved by the CEO when appropriate business justification is
provided while the status of the position is determined by the type of activity to be undertaken, whether it is ongoing (permanent)
or for a set period or specified task (temporary).
There were 7.40 permanent FTE (ASE) positions closed and 31.85 permanent FTE (ASE) positions approved to be created.
This equates to an overall increase of 24.45 permanent FTE since 30 June 2019.
Table 40: Full time equivalent positions
30 June 2020
Directorate

Permanent (ASE)

Temporary (AASE)

Total

Economy, Planning and Environment

374.75

105.60

480.35

Lifestyle and Community

656.09

59.00

715.09

Office of the Chief Executive Officer

46.45

8.20

54.65

Office of the Chief Operating Officer

189.61

44.40

234.01

Organisational Services

645.80

162.64

808.44

1,051.54

38.85

1,090.39

516.80

65.11

581.91

3,481.04

483.80

3,964.84

Transport and Infrastructure
Water and Waste
Total
The turnover rate for Council decreased by 1.3% compared to 2018 –19.

Of the 209 permanent employees who left the organisation, 82 (39%) were 55 years or older and the majority of these referenced ‘retirement’ as their reason for leaving.

Table 41: Permanent employee turnover rate

Turnover rate (%)

2015 –16

2016 –17

2017–18

2018 –19

2019 – 20

6.5

9.4

7.2

8.0

6.7

30 Jun 17

30 Jun 18

30 Jun 19

30 Jun 20

The ratio of females in the overall permanent workforce has increased by 0.6% since 2016.

Table 42: Permanent employee gender ratio (%)
30 Jun 16

Female (%)

37.0

37.4

37.7

37.5

37.6

Male (%)

63.0

62.6

62.3

62.5

62.4

Council continues to report an increase in the percentage of employees aged 55 years and older, with a 3.4% increase over the past five years.

Table 43: Permanent employees aged 55 years and older (%)

Employees 55 years and older (%)

94

30 Jun 16

30 Jun 17

30 Jun 18

30 Jun 19

30 Jun 20

26.6

27.5

27.9

28.6

30.0
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5.2.3 Our volunteers
Council values and acknowledges the important contribution of our volunteers to the community. Volunteers participate in Council
programs to support the community, meet people and learn new skills. Each year, Council provides regular volunteering opportunities
for over 400 Gold Coast residents who assist with programs such as library services and caring for the local environment. Over 2000
residents assist each year by participating in our tree planting days.
Council also supports partner organisations to deliver a range of volunteer programs, including catchment management, foreshore
protection, beach and waterway clean-ups.
COVID-19 has impacted Council volunteer programs during 2020 however plans are in place to re-establish these activities as
restrictions ease.
View Volunteer Management Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

5.2.4 Our shared values
The organisation has adopted shared values which help shape 'how we do things' – our decisions, actions and behaviours towards
achieving the City Vision and Council priorities.
There are four shared values:
We aim high – we are courageous in the
pursuit of excellence for our community.

We take responsibility – we are committed to working
safely, being trustworthy and owning our actions.

We add value – we are adaptable and innovative.

We work as a team – we are great individually,
but unstoppable together.

These values define what success looks like and support the growth of the organisation and the city.

// Robina Waterways.
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5.2.5 Assurance framework
Council’s assurance framework includes a range of independent
and management assurance activities designed to review and
oversee the effectiveness and efficiency of Council’s financial
reporting and operations, including:
• external audit: conducted annually by the Queensland Audit
Office (QAO)

Audit and Risk Committee
Council’s Audit and Risk Committee operated throughout
the financial year in accordance with the Act, the Regulation,
Council’s Audit and Risk Committee Policy and Charter.
The primary objective of the Audit and Risk Committee is to
promote good corporate governance through the provision of
independent assurance, oversight and advice to the elected
Council and CEO on matters relating to:

• Audit and Risk Committee: comprising four independent and
two Councillor members

• financial reporting

• internal audit: independent assurance and advice by
Council’s Internal Audit Unit

• internal control

• executive management oversight: by executive and senior
management officers
• ethical standards: monitored by Council’s Integrity and
Ethical Standards Unit.

External audit
The Auditor-General of Queensland, an independent officer
of parliament, is the external auditor of all state and local
government public sector entities in Queensland. The
independence of the position, enshrined in law, means the
Auditor-General and staff of the QAO have unfettered access
to all government entities and can examine and report to
parliament on the efficiency and effectiveness of any aspect of
public sector finances and administration.
The QAO has conducted its annual independent assessment
of Council and concluded that the general purpose financial
statements contained in this Annual Report present a true and
fair view of Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2020,
comply with the Act, the Regulation and are in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards. Refer to Chapter 6.
In order to reach this conclusion, QAO officers conduct
regular reviews and assessments of Council’s internal control
environment, particularly in relation to financial management.
Implementation of recommendations by the QAO targeting
improvements to our financial and related processes and
systems are monitored continuously by the Audit and Risk
Committee and Executive Leadership Team.
QAO representatives regularly attend meetings of Council’s
Audit and Risk Committee to provide updates on areas of audit
significance and changes to accounting standards, to keep the
committee informed on progress of the annual external audit.
Our Corporate Assurance and Corporate Finance branches also
work closely with the QAO to ensure that audit activities are
planned and scheduled to maximise efficiency and minimise any
duplication of audit effort. Council also maintains regular contact
with the QAO in relation to broader local government and public
sector financial management, administration, financial reporting
and audit matters.
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• financial statement preparation
• governance
• internal and external audit
• risk management
• compliance
• fraud and corruption.
Audit and Risk Committee consisted of two Councillors and
four external, independent members appointed by the elected
Council, with one of the external, independent members
also appointed Chairperson. The appointment of external,
independent members is based on a publicly advertised, meritbased selection process which aims to ensure the committee
has an appropriate mix of financial management, governance,
risk management and local government skills and experience.
Council remunerates external, independent members of
the Audit and Risk Committee to attract highly experienced
professionals capable of fulfilling the Audit and Risk Committee
Charter and adding value to Council. At 30 June 2020, the Audit
and Risk Committee membership comprised of:
• Mr Mitchell Petrie (independent chairperson)
• Mr Bill Turner (independent member)
• Mr Geoff King (independent member)
• Mrs Kerry Phillips (independent member)
• Mayor Tom Tate (Councillor member)
• Councillor William Owen-Jones (Councillor member)
Mr Mitchell Petrie was previously an audit assurance partner
with KPMG and has extensive audit, risk management and
governance experience and knowledge with a wide range of
organisations including state and local government bodies.
Mr Bill Turner has extensive senior financial, audit, probity
and risk management experience within the public service
particularly in infrastructure and being a resident of the
Gold Coast brings valuable local knowledge and insights to
committee discussions.
Mr Geoff King has extensive experience in audit, risk
management and governance, with particular emphasis on
information and communication technology, across a diverse
range of industries in the public and private sector including
local governments.
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Mrs Kerry Phillips was appointed to the committee effective
from 1 July 2018. Mrs Phillips has highly relevant experience
with a wide range of local government bodies both as an
employee and audit committee member and has had extensive
involvement with professional accounting bodies.
Mayor Tom Tate and Councillor William Owen-Jones both
contribute to the committee’s understanding and appreciation
of the elected Council’s objectives and perspectives. Both
Councillors also have significant financial and management
experience which contributes to the work of the committee.
The Audit and Risk Committee holds ordinary meetings on a
quarterly basis, with additional meetings convened to consider
the annual financial statements and annual planning matters.
During the course of the financial year the committee met
formally on six occasions.
The CEO, Manager Corporate Assurance, Manager Corporate
Finance and representatives of the QAO attend committee
meetings as standing invitees. Council officers regularly present
written reports and attend meetings to respond to Audit and
Risk Committee requests for information on particular matters of
relevance to the committee’s role.
The Audit and Risk Committee formally reviews Council’s
draft annual financial statements prior to their release to
the QAO. The committee also considers management
representations from senior executives, the CEO and
Manager Corporate Finance.
Following each committee meeting, a formal report is presented
to the elected Council. The Audit and Risk Committee
Chairperson also delivers an annual report and presentation
to the elected Council on the operations, achievements and
recommendations of the Audit and Risk Committee.
View the Audit and Risk Policy and Charter
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

Internal audit
Council’s Internal Audit Unit (IAU) within the Corporate
Assurance Branch independently examines and evaluates the
risks and controls associated with Council activities, operations
and systems.
It operates in accordance with Council’s Internal Audit
Policy and Charter which sets out the mandate, roles and
responsibilities of the internal audit function. The unit is led by
the Manager Corporate Assurance who is directly responsible
to the Audit and Risk Committee and CEO. The Manager
Corporate Assurance maintains professional independence from
operational decision-making.
Internal audit activity over the medium-term is managed via a
Strategic Internal Audit Plan, while the specific internal audit
activities performed each year are outlined in the Annual Internal
Audit Plan. These plans are reviewed and recommended by the
Audit and Risk Committee annually and adopted by the
elected Council.

The IAU provides a broad range of assurance and advisory
services, in accordance with applicable internal audit standards
and better practices, including:
• compliance reviews
• continuous improvement reviews
• data analytics
• financial reviews
• information systems and technology reviews
• management advice and consultations
• operational reviews
• project assurance and advice
• strategic risk reviews.
The following internal audits were completed and reported to
the Audit and Risk Committee during the financial year:
• critical water infrastructure security – QAO Performance audit
follow up
• cash management major venues – follow up audit
• continuous controls monitoring
• contract governance
• controlled entities – review of bi-annual reporting
• corporate governance best practice review
• cyber maturity assessment
• EPMS project health check
• general rates
• information security culture
• insurance claims management
• internal work health and safety audit program
• ITGC Pathway – follow up audit
• land/property acquisitions
• rate debtors – follow up audit
• regulatory change compliance – Belcarra stage 1
and Councillor complaints
• review of payroll codes
• right to information and information privacy
– compliance review
• staff welfare fund audit of financial statements
The scope of internal audit activities is determined through a
risk-based strategic and annual planning cycle that involves
consultation with executive management, Audit and Risk
Committee members and the QAO to ensure appropriate
audit coverage. Performance of the Internal Audit Unit and the
Manager Corporate Assurance is monitored by the Audit and
Risk Committee and the CEO.
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Council is fully compliant with State Government legislation
relating to the activities and reporting of our internal audit
function. The IAU continues to be staffed by highly experienced
officers with a mix of financial management, business systems
and audit experience. Staff members are encouraged and
supported in maintaining relevant professional qualifications and
forming associations with relevant professional bodies.

The IESU provides a broad range of services including the
management and operation of complex fraud and corruption
investigations, Public Interest Review investigations together
with serious misconduct workplace investigations. It also
provides workplace assurance and advisory services including:

Executive management

• creation and facilitation of proactive awareness sessions both
face-to-face sessions and e-learning content

Council’s ELT, consisting of the CEO, Chief Operating
Officer and five directors, is accountable for establishing
and maintaining appropriate systems of internal control, risk
management and compliance within the organisation. Monthly,
quarterly and annual cycles of directorate management
representations, covering significant organisation-wide risk and
control matters, are undertaken. These support the annual
representations to the Audit and Risk Committee and the
Auditor-General by the CEO and Manager Corporate Finance.
The IAU meets regularly with the CEO, directors and managers
to ensure emerging risks, issues and systemic audit matters
are discussed and actioned in a timely manner. Directors are
also scheduled to attend at least one Audit and Risk Committee
meeting during the committee’s term, to discuss risk and control
matters affecting their directorate.
Management’s performance in implementing internal and
external audit recommendations is measured and reported
quarterly to the Audit and Risk Committee.

Ethical standards
The CEO has statutory obligations for managing Council under
the Crime and Corruption Act 2001 (the CC Act) to deal with
any inappropriate behaviour on the part of Council Officers.
The Integrity and Ethical Standards Unit (IESU) provides
assistance to the CEO and is responsible for managing all
complaints, information or matters which involve, or may involve,
corrupt conduct pursuant to section 15 of the CC Act.
The IESU mandate is aligned with the Crime and Corruption
Commission’s (CCC) stated objective to investigate, combat
and reduce the incidence of major crime and corruption
and to protect witnesses. The IESU is engaged by Council
and community members to respond to allegations and to
implement measures to prevent instances of corrupt and
criminal conduct within Council. It undertakes complex
investigations into allegations of fraud and corruption, manages
public interest disclosures and acts on behalf of the CEO as
Council’s liaison with the CCC, the Office of the Queensland
Ombudsman and other regulatory agencies.
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• conflict of interests management, including advice and
record keeping

• public interest disclosure management and reporting
• fraud and corruption control management
• corrupt conduct management
• providing advice on various policies including but not limited
to Conflicts of Interests Policy, Gifts and Benefits Policy and
Secondary Employment Policy.
The performance of the IESU and the Manager Corporate
Assurance is monitored by the CCC, the Queensland
Ombudsman Office and the CEO.
Council is fully compliant with its legislative obligations pursuant
to the CC Act and the Public Interests Disclosure Act 2010
(the PID Act). The IESU Unit continues to be staffed by highly
experienced officers with a mix of retired senior policing
detectives, industrial and legal practitioners together with
experienced local government and state government workplace
investigators. Staff members are encouraged and supported
in maintaining relevant professional qualifications and forming
associations with relevant professional bodies.
The IESU also meets regularly with the CEO, directors and
managers to ensure, pursuant to section 38 of the CC Act, any
and all allegations regarding conduct that could be considered
corrupt conduct are referred, managed, investigated and
reported upon appropriately. The IESU also consults with the
Chief Operating Officer, directors and managers to ensure
emerging fraud and corruption risks, including systemic fraud
and corruption matters, are actioned in accordance with
legislation and best practice principles. The directors meet
monthly with the Executive Coordinator IESU to discuss
directorate specific fraud and corruption matters including
individual case management.
View the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
View the Benefits and Gifts Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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5.2.6 Upholding the public interest
Council’s CEO in common with all chief executive officers of
public sector entities, have obligations under the PID Act to
ensure that:
• public officers of the entity who make Public Interest
Disclosures (PIDs) are given appropriate support
• public officers are offered protection from reprisals
• the entity has a management program for PIDs, in
accordance with the Public Interest Disclosure standards
• PIDs made to the entity are properly assessed
and investigated
• appropriate action is taken in relation to any wrongdoing that
is the subject of a PID.
As the oversight entity under the PID Act, the Office of the
Queensland Ombudsman has standards that define how
agencies must deal with PIDs.
As a major employer, Council understands and values the
importance of the PID Act. In accordance with section 28, there
are reasonable procedures to ensure that Council employees
and members of the public are encouraged to report conduct
and/or matters that they believe to be unethical conduct within
the organisation.
The IESU Unit is also the policy owner of the Whistle-blowers
(Public Interest Disclosure) Policy which complies with the PID
Act. The policy is consistently amended as necessary and is
being reviewed in 2020 –21 in consultation with the Queensland
Ombudsmans’ Office.
Under the PID Act, the Ombudsman’s office is responsible for
overseeing public interest disclosures and managing public
interest disclosures in accordance with the principles of the
Public Interest Disclosure Standards. The IESU Unit is required
to record all PIDs in the Queensland Ombudsman Offices
RAPID data base, which is audited by the Queensland
Ombudsmans’ Office.
View the Whistleblowers Policy and Procedures
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

// Elephant Rock, Currumbin Beach.
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5.3 PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE OF THE CITY
5.3.1 Strategic planning
City Vision
The City Vision ‘Inspired by lifestyle, Driven by opportunity’ reflects the importance of lifestyle choice and innovation to our growing city.
This vision informs strategic and operational planning and investment through Council’s key strategic plans such as Gold Coast 2022
and strategies.
Key influences on city planning are shown below.

Figure 11: Key influences on planning for the city

Solid Waste
Strategy 2024
Engaging the city in
positive waste behaviours,
such as waste avoidance,
re-use and recycling to
minimise the impact on
the environment.
Culture
Strategy 2023
Fostering the energy
and vision of local artists
and creative industries
to promote the Gold
Coast’s distinct and
enviable cultural identity
and lifestyle.

Community
Engagement
Engaging the community
to generate ideas and
opportunities to inform
the city’s future.

Gold Coast 2022
Supporting the
delivery of the City
Vision through three
themes – Place,
Prosperity and
People.
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Queensland Plan
Providing a
30-year vision, where
Queensland will be
home to vibrant
and prosperous
communities.

City Plan
Innovating to manage
long-term growth
and support local
economic foundations
for the city.

The Queensland Plan
Queenslanders’ 30-year vision

O UR C I T Y V I SI ON

Inspired by Lifestyle.
Driven by Opportunity.

Gold Coast
City Transport
Strategy 2031
Changing the way we
move around the city by
managing road space,
investing in cycling and
walking, and improving
public transport.

Customer
Experience
Strategy 2019 – 2024
Making life easier
and more convenient
for our residents,
businesses and
visitors to engage
with us.

Our Natural
City Strategy
Protecting our natural
environment and
recognising its significant
value to our economy
and lifestyle.

Economic
Development
Strategy 2013 – 2023
Creating a city recognised
for its talented people and
innovation, making it an
international location of
choice for businesses
and residents.

Ocean Beaches
Strategy 2013 – 2023
Managing the city’s
spectacular ocean
beaches and their
importance to the city’s
economy and liveability.

Gold Coast Water
Strategy 2019 – 2024
Creating a city sustained
and inspired by water by
managing our resources
to ensure a better
quality of life for future
generations.
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Gold Coast 2022

Council strategies

Council’s Corporate Plan, Gold Coast 2022, recognises that
community wellbeing depends on a combination of economic,
social and environmental factors.

Council has developed and adopted a range of strategies which
support the implementation of the City Vision. These strategies
provide medium to longer term direction for the City across
identified services, delivering transformation of the city over the
next 10 – 20 years.

Gold Coast 2022 supports delivery of the City Vision through
three themes:
• The best PLACE to live, visit and stay which describes the
development of the city and options for city living.
• PROSPERITY built on a strong diverse economy which
describes the city’s business sector, reputation and
employment opportunities.
• PEOPLE contribute to a strong community spirit which
describes the city’s culture and community.

An overview of Council strategies can be found at figure 9.
Integrated planning
Council’s corporate planning and budget process aims to
increase the integration of strategic and operational planning;
improve information available for resource allocation decisions
and optimise investment. Our integrated approach to planning
considers the development of short, medium and longer term
strategies and plans as shown in the figure below.

Gold Coast 2022 also supports effective corporate governance
through three key functions:
A We plan for the future of the city – supports medium and
longer term planning for the city.
B We manage the city responsibly – supports day to day
Council management and the delivery of Council services.
C We actively engage residents, customers and visitors
– supports the implementation of Council’s principles and
approach to engagement.
Gold Coast 2022 also supports the implementation of the
Queensland Plan (2014), which provides a 30-year vision
for Queensland.

Figure 12: Integrated planning for the city

City Strategies

Gold Coast 2022

City Plan

Total Asset
Management Plan

Long-Term
Financial Forecast

City Contracting
Plan

Annual Plan

City Operational
Plan

City Budget
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// Aerial showing light rail and along road heading into Southport.

// Our City Engineers at work.

5.3.2 City Plan

5.3.3 Asset management

The City Plan (commenced 2 February 2016) sets out a fresh
and innovative approach to managing and supporting long-term
growth and is a crucial tool in shaping the Gold Coast into a
mature, world class city.

Council has a large and diverse infrastructure asset base that
enables delivery of a wide-range of infrastructure based services
to the community. Asset management planning has highlighted
that most of our assets are in good condition as we have
invested in infrastructure renewal over many years.

The City Plan continues to represent a major shift from
development on the city’s fringe to redevelopment of urban
centres and key inner city neighbourhoods. This will achieve an
orderly and economically efficient settlement pattern and ensure
our existing non-urban areas, places like the hinterland ranges
and foothills are protected.
To ensure the City Plan continues to reflect community
aspirations and responds to emerging opportunities a rolling
program of updates is in progress. The first major update
package took effect in September 2018.
In June 2018, the elected Council adopted a Local Government
Infrastructure Plan (LGIP). The LGIP outlines Council’s vision for
trunk infrastructure services including water supply, sewerage,
public parks and land for community facilities and transport
networks, which will meet the needs of our growing community.
The LGIP Stormwater quality amendment was included in the
LGIP and commenced on 1 July 2019.
View the City Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/cityplan
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While legislative requirements of section 104 of the Act have
been one driver for having asset management plans, Council
recognises that it is good management practice to use asset
management plans to sustainably manage infrastructure assets,
supporting the longer term financial sustainability of the city.
Asset management plans are updated annually in order to
inform the budget process and are integrated with the long-term
financial forecast. The outputs of the asset management plans
are summarised into the overarching Total Asset Management
Plan, which the elected Council adopts annually in conjunction
with adoption of the budget. The Total Asset Management Plan
provides information on Council’s infrastructure assets, including
the scale of the asset base and the types of assets managed
by Council.
An Asset Management Improvement Program also continues to
drive incremental improvements in asset management practices
across the organisation.
View the Asset Management Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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// Australia Day celebrations.

5.3.4 Risk management
Enterprise risk management
Council’s risk management vision is ‘creating excellence in
risk, work health and safety (WHS), corporate security and
business continuity management’. The objectives are managing
risk exposure, consistently and systematically to maximise
community outcomes. This effectively leverages the benefit
of opportunities, manages uncertainty, builds organisational
resilience and minimises the impact of adverse events.
In this regard, 2020 presented significant challenges arising
from the impacts of COVID-19 which by late January had
extended to other countries beyond China. In preparations,
throughout January, Council commenced planning its response
by reviewing its Pandemic Plan and Business Continuity Plans,
undertaking risk scenario planning and developing mitigation
strategies. In transitioning to a state of readiness, on 23
January 2020 Council formally activated its Internal Incident
Management Plan and the Disaster Management Unit activated
on 25 January 2020 to support Queensland Health, the State
Disaster Coordination Centre and the community. By 25 January
2020, the first case of COVID-19 was recorded in Australia and
by 12 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared
COVID-19 a pandemic.
Council rapidly implemented health, hygiene, staff wellbeing
and business continuity strategies and deployed remote
working capabilities to provide for safe and productive work
arrangements. Assistance was also provided to Queensland
Health including Environmental Health Officers, contract tracing
support and quarantine operations. Council has also taken
advantage of opportunities to transition to a more resilient and
agile organisation. Council continues to monitor the situation,
evaluate potential risks and respond to continue to support the
community, key Council services and its workforce.
Key goals include identifying and managing risk exposures
and opportunities by optimising risk management processes;

achieving the highest levels of WHS performance through
the systematic elimination or reduction of risks to a level as
low as is reasonably practicable; providing safeguards across
the organisation that are consistent and appropriate to the
level of security threats; and building and maintaining
organisational resilience.
Risk management at Council is governed by the Enterprise
Risk Management Policy and associated framework which
is aligned with AS ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management and
tailored to meet the specific business and organisational
context of Council.
The framework provides procedures, systems, policies and
strategies that focus on effective risk management leadership
through engagement and consultation.
In addition to ongoing risk reviews at an organisational and local
level, the Executive Leadership Team participates in an annual
Emerging Issues and Risk Workshop to review the corporate
risk profiles and ensure risks are managed effectively to a level
as low as is reasonably practicable taking into consideration
emerging issues, global trends, threats and opportunities.
Risks are also reviewed regularly through engagement of the
Risk Management Advisory Committee, Work Health and Safety
Advisory Committee and Audit and Risk Committee. These
committees support good governance through consultation
and engagement with Council employees, Councillors and
independent external advisory members.
By identifying and actively managing key risks with the
implementation of numerous risk mitigation strategies, business
continuity plans, pandemic plans, incident management
protocols, inspections and audits, security plans and work
health and safety initiatives, Council is well equipped to
ensure that risks and opportunities are identified and
managed effectively.
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Figure 13: Risk management corporate alignment

Risk Reporting Structure

Corporate Governance Framework

Council/CEO
Enterprise Risk
Management Framework

Audit and Risk Committee
Executive Leadership Team

Corporate
Safety
and Risk
Branch

Work Health
and Safety
Advisory
Committee
Risk
Management
Advisory
Committee

Enterprise Risk
Management Policy
[AS ISO 31000:2018]

Work Health and Safety
[ISO 45001:2018]

Protective Security
[Protective Security Policy
Framework 2018]

Enterprise Risk Management Manual

View the Enterprise Risk Management Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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Business Continuity
Management and Incident
Management [ISO 22301:2019]
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5.3.5 City insurance

5.3.6 Procurement

The City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd is a whollyowned subsidiary of Council. Its primary function is the cost
effective financing of our selected risks. A key component of
Council’s Risk Management Framework is to retain value for
the city by reducing or eliminating insurance premiums paid
to unrelated or third party insurers and to avoid or mitigate the
disadvantages of the conventional insurance market.

City Contracting Plan

City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd was established in
2007 in Guernsey, British Isles. Its board comprises of:
• Peter Child, Managing Director (appointed 21 July 2020)
• Diane Colton (independent non-executive), Chairperson
• Kevin Rye, of Artex Risk Solutions
• Nick Heys, of Artex Risk Solutions (resigned 24 June 2020)

The City Contracting Plan (CCP) identifies all contracting
activities (contract type, principles and strategies for performing
the contract, market assessment for each type of contract,
significant contracts, sourcing method, time to market and
contract duration) for the current financial year. It is developed
as part of the annual planning and budget process and
supports Council’s strategic objectives. The CCP is a legislative
requirement under section 220 of the Regulation and is adopted
by the elected Council following budget adoption.
View the Procurement Policy and Contract Manual
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
View the City Contracting Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/contractingplan

• Dale Dickson, City of Gold Coast, CEO
• David Montgomery, City of Gold Coast
(resigned 30 June 2020)
City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd’s manager and
compliance officer are employed by Artex Risk Solutions, a
global insurance management organisation with representation
in 20 of the world’s most popular insurance domiciles.
Arthur J Gallagher, one of the world’s largest insurance
brokerage and risk management service firms, in consultation
with the Australian brokerage company GSA Insurance Brokers
Pty Ltd in Sydney, is employed to review and scrutinise
insurance options in the various available markets and negotiate
insurance coverage for both the City of Gold Coast Insurance
Company Ltd and Council.
Section 107 of the Act requires councils to have public liability
and professional indemnity insurance. Section 214 of the
Local Government Regulation 2012 (the Regulation) stipulates
the required amounts for public liability insurance and for
professional indemnity insurance.
Council’s insurance cover exceeds the amount stipulated by
the Regulation.
View the current City of Gold Coast Captive Insurance
public statement
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/captiveinsurance-			
publicstatement
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5.3.7 Information and communication technology

5.3.8 Digital city

Council’s major Information and Communication Technology
(ICT) Transformation Program is complete having delivered
a wide-range of benefits to Council and the city’s residents,
including online customer self-service and electronic
application lodgement.

The Digital City Program is transforming how we live,
connect and grow. The Program was established in 2016
to lead and coordinate digital and smart city initiatives across
the Gold Coast.

The ICT Transformation Program also completed outsourcing
management of the ICT environment to a managed service
provider in June 2016. Having completed four of the five year
outsourcing contract, Council has commenced a review of this
arrangement to consider the level of services provided by the
current ICT managed service and changes in the ICT industry
to shape future sourcing options to get the best value ICT
services going forward.
Phase three of the Cyber Resilience Program is nearing
completion having delivered improved protection against
cloud-based threats, malware and network vulnerabilities.
Council will continue to invest in cyber security to protect
Council’s assets and its customers in response to the
evolving cyber threat landscape.
The Modern Workplace Program commenced delivery and
has implemented Windows 10, facilitated the transition of a
bulk of Council’s applications to the cloud and implemented a
cloud-native integration platform. This program is also executing
the implementation of Office 365, improved mobile service
capability and Council’s new Electronic Document and Records
Management system including migration of in excess of 74
million records. These projects are expected to be complete
in 2020 –21.
The implementation of Office 365 was accelerated in the face of
COVID-19 to provide Council's workforce with the capability to
work remotely and collaboratively ensuring that Council could
meet COVID-19 precautions while maintaining productivity.
The overall ICT response in the face of COVID-19 has been
without major disruption to ICT customer service while capturing
opportunities to enable remote working and contemporary
technology implementation. These opportunities, along with the
existing Modern Workspace Program, will facilitate continued
flexibility in future accommodation and facilities options.

The Digital City Program commenced all eight work packages
for the delivery of the optical fibre Central Loop. To date,
three work packages have been completed, three are under
construction and two are finalising procurement. The network
is connected to 22 Council sites of the 34 planned in the first
phase and is on track to realise $1 million in bankable savings
from May 2021. Connecting the remainder of Council’s 96 sites
to the network has commenced and commercial deals to on-sell
additional capacity have been executed.
During the year, Council’s Wi-Fi network (Surf Network)
has passed 2 million users, resulting in an estimated $1 million
per year in savings on roaming charges for overseas visitors
and students.
Installation of 5,000 smart water meters has commenced and
will result in savings from early water leak detection. In recent
months the network has been used to enhance Council’s
pressure reducing valves, reducing the occurrence of pipes
bursting and cutting off water supplies to Gold Coast properties.
Upgrades have also been delivered across variable school signs
around the city to improve public safety.
The Digital City Platform is now being used to integrate huge
volumes of data to analyse transport, economic and other data
to inform a range of investment decisions and to manage core
systems, including car parking. New data science capabilities
are being used to understand the impacts of COVID-19 and
plan for the city’s recovery, with a particular focus on the tourism
and events sectors.
New innovative approaches have been developed for the use
of Quick Response (QR) codes and other feedback tools.
These are currently being trialled at Gold Coast beaches and
will be gradually expanded across a range of Council venues
and precincts.

Council’s ICT Portfolio commenced key projects for enterprise
platforms including SAP (procurement, finance and asset
management), water billing and management and Council’s
website. All three of these initiatives are expected to be
delivered in 2020–21.
Council’s ICT unit has also initiated business stakeholder
engagement to understand the future technology and
information capabilities required by the organisation with the
intent to develop new ICT roadmaps and inform a new ICT
Strategy for Council.
// Surf network WiFi.
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5.4 MANAGING THE CITY RESPONSIBLY
5.4.1 Annual Plan
The Annual Plan supports the implementation of Gold Coast 2022 and is adopted by the elected Council in June of each year.
The Annual Plan includes a summary of the City Budget; the City Operational Plan, which identifies the priorities for the year ahead
and Performance Plans for Council’s two commercialised business units – Gold Coast Water and Gold Coast Waste Management.
The Annual Plan is presented in three parts, as shown in the figure below.

Figure 14: Annual Plan structure

Annual Plan

Supporting documents
City Budget

City Operational Plan

A balanced budget with a sustainable
long term financial outlook.

Delivering the City Vision through
our programs and services.

including:
financial statements and policies.
Performance plans for
commercialised business units.

View the Annual Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/annualplan
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5.4.2 Annual review of progress
Performance management
The core elements of Council’s annual planning and
performance management and reporting arrangements are
shown in the figure below. This includes monthly and quarterly
reports to the elected Council in addition to the Annual Report.

• profiling the initiatives in the portfolios and reporting by
exception, enabling the relevant governance committee
to focus on the most important initiatives and those that
require attention

Figure 15: Annual planning and reporting context

• developing, reviewing and comparing the whole of
portfolio performance

Annual Plan

Context

City Budget

City Operational Plan

Monthly Reporting
Quaterly Reviews

Quarterly
Performance
Reporting

Direction

Council

Annual Report

Monitoring

Accountability

• reviewing the performance of approved benefit management
plans, where benefits are identified for realisation during
the year
• evaluating performance, lessons learned, assurance
and internal audit reviews and implementing a process
of continual improvement in portfolio and
performance management
• evaluating performance through benchmarking,
where possible
• working collaboratively with staff across the organisation
to build knowledge and skills on outcome and
performance measure development, benefit identification
and development and performance management.

Key progress reports
The Annual Plan includes a summary of the City Budget;
the City Operational Plan, which identifies the priorities for
the year ahead and Performance Plans for Council’s two
commercialised business units – Gold Coast Water and Gold
Coast Waste Management.
Council also develops a number of key investment portfolios on
an annual basis to support the implementation of strategic and
operational priorities, including:
• Gold Coast 2022 (Corporate Plan)
• Council strategies
• City Operational Plan
• Business Improvement
• Infrastructure
• Marketing, Communications and Engagement
A robust approach to performance management is
implemented through:
• developing outcomes and performance measures
for the Corporate Plan and Council strategies
– including annual assessment of evaluation of approved
performance measures
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Progress reports are required on the City Operational Plan, the
Corporate Plan and the Annual Report under the Act.

City Operational Plan
A progress report on the City Operational Plan is provided on a
quarterly basis to both the Executive Leadership Team and the
elected Council. The performance of the City Operational Plan
portfolio is assessed by reviewing initiative progress.
The City Operational Plan 2019 –20 consisted of 61 reported
initiatives with a total budget of $235.6 million. At the end of
June 2020:
• $202.8 million (86%) of the total budget had been spent
• 58 (95%) of the initiatives were either completed or
continuing in 2020 – 21.
An overview of City Operational Plan progress and highlights
can be found in section 1.6, Performance at a glance.
View the Annual Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/annualplan
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Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022
The Corporate Plan is structured around three themes – Place,
Prosperity and People. A progress report on the Corporate
Plan is provided on a quarterly basis on initiatives (Corporate
Plan signature actions) and on an annual basis for initiatives
and outcomes to both the Executive Leadership Team and the
elected Council.
The Corporate Plan signature actions were progressed
through 38 initiatives representing a total planned investment
of $199.3 million.
• $175.6 million (88%) of the total budget had been spent

The Performance Legend for the Corporate Plan can be found
in the following figure.
Table 44: Legend
Gold Coast 2022 Outcomes Measure performance:
Traffic
Light

Status

Measure annual: result is worse than
the baseline. This result requires
action or review.
Action required

• 37 (97%) of the initiatives were either completed or
continuing in 2020– 21.
In relation to Corporate Plan outcome performance, 11 of the 23
outcomes were rated as on track with 10 identified as monitor
and two as action required at the end of 2019 –20. Work will
be undertaken in 2020 – 21 to consider what action may be
required to improve performance against these outcomes.
A detailed review of outcome performance measures and
exception based commentary can be found on the following
pages. An overview of the Corporate Plan performance and
highlights can be found in section 1.6, Performance at a glance.

Definition

Outcome measure: the average
score of the performance measure
results assigned to that outcome,
indicating a trend away from the
desired results. This outcome
requires review.
Measure annual: result is better
than the baseline but worse than the
previous year OR result in not better/
equal to the most recent checkpoint.
This result requires monitoring.

Monitor

View Gold Coast 2022
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/corporateplan

Outcome measure: the average
score of the performance measure
results assigned to that outcome,
indicating no new progress toward
the desired results. The outcome
requires monitoring.
Measure annual: result is better
than the baseline and better than
the previous result OR most recent
Checkpoint OR is the baseline.

On track

Not reported

Outcome Measure: the average
score of the performance measure
results assigned to that outcome,
indicating a trend toward the
desired results.
Measure annual: expected data was
not provided at the time of reporting.

Note: A single performance outcome measure may be used to support the
assessment of more than one Corporate Plan outcome; however, it is reported
under the primary outcome only.
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The best PLACE to live, visit and stay
Table 45: Progress toward PLACE outcomes
Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022

Outcome
status

On track

Monitor

Action required

Performance measure

1.1

Our city provides
a choice of
liveable places

Percentage of city dwellings that are detached

1.2

We live in balance
with nature

Condition of native vegetation cover

Rating for ‘appealing environment’

Total native vegetation cover
1.3

We manage our
resources for a
sustainable future

Percentage of total waste recycled
Average annual grading of waterways across the city
Water system losses (%)
Average water use per person per day (litres)
Percentage of water recycled

1.4

We can get
around the
city easily

Percentage of daily trips using public transport
Percentage of people who are satisfied with public transport
Percentage of daily trips taken by private motor vehicle
Average vehicle travel time along key road corridors within the city during peak hours
Improved traffic flows and reduced accident rates on key road corridors and key
intersections throughout the city

1.5

We are an active
digital city

Average broadband speed
Number of City services using Internet of Things (IoT) systems/networks

1.6

Our modern
centres create
vibrant
communities

Number of neighbourhood/local centres
Percentage of people who live within 800m of public transport
Percentage of residents who live within 400m of a recreational park
Percentage of people who are satisfied with public transport
Parking occupancy rates within key city centres

1.7

Everyone can
enjoy a beach
experience

Community satisfaction with services for beach facilities and safety

1.8

Our city is
resilient to
natural hazards

Percentage of coastal public beachfront requiring protection with a
certified seawall – public
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Sufficient sand volumes along Gold Coast beaches

Percentage of properties that are exposed to unacceptable natural hazard risks

Not reported
Measure
status
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Exception based commentary on measures assessed as ‘Action required’ is presented below:
Outcome 1.2 We live in balance with nature
Measure: Total native vegetation cover
Measure: Condition of native vegetation cover
The Gold Coast is a biodiverse city which understands the importance of natural assets to lifestyle. This is reflected in the Our Natural
City Strategy, adopted in 2017, which encourages nature based recreation while at the same time safeguarding our beaches, wetlands,
waterways, rainforests, bushland, coastal and marine environments and the wildlife these habitats support.
The latest results demonstrate a decline in the total native vegetation cover and condition of native vegetation across the city.
Between 2005–2017 there has been a net decrease in native vegetation cover of 1.02% (1316 ha) and the latest data identifies the
city’s total native vegetation cover at 49.58% (64,123 ha). The condition of the city’s native vegetation cover is measured through three
main remnant vegetation categories ranging from remnant (best) to disturbed then regrowth. There has been an increase in remnant
vegetation since the 2015 baseline. This is the result of a review of the remnant cover as part of the Gold Coast City 2017 Regional
Ecosystems and Vegetation Cover Extent project (Queensland Herbarium, 2018). A decline was recorded for the categories of
disturbed remnant and regrowth remnant vegetation which is potentially attributable to native vegetation loss.
The development of a restoration roadmap during 2019 –21 and review of Our Natural City Strategy and its associated implementation
plan, will further consider how to achieve these targets through a range of actions.
Outcome 1.3 We manage our resources for a sustainable future
Measure: Percentage of total waste recycled
The Solid Waste Strategy 2024, adopted in 2015 seeks to engage the city in positive waste behaviours such as waste avoidance,
re-use and recycling. The percentage of total waste recycled was 32.9% which is below the 2018 –19 result of 37.40% and below the
desired 2019 checkpoint of 45%. The Waste Management landscape has changed considerably since the adoption of the strategy
in 2015, most notably the introduction of the State Government Waste Disposal Levy and the Container Refund Scheme. Both of
these initiatives are driving positive waste behaviours across the state but are having a negative influence on recycling rates for waste
controlled and collected by the City. The volume of popular recycling items such as glass and plastic containers has decreased by 5%
from kerbside recycling collections and 10% from public place recycling bins. In addition to this, construction and demolition waste
collected by Council has halved in the last two years and this normally generates recycling rates of over 95%. A number of actions
were initiated which are expected to improve recycling rates for waste controlled by Council, including the expansion and promotion
of the green waste service city wide, delivery of ‘recycle street’ at Reedy Creek Waste and Recycling Centre and promotion of green
waste drop and go zones.
Outcome 1.4 We can get around the city easily
Measure: Percentage of daily trips taken by private motor vehicle
The most recent data for the percentage of daily trips taken by private motor vehicle is based on the Household Travel survey (HTS)
which shows an increase to 86.6% from the 2016 baseline of 84.7%. The Household Travel Survey only includes data on current
residents i.e. not all users of the network and is therefore biased towards a higher vehicle use. The results are also based on a small
sample size of 800 residents (Household Travel Survey) and it is possible that the limitations of the sample size may have impacted the
result. The next national Census will be held in August 2021 which will provide greater data to understand current behaviours.
Measure: Percentage of daily trips using public transport
A key focus for the City over the next decade is to extend the public transport network (notably the light rail network) across the city,
working with its government and private sector partners. On the Gold Coast there are now three primary modes of public transport to
choose from – regional rail, buses and light rail. These are supported by personalised transport services including taxis, booked hire
services and community based demand responsive services.
The most recent result for the percentage of daily trips using public transport is also based on Household Travel survey (HTS) and
shows a decrease from 4.8% in 2016 to 3.8% in 2018 –19. The results are based on a small sample size of 800 residents (Household
Travel Survey) and it is possible that the limitations of the sample size may have impacted the result. The next national Census will be
held in August 2021 which will provide greater data to understand current behaviours.
The COVID-19 global pandemic has reduced the use of all public transport systems since March 2020 and any future trends and
impacts on usage will be monitored as part of the City's Transport Strategy.
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PROSPERITY built on a strong diverse economy
Table 46: Progress towards PROSPERITY outcomes
Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022
2.1

Our city’s
economy is diverse
and innovative

Outcome
status

On track

Monitor

Action required

Performance measure

Increase in the number of businesses employing in the city
Growth in the number of knowledge based jobs
(non-population serving employment)
Increase in international students
Attract national sporting organisations to relocate to the city

2.2

We have a thriving
cultural economy

Growth in the number of people employed in creative industries
Rating for ‘Culture’
Increase GDP related to creative industries
Increase in the value of film productions

2.3

We have
infrastructure
that supports
productivity
and growth

Percentage business growth in key economic zones
Productive value add per worker
Rating for ‘Adequate infrastructure’
Standard of living (Gross Regional Product per capita)

2.4

We are a city with
a strong and
globally
competitive
business
environment

Business confidence in the economy
Number of people employed in the city
Standard of living (Gross Regional Product per capita)
Rating for ‘Favourable environment for business’
Value of Gold Coast exports

2.5

We are a globally
recognised tourism
destination

The amount of money spent by international visitors each year
The amount of money spent by domestic visitors each year
Rating for ‘Appealing Experiences’

2.6

We have a positive
global reputation

Rating for ‘City ranking’
Percentage increase in favourable environment for doing business
Global media reach
Visitor sentiment
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Not reported
Measure
status
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Exception based commentary on measures assessed as ‘Action required’ is presented below:
Outcome 2.1 Our city’s economy is diverse and innovative
Measure: Attract national sporting organisations to relocate to the city
Council aims to attract two new national sporting organisations a year to relocate to the Gold Coast, to support job creation and
increase the capability and capacity of the local Gold Coast sports industry. Since 2015, Council has facilitated the attraction of four
sporting organisations to relocate their offices to the Gold Coast (Squash Australia, Triathlon Australia, Mountain Bike Australia and
FIBA Oceania). While COVID-19 has impacted the attraction of new national sporting organisations to the city, Council will continue to
pro-actively encourage a range of sporting organisations to establish their headquarters on the Gold Coast.
Outcome 2.2 We have a thriving cultural economy
Measure: Increase in the value of film productions
Council is striving to attract and retain creative skills, talent and investment in the city in order to build a strong cultural economy. A key
segment of the cultural economy is the city’s film industry. Council's Film Attraction Program provides financial incentives and support
to film, television and related productions who are considering the Gold Coast as a film location. Success is measured through the
value of film and television productions that generate benefits for the local economy. Filming included Bloody Hell, Godzilla, Monster
Problems and Reef Break. While the result for 2018–19 of $133.4 million was a significant increase from the 2017–18 result of $42.8
million, the result of $30 million was significantly impacted by COVID-19. Council will monitor how the industry responds to the
pandemic and make adjustments to Council’s Film Attraction Program.
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PEOPLE contribute to a strong community spirit
Table 47: Progress towards PEOPLE outcomes
Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022
3.1

Our city is safe

Outcome
status

On track

Monitor

Action required

Performance measure

Percentage of residents who feel safe in their neighbourhood
Rating for ‘Safe environment for visitors and residents’
Percentage of residents who indicated that they had an emergency plan
Percentage of residents who have one place where emergency items are stored
in case they are impacted by severe weather

3.2

We are proud of
our city

Percentage of community who feel proud of the Gold Coast
Percentage of the community engaged in volunteering

3.3

Our community
is inclusive and
supportive

Percentage of residents who feel a sense of belonging to their community
Percentage increase in attendance at events celebrating national cultures
Percentage of bus stops that comply with DSAPT
(Disability Standards for Accessible Public Transport)

3.4

Our city embraces
culture every day

Increase in the number of people participating in arts and culture in the city
Growth in the number of people employed in creative industries
Number of heritage places protected

3.5

Our city provides
a wide range of
job opportunities

Percentage increase in residents with a bachelor/tertiary degree or above
Number of people employed in the city
Increase in jobs in the education and training sector
Growth in the number of knowledge based jobs
(non-population serving employment)

3.6

We are an active
and healthy
community

Percentage of people who make daily trips by walking
Percentage of people who make daily trips by cycling
Percentage of Gold Coast City adult residents who meet the
National Physical Activity Guidelines
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Exception based commentary on measures assessed as ‘Action required’ is presented below:
Outcome 3.1 Our city is safe
Measure: Percentage of residents who have one place where emergency items are stored in case they are impacted by
severe weather
While the Gold Coast is renowned for its sunny weather, the city is still vulnerable to floods, storms, bushfires, cyclones and heat
waves. Council supports community resilience by providing advice, emergency check-lists and kits and disaster coordination and
recovery services.
The most recent community survey completed in 2018–19 identified that 40% of Gold Coast residents have an emergency kit or
one place where emergency items are stored in case of severe weather or disaster, compared with 35.8% in 2017–18. While this
represents a 10% increase on the previous result, it falls below the desired 2019 checkpoint of 65%. While the 2019 – 20 community
survey results are not yet available, it is hoped that continued regular engagement with local residents through the ‘Get Ready Gold
Coast’ campaign will raise awareness and encourage action to build resilience against future disaster events, leading to increased
community preparedness.
Outcome 3.3 Our community is inclusive and supportive
Measure: Percentage increase in attendance at events celebrating national cultures
The attendance at events celebrating national cultures is considerably lower than expected due to COVID-19, with a significant number
cancelled and some in a position that they may no longer operate. It is expected that COVID-19 will continue to impact the ability to
deliver events through 2020 –21, though it is hoped that within COVID-19 safe guidelines, events may recommence during the year
albeit with heavily reduced audience sizes.
Outcome 3.6 We are an active and healthy community
Measure: Percentage of people who make daily trips by walking
Council encourages residents to lead active and healthy lives and provides sporting facilities and recreation opportunities for both
residents and visitors. Through the City's Active Transport Plan, Council is investing in significant active travel projects including
city-wide active transport network, footpath upgrades and green bridge construction as well as behaviour change programs such as
Active School and Workplace Travel programs.
The most recent results in 2018 –19 for the percentage of people who make daily trips by walking has reduced from 9.2% in 2016 to
7.8%. The current result has been drawn from a small sample size of 800 residents (Household Travel Survey ). It is possible that the
limitations of the sample size may have impacted the result as well as no visitor and non-resident data.
Measure: Percentage of Gold Coast City adult residents who meet the National Physical Activity Guidelines
While the percentage of City of Gold Coast adult residents undertaking sufficient activity to meet the National Physical Activity
Guidelines has improved since 2009 –10 (57.6%), the latest available data (2017–18) was 63%, which is below the baseline of
64.1% in 2013 –14.
With this upward trend since 2009 –10, it is important to note that this data is based on self-reported heath status, which can be
impacted by sampling variability and survey timing. The proportion of adults on the Gold Coast undertaking sufficient physical activity
for a health benefit is still higher than most other regional areas.
To achieve the 2022 target, a more targeted approach towards inactive people is required along with a citywide commitment to
ensuring the active and healthy message is communicated consistently. This includes greater targeting in the North and Central
regions as this target group will require an increased focus on physical activity and non-structured recreation, with more affordable
opportunities also being provided for seniors and young children.
Council also continues to invest in the delivery of active travel infrastructure and behaviour change in the community.
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SUPPORTING the delivery of Gold Coast 2022
Table 48: Progress towards SUPPORTING outcomes
Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022

Outcome
status

On track

Monitor

Performance measure

Action required
Measure
status

Rating for leadership
A We plan for the
future of the city

Asset renewal funding ratio
Leverage ratio
Operating surplus ratio
Debt service coverage
Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIF)

B We manage the
city responsibly

Partnering for performance participation rate (%)
Domestic collected waste disposed per household (kg per household per year)
Average duration of unplanned interruption – water (minutes)
Average Residential Rate Rise (ARRR)
Overall rating of customer service experience rated good or excellent

C We actively engage
residents, customers
and visitors

Level of participation in City community engagement
Online submission of customer requests via forms and apps
Percentage of notices (rates and water) provided to ratepayers online

Note: *Refer to Chapter 6 Community Financial Report for information on financial ratios

Exception based commentary on measures assessed as ‘Action required’ is presented below:
Outcome B We manage the city responsibly
Measure: Average duration of unplanned interruption – water (minutes)
Council always works quickly to restore water service for both planned interruptions due to scheduled maintenance and renewals as
well as unplanned interruptions from water main bursts and leaks. The 2019– 20 result of 141 minutes is higher than the 2016 baseline
of 119.7 minutes in 2016 and greater than the desired target range of <130 minutes. This increase can be attributed to a prolonged
period of dry weather in the first half of 2019–20 which causes pipe cracking, followed by significant wet weather events in January
and February. Council does everything possible to reduce the impact on customers, including the provision of water supply from water
tankers, delivery of bottled water and timely communications by Customer Liaison Officers.
Measure: Operating surplus ratio
A negative operating result was recorded in 2019 – 20 due to reduced revenue from services impacted by COVID-19. Council
suspended parking charges and infringements and Tourist Parks were heavily impacted by reduced tourism. Commercial water rates
were lower due to businesses being shut down.

Annual Report
The Annual Report is a legislative accountability document adopted annually by the elected Council. It provides a comprehensive
annual review of the activity of Council and includes a performance report of the City Operational Plan, Corporate Plan and Community
Financial Report (including the audited financial statements).
Council was recognised for its 2018 –19 Annual Report at the 2019 Australasian Reporting Awards, winning the Gold Award for
Excellence in Reporting.
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Other performance reports
Other Council reports include:
State of the Organisation Report
The State of the Organisation Report is an annual report
provided to the elected Council which provides an analysis
of organisational performance in key management areas
supporting effective corporate governance.
Value for Money Report
The Value for Money Report is an annual report provided to
the elected Council which provides a progress report against
initiatives identified in the Value for Money Program as well as
identifying the plan for the year ahead.
Council continued to progress a program of work to deliver
better value for money outcomes. The Value for Money Program
includes initiatives providing value for money as a result of
customer service improvements, business efficiency, risk
mitigation, revenue generation and cost savings.

5.4.3 Program and project management
Council plans and delivers a significant number of programs and
projects on an annual basis, supporting the delivery of priorities,
key strategic plans and operational plans which support
business as usual Council services.
The importance of program and project delivery to Council
is demonstrated through the scale of key portfolios, such
as the Infrastructure Portfolio (investment in 487 initiatives
worth $475.7 million) and the Business Improvement Portfolio
(investment in 111 initiatives worth $47.1 million).
Council’s Organisational Capability Framework includes portfolio,
program and project management as staff competencies (where
relevant to roles) and training and development activities were
provided to support organisational capability.
The implementation of the single Enterprise Portfolio, Program
and Project Management System for Council continued. This
system has been designed to support end to end project
management and meet the needs of the organisation.
Key benefits of the new system include information timeliness,
consistency and accuracy, improved project management
functionality and mobility capability. As all directorates transition,
this system will provide a single source of truth and improved
enterprise project management and performance reporting
capability for portfolio, program and project management for
the organisation.

5.4.4 Our workforce
Code of Conduct for employees
In accordance with section 23 of the Public Sector Ethics
Act 1994, Council employees are bound by the standards of
behaviour set out in Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees

(the Code). The Code, along with related policies, defines the
standards and behaviours that are required of all employees,
with the latest version of the Code in effect since April 2015.
Agreeing to work in compliance to the Code is a mandatory
requirement of all positions, in 2017–18 eLearning was
developed and deployed making it easier for employees to
complete timely training and testing to ensure they understand
their responsibilities to adhere to the Code.
The Act sets out the way in which a local government is
constituted and the nature and extent of its responsibilities
and powers. Chapter 1, section 4 (2) of the Act requires that
a council’s actions are consistent with the following local
government principles:
• transparent and effective processes, decision-making in the
public interest
• sustainable development and management of assets and
infrastructure, delivery of effective services
• democratic representation, social inclusion and meaningful
community engagement
• good governance of, by, local government and
• ethical and legal behaviour of councillors and local
government employees.
These legislated principles, together with Council’s corporate
values, form the basis of the Code. They apply to all employees
and guide our thinking, actions and decision-making.
The objective of the Code is to provide a set of standards and
behaviours related to the way we do our work. It aims to deliver
high quality, sustainable outcomes by ensuring those standards
are clear and guided by sound ethics and good decisionmaking. By consistently applying these standards, we enhance
public trust and confidence.
Understanding the Code and the responsibilities it outlines is
a mandatory requirement for all employees. During Council’s
corporate on-boarding and induction process, every employee
is deployed Code of Conduct eLearning with mandatory
completion required within the first 21 days of employment
to ensure they understand their responsibilities to the Code
and related policies. Further to this, completion of refresher
eLearning is compulsory to ongoing employees every two
years, with extra face to face training and awareness sessions
provided as required.
To ensure the Code remains aligned to Council’s contemporary
operating environment, including the challenges of COVID-19
and the increased utilisation of flexible work arrangements, the
Code will be comprehensively reviewed within 2020 –21. This
activity will be led by the Executive Leadership Team and involve
a broad, cross-functional representative stakeholder group.
View Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/codeofconductforemployees
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Inclusion and diversity
Embracing diversity, inclusion and equal employment
opportunity is integral to Council achieving its goal of creating
equity in the workplace and in recognising that all employees
make a valuable contribution to the organisation. Through the
implementation of the Inclusion and Diversity Plan (I & D Plan)
2018–2020, Council is committed to providing a workplace
that is free from discrimination and harassment and provides
equal employment opportunities for current and prospective
employees. By removing barriers to participation, it is envisaged
that employees will be better able to achieve their full potential
thereby improving Council’s efficiency and service delivery.
The objectives in the 2018–2020 I & D Plan include:
• Promoting gender equality – Council continues to
promote gender equality, particularly by working to increase
the number of female apprentices in trade positions across
Council, with 25% of our current apprentices being female.
• Traineeships – Council’s traineeship programs have offered
opportunities to a total of 25 trainees, comprising 14 female
and 11 male trainees across various vocational qualifications.
A total of 560 applications were received encompassing
direct applications through Council channels and through
external partnerships. A total of 31% of applicants identified
as Indigenous Australians, 12% as people with a disability
and 1% Australian Defence Force Veterans.
• Indigenous employment – Based on recruitment data
during the financial year:
– 1.56% of all applicants identified as
Indigenous Australians.
– 50 of current Council employees identify as Indigenous
Australians (1.18% of Council’s total workforce).
– 5% of Council apprentices identify as
Indigenous Australians.
– 40% of Council trainees identify as Indigenous Australians,
three of whom have gained ongoing employment with
Council post completion of their traineeship.
• Removing barriers to access for persons with a
disability – Council has registered as an employer of
choice for persons with a disability with JobAccess which
advertises Council vacancies via the Federal Government
JobAccess website. JobAccess distributes vacancies to all
Disability Employment Service (DES) providers registered
with the Australian Government. Our recruitment platform
also included a specialist portal where DES providers can
upload client details directly for consideration by our Hiring
Managers. Further, 20% of the trainee cohort identify as a
‘Person with Disability’.
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• Domestic and Family Violence – In February 2020,
Council successfully launched the Domestic and Family
Violence Awareness Learning campaign to ensure all
employees knew where to find resources and information
about Domestic and Family Violence. This was built on the
‘Recognise, Respond and Refer’ methodology. Council
will continue to support this important piece of learning
and education.
• Ex Defence Force Personnel – Council has created a
dedicated job application portal in the recruitment system
where Defence Force support agencies can directly
upload applicant details. Currently Council has 69 staff
who identify as Ex Defence Force Personnel, making up
1.75% of Council’s total workforce. The current cohort of
trainees boasts one trainee who identifies as an Ex Defence
Force member, is undertaking a Certificate II in Information
Technology traineeship.

People Plan
Council has a People Plan which commits to supporting
each person in being successful in their role. The People Plan
is focused on investing in our people and is driven by three
key themes:
• realising employee potential
• partnering for high performance
• creating meaningful career pathways.
Through the People Plan, Council will implement a broad suite
of programs that are integrated and focus on delivering better
outcomes for our people. The deep embedding of our values
across the organisation complements and supports the People
Plan. Support activities include:
• Corporate embedding of our values commences at the point
of recruitment where candidates are assessed against our
values through behavioural questions.
• At corporate induction, we walk new employees through
our values via a series of exercises so they can gain an
understanding of associated behaviours and how the values
may align or be reflective of their own personal values. All
employees undertake a variety of eLearning including policy
related training such as ‘Good Working Relationships’ to
further enhance their understanding of our corporate values
and expected behaviours.
• Upon appointment a partnering for performance plan
called a ‘50:50’ is created between a new employee and
their line leader to define how the values are expected to
be demonstrated, goals that are to be achieved, expected
competency levels to perform their role and any development
identified to strengthen performance. This is reviewed and
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commented against monthly highlighting achievements and
challenges to be focused on, with a final close out at the
end of each financial year. A new 50:50 is then set at each
new financial year to give employees clarity on expectations.
eLearning is also deployed cyclically to reinforce
understanding and commitment to our values.
• Directorates across Council ground project deliverables
by embedding the values in the objectives of the projects.
Further they use visual management tools to promote the
values and acknowledge high performers, through various
reward and recognition programs.
• People and Culture provide masterclasses for branches that
are undergoing change, for example ‘Engaging Values in
Change’ is delivered for whole teams to align effectiveness
with the commitment to our values.
Through COVID-19, our values were brought to the fore as we
saw employees anticipating customer needs, working across
boundaries, being flexible, resilient and adaptable through
critical change, taking responsibility to work together to ensure
continuity of service to our community. Some examples of how
this played out were employees:
• being adaptable and resilient in being reassigned or taking
on more responsibility to ensure continuity of service of our
critical and essential services

Senior executive remuneration
Remuneration levels for our senior executives take into account
many factors including work value, the complexity of their
jobs and external independent market related benchmarks.
This ensures remuneration levels for senior executives are
appropriate and that we are well placed to retain and attract
executives with the skills necessary to help deliver value for
money services to the community.
Members of our senior executive staff are engaged under
fixed-term contracts which outline their remuneration packages.
As per section 201 of the Act, the remuneration ranges for
senior executives are as follows:
Table 49: Senior executive remuneration
Remuneration range ($)

Number of executives

300,001 – 400,000

5

400,001 – 500,000

1

600,001 – 700,000

1

Total

7

The total remuneration packages payable in 2019 – 20 to senior
management was $3,008,144.54.

• embracing new technology which was deployed in short
timeframes, so they could continue working collaboratively
and effectively no matter where they were working from
• proactively following safe work instructions, to ensure the
protection of the health and wellbeing of their colleagues
in the workplace
• that were instructed to work from home, ensuring that their
home work stations were conducive to a safe and productive
work environment
• working innovatively to design communication tools to go out
to the workforce to ensure messaging was clear and effective
such as: global communications with leave options for those
impacted by COVID-19, development of an online employee
hub and wellbeing hub with support resources, regular video/
conference calls to leaders to ensure the latest information
was shared.
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Employee overseas travel
Council’s Corporate Travel and Accommodation Policy governs employee domestic and international travel in an official capacity.
Overseas travel is required to be reported under section 188(1) and (2) of the Regulation.
The following provides the details of employee overseas travel as prescribed in section 188 of the Regulation.
Table 50: Employee overseas travel
Employee

Date

Destination

Purpose

Alton Twine

3/07/2019 to
26/07/2019

London /
Luasanne

23rd International Symposium on Transportation and Traffic Theory
(ISTT) and Business Meetings.

Director Transport
and Infrastructure

Cost ($)

10,951

The ISTT conference presented a significant opportunity to find
out about current traffic and transport research and developments
and how these may affect the city. In direct terms, this included
subjects such as: traffic control theory and methods, traffic flow
and pedestrian flow dynamics, on-demand services, integration
with technology, electric and hydrogen vehicles, light rail
operations and developments, ferry operations, ferry network
design and operations.
There are obvious benefits to Council in being aware of the
latest research and trends in traffic and transport. Apart from
the significant information concerning the latest research and
techniques for managing traffic congestion, the conference also
addressed ferry network design, energy efficient mobility systems,
ride-hailing systems and travel behaviour change.

Christopher Owen
Manager
Customer
Engagement
Craig Ford
Trade Start
Adviser

Dale Dickson
Chief Executive
Officer

David Orchard
Lifeguard
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9/09/2019 to
12/09/2019

Auckland

Assessment of new water billing and enterprise management
software system planning, implementation and associated
training at Watercare (water utility servicing Auckland and
surrounding areas).

2,349

24/01/2020 to
31/01/2020

Dubai

The Arab Health trade show held in Dubai in January 2020 is the
second largest health business trade show in the world. Council
supported seven local businesses to participate and sell their
products and services to the region from Australia’s Gold Coast
branded stand in the Australian pavilion. The 2020 event had
4250 exhibitors from 64 countries, more than 55,000 health trade
professionals attended over the four day event.

5,143

25/02/2020 to
13/03/2020

London /
Guernsey

Council of the City of Gold Coast Insurance Business Meetings.
Discussions regarding insurance program, liability and policy
coverage for a new fixed contract period for Council with London
Brokers and Reinsurance underwriting representatives. Attendance
at Captive Board meeting of the City of Gold Coast Insurance
Company in Guernsey.

12/07/2019 to
19/07/2019

Kanagawa,
Japan

Participant of the 2019 Outbound Kanagawa Lifeguard Exchange.
The exchange is to continue to provide support for the Kanagawa
Prefecture by sharing ideas and techniques in the interest of beach
safety which is mutually beneficial to the Prefecture and Council.

14,928

1,822
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Employee

Date

Destination

Purpose

Gabrielle Jones

18/10/2019 to
26/10/2019

Los Angeles

Attend Ausfilm Business Week to profile Gold Coast film industry,
undertake 20 US Studio and Broadcaster meetings and attend
industry networking sessions with US production companies,
studios and networks.

7,885

3/09/2019 to
7/09/2019

Singapore

International Built Environment Week 2019

3,672

24/01/2020 to
31/01/2020

Dubai

The Arab Health trade show held in Dubai in January 2020 is the
second largest health business trade show in the world. Council
supported seven local businesses to participate and sell their
products and services to the region from Australia’s Gold Coast
branded stand in the Australian pavilion. The 2020 event had
4250 exhibitors from 64 countries, more than 55,000 health trade
professionals attended over the four day event.

5,143

9/09/2019 to
12/09/2019

Auckland

Assessment of new water billing and enterprise management
software system planning, implementation and associated
training at Watercare (water utility servicing Auckland and
surrounding areas).

2,420

12/07/2019 to
19/07/2019

Kanagawa,
Japan

Participant of the 2019 Outbound Kanagawa Lifeguard Exchange.

1,822

3/09/2019 to
7/09/2019

Singapore

International Built Environment Week 2019

18/08/2019 to
21/08/2019

Auckland

Film and
Television Adviser
Ian Hatton
Chief Innovation
and Economy
Officer
Jacqueline
Donoghue

Also arranged meetings with Singapore Government agencies,
Singapore Tourism Board, local economic development agency,
the Singapore water utility.

Trade Start
Adviser

Karen Rawle
Manager Business
Performance
Luke Ingwersen
Lifeguard

Nishant Tandon
Executive
Coordinator
Devices and
Systems
Paul Heaton
Director Water
and Waste

Cost ($)

The exchange is to continue to provide support for the Kanagawa
Prefecture by sharing ideas and techniques in the interest of beach
safety which is mutually beneficial to the Prefecture and Council.
3,727

Also arranged meetings with Singapore Government agencies,
Singapore Tourism Board, local economic development agency,
the Singapore water utility.

Total

Action 2030 Watercare Conference

1,980

Watercare’s Water 2030 looks a decade ahead to understand how
our organisations will need to adapt to become more resilient in the
face of disruptive change and the rapidly evolving nature of work
and the workforce.
61,842

View the Corporate Travel and Accommodation Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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5.4.5 Work health and safety
Council maintains a proactive health and safety first
culture ensuring that ‘Work health and safety is everyone’s
responsibility’ through its Work Health and Safety Policy. Health
and safety risks associated with work activities are managed
through Council’s Work Health and Safety Management System
(WHSMS), which follows the principles and framework of ISO
45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management
Systems and the requirements of the national self-insurer OHS
management system audit tool.
The WHSMS consists of 14 integrated core elements. Each
element fulfils a specific requirement within the WHSMS and is
supported by procedures and other documentation.
The WHSMS is reliant on and supported through demonstrated
leadership and commitment by Council’s senior management
team, to ensure the system is effectively implemented
throughout the organisation and that health and safety risks are
eliminated or controlled so far as reasonably practicable. Council
provides appropriate forums for consultation and cooperation on
work health and safety matters which is facilitated through the
WHS Advisory Committee who provides support and advice to
Executive Leadership Team and drives WHS in Council.
Functional activities committees provide support and advice
to the WHS Advisory Committee and directorate safety
committees and discuss similar issues that affect Council.
Directorate committees provide workers with an opportunity to
raise health or safety issues and to contribute to the decisionmaking process relating to health and safety matters.
The Corporate Three Year Work Health and Safety (WHS)
Strategic Plan provides a road map for Council to proactively
manage the hazards and critical safety risks associated with
its operations and strive to provide a workplace free of risks
to safety and health. The strategy outlines key initiatives that
contribute to reinforcing organisation leadership, building a
positive culture, whilst focusing on management of key health
and safety risks.
A review of the Corporate Three Year WHS Strategic Plan was
undertaken by an external specialist health and safety consultant
with consideration of leading and preferred WHS practice,
in addition to contemporary approaches to organisational
WHS strategy.
The review found the strategic plan was considered to be
a sound and measured approach to achieving Council’s
nominated Work Health and Safety objectives and
recommended that Council also utilise the national WHS
strategy to provide a sound blueprint for areas to further
build upon and incorporate into the WHS strategy, focusing
on healthy and safe by design, supply chain and network,
leadership and culture, health and safety capabilities and
research and evaluation.
Communication and consultation is essential to the successful
management of health and safety. Based upon feedback from
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Council workers and to ensure a more inclusive decision-making
process, various WHS committees and forums have been
involved in the development of the initiatives to create ownership

Critical safety risks
In 2019, Council identified and developed a critical safety
risk framework to raise awareness of high risk activities and
minimum controls.
Critical Safety Risks (CSR’s) set out simple controls covering
activities with the highest potential safety risk. These risks are
created from industry lessons learnt and have been put in place
to ensure consistent behaviours are followed to prevent the kind
of incidents that could result in a serious injury or fatality.
Each directorate WHS committee was required to identify
key critical safety risks and minimum controls within their
Directorates. After these were established, a minimum of one
representative per directorate participated in a workshop to
develop the CSR’s and to consolidate the findings with the
representatives, with the Safety Leadership Group providing
subject matter advice around critical controls.
Safety leadership assessments of Council director’s compliance
with Due Diligence obligations as outlined in Section 27 Work
Health and Safety Act 2011 were undertaken by a highly
experienced workplace lawyer specialising in all areas of health
and safety law to identify gaps in compliance with Council
Officers (directors) due diligence obligations. Delivery in a oneon-one audit-style format enabled examination of how each
individual senior officer was exercising his or her obligations in a
practical way to support Council to meet work health and safety
obligations. The questions and answer process highlighted the
level of compliance with requirements, including acquisition of
work health and safety knowledge, understanding of operational
risks and hazards, processes and resources to eliminate or
minimize risk and legal compliance.

Continual improvement of Work Health and
Safety management system
As part of the measurement and evaluation of Council’s health
and safety management system and the mid-term self-insurance
audit program, 11 internal preparation audits were scheduled
between January 2020 and June 2020, however
as a result of COVID-19, only five audits were completed.
The remaining audits are scheduled for August-November
2020. The completed audit findings have been applied to
address areas of improvement across the organisation.

Work Health and Safety performance monitoring
Ongoing reporting and trending of the organisations WHS
performance and current risk picture was conducted at quarterly
intervals throughout the year via various mechanisms including
quarterly WHS reports, monthly reports to the CEO and the
WHS Management Review.
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Improving the wellbeing and support
of injured workers
Council’s Immediate Injury Management Program, which
includes a 24 hour Injury Hotline, has continued to be successful
throughout the organisation. Appointed medical and allied health
services continue to provide high quality care for our workers.
Following the successful continuation of the health check
program, which is a free voluntary 20 minute health check
delivered by Council’s occupational health nurse aimed at
encouraging workers to become more aware of and engaged
in their health and wellbeing, a mobile clinic was designed and
purchased to enable greater access to those workers in the
field and allowing them a better opportunity to participate in the
health check program and flu vaccination campaign.
Over the financial year 1834 flu vaccinations were administered
and 328 health checks were conducted, which is a significant
increase on the previous year.
The ongoing program of legislated medical assessments for
exposure to hazardous substances, environment and also preemployment screening was successfully completed throughout
the year. This includes the audiometric (hearing) testing and
commercial driver medicals as part of the verification of
competency program.
The assessment provides workers with a snapshot of their
current state of health and provides recommendations for
any issues identified, so workers can follow up with their
general practitioner.
View the Work Health and Safety Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

Alcohol and other Drugs Program
Council’s Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) Program has continued
throughout the year and is aimed at addressing risks associated
with alcohol and/or other drugs in the workplace while providing
education, awareness and support services where required.
During the year, 2198 tests were conducted during the
random testing program utilising breath alcohol and oral mouth
swab testing methods and 76 training and education sessions
were conducted.

Corporate protective security
The Protective Security Policy protects Council’s workforce,
assets and information and provides safeguards across Council
that are consistent and appropriate to the nature and level of
security threat.
Council’s approach to security is aligned to the Australian
Government Attorney-General’s ‘Protective Security Policy
Framework’ for government organisations and the resulting
Protective Security Policy has been endorsed by the elected
Council with security standards established to ensure a
consistent risk-based level of protection and governance.

In order to achieve effective protection of people, assets
and information, Council has developed a comprehensive
understanding of the organisation’s security risks and increased
the level of security awareness through increased engagement
across Council and awareness eLearning program plus
establishing closer relationships with the Queensland Police
Service and Security and Counter Terrorism Command.
Council increased its capacity to undertake vulnerability
assessments of assets, including comprehensive protective
security risk reviews, targeted security audits, active armed
offender audits, security in design reviews and security
inspections. Council has developed and implemented strategies
that promote the most effective and efficient mechanisms
to secure the continued delivery of Council’s business, while
maintaining a high level of confidence that security risks are
effectively managed.
Council has also established a Protective Security Working
Group which provides a forum for key stakeholders and
subject matter experts to meet and address emerging risks,
security threats, vulnerabilities and work collegially to manage
key security interdependencies. Council engages a number of
external expert security consultants to ensure that the approach
to security risk management is both effective and consistent
with leading practices.
View the Protective Security Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

5.4.6 Complaints
Administrative action complaints
The Complaints (Administrative Actions) Policy and Procedures
provide a process for managing complaints about Council’s
actions and decisions. All complaints are assessed, including
anonymous complaints.
The complaints process consists of three steps. The first step is
to attempt to resolve the complaint as the first point of contact.
If that is not possible, the complainant may wish to proceed to
the second step, which is a preliminary review. The third step
of the process occurs if the complainant is dissatisfied with the
outcome of the preliminary review and chooses to request a final
review by a designated complaints officer.
If a complainant is dissatisfied at the conclusion of the
complaints process, he or she is advised of organisations
which may provide an external review such as the Queensland
Ombudsman, the Energy and Water Ombudsman Queensland,
the Office of the Information Commissioner, or the Queensland
Civil and Administrative Tribunal.
Council is committed to ensuring that administrative action
complaints are dealt with fairly and seeks to use information
obtained via the complaints process to improve our
overall service delivery. Council was able to finalise 95% of
administrative action complaints received this financial year.
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The following table provides a breakdown of the administrative action complaints received and finalised by Council this year as well as
those that remain unresolved from the previous year, as required by section 187 of the Regulation.
Table 51: Administrative action complaints
Number of complaints
Complaints from
2018/2019 that remain
unresolved as at
30 June 2019

Complaints received
during 2019 –2020 FY

Complaints finalised
during 2019–2020 FY

Complaints from
2019 – 20 that remain
unresolved as at
30/06/2020

Office of the CEO

1

5

4

2

Office of the Chief Operating Officer

0

3

3

0

Economy, Planning and Environment

0

3

0

3

Lifestyle and Community

0

17

17

0

Organisational Services

0

27

24

3

Transport and Infrastructure

0

11

11

0

Water and Waste

1

34

33

1

Total

2

100

92

9

Directorate

View the City of Gold Coast Complaints (Administrative Actions) Policy and Procedures
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

Competitive neutrality complaints
Council provides a large range of services to the community. In some cases, services provided by Council may compete, or have the
potential to compete, with services provided by the private sector. While Council does not generally provide services for commercial
or profit making reasons, legislation identifies these activities as business activities and Council must consider the issue of competitive
neutrality. Competitive neutrality requires that government business activities should not enjoy a net competitive advantage over their
private sector competitors simply by virtue of public sector ownership.
Details of Council business activities can be found in the notes to the Financial Statements in Chapter 6.
A competitive neutrality complaint is about the alleged failure of a local government to conduct a business activity in accordance with
the competitive neutrality principle and must be made by an affected person. Section 48 of the Act provides that a local government
must adopt a process for resolving competitive neutrality complaints.
Section 44 of the Regulation sets out the minimum requirements of the process. There must be the ability to resolve the matter
before a formal complaint is made, such as allowing an affected person to raise concerns about the alleged failure of a business
activity to comply with the competitive neutrality principle. The process must provide for a way to record all complaints, decisions,
and recommendations.
If the matter cannot be resolved, the complaint must be referred to the Queensland Productivity Commission (the QPC). The QPC
assesses the complaint and carries out an investigation if required. The QPC is obliged to give an investigation notice to Council prior
to any investigation.
Section 190(i) and (j) of the Regulation requires Council to provide a summary of investigation notices and Council responses to QPC
recommendations in the Annual Report. In the financial year ending 30 June 2020, Council did not receive any competitive neutrality
complaints. There are no outstanding investigations as at 30 June 2020.
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Penalty infringement notice reviews
A Penalty Infringement Notice (PIN) may be issued for non-compliance with certain laws and regulations; for example, a PIN may be
issued for breach of a parking regulation. All requests received by Council to review PINs are assessed and determined in accordance
with Council’s PIN Review Policy.
Council continues to use PINs efficiently and effectively as one of a number of mechanisms to achieve compliance outcomes.
The following table summarises the PINs issued, reviewed and waived during the year.
Table 52: Penalty infringement notices
Number of PINs
Type of PIN

City Parking

Issued 2019 –20

Review request

Involving officer
complaints

Waived 2019–20

137,552

20,291

Not reported

9,499

1,115

148

4

50

55

31

Not reported

3

629

192

1

28

15

3

Not reported

3

9

1

0

0

139,375

20,666

5

9,583

Animal Management
Development Compliance
Environmental Health Compliance
(previously Health and Local Laws)
Plumbing and Drainage
Water and Waste
Total number of PINs

View the current City of Gold Coast Penalty Infringement Notice Review Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

Privacy complaints
The Information Privacy Act 2009 (the IP Act) regulates how Council manages an individual’s personal information. Council’s Legal
Services Branch investigates complaints from individuals who consider that Council has failed to fulfil its legislative obligations. Council
investigated 17 new privacy complaints; two complaints were carried over from June 2019. Of the 17 new complaints, 16 complaints
were resolved and one complaint was carried over for investigation in 2020–21.
Where an individual has reason to believe their personal information has been used in a way that is contrary to the IP Act, they
may make a complaint to Council to have the breach investigated. Where the complainant is dissatisfied with the response to
their complaint, they may refer the matter to the Queensland Office of the Information Commissioner (OIC). No information privacy
complaints were referred by a complainant to the OIC for review.
Table 53: Privacy complaints
Number of complaints
Outstanding
at 30/06/2016

Outstanding
at 30/06/2017

Outstanding
at 30/06/2018

Outstanding
at 30/06/2019

Received

Finalised

Outstanding
at 30/06/2020

1

0

2

2

17

18

1

Privacy complaints

View Information Privacy Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies
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Queensland Ombudsman complaints
The Queensland Ombudsman investigates complaints about the administrative actions and decisions of Queensland public sector
agencies that may be unlawful, unreasonable, unfair, improperly discriminatory or otherwise wrong. The Queensland Ombudsman
aims to give people a timely, effective, independent and just means of investigating public sector agencies and to improve the quality of
decision-making and administrative practice of these agencies.
The year represents the tenth consecutive year that there have been no findings of maladministration against Council by the
Queensland Ombudsman. Feedback received this year from the Queensland Ombudsman about the quality of Council’s internal
review process was positive. A downward trend in complaints per capita received by the Ombudsman about Council in recent years
has been noted.

Telecommunications services complaints
The Telecommunications (Consumer Protection and Service Standards) Act 1999 states that certain carriers and carriage service
providers must enter into the Telecommunications Industry Ombudsman (TIO) scheme. As Council became a telecommunications
carrier in July 2017, there is a requirement to be a member of the TIO scheme.
The TIO collects and reviews information about complaints provided by consumers and service providers; and provides analysis to the
community, regulators, government and the telecommunications industry about matters that impact consumers. The TIO also analyses
this information to identify trends and systemic issues, to inform areas for improvement and to assist with addressing the root causes of
consumer complaints.
Council did not receive any TIO complaints for the financial year.

Energy and water services complaints
The Energy and Water Ombudsman Queensland (EWOQ) provides an independent dispute resolution service for customers of
Queensland’s energy and water providers. Council receives two types of referrals:
1. Referral to Higher Level
The EWOQ may choose to refer a complaint to the Office of the Chief Executive Officer. The referral gives Council the opportunity to
investigate and resolve the customer’s complaint without the need for an EWOQ investigation.
2. Notice of Investigation
If the EWOQ decides to carry out its own investigation of a complaint, a Notice of Investigation (NOI) is sent to Council.
The NOI contains a brief description of the customer’s complaint, accompanied by an information request to assist the EWOQ
in their investigation. At the conclusion of the investigation, the EWOQ issues a decision notice and may make orders if the
complaint is upheld.
Council joined the EWOQ scheme in January 2011. Since that time, there have not been any complaints upheld, nor orders issued,
against Council.
Table 54: Energy and water ombudsman complaints
Number of complaints
Outstanding at
30/06/2017

Outstanding at
30/06/2018

Outstanding at
30/06/2019

Received

Finalised

Outstanding at
30/06/2020

Refer to Higher Level

0

0

0

8

8

0

Notice of Investigation

1

2

2

19

21

0

Type
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5.4.7 Access to information
The Right to Information Act 2009 (the RTI Act) and the IP Act
provide the community with access to Council held information
balanced by appropriate protection for an individual’s privacy.
The public can apply for access to documents held by Council,
subject to statutory exemptions, unless it is contrary to the
public interest to provide that information. The legislation allows
individuals to apply for amendments to be made to documents
concerning their personal affairs, where it is believed the
information is incomplete, out of date, inaccurate or misleading.
The Right to Information and Information Privacy Unit dealt with
157 requests. Applicants dissatisfied with the response to their
requests can have matters referred to a person independent
of the Right to Information and Information Privacy Unit. Three
applications were made for independent review. As at 30 June
2020, one application was finalised and two remain in progress.
View the Right to Information and Information Provision Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

5.4.8 Other statutory information
Council registers
In accordance with section 190 of the Regulation, the following
is a list of the registers kept by Council;
• Administrative action complaints
• Animal Control Area Register
• Asset register non-current physical assets
• Awarded contracts
• Backflow devices
• Business activities to which the competitive neutrality
principle applies
• City Contracting Plan
• Conflicts of Interest
• Corporate Risk Register (includes controls)
• Cost recovery fee register
• Councillor conduct register
• Designation register
• Discretionary Funds
• Electoral gifts
• Excluded Park Register - Commercial fitness activities

• Local Law Register
• Pre-qualified suppliers
• Private certifier application register
• Register of delegations
• Register of fees and charges
• Register of interests
• Register of resolutions related to land liable to flooding
• Road maps and register.

Cooperation between local governments
Section 190(1)(d)(i)-(ii) of the Regulation requires the Annual
Report to contain details of any action taken for and expenditure
on a service, facility or activity:
(i) supplied by another local government, under an agreement
for conducting a joint government activity and
(ii) for which the local government levied special rates or
charges for the financial year.
There are no details to report under this section for 2019– 20.

Invitation to change tenders
Section 190(e) of the Regulation requires details to be
provided on the number of invitations to change tenders
under section 228(7).
Council resolved (ex Minute GA16.0602.007) that from 1 July
2016 it will operate under Part 2, Chapter 6 of the Regulation
(Strategic Contracting Procedures), where there is no longer a
requirement to invite changes to tenders under section 228(7).

Valuation of non-current physical assets
Section 185(b) of the Regulation requires that the Annual Report
contain a list of any resolutions made during the year setting
the amount for each type of non-current physical asset below
which the value of an asset of the same type must be treated
as an expense.
There were no resolutions made during the year to amend
the financial threshold for recognising non-current physical
assets. All amounts below the financial threshold were
treated as an expense.
View the Non-Current Asset Accounting Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/policies

• Exemption Certificate Register
• Infrastructure Charges Register (ICR)
• Land record
• Local Heritage Register
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5.5 ENGAGING RESIDENTS, CUSTOMERS AND VISITORS
Engaging with the community
Community engagement refers to any process that involves
the community or stakeholder groups in problem-solving or
decision-making affecting the community. The requirement for
“meaningful community engagement” is identified in the Act
(Chapter 1, section 4, (2)(c)) as a local government principle.
Engaging the community in decision-making enables better
outcomes for both the community and the elected Council.
It offers different perspectives on a project and allows for
concerns, risks, opportunities and potential solutions to be
identified which leads to more informed decision-making and
mutual benefits. Decisions and actions are enhanced as a
result of community engagement.
Council is committed to:
• actively engaging the community in building a sustainable city
• improving understanding of community’s needs
• improving responses to community’s needs
• providing the community with the opportunity to have a say
about decisions that affect their lives.
Council undertakes community engagement guided by the
International Association of Public Participation (IAP2) core
values and principles. The following five principles guide
community engagement activities.
Working together for the city – residents will understand how
and when to provide ideas, views and feedback to Council.
A continual city dialogue is encouraged where all members of
the Gold Coast community work together for the benefit of the
city, shared outcomes and desired future.

// Gold Coast Oceanway, Miami.
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Providing good information – residents will be informed
about issues, services, plans, strategies and decisions that may
affect them or the future development of the city. Information
will be provided in an objective, relevant and accessible way so
everyone has the opportunity to be meaningfully engaged.
Listening carefully – community views and feedback are
respected and will be considered when decisions are being
made about city issues or future direction.
Ensuring transparency – the community’s role in the
community engagement process, the outcome of the
community engagement and how this has shaped the city’s
future and informed decision-making will be transparent with
information and engagement evaluation published in a timely
manner and easily accessible to residents.
Maintaining personal privacy – all personal information
held by or under the control of Council will be collected and
managed in accordance with the Information Privacy Principles
prescribed by the IP Act.

Community engagements
Council seeks to actively engage the community, enabling
residents, customers and visitors to help shape important
decisions affecting the city.
During the financial year, Council engaged residents in 16
formal engagements. This is a reduction on previous years
engagements, as COVID-19 restrictions meant that community
engagement largely ceased from March 2020 to the end of
the financial year.
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Major engagements during the year included:
Customer Experience Strategy – this was the most popular
engagement with 5989 responses. 31.9% of respondents
identified that they were “extremely” likely to speak positively
about their experience with Council and the top two most
preferred methods of interacting with Council were email
(48.9%) and online self-service (46.4%).
Surfers Paradise Master Plan – a total of 1007 participants
engaged with the survey, ideas tool or provided an additional
submission. 46.4% of respondents identified that they were
“somewhat” or “very unsatisfied” with the Surfers Paradise
Precinct and the top three reasons for visiting Surfers Paradise
included dining, events and entertainment.
Pizzey Park Master Plan – a total of 817 participants
engaged with the survey or provided an additional submission.
Shelter and BBQ spaces were identified by participants as
highest priority for the Central Hub and celebration lawn. The
preservation of open space and natural areas was the highest
priority for the general Master Plan improvements
Other engagements included Culture Counts (1465 responses),
Our City (1203 responses) along with Local Law Amendments,
Investigation Areas, Gold Coast Libraries and Water
Netserv Plan.
In relation to engagement arrangements, Council established
a City Panel in 2015 –16 to provide an easy, online mechanism
to support engagement. It consists of an open, online group
of Gold Coast residents and visitors who have registered to
provide views on a wide range of topics and decisions that

affect the community. City Panel membership grew by over
3000 members, with 29,816 members at the end of June 2020.
City Panel activity included:
• 71,216 total visitors to a project page (Aware)
• 30,586 total visitors who undertook and activity on the
project page (Informed)
• 9340 total visitors who completed a survey (Engaged)
A highlight for the year was Council winning the IAP2 Australasia
Core Values Award in the Environment category, for our Koala
Conservation community engagement.
The protection and conservation of the Gold Coast koala
population and their natural habitats were identified as key
objectives for Council. This included the development of a Koala
Conservation Plan with a multi-staged community engagement
framework central to the development of the Plan.
Methodologies included tried and tested engagement methods
as well as innovative approaches including: Virtual Reality
koala surgical educational videos shown to school groups
and community forums; community education events; online
community hubs with koala news, sightings and photo upload
opportunity; key partnerships and drone photography of koalas;
positive media stories; and koala food and tree planting.
View the GC Have Your Say page
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/haveyoursay
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Engaging with stakeholders
Council has a broad range of stakeholders who we engage with in a variety of ways.
Stakeholders

When are they engaged?

How are they engaged?

Residents and ratepayers

Community wide issues such as the City Budget.

• Rates notices
• Community meetings
• Social and traditional media
• Information sessions
• Surveys
• City channels (e.g. websites)
• Newsletters and flyers

Community groups
and committees

Relevant groups or committees (including volunteers)
with an interest or particular connection to the
project/issue.

• Advisory committees
• Focus/working groups
• Meetings
• Discussion forums (face-to-face and online)
• Interviews

Specific target groups

Segments of local residents that may be targeted based
on characteristics that are connected to or important for
the project (e.g. expertise, age, background or location).

• Discussion forums (face-to-face and online)
• Focus/working groups
• Advisory committees
• Interviews
• Newsletters and flyers
• Surveys

Local businesses

Projects regarding the business needs of the community
or issues that may impact local businesses.

• Focus/working groups
• Social media
• City channels (e.g. websites)
• Interviews
• Advisory committee
• Newsletters and flyers
• Surveys

Service users

School parents, park and recreational users, travelling
public, contractors or suppliers, investors, visitors, library
and sport facility users.

• Social and traditional media
• Local events
• Feedback forums
• Newsletters and flyers
• Information sessions
• Surveys

Cultural and religious groups

Projects regarding cultural/religious beliefs of the
community, matters of significance and/or sensitivities.

• Discussion forums (face-to-face and online)
• Focus/working groups
• Advisory committees
• Interviews

City Panel

A registered panel of engaged community-wide residents.
The panel can be segmented for targeted engagements.

• Surveys
• Electronic direct mail
• Online discussion forums
• GC have your say

Governments and
partner organisations

Projects related to state and federal services, legislation,
funding, economies of scale, or the operations of partner
organisations/entities

• Formal reporting
• Partnerships
• Formal information sessions/briefings
(group and one-to-one)
• Networking events
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// My account activation.

Customer services
Council is continuing to actively develop and evolve the service
channels it offers, supporting customers to engage with us
through their preferred channel of choice. Current channels
include telephone, email, letter, face to face, website, mobile
app and web chat which was introduced in December 2019.
In October 2019, Council adopted a new Customer Experience
Strategy which aims to make life easier for residents, businesses
and visitors by focussing on service design, service channels,
technology, data (information) and people.
The peak periods occurred during the issue of rates notices
(January and July) and water notices that are issued periodically
throughout the year. This drove high volumes of customer
demand via telephone, email, via the Customer Service Centres,
which placed additional pressure on customer wait times during
these periods. Customers telephoning were offered a call back
option rather than waiting in a long queue.

There was an upward trend of online use across Council’s
website, eServices and City App with an 11% increase
compared to the previous year. Throughout the year and more
specifically during COVID-19 period, customers continued to
show their preference using Council’s digital services, specifically
the corporate website and eServices.
Council continued to promote online service functionality
across every voice, email, web chat and face to-face interaction
throughout the year which resulted in a significant uptake
of registered users for My Account. There are now 93,000
registered customers using this online service and as a result,
almost a third of all rates notices are now being sent via email.
Council also continues to ensure that all customer
information is managed in a way which respects and secures
all personal information.

The impact of COVID-19 on Customer Service Centres was
significant. Council worked quickly to adopt operational
changes for the centres to help protect the health and safety
of our employees and customers. In March, Council took the
unprecedented step to close six of the nine Customer Service
Centres and also transition to a cashless environment for the
three centres that remained open. Despite these changes, the
volume of interactions across traditional channels, (telephone,
email and face to face) was stable.
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GOLD
COAST
WATER

// Smales Park Restoration, Tallebudgera Valley.
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5.6 GOLD COAST WATER ANNUAL OPERATIONS
REPORT 2019 –20
Commercial business activity
Gold Coast Water provides customers with water and sewerage
services in the Gold Coast region and operates as a Commercial
Business Unit (CBU) within the Water and Waste Directorate
in accordance with the Regulation and Council Resolution
No. G11.1031.026.
A CBU conducts business by adhering to the key principles of
commercialisation, namely having:
• clarity of objectives
• management autonomy and authority (governance)
• accountability for performance
• competitive neutrality.

This multi-year project remains in delivery. The tunnel boring
machine reached the exit shaft on South Stradbroke Island on
27 May 2020, after tunnelling 1380m from Quota Park, Biggera
Waters. The project was extended to tunnel westwards from
Quota Park, Biggera Waters to O’Connell Park, Runaway Bay
to take advantage of the specialised equipment, resources and
significant project establishment required for this installation.
The 900m long Nerang River crossing was successfully installed
between Waterways Drive, Main Beach and Winchester Street,
Southport after a significant exercise including pulling the
pipeline through the Broadwater from its temporary laydown
area on The Spit.
Works will continue in 2020 – 21, with final completion expected
by March/April 2021.
Sandy Creek Industrial Precinct Sewer

Managing the city’s water
In accordance with the South East Queensland Water
(Distribution and Retail Restructuring) Act 2009, the primary
functions of Gold Coast Water are to:
• purchase and distribute water
• provide water and wastewater services to customers
• charge customers for relevant services
• manage customer enquiries, service requests and complaints
• perform functions relating to trade waste and seepage water
as a sewerage service provider
• perform planning and development assessment functions
under the Planning Act 2016
• anything else likely to complement or enhance a function
mentioned above – specifically, analytical laboratory services
directly to external customers.

Assessment of operations
The following summarises the major investments undertaken
in the financial year in line with the 2019 – 20 Annual
Performance Plan.
Long Term Recycled Water Release Plan Stage 1
The existing excess recycled water release system at the Seaway
is nearing capacity. The Long Term Recycled Water Release Plan
aims to provide a city wide solution to cater for excess recycled
water to support continued growth and economic development
of the city. Stage 1 consists of infrastructure upgrades that
increase capacity and allow incremental staging of the ultimate
solution to cater for both average and peak recycled water
release for the whole of the city.

This project consists of the construction of approximately
4km of new gravity mains, two new Sewerage Pump
Stations at Greyhound Road and Burnside Road, Stapylton
and approximately 1km of new rising mains and ancillary
infrastructure such as access roads to each pump station
located in the Stapylton Catchment Area as identified through
the Local Government Infrastructure Planning (LGIP) process.
This multi-year project remains in delivery. All major gravity line
and pressure main construction works are complete, with only
minor pipeline and pump station finalisation works remaining.
All pump station civil works at pump station DA11 and pump
station DA12 are now complete, including factory acceptance
testing of the pump station switchboard components.
Restoration and commissioning works are planned for
2020–21, with final completion expected by 31 October 2020.
Pimpama to Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant
Release Main
This project includes the design and construction of the first
stage of pipeline augmentation works required to transfer
excess recycled water from Pimpama Sewage Treatment
Plant to Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant. The proposed
infrastructure includes a new 1.67km pipeline from Coombabah
Creek to the storage lagoons at the Coombabah Sewage
Treatment Plant.
This multi-year project remains in delivery. 1.67km of recycled
water trunk main has been successfully constructed between
the Pimpama and Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plants.
All connection works are complete and the main has been
successfully commissioned. Works will continue in 2020 –21
on the Pimpama Sewage Treatment Plant pump controller,
with final completion expected by 31 August 2020.
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Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant Stage 6 Upgrade

Long Term Recycled Water Release Elanora

This project involves the upgrade of Coombabah Sewage
Treatment Plant to provide additional treatment capacity to cater
for growth and to meet licence requirements. The preferred
Stage 6 option involves approximately 120,000 Equivalent
Person (EP) augmentation utilising existing biological nutrient
removal technology. This includes a new Preliminary Treatment
Facility (PTF), new bioreactor and associated clarifiers,
disinfection system, waste sludge thickening and dewatering
and associated ancillary and support facilities.

The existing excess recycled water release system at the
Seaway is nearing capacity. The Long Term Recycled Water
Release Plan aims to provide a city wide solution to cater
for excess recycled water to support continued growth and
economic development of the city. The Elanora component
consists of pump station and pipeline upgrades from the
Elanora Sewage Treatment Plant.

Concept and preliminary design works were completed early in
the year. The tender process for early contractor involvement,
including technical workshops, was completed in the first half
of the year. Tender documents were issued to the preferred
tenderers in December 2019 and award of the construction
contract is expected in August 2020. Construction on this
multi-year project will commence as soon as practical following
contract award, with completion scheduled for 30 June 2023.
Stapylton Jacobs Well Rd Gravity Trunk Sewer
This developer delivered project involves the construction of
870m of DN450 gravity trunk sewer main to service Stapylton
Jacobs Well Road, Stapylton.
Although the developer has commenced the operational works
process, there has been little progress on the design of the trunk
sewer infrastructure. The timing of this activity is entirely dictated
by the developer. These works have been deferred to 2021–22.
Pimpama Sewage Treatment Plant (STP)
Stage 2 Works
This project involves the construction of the Pimpama Sewage
Treatment Plant Stage 2 works to accommodate for an
additional 71,300 equivalent person growth in the Pimpama
Catchment and diverted Stapylton Catchment area as
identified through the LGIP process. The major elements of the
recommended Stage 2 upgrade includes; inlet works expansion,
full phosphorus and nitrogen removal (Biological Nutrient
Removal) activated sludge process, sludge handling upgrade,
tertiary treatment to maintain existing water quality and recycled
water pump station upgrade.

This multi-year project remains in delivery. Detailed design works
continued and were completed in January 2020. The tender
process commenced in February, with tender site meetings held
in March 2020. Following requests from tenderers impacted by
COVID-19, the tender period was extended by eight weeks,
finally closing early in April 2020. The construction contract
for these works was awarded in June 2020, with construction
scheduled to commence in 2020–21. Final completion remains
scheduled by August 2021.
Elanora STP Digester A Sludge Heater Refurbishment
This project includes the refurbishment of digester A and
the replacement of gas pipework, railings, roof seal and
digester heaters at Elanora STP including cleaning and
opportunistic replacement of internal mechanical, electrical
and civil components.
This multi-year project remains in delivery. All internal digester
refurbishments have been completed, including the replacement
of the concrete roof with a fibre reinforced plastic roof. The
electrical switchboard extension was completed, however
further works including installation of new switchboards,
commissioning of equipment and programming / SCADA
integration with the treatment plant are ongoing. This project
will continue into 2020 – 21, with completion scheduled for
October 2020.

Preliminary design and contract documentation was completed
in the financial year, however the upgrade to Pimpama STP has
been deferred as the Staplyton catchment load will continue to
be transferred to Beenleigh.

// Long Term Recycled Water Release Pipe Pull, Main Beach.
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Table 55: Gold Coast Water key performance indicators

On track

Monitor

Action required

Annual target

Actual 2019-20

<3

0.97

<5

4.97

Percentage of priority one response time is achieved for water incidents
(% of priority one jobs responded to within two hours)

100%

94.4%

Percentage of priority one response time is achieved for sewerage incidents
(% of priority one jobs responded to within two hours)

100%

93.0%

10 mins

11 mins

5 mins

1min 23secs

Percentage of Energy Water Ombudsman Queensland requests responded to within
20 business days (%)

100%

96%

Percentage of customer satisfaction (%)

>90%

No result*

Within 10%

-24.26%

Within 5%

-0.6% (99.4%)

6.57%

0.84%

<120

141

<80

79

We ensure zero harm

Water quality complaints (number per 1000 properties)
We strive for satisfied customers

Total water and sewerage complaints to include water quality, water service and sewerage
service: (number per 1000 properties)

Average call handling time (minutes)
Average wait time (minutes)

*

We manage finances responsibly

Percentage of initial capital works program budget delivered (%)
Percentage of initial controllable expenditure budget spent (%)
Return on assets (%)
We deliver reliable services

Average duration of unplanned interruption – water (minutes)
Incidence of unplanned interruptions – water (per 1000 properties)
*Business decision to postpone the Customer Satisfaction Survey. Alternative data collection and measurement to be explored in 2020–21.

Changes made to Annual Performance Plan
No changes were made to the Annual Performance Plan during the financial year.

Council directions to Gold Coast Water
Council made the following directions to Gold Coast Water during the financial year:
• Council resolution G19.0326.022 – that the adopted infrastructure charges are adjusted so that there is a 100% discount for family
accommodation dwellings of 100m² Gross Floor Area (GFA) or less for any approvals issued on or after 1 July 2014 through the
remainder of this Council’s term.
Permanent changes to Adopted Infrastructure Charges Resolution (AICR):
1. Existing building: no infrastructure charges levied for any change in non-residential land use (ongoing).
2. Expansion: for non-residential land uses, up to an additional 50% of GFA or a maximum of 500m², whichever is the lower, will be
exempt from infrastructure charges (ongoing).
3. Family accommodation: no charge for family accommodation dwellings of 100m² GFA or less. Family accommodation dwellings
greater than 100m² GFA will be charged at 40% of the relevant AICR charge (ongoing).
4. Not-for-profit community groups: rebates for the water and wastewater networks will be restored, following the return of
responsibility to the City (ongoing).
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// Clean Up Australia Day, Tallebudgera Beach.
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5.7 GOLD COAST WASTE MANAGEMENT ANNUAL
OPERATIONS REPORT 2019–20
Commercial business activity

Assessment of operations

Gold Coast Waste Management provides customers with solid
waste collection and management services in the Gold Coast
region and operates as a Commercial Business Unit (CBU)
within the Water and Waste Directorate in accordance with the
Regulation and Council Resolution No. G97.1110.010.

The following summarises the major investments undertaken
in the financial year in line with the 2019–20 Annual
Performance Plan.

A CBU conducts business by adhering to the following key
principles of commercialisation:
• clarity of objectives
• management autonomy and authority (governance)
• accountability for performance
• competitive neutrality.

Managing the city’s solid waste
In accordance with the Waste Reduction and Recycling Act
2011, the primary functions of Gold Coast Waste Management
are to:
• promote waste avoidance and reduction and resource
recovery and efficiency actions
• reduce the consumption of natural resources and minimise
the disposal of waste by encouraging waste avoidance and
the recovery, re-use and recycling of waste
• minimise the overall impact of waste generation and disposal
• ensure a shared responsibility between government,
business and industry and the community in waste
management resource recovery
• support and implement national frameworks, objectives and
priorities for waste management and resource recovery.

Reedy Creek Landfill Cells 3 and 4
The Environmental Authority for the Reedy Creek Landfill
requires that all landfill cells have an appropriately designed and
constructed landfill liner system to provide adequate protection
against possible environmental impacts, such as contamination
of local ground water by landfill leachate. This project involves
staged construction of cells 3 and 4 at Reedy Creek landfill
including bulk earthworks, liner system and associated leachate
drainage system.
This multi-year project remains in delivery. Earthworks on the
floor of cells 3 and 4, the northern and eastern batter slopes and
the access road continues. Dewatering and desilting works on
the sediment basin have been completed. The geosynthetic clay
liner has been delivered to site, following a prolonged period
in-transit from Dubai. Works will continue into 2020–21 as
scheduled, with final completion due September 2020.
Stapylton Landfill Sediment Basin
This project involves the design of a stormwater sedimentation
basin to ensure the existing stormwater infrastructure at
Stapylton landfill is capable of managing stormwater runoff from
disturbed areas of the landfill so as to comply with the facility’s
Environmental Authority. Construction related to this project
will be undertaken with the construction of cells 7 and 8 at
Stapylton landfill.
This multi-year project remains in planning. Detailed design
works are complete. Construction has been deferred to coincide
with the construction of cells 7 and 8 in future years.
Waste and Recycling Centre Bin Bay Upgrades
This project involves the upgrade of bin bays at Helensvale to
address operational and safety concerns. The program of works
aims to eliminate manual handling issues associated with the
current configuration of bin flaps, minimise the risk of damage to
bin bay infrastructure and streamline the delivery and removal of
bulk bins within the facilities.
This multi-year project remains in delivery. Construction works
commenced with the completion of upgrades to bin bays 3 to
6 and 9 to 11. Bays 3 to 6 have reopened for customer use.
Construction works on the remaining bay upgrades, including
additional upgrading ground works, will carry over to 2020–21
with final completion scheduled for the end of August 2020.
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Stapylton Landfill Main Access Upgrade

WRC Weighbridge and Security Upgrade

This project involves upgrading the site entry road infrastructure
at Stapylton Landfill, including the installation of a new wheel
wash to enable improved traffic management and compliance
with environmental regulations.

This project proposes to renew and upgrade the Closed Circuit
Television (CCTV), bodycams and communications network at all
Waste and Recycling Centres (WRCs) and landfill weighbridges
to improve safety, security and operational outcomes.

This project was on hold for the first half of the year due to
design issues related to the wheel wash system. Detailed design
continued during the second half of the year. This multi-year
project will continue into 2020–21, with completion scheduled
for October 2020.

Site visits required to undertake audits of WRC and landfill
assets were delayed due to COVID-19 restrictions, which has
resulted in a realignment of schedule with construction works
deferred to 2020–21. These audit works are now complete.
Detailed design works will be conducted in the first half of
2020 –21, with construction expected to commence in the
second half of 2020–21. Works are expected to be completed
by June 2021.

Reedy Creek Landfill Sewer Connection
This project proposes to provide a permanent solution to
managing the leachate from the Reedy Creek Landfill as
a prudent alternative to the current costs of leachate transport
by tanker trucks and off-site treatment. The design and
construction of the sewerage infrastructure will transfer the
leachate from the Reedy Creek Landfill to the sewerage network.
This multi-year project remains in delivery. Pipe laying and
manhole construction works are ahead of schedule, however
delays are being experienced relating to the manufacture and
supply of the package pump station. Works will continue into
2020 –21 with completion scheduled for August 2020.
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Table 56: Gold Coast Waste Management key performance indicators

On track

Monitor

Action required

Annual target

Actual 2019 –20

<5

5

<0.5

0.1

<10 mins

6 mins 52 secs

<4 mins

1 min 35 secs

>90%

No result*

Within 10%

-45.13%

Within 5%

-9.1% (90.9%)

7.8%

3.96%

>48%

32.9%

<0.07%

0.063%

We ensure zero harm

Number of reportable environmental incidents to the regulator (count)
We strive for satisfied customers

Valid litter, odour, dust and noise complaints (number per 1000 households)
Average call handling time (minutes)
Average wait time (minutes)

*

Percentage of customer satisfaction (%)

We manage finances responsibly

Percentage of initial capital works program budget delivered (%)
Percentage of initial controllable expenditure budget spent (includes all operating expenses
except waste collection payments) (%)
Return on assets (%)
We deliver reliable services

Percentage of total waste recycled or recovered (%)
Percentage of missed collections from total services (%)

* Business decision to postpone the Customer Satisfaction Survey. Alternative data collection and measurement to be explored in 2020–21.

Changes made to Annual Performance Plan
No changes were made to the Annual Performance Plan during the financial year.

Council directions to Gold Coast Waste Management
There were no Council directions for Gold Coast Waste Management during the financial year.
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FINANCE
Chapter six provides the Community
Financial Report and audited Financial
Statements of Council for the year ended
30 June 2020.

CHAPTER 6 FINANCE

// Gold Coast skyline.

6.1 REPORT BY THE MANAGER CORPORATE FINANCE
In 2018, the Gold Coast came together for the Commonwealth
Games (GC2018) and demonstrated to the world that it had
come of age and was a place for people to live, work, visit and
stay. Two years on and no one could foresee the devastating
impact that COVID-19 would have throughout the world and
here on the Gold Coast.
Again, this is a time to come together, not in celebration,
but to overcome the challenges confronting the Gold Coast
community. Fortunately, Council’s focus on financial strength
and long-term financial sustainability has enabled it to be in a
position to respond to these difficulties.
This response includes:
• Community and Business Support Package 1
– immediate relief for business and community organisations
effective from March 2020 to June 2020.
• Community and Business Support Package 2
– to assist residents, businesses, community and sporting
organisations with COVID-19 impacts in 2020 –21.
• Economic Stimulus and Recovery Package
– targeted industry subsidies and investments and an
accelerated capital works program.

These measures include:
• principal place of residence ratepayer rebate of
$64 in 2020–21
• zero increase in water and sewerage charges in 2020–21
• deferral of special rates in key tourist and business
hubs in 2020– 21
• zero increase in the tourism and economic diversification
differential rates in 2020 –21
• waiving of various fees and charges in 2019 – 20 and
continuing into 2020 – 21
• immediate hardship relief programs
• targeted grants and support initiatives for community and
sporting organisations
• funding for investment attraction, events, tourism, economic
and other stimulus opportunities
• funding for an accelerated capital works program, including
the fast tracking of planning for Light Rail Stage 4.
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Key financial outcome
Despite the measures taken above, Council has maintained
the financial strength and capacity to deliver an uplifted capital
works program that will provide much needed infrastructure
for a growing population and help stimulate the economy. Over
the past 8 years, Council has been able to reduce debt by over
$200 million which allows it the capacity to fund an expanded
capital works program. The following is a summary of Council’s
key financial outcomes:
• the average owner occupied residential rates and charges
increase in 2019–20 was held at CPI and is -0.11% for
2020–21 inclusive of $64 rebate
• debt has remained at the same level as 2018 –19
i.e. $603.8 million, while cash, primarily set aside for
infrastructure projects, has decreased by $77.7 million as
a result of the spending associated with the delivery of the
capital works program
• employee costs increased by 5.3% due to the expanded
program of works and services.
• delivered infrastructure asset renewals to the value
of $159.3 million
• community equity grew by $225 million
• Queensland Treasury Corporation conducts a comprehensive
review of Council’s financial outlook for credit rating
purposes. The 2019 ratings remain as ‘sound’ with a
‘positive’ outlook.
• overall, the financial sustainability indicators are sound. The
operating surplus ratio is slightly down due to the additional
costs associated with the funding of the COVID-19 stimulus
and support packages. However, the net financial liabilities
ratio indicates that Council is in a very strong position to
borrow and repay debt.

Key initiatives
Council has delivered on key initiatives identified in the Annual
Plan for 2019 – 20, including:
• construction of the HOTA Art Gallery is on track for an
opening in early 2021, while the pedestrian bridge link to
Chevron Island was opened in early 2020
• Light Rail Stage 3 – Council is in the final stages of planning
of the light rail from Broadbeach to Burleigh Heads
• duplication of the bridge linking Isle of Capri to the Gold
Coast Highway has commenced
• expansion of Sundale Bridge and the upgrade of Waterways
Drive have commenced
• the Palm Beach shoreline project was completed
• construction of the Pimpama Sports Hub has commenced
• a major upgrade to Miami Aquatic Centre has commenced
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• commenced the uplifted transport infrastructure program,
including, Pearson Road, Yatala and Old Coach Road,
Reedy Creek.

Financial performance
Council continues to have in place a comprehensive 10 year
financial plan that outlines the funding proposals for the delivery
of key strategies and asset management requirements over the
next 10 year horizon and beyond for major infrastructure.
In addition to the prescribed indicators for local government,
Council evaluates its financial performance against the following
four key pillars:
1. Competitive rating levels and user pay charges
Council is constantly working to minimise rate increases while
continuing to provide value for money and maintain the high
quality of services and facilities that the Gold Coast is known for.
The Corporate Plan, Gold Coast 2022, provides the following
undertaking to ratepayers of the Gold Coast:
“Deliver prudent financial management which supports high
quality city services and provides value for money and continues
to deliver average rises for residential non-Community Title
Property (CTP ) dwellings being principal place of residence
under or as near to CPI as possible while employing fiscal
restraint in other fees, charges and rate categories”.
The average owner occupied residential ratepayer would
have experienced a rate increase of 1.68% for 2019 –20.
In response to the hardship being experienced by many of our
ratepayers during COVID -19, Council will be providing a $64
residential ‘financial relief rebate’ in 2020 – 21, resulting in a
0.11% reduction in the rates and charges for the average
owner occupied residential ratepayer (excluding the State
Bulk Water Costs).
2. Debt levels and capacity to service debt
The Elected Council operates a balanced budget and only
borrows where necessary for major infrastructure projects and
does not borrow to fund operational costs.
Debt has remained constant when compared to last year i.e.
$603.8 million for both 2019 – 20 and 2018 –19.
Council’s capacity to service debt remains strong, as reflected
by the following key financial indicators:
Table 57: Debt service indicator

Financial Indicator

Target

Actual

Net Financial Liabilities

Max 60%

-24.7%

Debt Service Coverage

Min 2.2

2.5

Max 20%

8%

Debt Service Ratio

CHAPTER 6 FINANCE

3. Condition of Council’s infrastructure assets
Council has developed Asset Management Plans (AMPs) to
ensure that community assets are maintained and continually
renewed to provide the level of service expected now, and for
future generations. AMPs are a key component in maintaining
the Council’s long-term financial sustainability.
The renewal of infrastructure assets is given priority when
developing the annual budget and funded renewals of $159.3
million in 2019 – 20 compared to the estimated $117.6 million
identified in the AMPs. The additional renewals in 2019 – 20
were primarily a result of the renewal of assets that were being
upgraded e.g. upgrade of Miami Aquatic Centre.

• stimulus – implemented an accelerated and uplifted capital
works program to stimulate the economy
• growth – set aside funding to seize upon opportunities to
attract investment and diversify the Gold Coast economy
In addition to the major projects already commenced and
outlined above, other major projects and programs include:
• funding specifically for economic and investment attraction
• funding specifically for major events and
tourism opportunities
• contribution towards a Super Yacht berth at Southport
Yacht Club

Overall, the majority of the Council’s infrastructure is in very
good or good condition and, based on comparative information,
is in much better condition than the national average.

• commencement of the Light Rail Stage 3 project and further
funding for the detailed design of Light Rail Stage 4

4. The scope and standard of services

• completion of the HOTA Art Gallery with an opening in
early 2021

Council continues to review the scope and standard
of services to ensure that they protect and support
the unique lifestyle enjoyed by residents of the city
and deliver opportunities for those wishing to work,
visit and conduct business on the Gold Coast.
The Elected Council focuses on value for money
services rather than the lowest cost option.
Council’s corporate planning and budget process also
ensures these standards will be maintained in the longer
term by prioritising the renewal of assets and providing
sufficient funding to adequately cover operating and
maintenance costs for new infrastructure and services.
Key financial risks:

• construction of the Surfers Paradise Beach
Nourishment Pipeline
• detailed design of the Coomera Civic Hub
• renewal and upgrade of the Broadbeach Community Precinct
• finalise the design and tendering process for a major upgrade
of the Palm Beach Aquatic Centre
• commence construction of Robina Parklands and Stage 3B
of Southport Broadwater Parklands.
• upgrade Pizzey Park Skateboard Park to Olympic standard
• major upgrades to the entire sewerage network, including
treatment plants, pump stations and mains.

Economic outlook – There is a great deal of uncertainty at this
time at a global level. The Gold Coast has also been impacted;
however, Council’s financial strength has allowed it to implement
initiatives that will both stimulate the economy and seize upon
opportunities to diversify and grow the economy.
Growth and delivery of trunk infrastructure – Council has
implemented detailed planning and monitoring to forecast the
city’s growth and trunk infrastructure requirements. This will be
closely monitored and managed to ensure that the impact on
ratepayers is minimised.

JOHN BLAIR
Manager Corporate Finance

Looking ahead
The Elected Council is mindful of the difficulties being
experienced by the Gold Coast community and has
implemented the following initiatives:
• support – provided a number of support and stimulus
packages to provide relief and assistance to residents,
businesses and community organisations, as outlined above
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6.2 COMMUNITY FINANCIAL REPORT
The Community Financial Report is produced to enable our community, business partners, customers and employees to better
understand how we performed financially.
The following is a summary of our Financial Statements for 2019 –20 which are found in section 6.3.

$16.9 million
operating loss.
This is largely the result of reduced
revenue due to COVID-19.

Our credit rating

$1.2
billion

has been maintained as

sound with a

positive outlook

raised in rates
and utilities

our debt has remained at

$604 million

$408.2 million spent
on capital investment including

$159.3 million on the renewal
of city infrastructure assets

$45.7
million

$16
billion

$225.2
million

received in grants
and subsidies

in infrastructure
and other assets
are managed

increase in our
community wealth

6.2.1 Overview of the 2019–20 Community Financial Report
The Community Financial Report is a plain English explanation of our financial statements and covers the following five components:
1. Statement of Comprehensive Income: shows information on our financial performance including our revenue,
expenses and net profit or loss.
2. Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet): shows the monetary value of our assets, liabilities and equity.
3. Statement of Changes in Equity: shows the changes in our net wealth.
4. Statement of Cash Flows: shows movements of cash and cash equivalents ( highly liquid investments that can be readily
converted into cash).
5. Financial Ratios: shows common comparisons between financial statement amounts to allow readers to compare our results with
other organisations.
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6.2.2 Statement of Comprehensive Income
The Statement of Comprehensive Income (refer page 155) shows our Net Result for the 2019 – 20 financial year, calculated using
the formula:

Total Revenue – Total Expenses = Net Result
The Net Result shows a surplus of $200.6 million. This surplus is largely a result of the cash ($98.9 million) and physical assets
($135.0 million) contributed by developers throughout the year associated with new development in the city.
Developers construct local roads, parks, water pipes and many other assets that are handed over to Council at the completion of the
development. They also provide cash contributions towards shared infrastructure that services new development such as sewerage
treatment plants, major roads, sporting grounds and more. These contributions are restricted in use and are therefore not available to
fund day to day operations of Council.
The Net Result also shows some expenditure that does not contribute toward the daily running of Council. When assets are
decommissioned or disposed of, the remaining net value of those assets shows as an expense, but does not need to be funded by
revenue raised through rates and levies. A net loss on disposal of $36.6 million was recorded in 2019 – 20 (0.2% of total assets).

Expenses against revenue: five-year trend
The graph and table below show the trend in our revenue, expenses and net result for the past five years.

Revenue

Figure 16: Expenses against revenue trend

Expenses
Net Result

2,000,000

AMOUNT ($'000)

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

0
2015 –16

2016 –17

2018–19#

2017–18*

2019–20

Table 58: Expenses against revenue trend
2015 –16
($'000)

2016 –17
($'000)

2017–18*
($’000)

2018 –19#
($’000)

2019 –20
($’000)

Revenue

1,571,486

1,710,130

1,667,853

1,619,776

1,585,498

Expenses

1,242,264

1,263,935

1,353,836

1,339,626

1,384,894

329,222

446,195

314,017

280,150

200,604

Net Result

* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2018–19 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment was made to 2017–18 to reduce revenue recognised for contributed
infrastructure assets.
# A retrospective adjustment has been made to 2018–19 to increase revenue recognised for contributed infrastructure assets as outlined in note 35(C) to the 2019–20
Financial Statements
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Sourcing our revenue – where our money came from
The following graph shows the various sources of our $1.6 billion in revenue during 2019–20.

Figure 17: Sources of revenue

2018–19*

2019–20
Water and Sewerage
Utility Charges
31%

Water and Sewerage
Utility Charges
32%

General Rates
29%

General Rates
31%

Contributions and
Donations
18%

Contributions and
Donations
15%

Fees and Charges
6%

Fees and Charges
6%

Waste Management
Utility Charge
5%

Waste Management
Utility Charge
6%

Other Rates
and Charges
4%

Other Rates
and Charges
4%

Grants and Subsidies
3%

Grants and Subsidies
3%

Interest
2%

Interest
2%

Other Revenue
2%

Other Revenue
1%

Note: General rates are net of discounts, water rebates and pensioner remissions.
* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2019–20 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2018–19 to increase revenue recognised for contributed
infrastructure assets by $12.254 million.

Revenue decreases
Council’s total revenue decreased by $34.3 million or 2.1%
from 2018–19. As a result of COVID-19, various city venues,
facilities and services were reduced, suspended or closed from
late February to the end of June 2020. This included customer
contact centres, libraries, aquatic centres, community centres,
major sporting venues, park facilities, tourist parks and regulated
parking services. Council also implemented a Business and
Community Relief Package, which included waiving of various
fees and charges. Revenue in 2019 –20 has been reduced
by $10.6 million as a result of COVID-19. All known monetary
impacts of COVID-19 were taken into account in Council’s
budget review process, and Council has determined that no
additional borrowings will be required as a result of COVID-19.
Revenue was reduced in 2019 – 20 in the following categories:
• Contributions and donations revenue fell by $49.4 million
or 17.1%. This includes a reduction in developer cash
contributions of $15.0 million or 13.2%, and a reduction in
assets contributed by developers of $34.9 million or 20.6%

• Interest revenue decreased by $9.7 million or 27.4%.
This includes a $1.2 million reduction in interest on
debtor arrears resulting from Council’s Business
and Community Relief package for Covid-19
• Other revenue decreased by $7.9 million or
25.4%. This includes a reduction in rental and
lease revenue of $2.6 million or 21.6%.
• Revenue from fees and charges decreased by $3.5 million or
3.4%. This included a reduction in Tourist park fees by $3.0
million or 16.3%, a reduction in revenue from infringements
by $2.1 million or 11.8% and a reduction in parking fee
revenue of $1.6 million or 16.2%. Waste disposal fees
increased by $3.7 million or 43.6% in 2019 – 20 partially
offsetting the reductions in other fees and charges.
Revenue from all rates increased by $29.7 million or 2.6%
from 2018 –19. This increase included revenue generated
as a result of rate increases and growth in the city.
Grants and subsidies revenue has also increased
by $6.5 million or 16.8 % from 2018 –19.

146

CHAPTER 6 FINANCE

Identifying our expenses – where our money was spent
The following graph shows the allocation of $1.38 billion of operating expenditure.

Figure 18: Breakdown of operating expenditure

2018 –19

2019 –20

Materials and Services*
36%

Materials and Services*
36%

Employee Costs*
31%

Employee Costs*
32%

Depreciation and
Amortisation
19%
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20%

Other
9%

Other
6%

Borrowing Costs
3%

Borrowing Costs
3%

Loss on Disposal of
Non-Current Assets
2%

Loss on Disposal of
Non-Current Assets
3%

* For the purposes of the Community Financial Report, contractor and consultants expenses of $100.6 million have been reported under employee costs rather than materials
and services as per note 10 to the 2019 –20 Financial Statements.
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6.2.3 Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet)
Calculating our net worth
The Statement of Financial Position (refer page 156) shows what we own (our assets), what we owe (our liabilities) and our net worth.

Assets: what we own
The major components of our assets include:
• property, plant and equipment (land, buildings, roads, storm water drainage)
• capital works in progress
• cash assets (mainly short-term investments).
As at 30 June 2020, we held $16.0 billion of assets, an increase of $243.4 million from 2018 –19. Our cash assets have decreased by
$77.7 million from 2018 –19, while the value of our property, plant and equipment increased by $315.7 million in 2019 – 20.

Figure 19: Our assets: five-year trend

20,000,000

AMOUNT ($'000)
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5,000,000

0
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2017–18*

2018 –19#

2019 –20

* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2018–19 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2017–18 to bring to account contributed infrastructure assets
totalling $22.531 million, with commission dates prior to 1 July 2018.
# As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2019–20 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2018–19 to bring to account contributed infrastructure assets
totalling $26.947 million, with commission dates prior to or during 2018–19.
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Liabilities – what we owe
Our liabilities include debt, amounts owed to suppliers and amounts owing to employees for leave entitlements.
Our total liabilities were $932.5 million as at 30 June 2020 which is an increase of $18.2 million from the previous year.
Unearned revenue has increased by $4.2 million to $27.0 million. The unearned revenue for 2019 –20 includes $24.5 million in prepaid
rates. Provisions for employee benefits have also increased by $8.0 million or 9.8% in 2019–20 to $90.0 million. Included in our
liabilities for 2019–20 are lease liabilities of $12.1 million. A new lease accounting standard was applied in 2019 – 20 which resulted in
Council recognising right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases in place.
Of the total liabilities, $603.8 million relates to loans from Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC), with the balance owing on loans
remaining steady from 2018–19.

Debt

Figure 20: Total liabilities (showing debt component): five-year trend
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Managing our debt
When appropriate, we use debt funding to provide for capital works. When used to fund assets that provide a benefit to the community
over many years, debt funding enables us to spread the cost of those assets over the life of the asset.
Debt must be managed prudently to ensure repayments can be met. Our debt policy restricts the use of debt funding to capital
expenditure only, and we also ensure that debt service payments do not exceed 20% of total recurrent revenue in any one year.
To keep the increase in rates to a minimum, we seek to minimise borrowings where repayments must come from general rates funding.
Instead, we borrow against other established revenue streams, such as specific levies and utility charges, to ensure a sustainable
financial future.
A more detailed explanation of debt management is provided in the document ‘Debt Management Public Statement’.
This document is available on Council’s website.

View the City of Gold Coast Debt Management Statement
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/debtmanagement
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6.2.4 Statement of Changes in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity (refer pages 157–158) explains the changes in our retained earnings over the reporting period and
provides a more detailed presentation of the community equity shown in the Statement of Financial Position.

Community equity
Community equity is represented by our net worth: what we own (total assets of $16.0 billion) minus what we owe (total liabilities of
$932.5 million). Community equity, as at 30 June 2020, was $15.1 billion which is $225.2 million higher than the previous year.

Community equity = what the community owns – what the community owes

Figure 21: Community Equity: five-year trend
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* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2018–19 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2017–18 to bring to account contributed infrastructure assets
totalling $22.531 million, with commission dates prior to 1 July 2018.
# As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2019–20 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2018–19 to bring to account contributed infrastructure assets
totalling $26.947 million, with commission dates prior to or during 2018–19.
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6.2.5 Statement of Cash Flows
Where our cash comes from and where it goes
The Statement of Cash Flows (refer page 159) shows our cash inflows and outflows. This statement shows our ability to pay our bills
to continue normal operations, pay off our debts and have money available for the construction of assets. Our current cash holdings
are very high. This can largely be attributed to the high amount of infrastructure charges cash received from new development in recent
years. Receipts from infrastructure charges are volatile and reflect the stage of the economic cycle on the Gold Coast. The use of these
funds is restricted to the provision of growth related infrastructure, as identified in Council’s adopted Local Government Infrastructure
Plan (LGIP). At times when receipts are high, funds are held in reserve and expended in accordance with the adopted LGIP.

Figure 22: Cash balance: five-year trend
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6.2.6 Financial Ratios
Financial ratios use figures from financial statements to
demonstrate relationships between key numbers. Ratios which
focus on financial sustainability are particularly relevant for
government organisations.
The Regulation requires all Queensland councils to report
on three specific financial sustainability ratios, the Operating
Surplus Ratio (OSR), the Net Financial Liabilities Ratio (NFLR)
and the Asset Sustainability Ratio (ASR). The results of these
ratios, calculated in accordance with the Financial Management
(Sustainability) Guidelines 2013 are shown in the Current Year
and Long Term Financial Sustainability Statements that follow
the Financial Statements section of this report. They are not
reproduced here in that same format.

We prepare detailed Asset Management Plans (AMPs) which
specify how much we should spend on renewing our assets. We
believe that it is more relevant to use these figures in calculating
the OSR and ASR rather than using accounting depreciation.

Operating Surplus Ratio (AMPs)
This ratio measures the extent to which revenue raised covers
operational expenses, based on renewal requirements identified
in the AMPs rather than using accounting depreciation.
A positive ratio indicates that a surplus may be available to use
for future expenditure or debt repayments. Surplus funds are
being placed into reserves to fund major works in the future.
Our Operating Surplus Ratio is forecast to remain
strongly positive.

Figure 23: Operating Surplus Ratio (AMPs)
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Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio
This ratio is required by (QTC) for loan approval purposes and is calculated as the operating result excluding capital items and
depreciation divided by operating revenue. This ratio is a more accurate representation of our ability to cover operating costs from
operating revenues. The following graph shows the adjusted operating surplus ratio for the previous five years as well as current and
future years.
The ratio is forecast to remain above the target of 16% in future years.
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Figure 24: Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio
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Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
This ratio measures the extent to which our 10-year financial forecast includes required asset renewal expenditure as identified
in our AMPs.
A ratio of greater than 90 indicates that we have capacity to fund our projected infrastructure asset renewals without needing to
increase operating income, reduce operating expenditure or increase debt.
Our Asset Renewal Funding Ratio is forecast to remain above the 90% target.

Figure 25: Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
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Leverage Ratio
The leverage ratio measures ability to meet financial obligations.
A ratio of less than 60% indicates financial obligations can be met.
Our leverage ratio is forecast to remain well below the 60% target. A negative result indicates that current assets are higher than
total liabilities.

Figure 26: Leverage Ratio
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Debt Service Coverage Ratio
The debt service coverage ratio measures ability to repay debt.
A ratio of less than 2.2 indicates that the organisation may have difficulty making loan repayments.
The ratio is forecast to remain above the target of 2.2 in future years.

Figure 27: Debt Service Coverage Ratio

10

Minimum
target 2.2

8

Debt
Service
Coverage

RATIO

6
4
2
0
2015

2020

2025

2030

Asset Consumption Ratio
The Asset Consumption Ratio measures the written down current value of our depreciable assets relative to their as new value.
This ratio highlights the aged condition of our physical assets and the potential capital outlays required in future to preserve their
service potential.
The asset consumption ratio has a target of between 40% and 80% on average.
Our asset consumption ratio is forecast to remain within or marginally above the target range.

Figure 28: Asset Consumption Ratio
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6.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2020
2020

2019

Note

$’000

$’000

Rates and utility charges

3

1,151,871

1,122,218

Fees and charges

4

98,757

102,214

Interest

5

25,822

35,568

Contributions and donations

6

240,217

289,599 *

Grants and subsidies

7

45,651

39,099

Other revenue

8

23,180

31,078

Revenue

1,585,498

1,619,776 *

9

346,698

329,136

Materials and services

10

603,492

571,233

Depreciation and amortisation

11

271,042

250,684

Finance costs

12

36,204

41,084

Other expenses

13

90,836

120,415

Loss on disposal of non-current assets

14

36,622

27,074

1,384,894

1,339,626

Total revenue

Expenses

Employee costs

Total expenses

Net result

200,604

280,150 *

Other comprehensive income

Increase in asset revaluation surplus

Total comprehensive income for the year

27

22,558

575,956

22,558

575,956

223,162

856,106 *

* Comparative figures have been restated. Refer to Note 35(c) for details.
Comparatives have not been restated on adoption of AASB 15, AASB 1058 and AASB 16 and therefore comparative information is presented using the previous standards
in relation to revenue and leases.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19).
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020
2020

2019

Note

$’000

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

15

986,421

1,064,078

Receivables

16

214,782

195,825

Property held for sale

17

58,030

58,030

Current assets

Consumables

1,832

1,709

Prepayments

693

9,463

1,261,758

1,329,105

Non–current assets

Other financial assets

18

1,150

1,150

Intangibles

19

40,842

45,734

Property, plant and equipment

20

Total assets

14,741,116

14,425,453 *

14,783,108

14,472,337 *

16,044,866

15,801,442 *

Current liabilities

Payables

21

118,138

124,471

Unearned revenue

22

26,974

22,824

Employee benefits

23

81,185

73,274

Lease liabilities

24

509

-

Provisions

25

6,446

421

Borrowings

26

82,394

79,313

315,646

300,303

Non–current liabilities

Employee benefits

23

8,840

8,715

Lease liabilities

24

11,580

-

Provisions

25

75,019

80,760

Borrowings

26

521,395

524,475

616,834

613,950

932,480

914,253

Total liabilities
Net community assets

15,112,386

14,887,189 *

Community equity

Retained capital
Asset revaluation surplus
Reserves
Total community equity

27

9,402,669

9,145,964 *

4,889,045

4,866,487

820,672

874,738

15,112,386

14,887,189 *

* Comparative figures have been restated. Refer to Note 35(c) for details.
Comparatives have not been restated on adoption of AASB 15, AASB 1058 and AASB 16 and therefore comparative information is presented using the previous standards
in relation to revenue and leases.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19).
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020
Year ended
30 June 2020

Balance at
1 July 2019

Adjustment on
initial application of
AASB 15 / AASB
1058 (ii)

Restated balance
at 1 July 2019

Retained
capital

Asset
revaluation
surplus

Infrastructure charges
reserve

Capital
projects
reserve

Selfinsurance
reserve (i)

Investment
reserve

Other
operating
reserves

Total
community
equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

9,145,964

4,866,487

476,213

297,667

11,338

83,110

6,410

14,887,189

(21,998)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(21,998)

9,123,966

4,866,487

476,213

297,667

11,338

83,110

6,410

14,865,191

Prior period adjustments (iii)

Initial recognition
of non-current
assets

28,352

-

-

-

-

-

-

28,352

Derecognition of
non-current assets

(4,319)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,319)

(53,485)

-

98,881

115,617

2,007

36,383

1,201

200,604

-

22,558

-

-

-

-

-

22,558

308,155

-

(115,488)

(152,262)

-

(40,405)

-

-

9,402,669

4,889,045

459,606

261,022

13,345

79,088

7,611

15,112,386

Allocation of comprehensive income for the year

Net result (iv)
Increase in
asset revaluation
surplus (v)

Other changes in equity

Transfer to
retained capital
from reserves

Balance at
30 June 2020

(i) Refer to Note 28 for further details on the self-insurance reserve.
(ii) Refer to Note 1(c) for details on adjustment as at 1 July 2019 for application of new accounting standards.
(iii) Refer to Note 35 for details on prior period adjustments.
(iv) 	Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19).
(iv) 	Refer to Note 20 and Note 27 for further details on asset revaluation surplus.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020
Year ended
30 June 2019

Balance at 1 July 2018

Retained
capital

Asset
revaluation
surplus

Infrastructure
charges
reserve

Capital
projects
reserve

Selfinsurance
reserve (i)

Investment
reserve

Other
operating
reserves

Total
community
equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

8,905,508

4,290,531

415,844

266,961

11,192

86,845

5,885

13,982,766

271

-

-

-

-

-

-

271

14,693

-

-

-

-

-

-

14,693

8,920,472

4,290,531

415,844

266,961

11,192

86,845

5,885

13,997,730

Adjustment on
initial application of
AASB 9 (ii)
Error correction for
contributed assets (iii)

Restated balance
at 1 July 2018

Prior period adjustments (iii)

Initial recognition of
non-current assets

49,953

-

-

-

-

-

-

49,953

Derecognition of
non-current assets

(16,600)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(16,600)

323

-

113,870

125,269

146

40,017

525

280,150

-

575,956

-

-

-

-

-

575,956

191,816

-

(53,501)

(94,563)

-

(43,752)

-

-

9,145,964

4,866,487

476,213

297,667

11,338

83,110

6,410

14,887,189

Allocation of comprehensive income for the year

Net result (iii)
Increase in
asset revaluation
surplus (iv)

Other changes in equity

Transfer to retained
capital from reserves
Balance at
30 June 2019
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

Refer to Note 28 for further details on the self-insurance reserve.
Refer to Note 1(c) for details on adjustment as at 1 July 2018 for application of new accounting standard.
Refer to Note 35 for details on error corrections and prior period adjustments.
Refer to Note 20 and Note 27 for further details on asset revaluation surplus.

Comparatives have not been restated on adoption of AASB 15, AASB 1058 and AASB 16 and therefore comparative information is presented using the previous standards in
relation to revenue and leases.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

1,134,589

1,112,386

97,117

101,637

30,375

40,075

102,863

122,201

46,175

39,099

165

20,605

GST receipts

83,259

67,528

Other

22,662

34,692

1,517,205

1,538,223

Employee costs

338,662

328,238

Materials and services

601,599

560,304

Finance costs

34,953

39,291

GST payments

84,841

68,731

100,056

100,222

1,160,111

1,096,786

357,094

441,437

4,710

14,148

(438,453)

(290,237)

(433,743)

(276,089)

Principal repayment of lease liabilities

(1,009)

-

Proceeds from borrowings

78,098

38,281

(78,097)

(76,014)

(1,008)

(37,733)

(77,657)

127,615

1,064,078

936,463

986,421

1,064,078

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

Rates and utility charges
Fees and charges
Interest
Contributions and donations
Grants and subsidies
Waste levy rebate

Payments

Other

Net cash inflow from operating activities

31.1

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangibles and property, plant and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Principal repayment of borrowings
Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

15

Comparatives have not been restated on adoption of AASB 15, AASB 1058 and AASB 16 and therefore comparative information is presented using the previous standards in
relation to revenue and leases.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19).
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation

(c) New and revised Accounting Standards

These financial statements are general purpose financial
statements prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local
Government Regulation 2012. Consequently, these
financial statements comply with all Australian Accounting
Standards, Interpretations and other authoritative
pronouncements issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board, as applicable to not-for-profit entities.

Standards adopted by the Council during financial year
(2019 – 20)

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, with the exception of property held for sale and
certain classes of property, plant and equipment, which are
recognised at fair value. Details of fair value measurements are
provided in Note 33.

(b) The local government reporting entity
The Council of the City of Gold Coast (also known as Gold
Coast City Council) is a not-for-profit reporting entity constituted
under the Queensland Local Government Act 2009 and is
domiciled in Australia.
The Council of the City of Gold Coast controls HOTA Gold
Coast Pty Ltd, City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd,
Surfers Paradise Alliance Ltd, Broadbeach Alliance Ltd,
Connecting Southern Gold Coast Ltd and Major Events Gold
Coast Pty Ltd. Refer to Note 37 for events subsequent to year
end relating to the controlled entities. Consolidated financial
statements have not been prepared as the controlled entities’
transactions are not material. As such, transactions between the
Council and its controlled entities have not been eliminated.
The Council also has a 12.5% shareholding in SEQ Regional
Recreational Facilities Pty Ltd. Any transactions between the
Council and SEQ Regional Recreational Facilities Pty Ltd have
not been eliminated.
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During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Council has adopted
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 1058
Income of Not-for-profit Entities and AASB 16 Leases using
the modified retrospective (cumulative catch-up) method. As
such, the comparative information for the year ended 30 June
2019 has not been restated and comply with previously existing
accounting pronouncements.
The impacts of adopting these standards and associated
transition disclosures are provided below:
Revenue Standards AASB 15 and AASB 1058
AASB 15 replaces AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 11 Construction
Contracts and some revenue related interpretations. It contains
a comprehensive and robust framework for the recognition,
measurement and disclosure of revenue from contracts with
customers. AASB 1058 provides not-for-profit entities with
guidance in adopting aspects of AASB 15 as well as complying
with AASB 1004 Contributions.
The impact on Council in adopting AASB 15 and AASB 1058
is the timing of income recognition for certain monies received.
Rate payments received prior to the beginning of a relevant
rating period are now recognised as a financial liability (i.e.
unearned revenue) until commencement of the rating period.
For reporting periods prior to 2019 –20 prepaid rates were
recognised as revenue on receipt.
AASB 15 and AASB 1058 can also effect the timing of revenue
for certain subsidies and grants but this has not materially
impacted on Council for initial adoption of the new standards.
Other monies received by the Council on a non-reciprocal
basis are developer cash contributions. Given these monies
are generally received for the future acquisition/construction of
non-specific assets the timing of revenue recognition remains
unchanged for 2019 –20.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

In summary, the only material financial impact on Council
adopting AASB 15 and AASB 1058 is the timing of revenue
recognition for prepaid rates. Rates prepaid to Council as at
30 June 2019 totalled $21.998 million. This amount has been
brought to account within the Statement of Financial Position
as unearned revenue as at 1 July 2019 with a corresponding
adjustment to retained capital.
Adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 has not materially
impacted the Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
30 June 2020.
AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases and some lease-related
interpretations. It requires all leases to be accounted as a
leasehold asset and lease liability by the lessee, other than
short-term and low value asset leases. Council leases a number
of properties previously treated as operating leases, which
require recognition on the Statement of Financial Position on
adoption of AASB 16. Various other procurement arrangements
involving rental of certain office equipment and major computer
hardware are also captured by AASB 16.
The impact on Council’s Statement of Financial Position on
initial application of AASB 16 is an increase of $13.078 million
in assets, being right-of-use assets and a corresponding
increase of $13.078 million in liabilities, being lease liabilities.
No adjustment to opening retained capital was necessary and
apart from reclassifying cash outflows into interest and principal
components there was no impact on the Statement of Cash
Flows for the year ended 30 June 2020.
Refer to Note 20 and Note 24 for further details on leases and
right-of-use assets recognised within the accounts.
Council is lessor of a number of peppercorn leases for which no
or little lease payments are made. These arrangements have not
been recognised within the accounts.

Standards adopted by the Council during prior
financial year (2018 –19)
Council applied AASB 9 Financial Instruments for the first time
during 2018 –19. Implementing AASB 9 resulted in a change
to the way Council calculates impairment provisions, which
are now based on expected credit losses instead of incurred
credit losses. Balance of the impairment as at 1 July 2018 was
recalculated using this new methodology, which resulted in an
opening balance reduction of $271,000.
Standards issued by the AASB but not yet effective
Various other Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective.
Those standards are not expected to have a material impact on
Council and have not been applied in these financial statements.

(d) Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of Council’s accounting policies, management
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. These estimates and assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised and in future periods as relevant.
Judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential
significant effect are outlined in the following financial
statement notes:
• valuation and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment – Note 20
• employee benefits – Note 23
• provision for landfill remediation – Note 25
• contingent liabilities – Note 29
• fair value measurement – Note 33.

161

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – 20

Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020
(e) Impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19)
In response to and as a direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic,
various city venues, facilities and services were either reduced,
suspended or closed from late February to the end of June
2020. This encompassed customer contact centres, libraries,
aquatic centres, community centres, major sporting venues,
park facilities, tourist parks and regulated parking services.
The Council also implemented a Business and Community
Relief Package, which included the following COVID-19
related initiatives:
• Waiving of roadside dining fees for the period 1 February
2020 to 30 June 2020;
• Waiving of various other fees and charges, including rents for
businesses with commercial leases on city premises for the
period 1 March 2020 to 30 June 2020;
• Waiving of penalty interest applied on overdue rates and
charges extended to businesses that enter affordable
repayment agreements;
• Reduction in penalty interest on overdue rates and
charges from 9.83% to 3% for the period 1 April 2020
to 30 June 2020;
• Extension of hardship definition to allow more ratepayers
to access payment arrangements for overdue rates and
charges; and
• Acceleration of payments times to Council suppliers.
Estimated impacts of COVID-19 on revenue and expenses
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2020 are:
Reduced revenue
Fees and charges
Interest on debtor arrears
Rental waivers
		

$'000
(8,674)
(1,175)
(734)
(10,583)

Reduced expenses
Employee costs
Materials and services

1,620
680

		

2,300

Impact on net result

162

(8,283)

Reduction in revenue items is attributable to closure of Council
facilities and implementation of the Business and Community
Relief Package. Similarly, the reduction in employee costs is
attributable to closure of Council facilities whereas the estimated
$0.7 million saving in materials and services relates to bulk
water costs, which were lower than anticipated despite the total
cost for bulk water increasing during 2019 – 20, primarily as a
consequence of price rises. While COVID-19 has affected other
revenue and expense items, the degree of impact cannot be
reliably determined.
Financial impacts of COVID-19 were considered during
Council's budget review process in May 2020. Budget revisions
ensure Council is not subject to significant liquidity risk. While
the level of unpaid receivables may increase during 2020 – 21,
a $100 million working capital facility with the Queensland
Treasury Office is available should the need for any temporary
funds arise.
The potential impact of COVID-19 on reported property, plant
and equipment values as at 30 June 2020 is considered
immaterial. All of Council's infrastructure, land and buildings
are measured at fair value. Movements in component unit rates
for assets valued at current replacement cost were assessed
during 2019 –20 with no material adjustment deemed necessary
for COVID-19. This is consistent with advice received from the
Australian Institute of Quantity Surveyors. Land and building
market valuations are performed by external valuers and utilise
observable market data.
COVID impacts are expected to continue into 2020–21.
Council's annual plan and budget for 2020–21 includes further
financial relief initiatives for ratepayers.

(f) Currency, rounding, comparatives
and adjustments
Council uses the Australian dollar as its financial currency and
its presentation currency. Amounts disclosed in the financial
statements have been rounded to the nearest $1,000, or where
that amount is $500 or less, to zero.
Comparative information is generally restated for
reclassifications, errors and changes in accounting policies
unless permitted otherwise by transition rules in a new
Accounting Standard.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020
(g) Taxation and tax equivalents

Infrastructure charges reserve

The income of local government and public authorities is exempt
from income tax. However Council is subject to Fringe Benefits
Tax, Goods and Services Tax (GST) and payroll tax on certain
activities. The net amount of GST recoverable from the ATO or
payable to the ATO is shown as an asset or liability respectively.

Represents unspent cash contributions paid by property
developers for the provision of water and sewerage
infrastructure, drainage, roadworks, park facilities, bikeways,
footpaths and other infrastructure assets for the enhancement
of Council’s asset base.

(h) Components of equity

Capital projects reserve

Retained capital and asset revaluation surplus
Taken together, these balances represent the amount of wealth
currently required and in use by Council for its operations and
to maintain its conventional assets and infrastructure at existing
levels of operating capability.
Retained capital
This represents the amount of Council’s net funds not set aside
in reserves to meet specific future needs. The main part of this
amount is not available for Council to spend as it has already
been invested in assets used to provide services.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is comprised of adjustments
relating to changes in value of property, plant and equipment
which arise primarily from changes in the purchasing power
of money. Net incremental changes in the carrying value of
classes of non-current assets since their initial recognition are
accumulated into this surplus. Increases and decreases on
revaluation are offset within a class of assets. Where a class of
assets is decreased on valuation, that decrease is offset first
against the amount remaining in the asset revaluation surplus in
respect of that class. Any excess is expensed.
Reserves
The following reserves represent the part of Council's net
wealth earmarked or quarantined for specific future needs.
In each case, the amount relates to a future requirement which
is not currently a liability. These reserves do not represent
additional funds. The amount reported in each reserve is
backed by an equivalent amount included in the cash and/or
receivables balances.

This reserve was created to provide a fund to offset future
infrastructure works.
Investment reserve
This reserve was created to provide funds to maximise
investment opportunities for the Council.
Self-insurance reserve
This reserve was created to provide for:
• Workers compensation payouts up to $900,000 for
outstanding claims incurred and claims not yet reported;
• Insurance claim liabilities incurred prior to establishment
of City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd on 1 July
2007; and
• Insurance claim liabilities for motor vehicle, public liability,
property and professional indemnity in accordance with
retention (excess) arrangements negotiated with the City of
Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd.
Other operating reserves
• Northern beaches sand nourishment – established for the
purpose of funding future dredging works associated with
sand replenishment of northern Gold Coast beaches;
• Events reserve – established for the purpose of acquiring and
funding future events within the city;
• Hope Island Channel reserve – established for the future
funding of the operation and maintenance of the Hope Island
Channel for flood mitigation purposes;
• Coomera river dredging reserve – established for
dredging operations funded by monies received from
property developers.
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2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT FUNCTIONS
Year ended 30 June 2020
Function

Grant and
subsidy
revenue

Other
income

Income
before
eliminations

Elimination
of interfunction
transactions

Total
income

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

-

600,567

600,567

(10,516)

590,051

30

112,288

112,318

(7,545)

Transport and
Infrastructure

27,979

128,826

156,805

Lifestyle and
Community

3,643

68,821

Economy,
Planning and
Environment

176

Water
Waste
Management

Organisational
Services and
Governance

Expenses Elimination of
before inter-function
eliminations transactions

Total
expenses

Net result
before
eliminations

Assets

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

565,489

(165,360)

400,129

35,078

4,192,655

104,773

98,103

(35,114)

62,989

14,215

324,163

(34,777)

122,028

383,026

(70,752)

312,274

(226,221)

7,475,248

72,464

(2,318)

70,146

282,521

(86,199)

196,322

(210,057)

1,844,121

28,899

29,075

(801)

28,274

104,732

(20,864)

83,868

(75,657)

20,654

13,823

993,068

1,006,891

(336,665)

670,226

343,645

(14,333)

329,312

663,246

2,188,025

45,651

1,932,469

1,978,120

(392,622)

1,585,498

1,777,516

(392,622)

1,384,894

200,604

16,044,866

Expenses Elimination of
before inter-function
eliminations transactions

Total
expenses

Net result
before
eliminations

Assets

Year ended 30 June 2019
Function

Grant and
subsidy
revenue

Other
income

Income
before
eliminations

Elimination
of interfunction
transactions

Total
income

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

-

618,737

618,737

(11,814)

606,923

548,862

(161,573)

387,289

69,875

4,154,380

102

110,794

110,896

(13,514)

97,382

105,251

(32,926)

72,325

5,645

324,129

Transport and
Infrastructure

18,530

140,687

159,217

(35,496)

123,721

370,082

(72,834)

297,248

(210,865)

7,290,715

Lifestyle and
Community

6,221

69,459

75,680

(1,336)

74,344

274,354

(77,070)

197,284

(198,674)

1,789,131

Economy
Planning and
Environment

368

28,364

28,732

(428)

28,304

99,309

(19,337)

79,972

(70,577)

13,894

13,878

997,605

1,011,483

(322,381)

689,102

326,737

(21,229)

305,508

684,746

2,229,193

39,099

1,965,646

2,004,745

(384,969)

1,619,776

1,724,595

(384,969)

1,339,626

Water
Waste
Management

Organisational
Services and
Governance

Net result is derived from income before eliminations less expenses before eliminations.
Comparative figures for Water, Transport and Infrastructure and Lifestyle and Community have been restated. Refer to Note 35(c) for details.
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The Statement of Significant Functions is based on the business activities within Council:
Water
Water provides a wide range of water and wastewater services to the ratepayers and residents of the city, including the distribution
of water, the provision of recycled water and the treatment and disposal of sewerage. This activity constitutes a significant business
activity under the National Competition Policy guidelines and as such conforms to full cost pricing as outlined in the Local Government
Act 2009 and Local Government Regulation 2012.
Waste Management
Waste Management incorporates the operation and management of Council's waste transfer and disposal facilities together with the
management of Council's waste collection and recycling contracts. This activity constitutes a significant business activity under the
National Competition Policy guidelines and as such conforms to full cost pricing as outlined in the Local Government Act 2009 and
Local Government Regulation 2012.
Transport and Infrastructure
This function incorporates the design, construction and maintenance of the city's infrastructure associated with roads, drainage, flood
mitigation, beaches and waterways.
Lifestyle and Community
This function undertakes a broad range of regulatory services together with the provision and operation of community and recreational
facilities within the city. The regulatory roles involve inspection and licensing in the areas of health, animal control and local laws.
The provision of community and recreational facilities includes parks, community centres, libraries and major sporting facilities.
Economy, Planning and Environment
This function incorporates the strategic planning of the city's built environment including town and transportation planning together with
building/plumbing inspection services and assessment of development applications.
Organisational Services and Governance
Primarily concerned with the governance role within the organisation and the provision of corporate-wide services. Activities include
legal services, community relations, corporate planning and performance, corporate finance, strategic asset management, corporate
risk and insurance, rates levying, corporate supply (including accounts payable), internal audit, integrity and ethics, the management of
Council's fleet and plant assets, the provision of computer/network services and executive administration.
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

General rates

550,324

526,781

Water and sewerage utility charges

504,545

500,436

Waste management utility charges

87,054

84,432

City transport improvement separate charge

34,790

33,808

Open space preservation separate charge

11,660

11,001

Recreational space separate charge

7,864

7,781

Special rates and charges

9,018

9,580

1,205,255

1,173,819

(53,384)

(51,601)

1,151,871

1,122,218

3. RATES AND UTILITY CHARGES
Gross rates and utility charges

Less: Discount and pensioner remission

2020 Accounting Policy: Revenue for rates and utility charges is recognised upon issue of the levies within the respective rating
period to which they relate. Prepaid rates are recognised as a financial liability (i.e. unearned revenue) until commencement of the
rating period. All revenue for rates and utility charges is recognised within the scope of AASB 1058.
2019 Accounting Policy: Revenue is recognised at the start of the rating period. Prepaid rates are recognised as revenue
upon receipt.
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Building and development fees

26,158

26,263

Tourist park fees

15,123

18,076

Infringements

15,910

18,037

Waste disposal fees

12,311

8,574

Parking fees

8,431

10,060

Water supply service fees

3,909

3,495

Licences

2,442

2,598

Property information fees

4,841

4,631

537

151

Cemetery fees

1,417

1,347

Other fees and charges

7,678

8,982

98,757

102,214

4. FEES AND CHARGES

Private works

Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19).
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2020 Accounting Policy: Revenue arising from fees and
charges is recognised when or as the performance obligation
is completed and the customer receives the benefit of the
goods/ services being provided.

Recognised within the scope of AASB 1058
Infringements
Licences
Other fees and charges

$'000
15,910
2,442
620

Licences granted by Council are either short-term or low value
and all revenue from licences is recognised at the time the
licence is granted rather than over the term of the licence.

		

18,972

		

98,757

Revenue from infringements is recognised on issue of the
infringement notice.

Revenue from fees and charges is predominantly recognised
at a point in time rather than over a period of time. Exceptions
are immaterial in value.

Fees and charges recognised as revenue during 2019 –20
fall within the scope of AASB 15 (i.e. arising from a contract
with a customer) or AASB 1058 as follows:
Recognised within the scope of AASB 15
Building and development fees
Tourist park fees
Refuse tipping fees
Parking fees
Water supply service fees
Property information fees
Private works
Cemetery fees
Other fees and charges

$'000
26,158
15,123
12,311
8,431
3,909
4,841
537
1,417
7,058

		

79,785

2019 Accounting Policy: Revenue for fees and charges
is recognised upon unconditional entitlement to the funds.
Generally this occurs on lodgement of the relevant application
or document, issuing of the infringement notice or when the
service is provided.

5. INTEREST
Interest income on term deposits and investments is recognised as it accrues.

Interest on debtor arrears
Interest on invested cash funds

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

4,207

5,680

21,615

29,888

25,822

35,568

Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19) on interest on debtor arrears.
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

98,881

113,870

134,974

169,895

368

280

234,223

284,045

5,994

5,554

240,217

289,599

6. CONTRIBUTIONS AND DONATIONS
Capital contributions
Developers' cash contributions
Contributed assets
Other capital contributions

Operating contributions and donations

The comparative figure for contributed assets has been restated. Refer to Note 35(c) for details.

2020 Accounting Policy: Where contributions or donations arise from an agreement that is enforceable and contains sufficiently
specific performance obligations, revenue is recognised within the scope of AASB 15 when each performance obligation is satisfied.
In 2019–20, Council did not receive any such contribution or donation.
Revenue arising from contributions or donations within the scope of AASB 1058 is recognised at fair value when Council gains control
over the related funds or assets. In relation to cash contributed by property developers for the future acquisition or upgrade of nonspecified infrastructure assets, revenue is recognised upon receipt of the funds or upon becoming a receivable where there has been
a legal change in land use. An equivalent amount is transferred from retained capital to the infrastructure charges reserve, thereby
quarantining the funds until expended. Where funds received relate to the future acquisition or upgrade of specific infrastructure assets,
revenue is recognised when construction or acquisition of the related assets has taken place. No material monies were received from
developer contributions during 2019 –20 for the future acquisition or upgrade of specific infrastructure assets and, as such, no amount
has been recognised as a financial liability (i.e. deferred as unearned revenue).
Non-cash assets contributed or donated to Council in excess of the respective asset recognition threshold are recognised as
revenue and items of property, plant and equipment when Council obtains control of the underlying assets. Council generally
obtains control over portable donated assets when the items are physically handed to Council. Council obtains control over
contributed land parcels on the date the title deed is transferred to Council. Control over infrastructure assets contributed to
Council by property developers is deemed to occur when the development becomes “on maintenance” (i.e. when Council becomes
liable for any ongoing maintenance).
Revenue from contributions and donations is recognised at a point in time rather than over a period of time. Exceptions, if any, are
immaterial in value.
2019 Accounting Policy: Contributions and donations that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue when Council
obtains control which is usually upon receipt. Where contributions or donations are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised as the
various performance obligations under the funding agreement are fulfilled. In 2018 –19, no amount was recognised as a financial liability
(i.e. deferred as unearned revenue).
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

6. CONTRIBUTIONS AND DONATIONS (CONTINUED)
Conditions over contributions
Developers' cash contributions recognised as revenue during the current reporting period and were obtained on the condition that
they be expended on the acquisitions of assets, but had yet to be applied in that manner as at the reporting date, were:
Water and sewerage

45,136

51,066

Other purposes

53,745

62,804

98,881

113,870

Developers' cash contributions recognised as revenue in a previous period and expended during the current financial reporting
period were:
Water and sewerage

(29,312)

(22,012)

Other purposes

(86,176)

(31,489)

(115,488)

(53,501)

(16,607)

60,369

Net increase/(decrease) in infrastructure charges reserve

169

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – 20

Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

21,226

21,394

4,563

4,962

25,789

26,356

19,862

12,743

45,651

39,099

Federal

28,945

26,909

State

16,706

12,190

45,651

39,099

7. GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES
Operating grant and subsidy revenue
General purpose government grant
Other operating grants and subsidies

Capital grant and subsidy revenue

Grants and subsidies were received from the following government sectors:

2020 Accounting Policy: Where grants or subsidies arise
from an agreement that is enforceable and contains sufficiently
specific performance obligations, revenue is recognised within
the scope of AASB 15 when each performance obligation is
satisfied. In 2019–20, Council did not receive any such grant
or subsidy.
Revenue for grants and subsidies received within the scope of
AASB 1058 is recognised as follows:
(a)		Where the funds relate to the provision of a specific service
or the construction/acquisition of a specific asset, revenue is
recognised over time as the various performance obligations
under the funding agreement are fulfilled;
(b) All other subsides and grants are recognised as revenue at a
point in time on receipt of the funds.

For 2019–20, the timing of grants and subsidies recognised
as revenue is:
		
$'000
Revenue recognised at a point in time 25,752
Revenue recognised over time
19,899
		

45,651

Refer to Note 22 for grants and subsidies deferred as unearned
revenue at period end.
2019 Accounting Policy: Grants or subsidies that are
non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue upon receipt
of the funds. Where grants or subsidies received are reciprocal
in nature, revenue is recognised as the various performance
obligations under the funding agreement are fulfilled.
In 2018 –19, Council did not have any reciprocal grants
or subsidies.
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Reimbursements and recoveries

4,067

10,546

Rental and lease revenue

9,462

12,070

546

-

9,105

8,462

23,180

31,078

8. OTHER REVENUE

Adjustment to landfill remediation provision
Sundry

Adjustment to landfill remediation provision relates to changes in the estimation process used to calculate the provision. The full amount of any downward adjustment for the
period is recognised as revenue due to no asset revaluation surplus existing for the relevant asset class. Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19) on rental and
lease revenue.
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

280,705

267,756

Employee benefits

53,117

48,599

Superannuation

36,161

33,904

Payroll tax

1,956

2,088

Workers' compensation

1,863

1,576

540

488

1,814

1,833

376,156

356,244

(29,458)

(27,108)

346,698

329,136

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Bulk water purchases

194,141

183,686

Repairs and maintenance services

117,305

112,094

Contractors and consultants

100,565

85,758

Construction services

231,141

117,911

Materials

65,797

59,868

Information technology services

58,411

53,679

Waste and recycling services

39,338

34,386

Rentals and leases

28,680

25,021

Parks and landscaping services

27,044

29,328

Electricity

26,801

25,708

Legal services

12,117

10,688

Minor equipment purchases

3,907

4,497

75,223

68,954

980,470

811,578

(376,557)

(240,037)

(421)

(308)

603,492

571,233

9. EMPLOYEE COSTS
Wages and salaries

Fringe benefits tax
Other employee related costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised

Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19) on employee costs. Refer to Note 32 for further details on Superannuation.

10. MATERIALS AND SERVICES

Other services

Less: Materials and services capitalised
Materials and services charged to landfill remediation provision

For 2019 –20, rentals and leases exclude any payment associated with lease liabilities initially brought to account within the Statement of Financial Position during 2019 –20.
The amount disclosed for 2018 –19 includes all rentals and operating lease payments for the period.
Refer to Note 1(e) for impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19) on bulk water purchases.					
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

11. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation and amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write-off the net cost or revalued amount of each asset,
less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated remaining useful life to the Council. Residual value is only applied to
certain asset types within the asset class of fleet, plant and equipment.
Depreciation was charged in respect of:
Minor site improvements

15,190

16,410

Major site improvements

8,873

10,050

Buildings

19,174

21,379

Right-of-use assets

1,346

-

Fleet, plant and equipment

10,984

11,050

Roads, bridges and major culverts

69,074

56,432

6,298

6,345

33,254

26,834

100,826

96,138

265,019

244,638

6,023

6,046

271,042

250,684

Pathways
Flood mitigation and drainage
Water and sewerage infrastructure

Amortisation was charged in respect of:
Software

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset's useful life and the lease term. If Council is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life. Right-of-use
assets were initially recognised as an opening value adjustment
as at 1 July 2019 on the adoption of AASB 16. As such,
comparative depreciation values for 2018–19 are not applicable.
Depreciation and amortisation periods for assets when initially
placed into service are:
Fleet, plant and equipment		 2 to 20 years
Minor site improvements		 5 to 50 years
Major site improvements		 10 to 100 years
Buildings		 25 to 60 years
Right-of-use assets		 2 to 28 years
Roads, bridges and major culverts		 17 to 100 years
Pathways		 10 to 70 years
Flood mitigation and drainage		 10 to 150 years
Water and sewerage infrastructure		 15 to 150 years
Software		 5 to 15 years
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Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and
adjusted where necessary to reflect any changes in the
expected pattern of consumption, physical wear and tear,
obsolescence or management intentions. A desktop evaluation
of remaining useful lives for all depreciable assets valued at
cost is undertaken on an annual basis by the respective asset
custodians. Condition assessments, which are undertaken on
an ongoing basis, are also used to adjust the remaining useful
lives of assets.
Remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets are determined
from the weighted average of individual component lives that
together comprise the asset.
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Bank finance and interest charges

2,210

2,724

Unwinding of discount for landfill remediation provision

1,251

1,793

221

-

32,522

36,567

36,204

41,084

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

Contributions and donations

63,377

78,246

State waste levy payments

22,304

-

(20,770)

-

Insurance premiums and settlements

10,225

15,252

Capital works in progress written-off

9,971

9,175

-

9,696

497

765

1,082

557

412

445

5,912

7,971

93,010

122,107

(2,174)

(1,692)

90,836

120,415

12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on lease liabilities
Finance charges on borrowings

13. OTHER EXPENSES

Waste levy rebate

Adjustment to landfill remediation provision
Debtor write-offs and prior year credit levies
Impairment loss on receivables
External audit costs
Sundry

Less: Other expenses capitalised

State waste levy payments are applicable to most forms of commercial and household waste delivered to its disposal sites from 1 July
2019. The Queensland State Government is required to make an annual rebate payment to the Council that essentially provides a
refund for the portion of the levy relating to households. Council funds the portion of the levy applicable to commercial waste through
charges to commercial users of disposal sites.
Adjustment to landfill remediation provision relates to changes in the estimation process used to calculate the provision.
The full amount of any upward adjustment for the period is recognised as an expense due to no asset revaluation surplus existing for
the relevant asset class.
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2020
$’000

2019
$’000

4,710

14,148

461

761

5,171

14,909

Less: Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposed

(41,793)

(41,983)

Loss on disposal

(36,622)

(27,074)

14. LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Cash proceeds from disposals
Trade-in and exchange values received
Total consideration received

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposed includes the write-off of roads and any other infrastructure assets that have been upgraded or rehabilitated.
Council does not transfer amounts accumulated in the revaluation surplus to retained capital on disposal.

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

39

57

5,227

11,066

981,155

1,052,955

986,421

1,064,078

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits are highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant change in fair value.

16. RECEIVABLES
Rates debtors are recognised upon issue of the rates notice within the respective rating period. Rates are payable within 30 days of
issue. Interest of 9.83% was charged on outstanding balances for the period 1 July 2019 to 31 March 2020. From 1 April 2020 to 30
June 2020 interest on outstanding balances was reduced to 3% under the Business and Community Relief Package implemented by
the Council as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. Refer to Note 1(e) for further details. Interest of 11% was charged during
2018 –19. Impairment on outstanding balances will exist only where arrears are deemed to be greater than the proceeds Council would
receive from sale of the respective property.
Trade debtors are recognised at fair value at the time of sale or service delivery less, where applicable, an amount for impairment.
The collectability of trade debtors is assessed periodically and, if there is objective evidence that Council will not be able to collect all
amounts due, the carrying amount is reduced for impairment. All known bad debts were written-off against the impairment at balance
date. No interest is charged on outstanding trade debtors.
Any rates or trade debtors for the accounting period not yet issued at balance date are accrued where the associated service has been
provided by the Council on or before 30 June.
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16. RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
2020
$’000

2019
$’000

170,396

151,133

Developers' cash contributions

9,111

6,731

Fees and charges

2,660

3,597

16,776

14,167

Accrued investment interest

4,694

8,961

Interest on debtor arrears

4,622

4,908

13,207

12,062

221,466

201,559

(6,684)

(5,734)

214,782

195,825

Rates and utility charges

Infringements

Other debtors

Less: Impaired receivables

17. PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE
Items of property, plant and equipment are reclassified as property held for sale when the carrying amount of these assets will be
recovered principally through a sales transaction rather than continuing use. Non-current assets classified as held for sale are available
for immediate sale in their present condition and management deems the sale to be highly probable. Properties held for sale are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell and are not depreciated. On the eventual sale of these assets
a gain or loss is recognised.

Land
Buildings

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

52,070

52,070

5,960

5,960

58,030

58,030

2020
$’000

2019
$’000

1,000

1,000

150

150

1,150

1,150

Refer to Note 37 for events subsequent to period end that impact on property held for sale.

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investment in City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd
Investment in SEQ Regional Recreational Facilities Pty Ltd

175

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – 20

Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020
19. INTANGIBLES
Year ended 30 June 2020
Opening
carrying amt

Additions

Transfers

Disposals
and writeoffs

Amortisation

Closing
carrying amt

Closing
accum amort

Closing
gross value

Weighted avg
remaining
useful life

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

(years)

Software in use

44,163

-

16

-

(6,023)

38,156

91,279

129,435

6.7

Software under
development

1,571

1,582

(16)

(451)

-

2,686

-

2,686

-

45,734

1,582

-

(451)

(6,023)

40,842

91,279

132,121

Opening
carrying amt

Additions

Transfers

Disposals
and writeoffs

Amortisation

Closing
carrying amt

Closing
accum amort

Closing
gross value

Weighted avg
remaining
useful life

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

(years)

Software in use

50,209

-

-

-

(6,046)

44,163

94,906

139,069

7.6

Software under
development

64

1,571

-

(64)

-

1,571

-

1,571

-

50,273

1,571

-

(64)

(6,046)

45,734

94,906

140,640

Year ended 30 June 2019

Only intangible assets which have a cost exceeding $10,000 are capitalised. All other costs associated with acquiring intangible assets are expensed during the
period incurred.
Expenditure on internally generated intangible assets is recognised from the date of the approval by the Council of a capital expenditure authorisation for the acquisition or
development of the asset. Expenditure on internally generated intangible assets, up to the decision to generate the asset in a particular form, is treated as research expenditure
and is not capitalised.
It has been determined that there is not an active market for any of the Council’s intangible assets. As such, all intangible assets are recognised and carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation.
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
20.1 Movements
Year ended 30 June 2020
Opening
WDV

Additions

Transfers

Disposals
and writeoffs

Revaluations

Depreciation

Closing
WDV

Basis of
measurement

Weighted avg
remaining
useful life

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,118,996

26,442

1,011

(688)

(779)

-

2,144,982

Fair value

-

Minor site
improvements

241,570

18,035

14,340

(949)

-

(15,190)

257,806

Cost

27.2

Major site
improvements

304,358

4,036

9,597

(2,241)

-

(8,873)

306,877

Fair value

54.7

Buildings

659,332

2,930

9,963

(177)

(2,315)

(19,174)

650,559

Fair value

41.9

Right-of-use
assets

13,078

20

-

-

-

(1,346)

11,752

Cost

24.9

Fleet, plant and
equipment

80,512

15,296

3,010

(5,057)

-

(10,984)

82,777

Cost

7.2

3,721,760

40,025

85,983

(17,344)

-

(69,074)

3,761,350

Fair value

59.5

272,158

5,911

8,069

(1,951)

25,652

(6,298)

303,541

Fair value

52.7

Flood mitigation
and drainage

2,974,481

50,839

34,427

(8,606)

-

(33,254)

3,017,887

Fair value

100.1

Water and
sewerage
infrastructure

3,734,910

30,537

74,742

(9,099)

-

(100,826)

3,730,264

Fair value

58.3

14,121,155

194,071

241,142

(46,112)

22,558

317,376

406,607

(241,142)

(9,520)

-

-

473,321

14,438,531

600,678

-

(55,632)

22,558

(265,019)

14,741,116

Land

Roads, bridges
and major culverts
Pathways

Add:
Capital works
in progress

(years)

(265,019) 14,267,795
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Year ended 30 June 2019

Land

Opening
WDV

Additions

Transfers

$'000

$'000

$'000

Disposals
and
write-offs

Revaluations

Depreciation

Closing
WDV

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Basis of
measurement

Weighted avg
remaining
useful life

(years)

2,115,369

32,661

(52,070)

(6,366)

29,402

-

2,118,996

Fair value

-

Minor site
improvements

226,827

6,315

26,226

(1,388)

-

(16,410)

241,570

Cost

27.6

Major site
improvements

263,634

16,314

(8,408)

(3,696)

46,564

(10,050)

304,358

Fair value

54.8

Buildings

695,321

3,924

13,448

(163)

(31,819)

(21,379)

659,332

Fair value

42.8

Fleet, plant and
equipment

79,268

18,265

1,954

(7,925)

-

(11,050)

80,512

Cost

7.6

Roads, bridges
and major
culverts

3,339,248

47,809

65,996

(15,266)

340,405

(56,432)

3,721,760

Fair value

60.3

268,007

5,601

6,014

(1,119)

-

(6,345)

272,158

Fair value

52.8

Flood mitigation
and drainage

2,746,483

64,829

14,768

(16,169)

191,404

(26,834)

2,974,481

Fair value

102.3

Water and
sewerage
infrastructure

3,771,960

46,291

19,287

(6,490)

-

(96,138)

3,734,910

Fair value

59.0

13,506,117

242,009

87,215

(58,582)

575,956

204,467

267,266

(145,245)

(9,112)

-

13,710,584

509,275

(58,030)

(67,694)

575,956

Pathways

Add: Capital
works
in progress

(244,638) 14,108,077
-

317,376

(244,638) 14,425,453

Figures for various asset classes have been restated. Refer to Note 35(c) for details.

Initial recognition of right-of-use assets associated with the adoption of AASB 16 was recognised as an opening value adjustment as at
1 July 2019. As such, the total opening written down value for the period ended 30 June 2020 exceeds the total closing written down
for the year ended 30 June 2019 by the right-of-use recognition amount of $13.078 million.
Asset additions include purchased assets, capitalised expenditure on constructed assets, contributed assets, additions/adjustments to
right-of-use assets and the initial recognition of assets. Refer to Note 35(a) for further details on the initial recognition of assets.
Transfers include transfers out of capital works in progress into the respective asset classes when assets are placed into service as well
as any transfers between asset classes and assets reclassified as property held for sale.
Disposals and write-offs include the derecognition of assets recorded in error (refer Note 35(b)), any capital works in progress writtenoff, which is recognised within other expenses (refer Note 13) and assets disposed in the normal course of business (refer Note 14).
The potential impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19) on reported values as at 30 June 2020 is considered immaterial. Refer to Note 1(e) for
further details.
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
20.2 Right-of-use assets
Land

Buildings

Fleet, plant
& equipment

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

286

12,264

528

13,078

Additions to right-of-use assets

-

14

-

14

Adjustments to right-of-use assets due to
re-measurement of lease liability

-

6

-

6

(183)

(743)

(420)

(1,346)

103

11,541

108

11,752

Adoption of AASB 16 at 1 July 2019

Depreciation charge
Balance as at 30 June 2020

20.3 Accumulated depreciation and gross value by asset class
Opening balances as at 1 July 2018

Closing balances as at 30 June 2019

Closing balances as at 30 June 2020

WDV

Accum
depn

Gross
value

WDV

Accum
depn

Gross
value

WDV

Accum
depn

Gross
value

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,115,369

-

2,115,369

2,118,996

-

2,118,996

2,144,982

-

2,144,982

Minor site
improvements

226,827

198,147

424,974

241,570

204,601

446,171

257,806

214,211

472,017

Major site
improvements

263,634

190,768

454,402

304,358

193,042

497,400

306,877

199,898

506,775

Buildings

695,321

412,526

1,107,847

659,332

398,807

1,058,139

650,559

416,060

1,066,619

-

-

-

-

-

-

11,752

1,206

12,958

Fleet, plant and
equipment

79,268

69,979

149,247

80,512

63,441

143,953

82,777

60,084

142,861

Roads, bridges
and major
culverts

3,339,248

1,247,264

4,586,512

3,721,760

1,425,206

5,146,966

3,761,350

1,487,937

5,249,287

268,007

125,431

393,438

272,158

131,915

404,073

303,541

150,027

453,568

Flood mitigation
and drainage

2,746,483

875,841

3,622,324

2,974,481

956,479

3,930,960

3,017,887

987,259

4,005,146

Water and
sewerage
infrastructure

3,771,960

2,070,136

5,842,096

3,734,910

2,161,309

5,896,219

3,730,264

2,246,731

5,976,995

13,506,117

5,190,092

18,696,209

14,108,077

5,534,800

19,642,877

14,267,795

5,763,413

20,031,208

Land

Right-of-use
assets

Pathways
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
20.4 Recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment are capitalised provided
their value on acquisition exceeds the following thresholds:
Fleet, plant and equipment
Site improvements
Buildings
Right-of-use assets
Infrastructure assets

$10,000
$10,000
$10,000
$10,000
$1

All land (other than land under roads not controlled by Council)
is recognised as property, plant and equipment, however,
acquisitions of minor land parcels (less than 100 square
metres or less than 3 metres in width) are recorded at nominal
value due to having no market realisable value or possessing
negligible service potential.
All other items of property, plant and equipment are expensed.

20.5 Measurement
All assets purchased or constructed during the accounting
period have been brought to account at cost. Cost is
determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration
plus costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use. Where
Council has constructed non-current assets, cost includes the
cost of all services, materials and plant used in construction,
direct labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of
indirect labour costs.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:
• The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
• For right-of-use assets recognised post-adoption of
AASB 16, any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date of the lease less any lease incentives
received; and
• For right-of-use assets recognised post-adoption of AASB
16, any initial direct costs.
Property, plant or equipment contributed to Council is brought
to account as contribution revenue based on the fair value of
each asset at the time of acquisition. Where an active market
does not exist, as is the case for most infrastructure assets
contributed to Council, fair value is deemed to be current
replacement cost.
Costs incurred on assets after initial recognition are capitalised
whenever the associated work either renews, extends or
upgrades the asset’s underlying service potential. Routine
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operating maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals to
maintain the operational capacity of a non-current asset are
expensed as incurred.

20.6 Revaluations
Infrastructure assets, land, major site improvements and
buildings are subject to regular revaluations at fair value.
Other non-current assets, principally minor site improvements
and fleet, plant and equipment are not revalued and, where
applicable, remain valued at cost. While Council revalues its land
and buildings, it has chosen not to do so for right-of-use assets,
which include land and buildings asset types.
Assets subject to revaluation processes are revalued where
required so that the carrying amount of each asset class does
not materially differ from its fair value at the reporting date. With
the exception of buildings valued at market value, fair value is
determined as per current replacement cost methodologies.
Refer to Note 33 for details.
A comprehensive revaluation is undertaken every three to five
years for each applicable asset class, whereby asset values and
asset component unit rates are assessed by external valuers or
Council staff who are suitably qualified in their respective field. A
desktop revaluation involving the application of a suitable index
is undertaken at the reporting date whenever there has been a
material movement in value for an asset class subsequent to the
last comprehensive revaluation.
For both comprehensive revaluations and any interim indexation
Council adopts the gross revaluation method, whereby any
accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is
restated proportionally with the change in the gross carrying
amount of the asset so that the net carrying amount of the
asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount. The only
exception is the revaluation of any non-specialised buildings at
market value. The net revaluation method is adopted for these
buildings, whereby any accumulated depreciation at the date of
the revaluation is written back to zero against the gross value of
the asset prior to restating its market value. As such, the written
down value of impacted assets will equate to the gross carrying
amount immediately after the revaluation process.
Details of valuers and methods of asset valuation are disclosed
in Note 33.
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21. PAYABLES
Trade creditors and accrued expenses are recognised as a liability at the time goods are received or services performed.
These liabilities are measured at the agreed purchase/contract price net of applicable discounts other than contingent discounts.
Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms upon receipt of invoice.
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Trade creditors

26,074

35,858

Accrued expenses

88,750

87,545

3,314

1,068

118,138

124,471

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

-

20,605

24,476

-

1,383

1,219

Subsidies and grants

524

-

Other unearned revenue

591

1,000

26,974

22,824

Other payables

22. UNEARNED REVENUE

Waste levy rebate received in advance
Prepaid rates
Fees and charges

The prior year balance of $20.6 million for waste levy rebate received in advance relates to an advance payment received from the
Queensland State Government to mitigate the impacts on households for the State Waste Levy, which took effect from 1 July 2019.
The Council is liable to the State for payment of the levy on most forms of commercial and household waste delivered to its disposal
sites from 1 July 2019. The State is required to make an annual payment to the Council that essentially provides a refund for the
portion of the levy relating to households. Council funds the portion of the levy applicable to commercial waste through charges to
commercial users of disposal sites. As the $20.6 million receipt from the State in June 2019 was a prepaid rebate of Council's
2019–20 waste levy expense, the full amount was recognised as a liability as at 30 June 2019.
From 1 July 2019 rate payments received prior to the beginning of a relevant rating period are recognised as unearned revenue until
commencement of the rating period. For reporting periods prior to 2019 – 20 prepaid rates were recognised as revenue on receipt.
Refer to Note 1(c) for further details on the initial adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058.
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23. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related service. They are therefore classified as long-term benefits and measured as the present
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The
estimated future cash outflows have been discounted to their present value based on interest rates on Commonwealth Government
guaranteed securities as at the reporting date. The value of the liability was calculated using current pay rates and projected future
increases in those rates and includes related employee on-costs.
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

31,116

26,059

50,069

47,215

81,185

73,274

8,840

8,715

90,025

81,989

Current

Annual leave
Long service leave

Non-current

Long service leave
Total employee benefits

Employee benefits are presented as current liabilities where Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement beyond
12 months, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. Based on past experience, Council does not expect all
employees to take the full amount of accrued leave within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect the actual settlement
timeframes in which leave is expected to be paid:
Not later than 1 year

36,155

31,592

Later than 1 year

53,870

50,397

90,025

81,989

24. LEASE LIABILITIES
Council has leases in place over land, buildings and fleet, plant and equipment. Council has applied the exception to lease accounting
for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
2020
$'000
Initial recognition on adoption of AASB 16

Lease liability adjustments
New leases for period
Lease service payments

13,078
6
14
(1,230)

Interest charges

221

Closing balance

12,089

Current
Non-current

509
11,580
12,089
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Initial recognition on adoption of AASB 16
Lease liabilities were initially brought to account as at 1 July 2019 under the modified retrospective transition provisions of AASB 16,
whereby comparative information is not restated. The impact on Council’s Statement of Financial Position on initial application of AASB
16 is an increase of $13.078 million in assets, being right-of-use assets and a corresponding increase of $13.078 million in liabilities,
being lease liabilities.
A reconciliation of operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 to the initial recognition of lease liabilities is presented below:
$'000

Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019

4,351

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate as at 1 July 2019

4,143

Add: Extension options reasonably certain to be exercised not included in commitments disclosure

9,003

Add: Contracts reassessed as containing underlying leases

528

Less: Short-term leases included in commitments disclosure

(5)

Less: Contracts reassessed with no underlying leases

(591)

Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 July 2019

13,078

Terms and conditions of leases
Land

Fleet, plant and equipment

During 2019–20 Council leased two land parcels, which are
both used for commercial retail and tourism activities. One lease
expired during 2019–20 and has been placed under Council
control as trustee to the Queensland State Government. The
other has a three year term with no renewal option and is subject
to annual adjustments based on the underlying land valuation.

Council has two leases for fleet, plant and equipment assets.
One is a lease for office printers while the other relates to floating
swimming enclosures. Both leases have fixed lease payments
and are between one and two years with no renewal options.

Buildings
Council leases nine buildings used for offices, storage and
a public library. Lease terms are between one and 27 years.
Three of the leases contain extension options, which all are
reasonably certain to be exercised at Council's discretion.
Five of the leases include a fixed annual increase and
three other leases are subject to annual CPI increases.
The remaining lease has fixed lease payments.

None of the lease agreements impose any covenant
other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not
be used as a security for borrowing purposes.
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Measurement and accounting for lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are initially measured on a present value basis
taking into account the following:
• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;
• Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
• Amounts expected to be payable by Council under residual
value guarantees;
• The exercised price of a purchased option if Council is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
• Payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options.
Council does not separate lease and non-lease components for
any class of assets and has accounted for lease payments as a
single component.
Lease payments are discounted using an incremental borrowing
rate based on lending rates available to Council from the
Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) for comparable
lease terms. Where lease terms are not directly comparable
the incremental borrowing rate is sourced from a yield curve
constructed by reference to Treasury Bond rates adjusted for
risk premiums applicable to the QTC lending rates.
In determining the lease term, Council considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise
an extension option, or not exercise a termination option.
Extension and termination options are only included in the lease
term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). The majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by Council and not by the respective
lessor. In the determination of lease terms Council has assessed
that most of its extension options will be exercised, whereas
no termination options will be exercised. As at 30 June 2020,
potential future cash outflows of $620,000 (undiscounted)
have not been included in the lease liability because it is not
reasonably certain the leases will be extended.
Council is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in
the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
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Lease payments are allocated between principal and interest.
Interest is recognised as an expense over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lease liability for each period. Refer to Note 34(b)
for a maturity analysis of the remaining undiscounted contractual
cashflows (principal and interest) applicable to lease liabilities as
at the balance date.
Exceptions to lease accounting
Council has applied the exceptions to lease accounting for both
short-term leases (i.e. leases with a term of less than or equal to
12 months) and leases of low-value assets (less than $10,000).
Council recognises payments associated with these leases as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Concessionary and peppercorn leases
Council is a lessee for a number of arrangements significantly
below market value, which involves land and buildings used
for or by religious centres, charity organisations, land access
ways, educational centres, minor car parks and recreational
and sporting facilities. These leases are generally between one
and 90 years and require payments between $1 and $130
per annum. Use of each asset is restricted by the lessors to
specified community services which Council must provide.
Services are detailed within each lease agreement. Council does
not believe any of these arrangements are individually material
and, as such, have not been brought to account as either a
right-of-use asset or a lease liability.
Amounts included in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income related to leases
			
			
Interest charges		
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets		
Depreciation of right-use-assets		
Expenses relating to short-term leases		
Expenses relating to low-value leases		

2020
$'000
221
(126)
1,346
4
510

			

1,955
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25. PROVISIONS
Provision for landfill remediation
Council holds an Environmental Authority to operate a number of landfill sites, which encompasses a legal obligation to restore and
remediate any affected area. Costs associated with landfill restoration and remediation include leachate management, surface capping
and environmental monitoring. These costs can be incurred up to 30 years after a site officially ceases operational use. Remediation
costs for landfill sites that have ceased operational use will be incurred annually up to the year 2051. Landfill sites in operational use at
balance date, being the Reedy Creek and Stapylton sites, are expected to close between 2039 and 2053 with associated remediation
costs incurred up to 2084.
Council estimates and discounts expected future remediation costs to present value based on interest rates applicable to
Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities over the relevant period. Calculation of the provision for landfill remediation requires
assumptions such as application of environmental legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and engineering cost estimates.
These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from amounts currently provided. Because of the long-term nature
of the liability, the most significant uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. The provision is reviewed at
least annually and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time.
As all landfill sites are situated on Council controlled land, the provision for landfill remediation is included in the value of site
improvements for each respective landfill site. Annual movement in the provision for landfill remediation is presented below:
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

81,181

70,000

1,251

1,793

Remediation costs charged to the provision during period

(421)

(308)

Increase/(decrease) in provision due to changes in estimates

(546)

9,696

81,465

81,181

6,446

421

75,019

80,760

81,465

81,181

Opening balance

Increase in provision due to unwinding of discount

Closing balance

Current
Non-current

Changes to the provision resulting from the passing of time (the unwinding of discount) are treated as finance costs (refer to Note 12).
Amendments to the provision resulting from changes in estimates, which include any discount rate change, are recognised within the
accounts as either other revenue or other expenses. Refer to Note 8 and Note 13.
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26. BORROWINGS
All borrowings as at the balance date are with the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC). They are measured and disclosed in the
Statement of Financial Position at amortised cost of the principal outstanding. Interest is recognised as it accrues.
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

603,788

641,521

78,098

38,281

(110,619)

(112,581)

Finance charges

32,522

36,567

Closing balance

603,789

603,788

82,394

79,313

521,395

524,475

603,789

603,788

Opening balance
Loans raised
Debt service payments

Current
Non-current

Fair value of the borrowings at balance date was $698,138,000 (2019: $702,142,000). This represents the market value to extinguish
the debt.

27. ASSET REVALUATION SURPLUS
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Land

871,111

871,890

Major site improvements

157,561

157,561

Buildings

105,534

107,849

1,560,542

1,560,542

77,950

52,298

1,973,688

1,973,688

142,659

142,659

4,889,045

4,866,487

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

13,056

11,049

289

289

13,345

11,338

Year end balance of the asset revaluation surplus is comprised of the following:

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways
Flood mitigation and drainage
Water and sewerage infrastructure

28. SELF-INSURANCE RESERVE

Year end balance of Council's self-insurance reserve is comprised of the following:
Workers' compensation
Insurance liability

Council holds a licence under legislation in Queensland to manage its own workers' compensation claims. Council is also self-insured
for insurance claims applicable to financial years up to 2006 – 07. Insurance claims over a $20,000 retention (excess) after 30 June
2007 are the responsibility of City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd, which is wholly owned by Council.
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29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Workers' compensation self-insurance guarantee
As a self-insurer, Council holds a financial guarantee with WorkCover to the value of $16,896,000 (2019: $14,298,000).
The guarantee represents 150% of potential workers' compensation claims as assessed annually by independent actuarial advice.
Other contingent liabilities
Based on advice from Council's solicitors and after review by the City Solicitor, there are a number of claims, legal proceedings
and appeals that may result in financial settlement being made by Council to resolve the litigation. The total of these contingent
liabilities, liability for which is not admitted, is estimated at $30,800,000 (2019: $25,400,000). Refer to Note 28 for Council's
insurance cover.

30. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

138,912

137,606

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not recognised in
the financial statements
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments (2018 –19 only)

Minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:				
No later than one year

953

Later than one year and not later than five years

2,152

Later than five years

1,246
4,351

Refer to Note 24 for information on leases for 2019–20.
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31. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS
31.1 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow from operating activities
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

200,604

280,150

271,042

250,684

(134,974)

(169,895)

Unwinding of discount for landfill remediation provision

1,251

1,793

Adjustment to landfill remediation provision

(546)

9,696

Capital works in progress written-off

9,971

9,175

(421)

(308)

36,622

27,074

(10,187)

(8,652)

(123)

75

(24,181)

40,747

8,036

898

357,094

441,437

Net result for the year

Add/(deduct) non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation
Contributed asset revenue

Operating activities

Remediation costs charged to landfill provision

Investing activities

Loss on disposal of non-current assets

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Increase in receivables and prepayments
Decrease/(increase) in consumables
Increase/(decrease) in payables and unearned revenue
Increase in employee benefits
Net cash generated by operating activities

31.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Borrowings
Lease liabilities

As at
1 July 2019

Opening
value adj

Cash flows

Non-cash
changes

603,788

-

1

-

603,789

-

13,078

(1,009)

20

12,089

603,788

13,078

(1,008)

20

615,878

Refer to Note 1(c) for details on adjustment as at 1 July 2019 for application of new accounting standards for lease liabilities.
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32. SUPERANNUATION
Council contributes to the LGIAsuper Regional Defined Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the rate of 12% for each permanent employee
who is a defined benefit member. This rate is set in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed and may be varied on the advice
of an actuary. The Regional Defined Benefits Fund is a complying superannuation scheme for the purpose of the Commonwealth
Superannuation Industry (Supervision) legislation and is also governed by the Local Government Act 2009.
The scheme is a defined benefit plan, however Council is not able to account for it as a defined benefit plan in accordance with
AASB119 because LGIAsuper is unable to account for its proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, plan assets and costs.
Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may affect future benefits and result in a change to the contribution rate, but
has not been recognised as an asset or liability of the Council.
Technically Council can be liable to the scheme for a portion of another local government's obligations should that local government be
unable to meet them. However the risk of this occurring is extremely low and in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed changes to
Council's obligations will only be made on the advice of an actuary.
The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme was undertaken as at 1 July 2018. The actuary indicated that “At the valuation
date of 1 July 2018, the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested benefits and the scheme was in a satisfactory financial position
as at the valuation date." The Council is not aware of anything that has happened since that time that indicates the assets of the
scheme are not sufficient to meet the vested benefits, as at the reporting date.
No changes have been made to prescribed employer contributions which remain at 12% of employee wages and salaries and there
are no known requirements to change the rate of contributions.
The next triennial actuarial review is not due until 1 July 2021.
The most significant risks that may result in LGIAsuper increasing the contribution rate, on the advice of the actuary, are:
Investment risk – The risk that the scheme's investment returns will be lower than assumed and additional contributions are needed to
fund the shortfall.
Salary growth risk – The risk that wages or salaries will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing vested benefits to be funded.

Superannuation contributions made to the Regional Defined Benefits Fund
Other superannuation contributions for employees
Total superannuation contributions paid by Council for employees (refer Note 9)

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

2,355

2,565

33,806

31,339

36,161

33,904
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
33.1 Recognised fair value measurements
The table below presents all items measured and recognised
in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date
taking account of characteristics that are specific to that asset,
including an asset's highest and best use. On initial recognition of
an asset fair value can equate to historic cost. For asset classes
subject to regular revaluation processes, the following fair value
hierarchy is applied (in ascending order of priority), which reflects
the significance of inputs used in measuring the asset values:
Level 1 – Fair value reflects unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets
Level 2 – Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly
observable for the asset
As at 30 June 2020

Level 3 – Fair value derived from data not observable in a market
The fair value of assets not traded in an active market for
identical assets is determined using valuation techniques that
maximise the use of other observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an asset are observable the asset is
included in Level 2. Land and non-specialised buildings fall into
this category whenever external market inputs can be observed
and relied upon for asset valuation purposes. If one or more of
the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the
asset is included in Level 3. This applies to Council's major site
improvements, specialised buildings and infrastructure assets,
which, by their very nature, have no active market. The fair value
of such assets is determined based on current replacement cost.
Level 2

Level 3

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,144,982

-

2,144,982

-

306,877

306,877

54,048

596,511

650,559

Roads, bridges and major culverts

-

3,761,350

3,761,350

Pathways

-

303,541

303,541

Flood mitigation and drainage

-

3,017,887

3,017,887

Water and sewerage infrastructure

-

3,730,264

3,730,264

2,199,030

11,716,430

13,915,460

58,030

-

58,030

2,257,060

11,716,430

13,973,490

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Land
Major site improvements
Buildings

Property held for sale

As at 30 June 2019

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,118,996

-

2,118,996

-

304,358

304,358

55,999

603,333

659,332

Roads, bridges and major culverts

-

3,721,760

3,721,760

Pathways

-

272,158

272,158

Flood mitigation and drainage

-

2,974,481

2,974,481

Water and sewerage infrastructure

-

3,734,910

3,734,910

2,174,995

11,611,000

13,785,995

58,030

-

58,030

2,233,025

11,611,000

13,844,025

Land
Major site improvements
Buildings

Property held for sale

Council recognises transfers between the fair value hierarchy levels, where relevant, at the beginning of the reporting period. All fair value measurements are recognised on a
recurring basis. The potential impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19) on fair values as at 30 June 2020 is considered immaterial. Refer to Note 1(e) for further details.
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
33.2 Valuation techniques used to derive fair value
(a) Land
Land parcels are recognised at current market value based on
their highest and best use. Level 2 inputs are primarily used for
land during any valuation process. The most significant input
is price per square metre, which is derived by an independent
valuer by assessing comparative sales and market movements.
During 2019 –20, the following land parcels were independently
revalued by State Valuation Services (SVS) within the
Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy:
(i) Land contributed to Council during 2019–20;
(ii) Land acquired during 2019–20 at cost; and
(iii) Land parcels subject to change during 2019–20 via a partial
sale, subdivision or amalgamation.
All other land parcels were subject to a full revaluation by SVS
during the last three years.

(b) Buildings
Buildings controlled by Council where a market value can be
reliably determined were independently revalued by Australis
Asset Advisory Group (Australis), registered valuers as at 30
June 2020. The most significant input into the revaluation was
sales transactions of comparable properties within the City,
adjusted for any pertinent differences. Net lettable area and
revenue streams from rental income are also considered.
A total of 16 buildings were revalued based on these market
value principles, which is deemed to be fair value based on
Level 2 inputs.
For the majority of Council's buildings there is no active market
due to the specialised nature of the assets and the services
they provide. For such buildings fair value is determined on
the basis of replacement with a new building having similar
service potential. While some inputs used to determine
current replacement cost are supported by observable
data any revaluation process also references costing data
contained within Rawlinson's Australia Construction Handbook
encompassing Civil Works and Building costs as well as
costing information within their own database built up from prior
research. These are considered Level 3 type value inputs as
prescribed by the fair value hierarchy.
Buildings measured at replacement cost were independently
revalued by Australis Asset Advisory Group (Australis), registered
valuers as at 31 March 2016. The current use of each building
was presumed to be its highest and best use unless market or
other factors suggested otherwise. Values were determined on
the presumption that Council intends to retain the buildings on a
continuous basis and maintain the same usage classification as
at the date of valuation.

Condition assessments were undertaken at the time of
revaluation by Australis for the purpose of assessing remaining
useful life for depreciation purposes. Condition assessments do
not impact on the recognised written down value of buildings
as Council adopts the gross revaluation method, whereby
accumulated depreciation is adjusted proportionally to any
change in gross value.
For buildings measured at current replacement cost a valuation
increment of 5.62% was applied during 2017–18 for movements
since the last comprehensive revaluation. Current replacement
cost at 30 June 2020 was determined and benchmarked
against appropriate industry indices. Movement since the last
valuation increment was applied is not significant.

(c) Major site improvements
There is no market for Council's major site improvements due
to their specialised nature and the services they provide. As
such, the fair value of all major site improvements is determined
on the basis of replacement with a new asset having similar
service potential.
Current replacement cost (CRC) is measured by reference to the
lowest cost at which the gross economic benefits (i.e. service
potential) of the asset could be obtained in the normal course
of business. It is assumed that major site improvements will be
replaced by their modern equivalent.
A rolling revaluation process is currently being undertaken for
major site improvements. This process commenced in 2018 –19
and is scheduled to be completed in 2021–22. The revaluation
is being undertaken by suitably experienced and knowledgeable
Council staff. Assets revalued in 2018 –19 encompassed
retaining walls, seawalls, playing surfaces, swimming pools and
major boating facilities. All assets controlled by Council within
these asset types were subject to a comprehensive revaluation
as at 31 March 2019. Assets types still subject to the rolling
revaluation process are immaterial in value.
Inputs used in the CRC measurement primarily comprised unit
rates developed in-house with reference to internal construction
costs, contracted service providers, market acquisition costs
(where applicable) and Rawlinson's Australian Construction
Handbook. Factors included in the determination of unit rates
for major site improvements include on-costed labour charges
as well as directly attributable service, materials and plant
costs taking into account, where applicable, physical location
attributes. In applying the unit rates it is assumed environmental
factors such as soil type, climate and topography are consistent
across each site. It is also assumed that each asset is designed
and constructed to the same standard and construction costs
contain a consistent amount of labour and materials.
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
These are considered Level 3 type value inputs as prescribed
by the fair value hierarchy.

of 500m. All road segments are then componentised into
pavement and seal (where applicable).

For major site improvements subject to a comprehensive
revaluation in March 2019, current replacement cost at
30 June 2020 was determined and benchmarked against
appropriate industry indices. Movement since March 2019
was not significant.

Roads, bridges and major culverts were subject to a rolling
revaluation process in 2014 –15 and 2015–16. It was
undertaken by suitably experienced and knowledgeable
Council staff following corporate guidelines. During the
revaluation process Council assumed that environmental
factors such as soil type, climate and topography are
consistent across the segment. Council also assumes a
segment is designed and constructed to the same standard
and uses a consistent amount of labour and materials.
Current replacement cost was calculated by reference to
asset linear and area specifications, estimated labour and
material inputs, service costs and overhead allocations.

(d) Infrastructure assets
There is no market for Council's infrastructure assets due to
their specialised nature and the services they provide. As such,
the fair value of all infrastructure assets is determined on the
basis of replacement with a new asset having similar
service potential.
Current replacement cost (CRC) is measured by reference
to the lowest cost at which the gross economic benefits
(i.e. service potential) of the asset could be obtained in the
normal course of business. It is assumed that infrastructure
assets will be replaced by their modern equivalent.
Infrastructure assets are comprehensively revalued every three
to five years, based on component unit rates developed in-line
with asset renewal practices. Unit rates are developed inhouse with reference to internal construction costs, contracted
service providers, market acquisition costs (where applicable)
and Rawlinson's Australian Construction Handbook. Factors
included in the determination of component unit rates include
on-costed labour charges as well as directly attributable
service, materials and plant costs taking into account, where
applicable, physical location attributes such as soil type,
depth and urban density. These are considered Level 3 type
value inputs as prescribed by the fair value hierarchy.
Condition assessments are undertaken on an ongoing
basis for the purpose of assessing remaining useful
life for depreciation purposes. Condition assessments
do not impact on the recognised written down value
of infrastructure assets as Council adopts the gross
revaluation method whereby accumulated depreciation is
adjusted proportionally to any change in gross value.
Details specific for each infrastructure asset class are
presented below.
Roads, bridges and major culverts
Council categorises its road infrastructure into urban and
rural roads and further subcategorises these into sealed and
unsealed roads. Urban roads are managed in segments from
intersection to intersection averaging 200m, with a maximum
of 250m, while rural roads are managed in segments from
intersection to intersection averaging 450m, with a maximum
192

Council assumes that pavements are constructed to average
depths of 450mm for high traffic areas and 300mm for lower
traffic locations and that surfaces are constructed to average
depths of 60mm for high traffic areas and 30mm for lower traffic
locations. For internal construction estimates, material and
services prices were based on existing supplier contract rates
or supplier price lists and labour wage rates. All direct costs
were allocated to assets at standard usage quantities according
to recently completed similar projects. Where construction is
outsourced current replacement cost was based on the average
of completed similar projects over the last few years.
A valuation increment of 10.1% was applied during 2018 –19 for
movements since the last comprehensive revaluation.
Current replacement cost at 30 June 2020 was determined
using a desktop revaluation approach and was benchmarked
against appropriate industry indices. Movement since the last
valuation increment was not applied as it was not significant.
The desktop revaluation approach involved:
• Reviewing and updating asset unit costs based on recently
completed projects or schedule of rates supplied by
tenderers for capital works;
• Reviewing for changes in underlying assumptions including
construction methods, labour hours, traffic control; and
• Applying the updated rates to the asset base to determine a
weighted average valuation increment or decrement.
Pathways
Council categorises its pathways infrastructure into pedestrian
and shared use footpaths, boardwalks, stairs and footbridges
and further subcategorises these by width, thickness,
construction material and urban density. Footpaths are
managed in segments averaging 200m, with a maximum of
300m. The length of a standard footpath panel is 1.2m.
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
Pathways were last subject to a comprehensive revaluation
process as at 1 July 2015, which was performed in-house
by suitably experienced and knowledgeable Council staff
following corporate guidelines. The revaluation was based on
each asset’s physical characteristics, dimensions, construction
material and urban density parameters. Construction material
is considered to have the maximum impact on pathway asset
life. Current replacement cost is impacted by urban density
factors, which can increase site establishment and construction
costs. These factors were used to determine a unit rate range.
As part of the revaluation process Council assumed that
environmental factors such as soil type, climate and topography
are consistent across each segment. Council also assumed that
a segment is designed and constructed to the same standard
and uses a consistent amount of labour and materials.
Valuation increments of 6.98% and 9.37% were applied
during 2016 –17 and 2019– 20, respectively for movements
since the last comprehensive revaluation. These
increments were applied across all assets in the class.
Flood mitigation and drainage
Flood mitigation and drainage assets were subject to a
comprehensive revaluation process as at 31 March 2017. The
revaluation was performed in-house by suitably experienced and
knowledgeable Council staff following corporate guidelines.
The revaluation of flood mitigation and drainage assets was
based on each asset’s physical characteristics, dimensions,
depth and environmental parameters. Environmental
parameters and asset durability have the maximum impact
on an asset's useful life. Cost of replacement is significantly
impacted by urban density factors as well as dewatering
costs required for tidal intrusion. Environmental parameters
were identified and applied to individual assets based
on Council's Planning Scheme and tidal zone maps.
Asset component data was further segregated based
on attribute values that significantly influence the
replacement cost. A summary of the relevant factors
considered for the assets is presented below:
Factors considered
Urban Density		
Tidal Zone		

Categories
Low, medium, high
Tidal, non-tidal

A low to high range of unit rates was developed to take into
account individual asset attributes, physical location and
local environmental factors. Each of these parameters was
considered during the process to select the appropriate unit
rate from within the low to high range.
Key assumptions used in the flood mitigation and drainage
valuation were:

(a) Low rate of 18% and high rate of 36% overhead applied.
Council considers this to be acceptable and in line with
industry practice;
(b) Pipe segments have an average length of 200m;
(c) Each segment is designed and constructed to the
same standard and with a consistent amount of labour
and materials;
(d)		Circular pipes with diameters ≥ 375mm and ≤
2100mm and rectangular pipes with perimeters
≥ 525mm and ≤ 6000mm will be relined;
(e) Environmental factors such as soil type, climate and
topography are consistent across each pipe segment.
A valuation increment of 6.9% was applied during 2018 –19
for movements since the last comprehensive revaluation.
Current replacement cost at 30 June 2020 was determined and
benchmarked against appropriate industry indices. Movement
since the last valuation increment was applied is not significant.
Water and sewerage infrastructure
Water and sewerage infrastructure assets were subject to a
comprehensive revaluation process as at 31 March 2017. The
revaluation was performed both by Cardno (Qld) Pty Ltd and inhouse by suitably experienced and knowledgeable Council staff
following corporate guidelines. The majority of the valuation was
performed in-house, with Cardno responsible for the valuation
of unique sites, the Sewerage and Recycled Water Treatment
Plants, the Benowa Re-Pump Facility and the Staplyton Storage
Lagoon and a review of the useful lives adopted by Council.
During the revaluation process Cardno referenced building and
construction costings contained within Rawlinson's Australia
Construction Handbook as well as costing information contained
within its own database built up from prior research and contact
with suppliers. For internal construction estimates, material and
services prices were based on existing supplier contract rates
or supplier price lists and labour wage rates. All direct costs
were allocated to assets at standard usage quantities according
to recently completed similar projects. Where construction
is outsourced current replacement cost was based on the
average of completed similar projects over the last few years.
Asset component data was further segregated based on
attribute values that significantly influence the replacement
cost. A summary of the relevant factors considered for the
major component type of pipelines is presented below:
Factors considered
Categories
Development factors
Rural, urban and
					
high density urban
Soil factors		
Sand, good soil, acid sulphate
					
soil, poor soil, soft rock and
					hard rock
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Key assumptions used in the water and sewerage infrastructure valuation were:
(a) 12% overhead applied for the key pipe diameters for which
the contracts include design and preliminary planning costs;
(b) 20% overhead applied to the balance of the assets.
Council considers this to be acceptable and in line with
industry practice;
(c) Valuations of sewer gravity mains (underground assets)
were based on the assumption that they will be relined;

(d) Depending on the soil type in which underground assets
reside, adjustment factors were applied in determining
a valuation.
Current replacement cost at 30 June 2020 was determined
and benchmarked against appropriate industry indices.
Movement since the last comprehensive valuation in 2017
was not significant.

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Council's activities are exposed to a variety of financial
risks including credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.
Exposure to financial risks is managed in accordance with
Council approved policies on financial risk management.
These policies focus on managing the volatility of
financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse
effects on the financial performance of the Council.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk exposure refers to the situation where the Council
may incur financial loss as a result of another party to a financial
instrument failing to discharge its obligations. These obligations
arise principally from the Council's investments and receivables
from customers.
In the case of rate debtors and debtors for water and sewerage
utility charges, the Council has the power to sell the property
to recover any defaulted amounts. In effect, this power
protects the Council against credit risk for such debtors.
For other types of debtors and receivables, the Council
assesses the credit risk before providing goods or services

and applies normal business credit protection procedures to
minimise the risk. By the nature of local government operations,
there is a geographical concentration of risk in the Council area.
Council has investments with the Queensland Treasury
Corporation (QTC), banks and various other financial institutions.
The QTC cash fund is an asset management portfolio that
invests with a wide variety of high credit rating counterparties.
Deposits are capital guaranteed. Other investments held
by Council at year end are with high rated, regulated banks
or financial institutions, and whilst not capital guaranteed,
the likelihood of a credit failure is remote. Council does
not invest in derivatives or other high risk investments.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation
to each class of recognised financial asset is the gross carrying
amount of these assets inclusive of any impairment. No collateral
is held as security by Council in relation to any financial assets.
The following table represents Council's
maximum exposure to credit risk:

Financial assets

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents - QTC

225,655

74,380

Cash and cash equivalents - other financial institutions

760,727

989,641

Debtors for rates and utility charges

170,396

151,133

51,070

50,426

1,207,848

1,265,580

Other debtors and receivables

The following tables provide ageing analysis of Council's rates debtors and other debtors/receivables that are either fully performing,
past due or impaired:
2020
Debtor type
Not past due

Past due
< 12 months

Past due
> 12 months

Impaired

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Debtors for rates and utility charges

95,890

52,768

21,475

263

170,396

Other debtors and receivables

28,440

6,122

10,087

6,421

51,070

124,330

58,890

31,562

6,684

221,466

Total debtors and receivables
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2019
Debtor type
Not past due

Past due
< 12 months

Past due
> 12 months

Impaired

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Debtors for rates and utility charges

95,661

37,831

17,280

361

151,133

Other debtors and receivables

31,438

6,050

7,565

5,373

50,426

127,099

43,881

24,845

5,734

201,559

Total debtors and receivables

Factors Council considers when assessing the impairment of financial assets include the payment capability of individual debtors and the
historic percentage of debts that are eventually written-off once a specific debtor type becomes past due for a certain period of time.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the situation where the Council may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the
normal course of business and borrowings from the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC).
The Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities to cater for unexpected
volatility in cash flows. The following short term lines of credit were available as at the balance date:
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Working capital facility with QTC

100,000

100,000

Available at 30 June

100,000

100,000

The following maturity analysis sets out the liquidity risk in relation to financial liabilities held by the Council. It represents the remaining
undiscounted contractual cashflows (principal and interest) of financial liabilities as at the balance date:
2020

0 to 1 year

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

118,138

-

-

118,138

718

2,326

12,434

15,478

110,175

368,089

253,515

731,779

229,031

370,415

265,949

865,395

0 to 1 year

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Payables

124,471

-

-

124,471

Interest bearing loans with QTC

110,619

368,315

279,848

758,782

235,090

368,315

279,848

883,253

Payables
Lease liabilities
Interest bearing loans with QTC

2019

Outflows are not expected to occur significantly earlier and are not expected to be significantly different than presented in the above
table. Any liquidity risk stemming from Coronavirus (COVID-19) is deemed low. Refer to Note 1(e) for further details.

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Council's income or the value of its holdings
of financial instruments.
The Council is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings from QTC and investments held with financial institutions. The risk
in borrowing is effectively managed by borrowing only from QTC. Given that the interest rate risk in other areas is minimal, the Council
does not undertake any hedging of interest rate risk.
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35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
(a) Initial recognition of non-current assets
The initial recognition of non-current assets relates to items of property, plant and equipment that should have been included in
previous years' financial statements but have only been identified and placed into the financial asset register during the current
reporting period. All identified assets have been initially recognised at their written down fair value as at 1 July 2019 (as at 1 July 2018
for the comparative year) and are included within Note 20 as part of additions for the respective asset class.
Retrospective adjustments have not been applied due to the impractical nature of determining the written down fair value for each
initially recognised depreciable asset prior to the reporting date.
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Minor site improvements

7,549

2,149

Major site improvements

2,735

13,907

Buildings

-

68

Fleet, plant and equipment

-

151

5,978

6,686

891

1,263

Flood mitigation and drainage

7,611

18,323

Water and sewerage infrastructure

3,588

7,406

28,352

49,953

Initial recognition of property, plant and equipment by asset class:

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways

(b) Derecognition of non-current assets
Presented below are the written-down values of non-current assets derecognised due to prior year errors. These errors were caused
by a combination of issues, including duplicate data entry, not accounting for asset disposals and financially recognising assets
controlled by other entities.
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Minor site improvements

16

54

Major site improvements

94

1,361

-

75

2,103

2,018

64

399

2,040

12,381

2

312

4,319

16,600

Buildings
Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways
Flood mitigation and drainage
Water and sewerage infrastructure

The effective date of each asset derecognition is 1 July 2019 (as at 1 July 2018 for the comparative year). Retrospective adjustments
have not been applied due to the uncertainty of when the errors occurred.

196

CHAPTER 6 FINANCE

Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020
35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Correction for recognition of contributed infrastructure assets
During 2019 –20 Council brought to account contributed infrastructure assets totalling $12.254 million with commission dates during
2018 –19. As a result, for the comparative year of 2018 –19, Council understated its revenue and its property, plant and equipment
by $12.254 million. In addition, $14.693 million of contributed infrastructure assets was brought to account during 2019 –20 with
commission dates prior to 1 July 2018. This amount should have been recognised in years prior to 2018 –19. To correct the impact of
the prior year errors Council has adjusted the 2018 –19 comparative amounts in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement
of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity and applicable notes to the accounts. No prior year adjustments were actioned
for deprecation on the subject assets due to materiality.
Adjustments impacting financial statement line items for the 2018 –19 comparative year are presented below:
Actual
2019

Adjustment
2019

Restated
Actual 2019

$'000

$'000

$'000

277,345

12,254

289,599

1,607,522

12,254

1,619,776

Net result

267,896

12,254

280,150

Total comprehensive income for the year

843,852

12,254

856,106

Property, plant and equipment

14,398,506

26,947

14,425,453

Total assets

15,774,495

26,947

15,801,442

Net community assets

14,860,242

26,947

14,887,189

9,119,017

26,947

9,145,964

14,860,242

26,947

14,887,189

-

14,693

14,693

(11,931)

12,254

323

9,119,017

26,947

9,145,964

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Extract)

Revenue
Contributions and donations
Total revenue

Statement of Financial Position (Extract)

Non-current assets

Community equity
Retained capital
Total community equity

Statement of Changes in Equity (Extract)

Prior period adjustments to retained capital
Error correction for contributed assets
Allocation of comprehensive income to retained capital
Net result
Balance of retained capital at 30 June 2019
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35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Actual
2019

Adjustment
2019

Restated
Actual 2019

$'000

$'000

$'000

Water

617,316

1,421

618,737

Transport and Infrastructure

130,354

10,333

140,687

68,959

500

69,459

Water

617,316

1,421

618,737

Transport and Infrastructure

148,884

10,333

159,217

75,180

500

75,680

Water

605,502

1,421

606,923

Transport and Infrastructure

113,388

10,333

123,721

73,844

500

74,344

68,454

1,421

69,875

Transport and Infrastructure

(221,198)

10,333

(210,865)

Lifestyle and Community

(199,174)

500

(198,674)

Water

4,151,955

2,425

4,154,380

Transport and Infrastructure

7,266,933

23,782

7,290,715

Lifestyle and Community

1,788,391

740

1,789,131

157,641

12,254

169,895

Note 2 – Statement of Significant Functions (Extract)
Other income

Lifestyle and Community
Income before eliminations

Lifestyle and Community
Total income

Lifestyle and Community
Net result before eliminations

Water

Assets

Note 6 – Contributions and Donations

Contributed assets
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35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Actual
2019

Adjustment
2019

Restated
Actual 2019

$'000

$'000

$'000

Minor site improvements

226,816

11

226,827

Major site improvements

263,591

43

263,634

3,333,461

5,787

3,339,248

264,323

3,684

268,007

Flood mitigation and drainage

2,742,318

4,165

2,746,483

Water and sewerage infrastructure

3,770,957

1,003

3,771,960

Minor site improvements

6,210

105

6,315

Buildings

3,895

29

3,924

42,591

5,218

47,809

5,058

543

5,601

Flood mitigation and drainage

59,892

4,937

64,829

Water and sewerage infrastructure

44,869

1,422

46,291

Minor site improvements

241,454

116

241,570

Major site improvements

304,315

43

304,358

Buildings

659,303

29

659,332

3,710,755

11,005

3,721,760

267,931

4,227

272,158

Flood mitigation and drainage

2,965,379

9,102

2,974,481

Water and sewerage infrastructure

3,732,485

2,425

3,734,910

(157,641)

(12,254)

(169,895)

Major site improvements

304,315

43

304,358

Buildings

603,304

29

603,333

3,710,755

11,005

3,721,760

267,931

4,227

272,158

Flood mitigation and drainage

2,965,379

9,102

2,974,481

Water and sewerage infrastructure

3,732,485

2,425

3,734,910

Note 20.1 – Plant and Equipment for Year Ended 30 June 2019
Opening written down value as at 1 July 2018

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways

Asset additions for 2018 –19

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways

Closing written down value as at 30 June 2019

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways

Note 31.1 – Reconciliation of Net Result to Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities

Add/(deduct) non-cash items
Contributed asset revenue
Note 33.1 – Recognised Fair Value Measurements

Level 3 values as at 30 June 2019

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways
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36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a) Controlled entities
Interests in controlled entities are disclosed in Note 1(b). The following transactions occurred with Council's controlled entities:
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

1,760

6,256

21,264

17,938

Insurance paid by Council

6,912

7,328

Materials and services paid by Council

1,222

1,162

Other revenue received by Council
Contributions paid by Council

Council maintains and manages all insurance policies as required by the controlled entities. Council provides free rental
accommodation to HOTA Gold Coast Pty Ltd. During 2019 –20, Council also provided free rental accommodation to Major Events
Gold Coast Pty Ltd, a controlled entity, for part of the year. The controlled entities are dependent on funding provided by Council.
Funding support has been agreed to by the Council for the 2020 – 21 financial year.

(b) Transactions with associates
The following transactions occurred with Placemakers Gold Coast Ltd (formerly Bleached Arts Ltd), an associate of Council:

Other revenue received by Council
Contributions paid by Council
Materials and services paid by Council

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

-

13

1,570

1,967

40

30

(c) Transactions with key management personnel (KMP)
Key management personnel include the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Directors.
Compensation paid to key management personnel for the year comprises:
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

5,122

5,056

Post-employee benefits

597

575

Other long-term benefits

65

64

5,784

5,695

Short-term employee benefits

In addition to compensation paid to key management personnel, Council reimbursed key management personnel approved business
expenses which were incurred as part of performing their duties.
Included in Council's revenue for 2018–19 was a $1,250 fine paid by key management personnel to Council in accordance with a
decision by the Local Government Remuneration and Discipline Tribunal.
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36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(d) Transactions with other related parties
Other related parties include the close family members of key management personnel and any entities controlled or jointly controlled
by key management personnel or their close family members. Details of transactions between Council and other related parties are
disclosed below.

Rental revenue from entities controlled by close family member of KMP
Employee expenses for close family members of KMP

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

9

-

101

94

Council leased a business premise to an entity controlled by a close family member of a KMP during the current year. The transaction
occurred through an arm's length process under normal terms and conditions.
Close family members of key management personnel were employed through an arm's length process and are paid in accordance with
the award for the job they perform.

(e) Outstanding balances
The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties.
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

989

902

Payables to controlled entities

15

18

Payables to associate

13

239

2

-

Receivables from controlled entities

Payables to other related party

No expense has been recognised in the current year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of amounts owed by related parties.

(f) Transactions with related parties not disclosed
On a regular basis ordinary citizen transactions occur between Council and its related parties. Examples include rates, use of Council
swimming pools and library borrowings. Council has not included these types of transactions in its disclosure where they are made on
the same terms and conditions available to the general public.

37. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS
Surfers Paradise Transit Centre and Bruce Bishop Carpark are included in Note 17 as property held for sale. During August 2020
Council was formally advised that the Invitation to Tender and Preliminary Agreement were terminated. The likelihood of a sale in the
near future will be reassessed in 2020 –21 based on market conditions.
Effective 1 July 2020, Council's controlled entity Major Events Gold Coast Pty Ltd assumed responsibility for the performance of some
of the functions formerly performed by other controlled entities of Council, being Broadbeach Alliance Ltd, Surfers Paradise Alliance Ltd
and Connecting Southern Gold Coast Ltd. Assets and liabilities of these entities were also transferred to Major Events Gold Coast Pty
Ltd on 1 July 2020 in consideration for the performance of transition services to be undertaken by Major Events Gold Coast Pty Ltd as
defined in transition services agreements. It is management’s intention to deregister Surfers Paradise Alliance Ltd, Broadbeach Alliance
Ltd and Connecting Southern Gold Coast Ltd during 2020 –21. As part of the transition, Council novated approximately $3,800,000 in
event funding contracts to Major Events Gold Coast Pty Ltd in July 2020 that spans four years. In September 2020, Major Events Gold
Coast Pty Ltd entered into a lease agreement with Council for its principal place of business. The total amount payable under the lease
agreement is $1,348,047 with an expiry date of 30 June 2029.
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the financial year that has materially affected or may materially affect the
operation or results of the reporting entity or the state of affairs of the reporting entity in the subsequent financial year.
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38. ACTIVITIES TO WHICH THE CODE OF COMPETITIVE CONDUCT APPLIES
Under the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 a local government may elect to apply a Code of Competitive Conduct
(CCC) to its business activities. This requires the application of full cost pricing, identifying the cost of community service obligations
(CSOs) and eliminating the advantages and disadvantages of public ownership within the activity.
Council has resolved in relation to the activities listed below to implement the following:
Activity

Reform

Reason for Code of Competitive Conduct (CCC) not being adopted

Water

Apply CCC

Waste management

Apply CCC

Tourist parks

Apply CCC

Building certification group

Apply CCC

Community facilities

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

Off-street car parking

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

Swimming pools

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

Cemeteries

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

The following activity statements are for the activities subject to the Code of Competitive Conduct:
Water

Waste
management

Tourist parks

Building
certification

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

8,399

4,497

-

105

590,051

104,773

15,104

11

2,117

3,048

885

285

Total revenue

600,567

112,318

15,989

401

Less: expenditure

565,489

98,103

15,436

205

35,078

14,215

553

196

Revenue

Revenue for services provided to the Council
Revenue for services provided to external clients
Community service obligations

Net result

Community service obligations (CSOs)
The CSO value is determined by Council and represents an activity's costs which would not be incurred if the activity's primary
objective were to make a profit. The Council provides funding from general revenue to the business activity to cover the cost of
providing non-commercial community services or costs deemed to be CSOs by the Council. Details of CSOs relevant to activities
subject to the Code of Competitive Conduct are presented below:
Activity

CSO description

$'000

Water

Monitoring of recreational water environments and implementation of related
environmental restoration actions

2,117

Waste management

Dead animal collections, street and park bin collections and eligible rate donations
pertaining to charitable organisations

3,048

Tourist parks

Purchase of manufactured homes on permanent rental sites at Kirra Beach Tourist Park

885

Building certification

Non chargeable employee costs for time allocated to general public inquiries

285
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6.3.2 Independent Auditor's Report

To the Councillors of Council of the City of Gold Coast

Report on the audit of the financial report
Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial report of Council of the City of Gold Coast (the
council).
In my opinion, the financial report:
a)

gives a true and fair view of the c
as at 30 June 2020, and of
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended

b)

complies with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 2012
and Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management certificate given
by the Mayor and the Chief Executive Officer.
Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the
responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of
my report.
I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code
and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most
significance in my audit of the financial report of the current period. I address these matters
in the context of my audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming my opinion
thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Infrastructure assets valuation using current replacement cost ($10.813 million)
Refer to note 20 in the financial report
Key audit matter

culverts, pathways, flood mitigation and drainage, and
water and sewerage) were measured at fair value at
balance date using the current replacement cost method
that comprises:
Gross replacement cost, less
Accumulated depreciation.
Council values the gross replacement cost of its
infrastructure assets with reference to the average cost
(unit rate) at which it could construct a substitute asset
of comparable quality in the normal course of business.
Unit rates were developed in-house in 2019-20 (for
roads, bridges and major culverts, pathways, flood
mitigation and drainage and water and sewerage asset
classes) with reference to internal construction costs,
contracted service provider rates, market acquisition
costs and independent entity Construction Handbooks.
For the current year, these rates have been indexed to
reflect subsequent changes in construction costs. Unit
rates require significant judgement for determining the:
parts of assets (components) that are replaced at
different times in the asset lifecycle, or that have
materially different replacement costs due to
physical location attributes
average project dimensions
tasks (and applicable costs) required for replacing
components, excluding those that result in
duplication or are ineligible for inclusion in the cost
of an asset
on-costed labour charges
directly attributable service, materials, and plant
costs (inputs) for each applicable task
indices for measuring subsequent changes in unit
rates.
In measuring accumulated depreciation, c
engineers and asset managers use significant
judgement for estimating how long asset components
with long lives will provide future economic benefits.
Asset lives are dependent on a range of factors
including asset management practices, maintenance
programs, construction materials and construction
methods, obsolescence, environmental factors,
degradation through use, management intentions and
fiscal availability.
The significant judgements required for gross
replacement cost and useful lives outlined above are
also significant for calculating annual depreciation
expense.

How my audit addressed the key audit matter
My procedures included, but were not limited to:
Assessing the reasonableness of unit rates by:
Inquiring with council management and
engineering staff to identify if there had been
any significant changes to construction costs
resulting from factors such as changed building
codes, environmental or safety regulations, or
other factors such as changed construction
methods and technological advances.
Evaluating the methods by which council
determined the movement in unit cost indices
and reasonableness of the result.
We did this by
against recent construction activity and
asset management plans
assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of valuers who have provided
information on unit cost movements
reviewing recent projects and current asset
management plans for material changes in
representative project dimensions, input
types and input quantities
considering evidence of labour rate changes
and supplier rate changes
comparison with other publicly available
indices and other available information on
the movement of key cost drivers.
Assessing the reasonableness of infrastructure
assets useful lives by
assessment of useful lives
reviewing for evidence of infrastructure
obsolescence, failure or disposals that could
indicate a remaining useful life less than
what is recorded
reviewing for evidence of infrastructure
assets continuing to be used for longer than
their recorded useful lives
comparing c
assumptions to other local councils
considering whether c
management plans are consistent with
useful lives assigned to infrastructure
assets.
a
performing asset condition assessments
and making adjustments in its asset
registers and financial systems.
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Other information
Other information comprises financial and non-financial information (other than the audited
available other information in Council of the City of Gold
was the current year financial
sustainability statement and long-term financial sustainability statement.
The councillors are responsible for the other information.
My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. However, as required by the Local
Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a separate opinion on the current year financial
sustainability statement.
In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the councillors for the financial report
The councillors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation
2012 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the councillors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The councillors are also responsible for assessing the council's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the council or to otherwise cease
operations of the Council.
inancial report
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the council's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the c
use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Council's ability
to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my conclusions
events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that I identify during my audit.
From the matters communicated with the council, I determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. I describe these matters
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, I determine that the
matters should not be communicated in my report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2020:
a)

I received all the information and explanations I required.

b)

In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of
accounts were complied with in all material respects.

12 October 2020
Melissa Read
as delegate of the Auditor-General

Queensland Audit Office
Brisbane

207

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – 20

6.4 CURRENT YEAR FINANCIAL
SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Measures of Financial Sustainability
Sustainability Ratio

How the measure is calculated

Actual Result

Target

Operating Surplus Ratio

Net Result (excluding capital items)
divided by total operating revenue
(excluding capital items)

(1.3%)

Between 0% and 10%

Asset Sustainability Ratio

Capital expenditure on the replacement
of assets (renewals) divided by
depreciation expense

62.7%

Greater than 90%

Net Financial Liabilities Ratio

Total liabilities less current assets
divided by total operating revenue
(excluding capital items)

(24.7%)

Not greater than 60%

Notes:
1. Basis of preparation – The current year financial sustainability statement is a special purpose statement prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Local Government Regulation 2012 and the Financial Management (Sustainability) Guideline 2013.
The amounts used to calculate the three reported measures are prepared on an accrual basis and are consistent with the Council's
audited general purpose financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.
2. The operating surplus ratio and asset sustainability ratio use accounting depreciation as the measure for the decline in value of
assets and therefore the required renewal expenditure. Council has embraced asset management as a key component of long-term
financial sustainability. Council places heavy reliance on its asset management plans for the maintenance, renewal and replacement
of infrastructure assets to meet the service delivery needs of the community, now and in the future. The asset management plans set
the optimal schedule of proposed maintenance, renewal and replacement to achieve specified service levels while minimising asset
life cycle costs. Council uses its asset management plans to determine appropriate funding for the replacement and renewal of its
long term infrastructure assets rather than rely on funding depreciation. As such Council believes that the operating surplus ratio and
asset sustainability ratio should be viewed in isolation.
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6.4.2 Independent Auditor’s Report – Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement
6.4.2 Independent Auditor's Report - Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement

To the Councillors of Council of the City of Gold Coast
Report on the current year financial sustainability statement
Opinion
I have audited the accompanying current year financial sustainability statement of Council of
the City of Gold Coast (the council) for the year ended 30 June 2020 comprising the
statement, explanatory notes, and the certificate of accuracy given by the Mayor and the
Chief Executive Officer.
In accordance with section 212 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, in my opinion, in
all material respects, the current year financial sustainability statement of Council of the City
of Gold Coast for the year ended 30 June 2020 has been accurately calculated.
Basis of opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the
responsibilities for the audit of the current year financial
sustainability statement section of my report.
I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the statement in
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code
and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.
Emphasis of matter

basis of accounting

I draw attention to Note 1 which describes the basis of accounting. The current year financial
sustainability statement has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management
(Sustainability) Guideline 2013 for the purpose of fulfilling the c
responsibilities under the Local Government Regulation 2012. As a result, the statement
may not be suitable for another purpose. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Information
Other information comprises financial and non-financial information (other than the audited
Council of the City of
2020 was the general purpose
Gold Coast
financial statements and long-term financial sustainability statement.
The councillors are responsible for the other information.
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My opinion on the current year financial sustainability statement does not cover the other
information and accordingly I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
However, as required by the Local Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a
separate opinion on the general purpose financial report.
In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the councillors for the current year financial sustainability
statement
The councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the current year
financial sustainability statement in accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012.
responsibility also includes such internal control as the councillors determine
The council
is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the statement that is
accurately calculated and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
statement

udit of the current year financial sustainability

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the current year financial
sustainability statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of this statement.
My responsibility does not extend to forming an opinion on the appropriateness or relevance
of the reported ratios, nor on the c
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the statement, including the
disclosures, and whether the statement represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.
12 October 2020
Melissa Read
as delegate of the Auditor-General
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6.5 LONG-TERM FINANCIAL
SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
Prepared as at 30 June 2020
Measures of Financial Sustainability
Sustainability
Ratio

How the
measure is
calculated

Target

Actual
at 30
June
2020

30
June
2021

30
June
2022

30
June
2023

30
June
2024

30
June
2025

30
June
2026

30
June
2027

30
June
2028

30
June
2029

30
June
2030

Operating
Surplus Ratio

Net Result
(excluding
capital items)
divided by
total operating
revenue
(excluding
capital items)

Between
0% and
10%

(1.3%)

0%

5%

5%

3%

1%

5%

5%

5%

6%

6%

Asset
Sustainability
Ratio

Capital
expenditure on
the replacement
of assets
(renewals)
divided by
depreciation
expense

Greater
than 90%

62.7%

45%

45%

47%

47%

47%

46%

43%

46%

47%

48%

Net Financial
Liabilities
Ratio

Total liabilities
less current
assets divided
by total
operating
revenue
(excluding
capital items)

Not
greater
than 60%

(24.7%)

(9%)

3%

13%

24%

21%

14%

7%

2%

(5%)

(12%)

Notes: The ratios in this financial sustainability statement are calculated in accordance with the Financial Management (Sustainability)
Guideline 2013 produced by the Department of Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning. The operating surplus ratio and
asset sustainability ratio use accounting depreciation as the measure for the decline in value of assets and therefore the required
renewal expenditure.
Council has embraced asset management as a key component of long-term financial sustainability. Council places heavy reliance on
its asset management plans for the maintenance, renewal and replacement of infrastructure assets to meet the service delivery needs
of the community, now and in the future. The asset management plans set the optimal schedule of proposed maintenance, renewal
and replacement to achieve specified service levels while minimising asset life cycle costs. Council uses its asset management plans
to determine appropriate funding for the replacement and renewal of its long term infrastructure assets rather than rely on funding
depreciation. As such Council believes that the operating surplus ratio and asset sustainability ratio should not be viewed in isolation.
Council's Financial Management Strategy
Detailed Service Financial Forecasts (ten year financial plans) are maintained for major service areas including City Transport, Parks
Natural Areas & Recreation, Major Sporting & Aquatic Centres, Library Services, Community Centres, Water & Sewerage Services,
Waste Management Services, Tourist Parks, Flooding & Drainage, Beaches & Waterways and Information Management. They are
incorporated into the Long Term Financial Forecast with the remainder of Council's financial information. The forecast is consistent
with Council's Total Asset Management Plan.
In preparing the long-term financial forecast Council has sought to ease the burden on ratepayers by keeping rates at a reasonable
level and borrowings to a minimum whilst continuing to invest in infrastructure asset renewal and key services.
Financial decisions are guided by corporate policies, strategies and principles of effective financial management.
Council regularly models financial performance, financial position and cash flow forecasts to monitor the long term sustainability of
financial decisions. A comprehensive analysis of the long-term financial outlook is undertaken between July and December each year,
which sets the context and financial boundaries for the development of the annual budget.
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6.5.1 Certificate of Accuracy – Long-Term Financial Sustainability Statement
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// Top: Tallebudgera Creek smoking ceremony. Bottom: Adapting to Covid restrictions, cafés and restaurants providing take away services for customers.
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7.0

APPENDICES
Chapter seven provides details of grants
to community organisations, indexes and
other supporting information.

CHAPTER 7 APPENDICES

7.1 MAYOR AND DIVISIONAL DONATIONS
Divisional donations for the financial year totalled $586,578.
In accordance with section 189 of the Regulation, the following tables provide details of the organisations and amounts funded
under the Mayor and Councillor Divisional Donations Program.
Round 1 of the divisional donations program was conducted prior to the March 2020 election.

Table 59: Mayoral donations

Mayor Tom Tate
Organisation

Purpose of donation

At The Ark Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

Aveo Robina Music Appreciation Group - auspiced under Robina
Lions Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Gold Coast City Regional Basketball Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000

Helensvale Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Lions Club of Robina Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Mermaid Waters Multicultural Garden Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,500

Moondarewa Incorporated

Business case development - all
divisions – the Spit (ocean park)
Aboriginal cultural centre, task force
committee, operational costs

333

Moondarewa Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

333

Moondarewa Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

333

Moondarewa Incorporated

Purchase of equipment
– native beehive

333

Nerang District Guides – auspiced under Guides Queensland

Support program/function costs

3,500

Nerang RSL Netball Club

Learning aids/booklets

2,000

Pacifika Limited

Operational/maintenance costs

3,000

Rev. Dr Ian Mavor Foundation for Integral Education Health
and Spirituality Limited

Purchase of equipment

3,750

Set Free Ministries trading as Set Free Care

Purchase of equipment

2,500

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

1,500

TOTAL (18)

Amount ($)

2,000
200

29,782

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Table 60: Division 1 donations

Division 1
Cr Donna Gates (Deputy Mayor)
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Cedar Creek State School Parents and Citizens' Association

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Coomera & District Soccer & Recreational Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs
– fix the change room amenities

2,000

Coomera Anglican College – The Corporation of the Synod of the Diocese of
Brisbane Trading as Coomera Anglican College

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Coomera Springs State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,500

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited - Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Purchase of promotional material

200

Crosslife, a Baptist Church, auspiced under The Baptist Union of Queensland

Operational/maintenance costs

800

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre Gold Coast Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Highland Reserve State School P&C Association

Support program/function costs

1,000

Jacobs Well and District Progress Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Jacobs Well Fishing and Social Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Lions Club of Ormeau Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000

My Community Legal Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

Norfolk Village State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

North Albert Field Archers Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

North East Albert Landcare Group Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Ormeau Bulldogs Australian Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Ormeau Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of Equipment

1,000

Ormeau Junior Rugby League Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Ormeau Progress Association Incorporated

Administration costs

Ormeau State School Parents and Citizens Association

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Pacifika Limited

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Pimpama Island & Districts Community Centre Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Pimpama Island Sports Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Pimpama Men's Shed Incorporated

Engineering, soils testing and survey
services for construction of an addition
to the existing Men's Shed at 15 Clark
Way, Pimpama

2,000

Pimpama State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Returned & Services League of Australia (Qld Branch) North Gold Coast Sub
Branch Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500

Returned & Services League of Australia (Qld Branch) North Gold Coast Sub
Branch Incorporated

Support the provision of the Centenary
of Armistice Day for the community

500

Rivermount Education Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Rotary Club of Coomera Valley Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Rotary Club of Ormeau-Pimpama - auspiced under Rotary Club
of Beenleigh Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Saint Stephen's College Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Scripture Union Queensland

Purchase of equipment

500

The Crèche and Kindergarten Association Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,000

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.)
T/A Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs

500

Toogoolawa Schools Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500

Upper Coomera Lions Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Upper Coomera Neighbourhood Watch
– registered Queensland Police Services

Support program/function costs

1,000

Upper Coomera State College

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Woongoolba State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500

TOTAL (41)

Amount $

40,000.00

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Table 61: Division 2 donations

Division 2
Cr William Owen- Jones
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Christmas Presents for Kids in Care Limited

Purchase of equipment

500

Coomera 19 – Monterey Keys/Oyster Cove/Hope Island
Neighbourhood Watch

Operational/maintenance costs

500

Coomera City Warriors Basketball Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Coomera Cubs Baseball Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Coomera Hope Island Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited – Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Purchase of Promotional Material

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000

Gaven State School P&C Association

Purchase of equipment
– air conditioning

1,000

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Helensvale Hornets Junior Rugby League Football Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

3,000

Helensvale Branch of Australia Red Cross
– auspiced under Australian Red Cross

Purchase of equipment

500

Helensvale Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Helensvale Netball Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Helensvale Rugby Union Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,200

Helensvale Senior Citizen Club Incorporated

Administration costs

1,200

Helensvale State High School

Support program/function costs

1,420

Helensvale State School P&C Association

Support program/function costs

1,000

Helensvale Swimming Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Highland Reserve State School P&C

Support program/function costs

1,000

Japan Karate Do Hakuakai Australia Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,500

Lions Club of Helensvale Incorporated

Purchase of shirts for club members

1,850

Oxenford/Coomera VIEW Club – auspiced under The Smith Family

Purchase of equipment

500

Oxenford Neighbourhood Watch Incorporated
(application has Burleigh Heads Ladies Probus Club Incorporated)

Operational/maintenance costs

500

Oxenford State School P and C Association

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Returned & Services League of Australia (Qld Branch) North Gold Coast Sub
Branch Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

River Downs Neighbourhood Watch (Coomera 5) – registered with
Queensland Police Services

Maintenance costs,
administration costs

1,500

Rotary Club of Coomera Valley Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000

Sew Crazy Quilters Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Southport Afternoon Stamp Club Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500

Southport Yacht Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,830

The Crèche and Kindergarten Association Limited

Purchase of equipment

500

Upper Coomera School of Arts Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000

Vocalescence Chorus Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

TOTAL (34)

45,000

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019

// Behind the scenes on set of Bloody Hell at Village Roadshow Studios Oxenford. Photo credit: Daniel Bergho © Hel of a Time Pty Ltd.
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Table 62: Division 3 donations

Division 3
Cr Cameron Caldwell
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Biggera Waters State School P & C Association

Purchase of equipment

Combined Probus Club of Paradise Point Incorporated

Administration costs

500

Coombabah State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

550

Coomera 19 Monterey Keys, Oyster Cove, Hope Island
– auspiced under Neighbourhood Watch Queensland

Operational/maintenance costs

500

Coomera Crushers Rugby Union Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Coomera Waters Fishing Club Incorporated

Purchase of Equipment

2,000

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited - Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee - auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Purchase of promotional material

500

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

500

Eczema Support Australia (previously known as Hands to Hold Ltd)

Support program/function costs

200

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

200

Gold Coast Game Fish Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000

Gold Coast Gymnastics Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Gold Coast Recreation & Sport Incorporated

Purchase of equipment, awards
ceremony costs, support program costs

Gold Coast Roller Sports Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Hammond Village Home Owners Association

Administration costs
– support for our pensioner members

1,000

Mercury's Wings Theatre Company

Administration costs

500

Moondarewa Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

200

My Community Legal Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

500

North Gold Coast Seahawks Basketball Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Pacifika Gold Coast Limited

Maintenance costs

Roosters Hockey Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Rotary Club of Hope Island Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Rotary Runaway Bay Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Runaway Bay RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Runaway Bay Senior Rugby League Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,034

Southport Yacht Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Tara Brown Foundation Ltd (For Domestic Violence Relief)

Operational/maintenance costs

500

The Runaway Bay Sport and Leadership Centre Parents Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

500

The Scouts Association of Australia Queensland Branch Inc. Paradise Point
Group (under Nerang Scout Group)

Purchase of equipment

500

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

200

TOTAL (31)
Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019

222

Amount $

2,000

500
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500
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// Gymnastics Championships, Gold Coast Sports and Leisure Centre, Carrara.

In addition to the above, the following donations were committed from the 2018 –19 allocations and paid in the 2019 –20 financial year.

Table 63: Division 3 donation, 2018–19

Division 3
Cr Cameron Caldwell
Organisation

Purpose of donation

New Beginnings registered as SAH Vision Quest Association Inc.
– auspiced under SAPH Vision Quest Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Rotary Runaway Bay Incorporated

Support program/function costs

TOTAL (2)

Amount $

200
2,000
2,200
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Table 64: Division 4 donations

Division 4
Cr Kristyn Boulton
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Animal Welfare League of Queensland Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Arundel State School

Operational/maintenance costs

Australian Bosnian and Herzegovinian Women's Association
– Bosanka Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Biggera Waters State School P&C

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Coast Life Care Association Incorporated

Support program costs

2,000

Coombabah State High School P&C

Purchase of equipment

3,700

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited – Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Purchase of promotional material

Dodgers Touch Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

1,000

Eritrean– Australian Gold Coast Association Incorporated

Support program/function costs

500

Filipino-Australian Community of Gold Coast Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

500

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Hope Starts Here Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Inner Wheel Club of Gold Coast North Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Kusuma Indonesia Community Australia Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Labrador Junior Australian Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Labrador Kindergarten Association

Purchase of equipment

500

Labrador State School P&C Association

Support program/function costs

500

Lifehouse Christian Church Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Little Souls Taking Big Steps Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Local Chaplaincy Committee – Labrador State School
– auspiced under Coast Lifecare Association Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

M.O.T Club Incorporated T/A Beauties Feeling Fabulous

Support program/function costs

2,000
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Men's Shed Labrador Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Military Brotherhood MMC – Gold Coast Sub Branch Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Montrose Therapy & Respite Services

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Moondarewa Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – native beehive

New Life Community Care

Purchase of equipment

1,000

One Family Australia Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Oromo Community of Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Queensland Country Women’s Association QCWA Division South Eastern
– auspiced under The Qld County Women's Association

Operational/maintenance costs

3,000

Quota International of Gold Coast Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

2,500

Rotary Club of Parkwood Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Runaway Bay 3 Neighbourhood Watch
– auspiced under Gold Coast District Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Administration costs

Runaway Bay Lions Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Runaway Bay RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Serbian-Australian Pensioners Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Southport Labrador Cricket Club

Purchase of equipment

1,000

The Benevolent Society - Women’s Space

Purchase of equipment

1,000

The Surfers Sunrise Wheelchair Trust
– auspiced under The Rotary Club of Surfers Sunrise

Support program/function costs

1,000

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.) T/A Wesley
Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs

1,500

U3A North Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

TOTAL (43)

Amount $

300

500

50,000

Notes: Councillor Boulton represented Division 4 in 2019 –20 from 1 July 2019 – 19 April 2020. All allocations were made in Round 1.
Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Table 65: Division 5 donations

Division 5
Cr Peter Young
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Bats Qld (Flying Foxes and Microbats) Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

3,500

Gold Coast Cycling Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,600

Gold Coast Family History Society Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Gold Coast Green Living Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Helensvale Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Kiwanis Club of Pacific Pines Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,800

Liberty Community Connect Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

Lotus Living Organically Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,700

Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,800

Moondarewa Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

300

Moondarewa Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – native beehive

300

Mudgeeraba Nerang & Districts Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

250

Nerang BMX Club Incorporated

Fencing at back of start hill to make it
safer and easier to organise staging for
large events

1,800

Nerang Community Association Incorporated auspiced under The Corp of
the Synod of the Diocese of Brisbane

Administration costs

1,800

Nerang Community Garden Association Incorporated

Maintenance costs – upgrade the site
with regards to pumps and grow bed
layout to minimise water consumption
and improve the growing of plants.

1,800

Nerang Community Garden Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,800

Nerang District Guides – auspiced under Guides Queensland

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Nerang Men’s Shed Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Nerang RSL Swimming Club
– auspiced under Nerang RSL & Memorial Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Nerang Scout Group
– auspiced under The Scout Association of Australia Queensland

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Nerang Senior Citizens Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Nerang Soccer Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Nerang State High School P&C Association

Purchase of equipment

1,900

Nerang State School

Purchase of promotional material

2,000

Pacific Pines Basketball Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,500

Pacific Pines Junior AFL Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Pacific Pines Primary School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

1,800

Pacific Pines State High School

Purchase of equipment

1,900

Rotary Club of Nerang Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Tails of the Forgotten Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,300

The Crèche and Kindergarten Association Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,750

TOTAL (32)
Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Table 66: Division 6 donations

Division 6
Cr Dawn Crichlow OAM
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Angels Kitchen (a ministry of Southport Catholic Parish – the name on Bank
Statement) – auspiced under Southport Catholic Parish

Provision of meals to homeless and
persons in need on Sundays

1,000

Ashmore Branch Little Athletics Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Australian Red Cross, Southport Branch
– auspiced under Australian Red Cross Society

Purchase of materials for making
trauma teddies and craft items and
operating costs for these projects

1,000

Cancer Support Sisters Incorporated

Administration costs

2,000

Crestwood Heights Estate Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

1,000

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000

Gold Coast Masters Athletics Association Incorporated

Administration costs

2,000

Gold Coast Smocking Group
– The Embroiderers Guild of Queensland Southport Branch Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Gold Coast Sport Fishing Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

Gold Coast University Hospital Community Garden Group
– auspiced under Gold Coast Hospital Foundation

Purchase of equipment

Loders Creek Catchment Association Incorporated

Administration costs

Lynne Richardson Community Centre
– auspiced under Silver Bridle Action Group Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

750

Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,350

Probus Club of Southport Incorporated

Administration costs

Queens Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Queensland Academy for Health Sciences

Support program/function costs

Queensland Naval Brigade Historical Association Southport Volunteer
Company Incorporated

Replacement of illegible brass plaques

2,000

Rotary Club of Ashmore Incorporated

Provide extra facilities

2,000

Set Free Ministries trading as Set Free Care

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Southport Amateur Fishing Club Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000

Southport Croquet Club Incorporated

Administration costs

2,000

Southport RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Southport Sharks Swimming Club Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000

Southport State High School Parents and Citizens Association

Support program/function costs

2,000

Southport View Club (as part of The Smith Family)
– auspiced under The Smith Family

Support program/function costs

1,000

Surfers Paradise Swimming Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Te Iwi Tahi Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

TOTAL (28)

Amount $

300
1,000
500
1,500

750
1,500
500

850

35,000

Notes: Councillor Crichlow represented Division 6 in 2019–20 from 1 July 2019 – 19 April 2020. All allocations were made in Round 1.
Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Table 67: Division 7 donations

Division 7
Cr Gary Baildon AM
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Abilities Plus – Learning By Doing Group Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Allstars Netball Club – Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,250

Australian Bosnian and Herzegovinian Women's Association
– Bosanka Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Benowa Bowls Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

3,000

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000

Gold Coast Potters Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Jazz Action Society – Gold Coast Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,750

Joan Park Community Gardens Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,850

Keebra Park High P&C Association

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Keebra Park State High School

Learning aids/booklets

1,000

Moondarewa Incorporated

Business case development – all
divisions – the Spit (ocean park)
Aboriginal cultural centre, task force
committee, operational costs

One Arts Gold Coast Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,750

Sculptors Society Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

St Johns Crisis Centre – Surfers Paradise Anglican Crisis Centre Incorporated

Purchase of food

4,000

Surfers Paradise Anglican Parish
– auspiced under The Corporation of the Synod of the Diocese

Support program/function costs

1,000

Surfers Paradise Baseball Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,500

The Spotlight Theatrical Company

Operational/maintenance costs

2,500

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.)
T/A Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs

1,000

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

2,000

U3A Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,702

Women In Tourism (Gold Coast) Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

TOTAL (22)

Amount $

750

300

35,352

Table 68: Division 7 donation. 2018–19

Division 7
Cr Gary Baildon AM
Main Beach Association Incorporated did not proceed with their project (print quarterly Community Magazines) amount of $4,500.
Funds refunded to Council.
In addition to the above, the following donations were committed from the 2018–19 allocations and paid in the 2019 –20 financial year.
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Southport Girl Guides – auspiced under Girl Guides

Purchase of equipment

TOTAL (1)
Notes: Councillor Baildon represented Division 7 in 2019–20 from 1 July 2019 – 19 April 2020. All allocations were made in Round 1.
Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Amount $

2,600
2,600
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Table 69: Division 8 donations

Division 8
Cr Bob La Castra
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Ashmore Primary P&C Association

Facility installation
– concrete outdoor learning area

5,000

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited – Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Purchase of promotional material

500

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

2,500

Gold Coast City Regional Basketball Association Incorporated

Administration costs

4,500

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

500

Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Administration costs

1,500

Mudgeeraba 5 Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

200

Mudgeeraba Nerang and Districts Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

My Community Legal Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

Nerang Soccer Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000

Palm Beach Youth Music Venture
– auspiced under Youth Music Venture Incorporated

Youth music venture workshops

5,000

Paradise Radio Yacht Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,500

Rev. Dr Ian Mavor Foundation for Integral Education Health
and Spirituality Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,250

St Vincent's Primary School – The Corporation of the Trustees of the Roman
Catholic Archdiocese of Brisbane

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

UCA – Ashmore Uniting Church

Operational/maintenance costs

4,250

Vietnam Veterans Federation of Australia Queensland Branch Incorporated

Administration costs

5,000

Youth With A Mission Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

3,500

TOTAL (17)

Amount $

4,500
230

70

45,000

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Table 70: Division 9 donations

Division 9
Cr Glenn Tozer
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Assistance Dogs Australia Limited

Administration costs

500

Beechmont District Landcare Association Incorporated

Delivery expenses of newsletter and
meeting notices

550

Beechmont State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500

Bonogin Valley Bulls Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Clover Hill State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500

Community Lapidary and Silver Smithing Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

278

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

1,500

Five Rivers Netball Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Gold Coast Potters Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,388

Gold Coast & Hinterland Spinners & Weavers Group Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

400

Gold Coast Amateur Beekeepers Society Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

500

Gold Coast and Hinterland Axemen Club Association

Purchase of equipment

500

Gold Coast City Regional Basketball Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

400

Guides Queensland – Mudgeeraba Girl Guides

Purchase of equipment

930

Hinze Dam Fish Management Committee Incorporated

Administration costs

700

Moondarewa Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

333

Moondarewa Incorporated

Business case development – all
divisions – the Spit (ocean park)
Aboriginal cultural centre, task force
committee, operational costs

333

Motor Cycle Enthusiasts Club Incorporated Gold Coast

Purchase of equipment

450

Mt Nimmel Community Hall Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

3,877

Mudgeeraba Branch Little Athletics Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,050

Mudgeeraba Combined Probus Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

500

Mudgeeraba Creek State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

700

Mudgeeraba Nerang and Districts Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

250

Mudgeeraba State School

Landscaping and improving year 6
eating area

My Community Legal Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

NHW 4 Mudgeeraba – registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration and function costs

QCWA Springbrook-Mudgeeraba Branch

Administration costs

500

Rev. Dr Ian Mavor Foundation for Integral Education Health
and Spirituality Limited

Purchase of promotional material

250

*Somerset Celebration of Literature Limited TA Somerset Storyfest

*Support program/function costs

2,000

Springbrook Mountain Community Association

Purchase of equipment

500

Springbrook Primary P&C Association

Purchase of equipment

400
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Amount $

1,000

2,000
611
1,000
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Surfers Paradise Budgerigar Society

Purchase of equipment

1,250

The Crèche and Kindergarten Association

Purchase of equipment

1,000

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.)
T/A Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs

100

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

250

Worongary State School

Support program/function costs

500

TOTAL (37)

Amount $

30,000

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019.

Table 71: Division 10 donations

Division 10
Cr Paul Taylor
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Broadbeach 5 Neighbourhood Watch Group
– registered under Queensland Police Services

Support program/function costs

1,000

Broadbeach Meals on Wheels Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,200

Broadbeach United Soccer Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Broadbeach Waters Kindergarten & Preschool Association

Operational/maintenance costs

5,000

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited – Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Purchase of promotional material

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Support program costs

1,000

Gold Coast Blind & Visually Impaired Association Incorporated – application

Operational/maintenance costs

5,000

Gold Coast Chamber of Commerce Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,210

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

150

Gold Coast The Totally & Permanently Incapacitated
Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500

Probus Club of Broadbeach Water Incorporated

Administration costs

500

The Broadbeach Kindergarten Association Incorporation

Purchase of equipment

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

TOTAL (13)

Amount $

500

5,000
500
24,560

Notes: Councillor Taylor represented Division 10 in 2019 – 20 from 1 July 2019 – 19 April 2020. All allocations were made in Round 1.
Payments made by 31 December 2019
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Table 72: Division 11 donations

Division 11
Cr Hermann Vorster
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Aveo Robina Music Appreciation Group
– auspiced under Robina Lions Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Bethany Care Limited

Purchase of equipment

2,500

Cricket Gold Coast Junior Cricket Association

Purchase of equipment

5,000

Gold Coast Justices Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Hope Care Limited

Support program/function costs

2,500

My Community Legal Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000

Neighbourhood Watch Broadbeach 24
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Purchase of promotional material

1,744

Probus Club of Robina Parks Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Probus Club of Varsity Lakes Incorporated

Waiving of rental costs of meeting hall

1,306

Robina Bowls Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,950

Robina Lions Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Robina State High School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

4,600

Robina Volunteers In Policing – auspiced under Gold Coast Neighbourhood
Watch Committee – Queensland Police Service

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Somerset Celebration of Literature Limited TA Somerset Storyfest

Support program/function costs

2,500

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.)
T/A Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs

400

Varsity College – auspiced under Varsity College P&C Association

Renovation outside of the P&C office

TOTAL (16)

Amount $

5,000
40,000

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019.

Table 73: Division 12 donations

Division 12
Cr Pauline Young
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Australian Anti Ice Campaign Proprietary Limited

Support program/function costs

Baby Give Back Limited

Purchase of equipment

Boomerang Bags Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Burleigh Bears Rugby Leagues Club

Learning aids/booklets

2,500

Burleigh Cricket Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,500

Burleigh Fire Dragons Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,500

Burleigh Heads and Miami Senior Citizens Club Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Burleigh Heads Boardriders Club Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,500

Burleigh Heads Kindergarten and Pre School Association Incorporated

Make improvements to the frontage and
garden areas of the kindergarten

1,500
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Amount $

500
2,500
525

500
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Burleigh Heads Ladies Probus Club Incorporated

Administration costs

Burleigh Heads State School P&C Association

Purchase of equipment

2,500

DefenceFit Community Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Support program/function costs

Gold Coast Albert Junior Tennis Club Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Administration costs

Gold Coast Gymnastics Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,500

Gold Coast Lapidary Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

825

Gold Coast Pickleball Association Incorporated

Administration costs

1,200

Gold Coast Seniors Tennis Club Incorporated

The erection of a small shed to house
a ride-on mower and store equipment.

1,500

Gold Coast Softball Association Incorporated

Sporting camp, administration,
advertising, promotion and equipment.

1,700

Hockey Burleigh Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Marymount College Burleigh Waters – auspiced under the Corporation of the
Trustees of the Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Brisbane

Operational/maintenance costs

2,500

Mermaid Nobby's Miami Boardriders Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,500

Mermaid Waters Community Kindergarten Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,100

Mermaid Waters Multicultural Garden Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,200

Mermaid Waters Neighbourhood Watch Broadbeach 7
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

1,000

Miami State High School

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Miami Tennis Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

My Community Legal Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000

Nobby Beach Neighbourhood Watch (Broadbeach 15)
– registered under Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

1,000

OurChurch (Christian Community Church Ltd)

Purchase of equipment

2,500

Radfly Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000

St Johns Anglican Church – auspiced under The Corporation of the Synod
of the Diocese of Brisbane

Purchase of equipment

700

Sustainable Schools Network Limited

Support for youth and adults to attend
event on the gold coast.

500

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.)
T/A Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs

500

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

500

Village Bike Gold Coast Incorporated

Administration costs

TOTAL (37)

Amount $

500

500
1,250
500

1,000
50,000

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019.
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Table 74: Division 13 donations

Division 13
Cr Daphne McDonald
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Australian Judo Union Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,250

Australian Red Cross Society Palm Beach Currumbin Branch

Purchase of equipment

573

Australian Shuffleboard Association (Qld) Incorporated

Administration costs

2,250

Burleigh Heads Palm Beach Croquet Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,300

Community Support Agency Ltd T/A King's Community Care

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited – Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Support program/function costs

500

Currumbin Happy Group Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,600

Domestic Violence Prevention Centre GC Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,400

Gold Coast Horse and Carriage Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

600

Gold Coast Radio Yacht Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,279

Gold Coast Stock Sport Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,127

Greater Southern Gold Coast Chamber of Commerce Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,750

Horse Whispering Youth Program Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000

Lions Club of Gold Coast Tallebudgera Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,182

Lutheran Church of Australia QLD District
A.R.B.N 051 602 996 St Andrews Lutheran College

Support program/function costs

1,500

Moondarewa Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – native beehive

333

My Community Legal Incorporated

Maintenance costs

409

Outrigger Canoe Club of Australia

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Pacific Bowman Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,400

Palm Beach Currumbin Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

3,750

Palm Beach Currumbin High School P&C Association

Support program/function costs

1,500

Palm Beach Currumbin Junior Australian Football Club Inc.

Purchase of equipment

2,116

Palm Beach Currumbin State High School

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Palm Beach Promotions Incorporation

Administration costs

2,000

Palm Beach State School P&C Association

Learning aids/booklets

2,500

Seventh-day Adventist Schools (South Queensland) LTD Gold Coast
Christian College

Purchase of equipment

1,500

South Queensland & Border District Touch Association Incorporated

Replacement of steel barricade that
covers window opening

1,180

Southern Gold Coast – Uniting Church

Purchase of equipment

1,500

Tallebudgera Outdoor & Environmental Education Centre

Purchase of equipment

1,500

The Crèche and Kindergarten Association Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,500

TOTAL (30)
Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019.
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Table 75: Division 14 donations

Division 14
Cr Gail O’Neill
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Agape Outreach Incorporated

Support program/function costs

Australian Air League Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

Bilinga Neighbourhood Watch (Coolangatta 2)
– registered under Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

250

Coolangatta State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

800

Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited - Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area
Committee - auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Support program/function costs

500

Currumbin District Horse Club Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Currumbin Happy Group Incorporated

Support program/function costs

Currumbin State School

Purchase of equipment

Currumbin Tennis Club Incorporated

Administration costs

Dragons Abreast - Gold Coast Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000

Fight 4 Youth Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,500

Green Heroes Limited

Support program/function costs

1,000

Kirra Surfstock Incorporated

Administration costs

Lions Club of Coolangatta and Tweed Heads Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000

Palm Beach Currumbin Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Palm Beach Currumbin H S P&C Association

Support program/function costs

1,000

Sustainable Schools Network Limited

Support for youth and adults to attend
event on the gold coast.

2,000

SWELL Sculpture Festival Limited

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Tallebudgera Outdoor & Environmental Education Centre

Purchase of equipment

2,000

Tallebudgera State School

Administration costs

Tallebudgera Valley Football Club

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

3,000

The Crèche and Kindergarten Association

Purchase of equipment

1,000

Tugun Progress Association Incorporated

Installation of air conditioning in kitchen
of hall

2,000

U3A Twin Towns Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000

TOTAL (24)

Amount $

500
1,680

1,000
600
1,385
600

685

500

30,000

Notes: All allocations were made in Round 1. Payments made by 31 December 2019.
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7.2 LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE
The following provides references to the relevant sections of this report that relate to statutory requirements for a local government
annual report.
Legislation

Page/s

Section

84

4.9

(a) contain a list of all the business activities that the local government conducted
during the financial year

155

6.3

(b) identify the business activities that are significant business activities

155

6.3

(c) state whether or not the competitive neutrality was applied to the significant business
activities, and if the principle was not applied, the reason why it was not applied

155

6.3

(d) state whether any of the significant business activities were not conducted in the
preceding financial year, i.e. whether there are any new significant business activities.

155

6.3

the total of all remuneration packages that are payable (in the year to which the
annual report relates) to the senior management of the local government

119

5.4.4

(b) the number of employees in senior management who are being paid each band
		
of remuneration

119

5.4.4

2. The senior management, of a local government, consists of the chief executive officer
and all senior executive employees of the local government.

119

5.4.4

Local Government Act 2009

s.41

Identifying beneficial enterprises
A local government’s annual report for each financial year must contain a list of all the beneficial
enterprises that the local government conducted during the financial year.

s.45

Identifying significant business activities
A local government’s annual report for each financial year must

s.201

Annual report must detail remuneration
The annual report of a local government must state –
1 (a)
		

3. Each band of remuneration is an increment of $100,000.

119

5.4.4

4. To remove any doubt, it is declared that nothing in this section requires the exact salary
of any employee in senior management to be separately stated in the annual report.

119

5.4.4

155

6.3

208

6.4

the long term financial sustainability statement for the financial year; and

213

6.5

(d) the auditor general’s audit reports about the general purpose financial statements
		
and the current year sustainability statement

204

6.3, 6.4, 6.5

144

6.2

Local Government Regulation 2012

s.183

Financial statements
The Annual Report for a financial year must contain
(a)
		

the general purpose financial statement for the financial year, audited by the
auditor general; and

(b) the current-year financial sustainability statement for the financial year, audited by
		
the auditor general; and
(c)

s.184

Community financial report
The annual report must contain the community financial report for the financial year.

s.185

Particular resolutions
The annual report for a financial year must contain
(a)

a copy of the resolutions made during the financial year under section 250(1)

(b) a list of any resolutions made during the financial year under section 206(2)

236

73

4.5

127

5.4.8
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Legislation

s.186

Page/s

Section

72

4.4

(b) the expenses incurred by, and the facilities provided to, each councillor during the
financial year under the local government’s expenses reimbursement policy; and
		

73

4.5

the number of local government meetings that each councillor attended during the
financial year

68

4.3

82

4.7

82

4.7

82

4.7

Councillors
1. The annual report for a financial year must contain particulars of
(a)
		

(c)
		

for each councillor, the total remuneration, including superannuation contributions,
paid to the councillor during the financial year; and

(d) the total number of the following during the financial year –
			

(i)

orders made under section 150I(2) of the Act;

			

(ii)

orders made under section 150AH(1) of the Act;

			
(iii)
				
(e)

decisions, orders and recommendations made under section
150AR(1) of the Act.

each of the following during the financial year –

			
(i)
				

the name of each councillor for whom a decision, order or recommendation
mentioned in paragraph d was made;

			
(ii)
				

a description of the unsuitable meeting conduct, inappropriate conduct or
misconduct engaged in by each of the councillors;

			
(iii)
				

a summary of the decision, order or recommendation made for
each councillor; and

(f)

the number of each of the following during the financial year –

			
(i)
				
				

complaints referred to the assessor under section 150P(2)(a) of the Act by
the local government; a councillor of the local government and the chief
executive officer of the local government.

(ii)
			
				

matters, mentioned in section 150P(3) of the Act, notified to the Crime
and Corruption Commission

			

(iii)

notices given under section 150R(2) of the Act

			

(iv)

notices given under section 150S(2)(a) of the Act

			

(v)

decisions made under section 150W(1)(a),(b) and (e) of the Act

			
(vi)
				
			

referral notices accompanied by a recommendation mentioned in
section 150AC(3)(a) of the Act

(vii) occasions information was given under section 150AF(4)(a) of the Act

			
(viii) occasions the local government asked another entity to investigate, under
				
chapter 5A, part 3, division 5 of the Act for the local government, the
				
suspected inappropriate conduct of a councillor;
			
(ix) applications heard by the conduct tribunal under chapter 5A, part 3,
				
division 6 of the Act about whether a councillor engaged in misconduct or
				 inappropriate conduct.
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Legislation

s.187

Page/s

Section

123

5.4.6

123

5.4.6

123

5.4.6

Administrative action complaints
1.

The annual report for a financial year must contain –

(a)
		

a statement about the local government's commitment to dealing fairly with
administrative action complaints; and

(b) a statement about how the local government has implemented its complaints
management process, including an assessment of the local government's 		
		
		
performance in resolving complaints under the process.
2. The annual report must also contain of –
(a)
		

the number of the following during the financial year
(i)

administrative action complaints made to the local government;

		
(ii) administrative action complaints resolved by the local government under the
			
complaints management process;
		
(iii) administrative action complaints not resolved by the local government under the
			
complaints management process; and
s.188

Overseas travel
1.

The annual report for a financial year must contain the following information about any
overseas travel made by a councillor or local government employee in an official capacity
during the financial year –
(a) for a councillor – the name of the councillor;

(b) for a local government employee – the name of, and position held by, the local
		government employee;
(c) the destination of the overseas travel;

4.6
5.4.4

81, 120

4.6,5.4.4

(d) the purpose of the overseas travel;

81, 120

4.6,5.4.4

(e) the cost of the overseas travel

81, 120

4.6,5.4.4

81, 120

4.6,5.4.4

83

4.8

217

7.1

217

7.1

217

7.1

217

7.1

217

7.1

217

7.1

2. The annual report may also contain any other information about the overseas travel
the local government considers relevant.
s.189

81
120

Grants to community organisations and discretionary funds
1.

The annual report for a financial year must contain a summary of the local government’s
expenditure for the financial year on grants to community organisations.

2. The annual report must also contain the following information about the local 		
government’s discretionary funds –
(a) the total amount budgeted for the financial year as the local government’s 		
		discretionary funds;
(b) the prescribed amount for the local government for the financial year;
(c) the total amount of discretionary funds budgeted for the financial year for councillors
		
to allocate for each of the following purposes –
		

(i)

capital works of the local government that are for a community purpose;

		

(ii)

other community purposes;

(d) the amount of discretionary funds budgeted for use by each councillor for the
		financial year;
(e) if a councillor allocates discretionary funds in the financial year –
		(i)

the amount allocated; and

		

(ii)

the date the amount was allocated; and

		

(iii) the way mentioned in section 202(1) in which the amount was allocated; and

		
(iv) if the amount was allocated to a person or organisation – the name of the person
or organisation to whom the allocation was made; and
			
		
(v)
			

the purpose for which the amount was allocated, including sufficient details to
identify how the funds were, or are to be, spent.

3. In this section – prescribed amount, for a local government for a financial year, see
section 201B(5).
238
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Legislation

s.190

Page/s

Section

(a) chief executive officer’s assessment of the local government’s progress towards
implementing its 5-year corporate plan and annual operational plan;
		

108

5.4.2

(b) particulars of other issues relevant to making an informed assessment of the local
		
government's operations and performance in the financial year;

108

5.4.2

133,137

5.6,5.7

Other contents
1.

The annual report for a financial year must contain the following information –

(c) an annual operations report for each commercial business unit;
(d) details of any action taken for, and expenditure on, a service, facility or activity
		
(i)
			

supplied by another local government under an agreement for conducting a joint
government activity; and

127

5.4.8

		

for which the local government levied special rates or charges for the financial year;

127

5.4.8

(e) the number of invitations to change tenders under S228(7) during the financial year;

127

5.4.8

(f) a list of the registers kept by the local government;

127

5.4.8

(g) a summary of all concessions for rates and charges granted by the local government;

85

4.10

(h) the report on the internal audit for the financial year;

96

5.2.5

123

5.4.6

(a) information that allows an informed assessment of the unit's operations, 		
		
including a comparison with the unit's annual performance plan;

133,137

5.6,5.7

(b) particulars of any changes made to the unit's annual performance plan for the
		
previous financial year;

135,139

5.6,5.7

135,139

5.6,5.7

135,139

5.6,5.7

The chief executive officer of a public sector entity must ensure that each annual report of
the entity includes an implementation statement giving details of the action taken during the
reporting period to comply with the following sections –

117

5.4.4

• section 15 (Preparation of codes of conduct)

96, 99

5.2.5,5.2.6,

• section 21 (Education and training)

117

5.4.4

• section 22 (Procedures and practices of public sector entities).

96, 99

5.2.5,5.2.6

(a) audit the annual financial statements of a public sector entity; and

155, 203

6.3, 6.4,

(b) prepare an auditor’s report about the financial statements.

213

6.5

(ii)

(i)
		

a summary of investigation notices given in the financial year under S49 for
competitive neutrality complaints;

(j)
		

the local government's responses in the financial year on the QCA's 		
recommendations on any competitive neutrality complaints under S52(3).

2. In this section - annual operations report, for a commercial business unit, means a
document that contains the following information for the previous financial year –

(c) particulars of the impact the changes had on the unit's;
		

(i)

financial position; and

		

(ii)

operating surplus or deficit; and

		(iii) prospects.
(d) particulars of any directions the local government gave the unit.
Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

s23

Reporting

Auditor-General Act 2009

s40

Audit of public sector entities
1.

The auditor-general must –
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7.3 GLOSSARY
Administrative Policy: A policy that
relates to the management of Council
operations and internal services.
Annual Budget: The City's annual
budget identifies the planned
expenditure and revenue approved by
Council for a financial year. This includes
any specific activities identified as a
priority under the Operational Plan.
Annual Plan: The Annual Plan
provides an overview of the City
Budget, the City Operational Plan and
the priorities for the year ahead.
Annual Report: A statutory report
under the Local Government Act 2009
that provides accountability to the
community for the past financial year.
The report contains a summary of
progress toward the City Vision through
implementation of the Corporate and
Operational Plans, the auditor's report,
audited financial statements and an
address by the Mayor and CEO.
Asset: An item that has potential or
actual value to an organisation.
Asset Infrastructure: Stationary
physical assets (that often form an
infrastructure network) that serve
communities, where the asset is
intended to be maintained at a
particular level of service by
renewal of its components.
Asset Management: A systematic
approach to manage assets through all
lifecycle phases. This involves applying
a combination of engineering, financial
and other technical practices to the
management of infrastructure, costs,
opportunities, risks and performance.
Asset Management Plan (AMP): A
long-term plan (minimum of 10 years)
that is focussed on the sustainable
management of the City’s infrastructure
assets; states the estimated capital
expenditure for infrastructure renewal
and new/upgrade for the period covered
by the plan; and are consistent with
the long-term financial forecast.
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Audit: An examination of the records,
statements, systems and procedures
of an organisation together with its
stated claims for performance.
Audit Report: A testimony produced
by an auditor regarding the quality and
meaningfulness of an organisations
records, statements, systems and
procedures, as well as stated claims
for performance. May also include
an opinion on areas for improvement
and predicted future progress.
Benefit/s: The measurable improvement
resulting from an outcome perceived
as an advantage by one or more
stakeholders, which contributes towards
one or more organisational objective(s).
Benefits provide a justification for
the investment of time or resources
in the planning and development of
a proposed project. Benefits may
be financial or non-financial.
Business Case: A document containing
sufficient information about scope,
options, expected outcomes and
benefits, time, resources (including
costs) and risk to support a decision
maker to make a considered, defensible
decision to either proceed with
and initiative or halt further activity,
effort and funds. A business case
may be revised and refined at key
points as more reliable information
becomes available or circumstances
change with the decision to proceed
retaken in light of the new facts.
Capital Expenditure (CAPEX):
Represents expenditure on a capital
project which is ‘capitalised’ into
Council’s asset register. It should be
noted that expenditure can occur
under a capital budget that may be
deemed operating in nature and not
capitalised. (Note: CAPEX is a term
used in non-corporate documents
to describe capital expenditure).
Checkpoint: A defined point where
confirmation of expected achievement
is checked.

City/City of Gold Coast:
(Upper Case) Refers to the Council
of the City of Gold Coast.
city: (Lower case) Refers to geographic
area of the Gold Coast local
government area.
City Operational Plan: The City
Operational Plan is a detailed plan
showing how it is intended to give
effect to one year's portion of the
Corporate Plan. It is a statement of
specific works to be undertaken and
services to be provided in order to
progress the goals and objectives
set out in the Corporate Plan.
City Plan: The City Plan is our local
government planning scheme that
establishes a framework for managing
growth and development of the City
of Gold Coast (City) over the next
20 years. It also seeks to advance
state and regional strategies through
a more detailed local response.
The City Plan’s planning framework
identifies the preferred land use of every
Gold Coast property and identifies what
natural areas should be protected,
where shops, industrial estates and
public spaces etc. should be located
and regulates built form outcomes.
It is a legal instrument that has
been prepared in accordance
with the Sustainable Planning Act
2009 and is regularly reviewed and
amended in accordance with State
legislation relevant at the time.
Commercial/ised Business Unit: A
commercial business unit in the context
of Local Government (Local Government
Act 2009) is one that conducts business
in accordance with the key principles
of commercialisation, such as clarity
of objectives, robust management
and governance, accountability and
competitive neutrality in order to
maximise benefits to its customers.

CHAPTER 7 APPENDICES

Community Engagement: Community
engagement is interaction between
the City and any section of the
community, either individually or as a
group and includes information sharing,
consultation and/or active participation.
Competitive Neutrality: A
requirement that public sector business
activities which are in competition
with the private sector should not
have competitive advantages or
disadvantages simply by virtue of their
government ownership or control.
Consumer Price Index (CPI): A
measure of the average change over
time in the prices paid by households for
a fixed basket of goods and services.
Corporate Plan: The City’s Corporate
Plan outlines the Council’s vision
and translates it into medium and
long-term priorities, outcomes and
strategies for a minimum five-year
period. The City’s current Corporate
Plan is known as Gold Coast 2022.
Council/Council of the City of
Gold Coast: The elected body
responsible for the good rule and
local government of the city.
Council Policy: A policy that
relates to matters of public interest
and external service delivery.
Council Strategy: A strategy is
a long-term plan which supports
the creation of a desired future
outcome for the community and
identifies priorities for investment.
Debt Service Coverage: Provides an
ability to repay loan funds. The ratio
is calculated by the operating result
adjusted for capital items divided
by interest expense plus prior year
current interest bearing liabilities.
Debt Servicing Ratio: Principal
and interest on debt divided by
available revenue to fund debt.
Elected Council: The elected
Councillors responsible for the good
rule and local government of the city
during the period of the Annual Report.

External Audit: A formal, independent
review of an organisation's financial
statements, records, transactions, or
operations. External audits are usually
performed by professional accountants
to provide an opinion on the financial
statements, ensuring external
accountability and to identify key internal
weaknesses in an organisation.
Gold Coast 2022: See Corporate Plan.
Initiative: A term for a temporary
endeavour (defined start and finish)
undertaken to deliver a desired result,
output, outcome or benefit. Initiatives
include projects and programs and may
implement strategies, plans and policies.
Internet of Things (IOT): A network
of inter connected sensors, devices,
vehicles and buildings that transfer data
over a secure network to support remote
management, real time operations
and analysis of operational data.
Key Performance Indicator (KPI):
A meaningful, high-level measure
used to determine whether an
organisation has met, or is progressing
towards, its planned outcomes.
Level of Service: The defined service
quality for a particular activity such as
road surfacing or service area such as
street lighting, against which service
performance may be measured.
Service levels relate to quality,
quantity, reliability, responsiveness,
environmental acceptability and cost.
Leverage ratio: This measures
the City's ability to cover debt
payments over the long-term and
indicates the City's risk exposure
in meeting debt obligations. It is
calculated by looking at the amount
of earnings in comparison to debt.
Liveability: Liveability refers to a
combination of factors that contribute
to quality of life. These include
the impact of the built and natural
environment as well as economic,
social and cultural factors.

Local Government Act/LGA/the
Act: Local Government Act 2009
legislation in force in Queensland during
the period of the Annual Report.
Local Government Regulation/
LGR /the Regulation: Local
Government Regulation 2012 legislation
in force in Queensland during the
period of the Annual Report.
Long Term Financial Forecast:
The long-term financial forecast
includes at least 10 years of projected
financial statements including:
– statement of financial position
– statement of cash flow
– statement of income and expenditure
– statement of changes in equity
The financial forecast also reports
on the relevant measures of financial
sustainability for the forecast
period. Council must consider
the long-term forecast before
planning new borrowings.
Long Term Financial Plan: A
document that outlines Council's goals,
strategies and policies for managing
finances for the period covered by the
plan, including the following policies:
– an investment policy
– a debt policy
– a procurement policy
– a revenue policy; and
The document covers a period
of at least 10 years after the
commencement of the plan.
Objective: Something toward which
work is to be directed, a strategic
position to be attained, or a purpose
to be achieved, a result to be
obtained, a product to be produced,
or a service to be performed.
Operating Surplus Ratio:
Indicates operational efficiency.
The ratio is calculated by dividing
operational result by total operating
revenue excluding capital items.
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Outcome: The new future state
achieved after transitioning a
capability into Business As Usual
(BAU). Outcomes result from the
planning and delivery of Council
strategies, services, policies, projects
and continuous improvement.
Performance: The progress
in achieving planned outcomes
over a given period of time.
Performance Measures: A
quantifiable indicator used to
evaluate the organisation's success
in achieving its desired outcomes,
benefits and service levels.
Planning Scheme (see also City
Plan): The Planning Scheme is a legal
instrument that guides the growth and
development of the City. It sets out the
preferred land use of every Gold Coast
property and identifies what natural
areas should be protected, where
shops, industrial estates and public
spaces etc. should be located and sets
standards and criteria for buildings.
It is regularly reviewed and amended
in accordance with State legislation
relevant at the time. The City Plan is
the Gold Coast's Planning Scheme.
Policy: A statement, formally adopted
by Council or the CEO, which describes
Council's position on a particular issue.
Portfolio: The totality of an
organisation's investment in the
changes required to achieve its
strategic objectives. Portfolios
are enduring over time.
Precinct: An area that may contain
multiple asset types that primarily
exist for the purpose of supporting
a facility such as car parks and
pathways within a park primarily exist
to support the amenity of the park.
Procurement: Activity that relates
to the engagement of external
suppliers for specified works, goods
or services – including planning,
sourcing, contract management,
purchasing, inventory management,
warehousing and accounts payable.
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Program: A program is related group
of services provided to the City, for
example the Waste Management
Program includes waste collection,
waste disposal, waste recycling
and city cleaning services.

Risk Management: Co-ordinated
activities to direct and control an
organisation with regard to risk.
(AS/NZ ISO 31000:2018 Risk
management – Principles
and guidelines).

Project: A temporary endeavour
undertaken to create or change a unique
product, service or result according
to an approved business case.

Service: A service is a group of
activities provided to the city e.g. waste
collection which manages a range
of different waste collection types.

Publication Scheme: An online Council
directory proactively disclosing to the
public at no cost (pursuant to Section
21 of the Right to Information Act
2009) different classes of information
that Council has available. This
information includes, but is not limited
to, the following: what Council is and
what it does; the services offered by
Council; what Council spends and
how it is spent; Council's priorities
and how they are being achieved;
how Council makes its decisions;
Council's policies and procedures;
and Council's lists and registers.

Signature Actions: Initiatives
identified in the Corporate Plan
which contribute to outcomes.

Ramsar: Ramsar sites are wetlands of
international importance. The Ramsar
Convention is an international treaty
for the conservation and sustainable
utilisation of wetlands, recognising the
fundamental ecological functions of
wetlands and their economic, cultural,
scientific and recreational value.
Recurrent Budget: A recurrent budget
is included in Council’s base budget
that is rolled over from one year to the
next. A base budget justification is
required to demonstrate the need for
the budget to continue into the next
year. A New Proposal can be requested
on a recurrent basis if the initiative is
ongoing. Once approved, a recurrent
New Proposal will be included in the
base budget for the following year.
Risk: Effect of uncertainty on
objectives (an effect is a deviation
from the expected – positive
and/or negative). (Source: ISO
31000:2018 Risk Management)

Solid waste: Unwanted or discarded
solid material generated by domestic,
commercial and industrial premises,
or construction and demolition
activities, otherwise known as
rubbish, refuse, garbage or trash.
Stakeholder: A person or organisation
with an interest in the outcome or output
or is affected by services, activities,
policies, programs or strategies.
Total Asset Management Plan: A
summary of the Infrastructure Asset
Management Plans that is adopted
annually by Council as part of the
planning and budget (as opposed to
Council individually adopting each
of the asset management plans).
Value for Money Program: A
program of work which focuses on
ensuring value for money in expenditure
of Council funds and delivery of
services through: achievement of cost
savings, improvement in customer
service, achievement of business
efficiencies and risk mitigation.
Values: A code of conduct
or expectations about the
employee's behaviour or actions
within the organisation.
Work Health and Safety (WHS): Work
Health Safety provides a framework to
protect the health, safety and welfare
of all workers at work. It also protects
the health and safety of all other people
who might be affected by the work.
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A
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Access to information
Achievements

10, 32
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123
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96
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97–98
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96
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52–53
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127
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86
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84
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151, 159

Chief Executive Officer

10, 89, 91
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127
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208
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131

142, 144, 149, 154
56

Democratic governance

54
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92

E

101, 108
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16, 108
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7, 100
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117
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132, 136
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124
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125
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H
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D
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123
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City Contracting Plan

F
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I
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55
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Mayor’s Report
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89
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7.8 CONTACTS
Customer Service Centres

Contact us

City of Gold Coast Customer Service Centres
are open from 8.15am to 4.30pm, Monday – Friday.

P	1300 GOLDCOAST (1300 465 326)
or 07 5582 8211

Bundall
8 Karp Court
Bundall QLD 4217

E mail@goldcoast.qld.gov.au

Broadbeach
61 Sunshine Boulevard
Mermaid Waters QLD 4218
Burleigh Heads
Park Avenue
Burleigh Heads QLD 4220
Coolangatta
Level 1, The Strand
Corner Marine Parade and Dutton Street
Coolangatta QLD 4225
Helensvale
Corner Lindfield Road and Sir John Overall Drive
Helensvale QLD 4212

w cityofgoldcoast.com.au
facebook.com/cityofgoldcoast
@cityofgoldcoast
twitter.com/cityofgoldcoast

All written correspondence
or feedback to be addressed to:
Chief Executive Officer
City of Gold Coast
PO Box 5042
GOLD COAST MC 9726

Nerang
833 Southport Nerang Road
Nerang QLD 4211
Palm Beach
22 Eleventh Avenue
Palm Beach QLD 4221
Southport
47 Nerang Street
Southport QLD 4215
Upper Coomera
90 Reserve Road
(Corner Reserve and Abraham Roads)
Upper Coomera QLD 4209
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// Bonogin Valley hinterland sunset.

